
OPP Collingwood Investigation 

*** This document contains allegations 
that have not been tested in court. 

***As of June 17, 2018 the OPP has 
laid no charges in this matter. 

OPP Anti Rackets Branch - Production Order Application, July 2014 

"Information to Obtain" sworn by OPP Detective Constable Marc Lapointe 

This court document was obtained from the Barrie Ontario courthouse, unsealed by a 
judge in April 2018 at the request of CBC News. 

The Crown redacted certain portions (whited out) before releasing it to shield a 
"separate, unrelated criminal investigation," or privacy issues of certain individuals. 

CBC News has also redacted certain information (blacked out) for privacy reasons. 
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See Criminal Code 
(Section 487 .012) 

Voir Code Criminel 
(Article 487.012) 

CANADA ) 

Province of Ontario 
Central East Region 

) "On Behalf of Her Majesty the Queeu" 
) "Au nom de Sa Majeste la Reine" 

TO: 

PRODUCTION ORDER 

ORDONNANCE DE COMMU!'UCA TION 

Rohan Gonsalves 
of the Scotia bank 

44 King Street West 
20th Floor 

Toronto, Ontario 

WHEREAS it appears on the oath of 
ATTENDU qu'il appert de la deposition sous serment de 

Detective Constable Marc Lapointe 

COPY 

that there are reasonable grounds for believing 
and that the Informant does believe that one or 
more offences contrary to an Act of Parliament, 
have been committed, to wit: 

qu 'il existe des motifs raisonnables de croire et · 
croit effectivement que l'i11fraction suivante a la 
Zoi federal e: 

1) Fraud, contrary to section 380(1) of the Criminal Code; 
2) Breach of trust, contrary to section 122 of the Criminal Code 
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et qu'il existe des motifs raisonnables pour croire que 
les documents ou donnees fourniront une 
preuve touchant la perpetration de l ~infraction: 

CJI0006013 

and that there are reasonable grounds for 
believing that the following document(s)­
and/or data will afford evidence of the said 
offence(s): 

COPY 
1. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if availab.le) relating to Scotiabank account 

number (S-Tec Consulting): 

a. All supporting documentation/records (including cheque Images-front and bade) in relation to each 
transaction listed in the chart below: 

August 31, 2012 

September 4, 2012 

October 1, 2012 

October 1, 2012 

October 1, 2012 

October 2, 2012 

October 22, 2012 

October 22, 2012 

November 1, 2012 

November 1, 2012 

November 6, 2012 

November 14, 2012 

November 30, 2012 

December 3, 2012 

Decernber24,2012 

January 4, 2013 

January 10, 2013 

nuary 23, 2013 

January 31, 2013 

February 4, 2013 

Description 

Cred. Card/LDC Payment 

Chq 202 · 

Debit memo/cash/other 

Debt memo/Visa/Transfer to 

Debit memo/Personal accVtransferto 

Chq 123-

Chq 122-

Debt memo - XFR Other . 

Chq 205 • 

Credit card/LOC Payment 

Chq 206-

Chq 207-

Debit memo to pay Visa other 

Chq 210-

Debit memo taking out cash 

Transfer to Cr. Card 

. 2 

Amount 

$1,226.04 

$1,441.03 

$500.00 

$3,000.00 

$1,000.00 

$489.95 

$489.95 

$800.00 

$1,000.00 

$2,524.97 

$1,000.00 

489.75 

$1,167.73 

$3,500.00 

$2,000.00 

$2,000.00 



t 

i 
f 

r . 

f . 

f 

I 

l 
f 

r 
l 

r 

CJI0006013 

AND, 

2. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to the Scotia bank Visa card 

AND, 

account identified in the above chart as number 

a. Customer profile information detailing the account holder's personal Information (name, address, 
date of birth and employment detailsl and personal information of any other person who has/had 
signing authority on the identified account. 

b. Authorized signing authority electronic access and signature card. 

COPY 
c. Delegate electronic access and ~ignature card. 

d. Detailed Monthly account Statements from the 31st of August 2012 to the 31_st day of December 
2012, inclusive. 

3. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to Scotia bank account 
number- (Abigail Stec): 

AND, 

a. All supporting documentation/records (including cheque images-front and back) in relation to each 
transaction listed in the chart below: 

~te Desc:rii;itioa Amount 

I September 4, 2012 WO $1,004.20 

January 4, 2013 SP $4,837.48 

January 4, 2013 BPY - BR -American Express Cards $3,022.64 

January 28, 2013 CTD-PCto $600.00 
--

4. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to the s·cotiabank account 
identified in the above chart as num er-; 

a. Customer profile i~formatlon detailing the account holder's personal information (name, address, 
date of birth and employment .details) and personal information of any other person who has/had 
signing authority on ~he identified account. 
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AND, 

CJI0006013 

b. Authorized signing authority electronic access and signature card. 

c. Delegate electronic access and signature card. COPY 
d. Detailed Monthly account Statements from the 01st of January 2013 to the Olst day of March 2013, 

Inclusive. 

5. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to Scotiabank account 

(Paul Bonwick): 

a. All supporting documentation/records in relation to each transaction listed in the chart below: 

Date De§crl12tloa 

September 14, 2012 WO $7,800.00 

November 20, 2012 CTD-- $33,750.00 

January 4, 2013 WO $3,800.00 

AND, 

6. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to Scotia bank account 

number (Paul Bonwick): 

a. - All supporting documentation/records in relation to each transaction listed in the chart below: 

..------------~------------------

Description 

December 27, 2012 CTD-PC to 

January 10, 2013 cro-Pcto 

AND, 

7. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to Scotia bank account 

numtle (Paul Bonwick) and Scotiabank account - (Paul Bonwick): 

4 
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a. All supporting documentation/records in relation to each transaction listed in the chart below: 

Date 

05-0ct-12 
27-0ct-12 

10-Jan-13 
17-Jan-13 

07-Feb-13 

15-Feb-13 ·-·-·----·-
15-Feb-13 

22-Feb-13 

05-Mar-13 
09-Mar-13 

15-Mar-13 

22-Mar-13 

02-Jul-13 
03-Ju!-13 
10-Juf-13 

15-Jul-13 
20-Jul-13 

Account 

x 
x 
x 
x 

x 

x 
x 
x 
x 

x 

-~---

$600.00 credited to 

x 
x 
x 
x 

Account Deblted 

x 
x 
x 
x 

x 

x 

x 

x 

··-~·~-··----,- .-~,--. ,, .. -~-· "''"'"=""'"' x 
x 
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9, Certified copies of the f~llowing records and/or documents (if available) relating to the Scotia bank account 

identified in the above chart as number-: 

a. Customer profile information detailing the account holder's personal information {name, address, 

date of birth and em ployment details) and personal information of any other person who has/had 

signing authority on the identified account. 

b. Authorized signing authority electronic access and signature card. 

c. Delegate electronic access and signature card. 

CJI0006013 

d. Detai.led Monthly account Statements from the Olst of July 2012 to the 31st day of December 2013, 

inclusive. 

and that there are reasonable grounds for 
believing that the said documents and/or data 
or some pait of them are in the possession or 
control of: 

et qu'il a ses motifs raisonnables pour croire que !es 
documents ou donnees sont en la 
possession de la personne OU Ct sa 
disposition: 

Rohan Gonsalves of the Scotia bank situated at 44 King Street West, 20th floor, Toronto, Ontario 

AND UPON BEING satisfied that the provisions of section 487.012 of the Criminal Code have been 
complied with; 

IT IS IIERJ~BY ORDERED as follows: 

1. Rohan Gonsalves of the Scotiabank shall produce the above described documents and/or data to 
Detective Constable Marc Lapointe, a peace officer with the Ontario Provincial Police as soon as 
reasonably possible but in any event no later than sixty (60) days from the date of this order; 

DATED at the City of Barrie, County of Simcoe, 
Ontario this day of July 2014 

Date a la ville de Barrie, dans le Comte de Simcoe, 
dans la province d 'Ontario, ce __ jour de juillet 
2014 

A Justice in and for the Province of Ontario 
Juge de paix dans et pour la province de Ontario 
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COPY 
NOTICE 

TAKE NOTICE of the following relevant portions of the Criminal Code, namely Section 127 (Disobeying a Court Order) and 
Section 129 (Obstruct Peace Officers); Section 487 .016 (Self~incrimination) and Section 487.017 (Offences) : 

SECTION 127 OF THE CRIMINAL CODE PROVIDES, IN PART, AS FOLLOWS: 
( 1) Everyone who, without lawful excuse, disobeys a lawful order made by a court of justice or by a person or body of persons 
authorized by any Act to make or give the order, other than an order for the payment of money, is, tmless a punishment or other 
mode of proceeding is expressly provided for by law, guilty of an indictable offence and liab1e to imprisonment for a term not 
exceeding two years ... 

SECTION 129 OF THE CRIMINAL CODE PROVIDES, IN PART, AS FOLLOWS: 
Everyone who 
(a) resists or wilfully obstructs a public officer or peace officer in the execution of his duty or any person lawfully acting in 

aid of such an officer, ... or 
(b) resists or wilfully obstmcts any person in the lawful execution of a process against lands or goods, or in making a lawful 

distress or seizure, 
is guilty of 
(d) and indictable offence and is liable to imprisonment for a term not exceeding two years, or 
( e) an offence punishable on summary conviction. 

SECTION 487.016 OF THE CRIMINAL CODE PROVIDES, IN PART, AS FOLLOWS: 
No person is excused from complying with an order made under section 487.012 .... on the ground that the document, data or 
infonnation referred to in the order may tend to incriminate them or subject them to any proceeding or penalty, but no document 
prepared by an individual under paragraph 487.012(l)(b) may be used or received in evidence against that individual in any 
criminal proceedings subsequently instituted against them, other than a prosecution under section 132, 136 or 137. 

SECTION 487.017 OF THE CRIMINAL CODE PROVIDES, IN PART, AS FOLLOWS: 
A financial institution, person or entity who does not comply with a production 
order made under section 487.012 ..... is guilty of an offence and liable on summary 
conviction to a fine not exceeding $250,000 or imprisonment for a term not exceeding six 
months, or to both. 
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See Crim:Unal Code 
(Section 487.012) 

Voir Code Criminel 
(Article 487.012) 

CANADA 

Province of Ontario 
Central East Region 

TO: 

) 
,,, ) "On Behalf of Her Majesty the Queen" 

) "Au nom de Sa Majeste la Reine" 

PRODUCTION ORDER 

ORDONNANCE DE COMMUNICATION 

Rohan Gonsalves 
of the Scotia bank 

44 King Street West 
20th Floor 

Toronto, Ontario 

WHEREAS it appears on the oath of 
A TTENDU qu'il appert de la deposition sous serrnent de 

Detective Constable Marc Lapointe 

that there are reasonable grounds for believing 
and that the Informant does believe that one or 
more offences contrary to an Act of Parliament, 
have been committed, to wit: 

qu 'il existe des motifs raisonnables de croire et 
croit effectivement que !'infraction suivante a la 
loi federale: 

1) Fraud, contrary to section 380(1) of the Criminal Code; 
2) Breach of trust, contrary to section 122 of the Criminal Code 



and that there are reasonable grounds for 
believing that the following document(s) 

· and/or data will afford evidence of the said 
o:ffence(s): 

et qu'il existe des motifs raisonnables pour croire que 
les documents ou donnees fourniron.t ime · 
preuve touchant la perpetration de I 'infraction: 

1. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to Scotia bank account 

number 32342/0064513 (S..Tec Consulting): 

CJI0006013 

a. All supporting documentation/records (including cheque images- front and back) in relation to each 

transaction listed in the chart below: 

Qfil.g Amount 

August 31, 2012 Creci. Card/LOC Payment $1,226.04 

September 4, 2012 Chq 202 • $1,441.03 

October 1, 2012 Debit memo/cash/other $500.00 

October 1, 2012 Debt memo/Vlsatrransfer to $3,000.00 ---... -... -- '"" October l, 2012 Debit memo/Personal acct/transfer to $1,000.00 

October 2, 2012 Chq 123- $489.95 

October 22, 2012 Chq 122- $489.95 

October 22, 2012 Debt memo - XFR Other $800.00 

November 1, 2012 Chq 205- $1,000.00 

November 1, 2012 Credit Card/LDC Payment $2,524.97 

November 6, 2012 Chq 206- $1,000.00 

November 14, 2012 Chq 207- $489.75 

November 30, 2012 Deblt memo to pay Visa other $1,167.73 

December 3, 2012 Chq 210- $3,500.00 

December 24, 2012 Debit memo taking out cash $2,000.00 

nuary 4, 2013 Chq 211 $2,000.00 

January 10, 2013 Chq 212- ... "' 

January 23, 2013 Chq 213 -

January 31, 2013 00 

February 4, 2013 $4,053.68 

2 
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AND, 

2. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to the Scotiabank Visa card 

AND, 

account identified in the above chart as ntHnber 

a. Customer profile information detailing the account holder's personal information (name, address, 

date of birth and employment details} and personal information of any other person who has/had 

signing authority on the identified account. 

b. Authorized signing authority electronic access and signature card. 

c. Delegate electronic access and signature card. 

d. Detailed Monthly account Statements from the 31st of August 2012 to the 31st day of December 

2012, Inclusive. 

3. Certified copies of the follow~ng records and/or documents (if available} relating to Scotia bank ·account 

n.umber - (Abigail Stec): 

AND, 

a. All supporting documentation/records (including cheque images-front and back) in relation to each 

transaction listed in the chart below: 

Description Amount 
1---------------+---------·-·---------11----------1 

September 4, 2012 WO $1,004.20 

January 4, 2013 SP $4,837.48 

January 4, 2013 BPY - BR -American Express Cards $3,022.64 

January 28, 2013 CTD - PC to $600.00 

4. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents {if available) relating to the Scotiabank account 

identified in the above chart as number - : 

a. Customer profile information detailing the account holder's personal information (name, address, 

date of birth and employment details} and personal information of any ?ther person who has/had 

signing authority on the Identified account. 

3 
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b. Authorized signing authority electronic access and signature card. 

c. Delegate electronic access and signature card. 

d. Detailed Mont~Jy account Statements from the Olst of January 2013 to the Olst day of March 20131 

inclusive. 
AND, 

5. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to Scotiabank account 

(Paul Bonwick): 

a. All supporting documentation/records in relation to each transaction listed In the chart below: 

~ Descriptloo Amount 

September 14, 2012 WD $7,800.00 

November 20, 2012 CTD-PCto $33,750.00 

January4, 2013 WD $3,800.00 

~. 
_,_ .. 

AND, 

6. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents {if available} relating to Scotia bank account 

AND, 

numbe (Paul Bonwick): 

a. All supporting documentation/records in relation to each transaction listed in the chart below: 

Dem!otiQo 

CTD-PCto 

CTD-PCto 

Amount 

$3,000.00 

$2,000.00 

7. Certified copies of the following r~cords and/or documents (if available) relating to Scotia bank account 

number (Paul Bonwick) and Scotiabank account (Paul Bonwick): 

4 
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a, AH supporting documentation/records in relation to each transaction listed in the chart below: 

Date Account Debited Account Account Credited 

12-Sep-12 x 
x $500,00 

x 
x 

x 
x 

x 
x 

31-Dec-12 x 
10-Jan-13 x 
17-Jan-13 
18-Jan-13 x 
4-Jan-13 x 

31-Jan-13 x 
07-Feb-13 

15-Feb-13 x 
15-Feb-13 x 

x 

08-Jun-13 x 
13-Jun-13 x 
19-Jun-13 x 

x 
OZ·Jul-13 x 
03-Jul-13 x 
10-Jul-13 x 
15-Ju!-13 x 
2.0-Jul-13 x 

5 



)( 

x 
x 
x 
x 
x 
x 
x 

x 
x 
x 

04-Nov-13 x 
12-Nov-13 

16-Nov-13 x 
x 
x 
x 

02-Dec-13 x 
12-Dec-13 x 
19-Dec-13 x 
19-Dec-13 x 

AND, 

x 

$1,000.DO 

~·-- · 

$300.00 
·~$500.00 

$500.00 
$500.00 
$300.00 

CJI0006013 

8. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents {if available) relating to the Scotia bank account 

AND, 

identified in the above chart as number 

a. Customer profile information detailing the account holder's personal information (name, address, 

date of birth and employment details) and personal information of any other person who has/had 

signing authority on the identified account. 

b. Authorized signing authority electronic access and signature card. 

c. Delegate electronic access and signature card. 

d. Detailed Monthly account Statements from the 01st of J.uly 2012 to t he 31st day of December 2013, 

inclusive. 

6 
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9. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available} relating to the Scotia bank account 

identified in the above chart as number 

a. Customer profile information detailing the account holder's personal information (name, address, 

date of birth and employment details) and personal information of any other person who has/had 

signing authority on the identified account. 

b. Authorized signing authority electronic access and signature card. 

c. Delegate electronic access and s.ignature card. 

d. Detailed Monthly account Statements from the Olst of July 2012 to the 31st day of December 2013, 

inclusive. 

aud that there are reasonable grounds for 
believing that the said documents and/or data 
or some part of them are in the possession or 
control of: 

et qu'il a ses motifs raisonnables pour croire que les 
documents ou donnees sont en la 
possession de la personne OU iz SQ 

disposition: 

Rohan Gonsalves of tbc Scotiabank situated at 44 King Street West, 20th floor, Toronto, Ontario 

AND UPON BEING satisfied that the provisions of section 487.012 of the Criminal Code have been 
complied with; 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED as follows: 

l . Rohan Gonsalves of the Scotiabau k shall produce the above described documents and/or data to 
Detective Constable Marc Lapointe, a peace officer with the Ontario Provincial Police as soon as 
reasonably possible but in any event no later than sixty (60) days from the date of this order; 

DATED at the Ci:o/, of Barrie, County of Simcoe, 
Ontario this ~I " ·~day of July 2014 

Date a Ia ville de Barrie, dans le Comte de Simcoe, 
dans la province d'Ontario, ce ~~jour de juillet 
2014 

A Justice in and for the Province of Ontario 
Juge de paix dans et pour la province de Ontario 

Gerry Solursh 
Justice of the Peace 
?rovinc(&l of Ontario 
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NOTICE 

TAKE NOTICE of the following relevant portions of the Criminal Code, namely Section 127 (Disobeying a Court Order) and 
Section 129 (Obstruct Peace Officers); Section 487.016 (Self-incrimination) and Section 487.017 (Offences) : 

SECTION 127 OF TIIB CRIMINAL CODE PROVIDES, JN PART, AS FOLLOWS: 
(1) Everyone who, without lawful excuse, disobeys a lawful order made by a court of justice or by a person or body of persons 
authorized by any Act to make or give the order, other than an order for the payment of money, is, unless a punishment or other 
mode of proceeding is expressly provided for by law, guilty of an indictable offence and liable to imprisomnent for a term not 
exceeding two years ... 

SECTION 129 OF TIIB CRIMINAL CODE PROVIDES, JN PART, AS FOLLOWS: 
Everyone who . 
(a) resists or wilfully obstructs· a public officer or peace officer in the execution of his duty or any person lawfully acting in 

aid of such an officer, ... or 
(b) resists or wilfully obstructs any person in the lawful execution of a process against lands or goods, or in making a lawful 

distress or seizure, · 
is guilty of 
(d) and indictable offence and is liable to imprisonment for a term not exceeding two years, or 
(e) an offence punishable on summary conviction. 

SECTION 487.016 OF THE CRIMINAL CODE PROVIDES, JN PART, AS FOLLOWS: 
No person is excused from complying with an order made under section 487.012 .... on the ground that the document, data or 
infonnation referred to in the order may tend to incriminate them or subject them to any proceeding or penalty, but no document 
prepared by an individual·under-paragraph 487.012(1)(b) may be used or received in evidence againsttliat individual in any 
criminal proceedings subsequently instituted against them, other than a prosecution under section 132, 136 or 137. 

SECTION 487.017 OF THE CRJMINAL CODE PROVIDES, JN PART, AS FOLLOWS: 
A financial institution, person or entity who does not comply with a production 
order made under section 487.012 ..... is guilty of an offence and liable on summary 
conviction to a fine not exceeding $250,000 or imprisonment for a term not exceeding six 
months, or to both. 
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Voir Code Criminel 
(Article 487.012) 

) "On Behalf of Her Majesty the Queen" 
) "Au nom de Sa Majeste la Reine'' 

INli'ORMATION TO OBTAIN PRODUCTION ORDER 

DENONCIATION EN VUE D'OBJENIR UNE ORDONNANCE DE COMJ\1UNICATION 

This is the Information of 
Les presentes constituent Ia denonciation de 

, Detective Constable Marc Lapointe 

a Peace Officer, of the Province of Ontario 
hereinafter called the infonnant, taken before 
me. 

THE INFORMANT SAYS THAT he/she has 
reasonable grounds to believe and does 
believe that one or more offences contrary to 
an Act of Parliament, have been committed, to 
wit: 

un agent de la paix, pour la Province de I 'Ontario 
appele le denonciateur, portee devant moi. 

LE DENONCIATEUR DECLARE QU'IL existe des 
motifs raisonnables de croire et croit effectivement que 
/'infraction suivante .a la loifederale: 

• Edward Houghton between the 151 day of July 2012 and the 31°1 day of August 2012, at the Town of 
Collingwood and elsewhere in the Province of Ontario, being an official with the Corporation of the 
Town of Collingwood, did commit a breach of trust in connection with the duties of his office, contrary 
to section 122 of the Criminal Code. 

• Paul Bonwick and Abigail Stec between the 1st day of July 2012 and the 31 51 day of August 2012, at 
the Town of Collingwood and elsewhere in the Province.of Ontario, did by deceit, falsehood or other 
fraudulent means defraud the Corporation cf the Town of Collingwood of money in excess of five 
thousand dolfars, by indirectly invoicing the Corporation of the Town of Collingwood for consulting 
services, without the Corporation of the Town of Collingwood's knowledge, contrary to section 
380(1 )(a) of the Criminal Code. 

And that there are reasonable grounds for 
believing that the following document(s) 
and/or data wiU afford evidence of the 
commission of the said offonce(s) 

et qu1il existe des motife raisonnables pour croire que 
les documents ou donneesfourniront une preuve 
touchant la perpetration de I 'infraction; 
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AND, 

CJI0006013 

1. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to Scotia bank account 

number {S-Tec Consulting): 

a. AJI supporting documentatlon/recon:is {including cheque images - front ahd back) Jn relation to each 

transaction listed in the chart below: 

August 31, 2012 

September4,2012 

October 1, 2012 

October 1, 2012 

October 1, 2012 

October 2, 2012 

October 22, 2012 

October 22, 2012 

November 1, 2012 

November 1, 2012 

November 6, 2012 

November 14, 2012 

November 30, 2012 

December 3, 2012 

December 24, 2012 

January 4, 2013 

January 10, 2013 

January 23, 2013 

.January 31, 2013 

February 4, 2013 

Description 

Cred. Card/lOC Payment 

Chq 202 

Debit memo/cash/other 

Debt memo/Visa/Transfer to 

Debit memo/Personal acct/transfer to 

Chq 123 

Chq 122-

Debt memo - XFR Other · 

Credit Card/LDC Payment 

Chq 206-

Chq 207-

Debit memo to pay Visa other 

Chq 210-

Debit memo taking out cash 

Transfer to Cr. card -

Amount 

$1,226.04 

$1,441.03 

$500.00 

$3,000.00 

$1,000.00 

$489.95 

$489.95 

$800.00 

$1,000.00 

$2,524.97 

9.75 

$1,167.73 

$3,500.00 

$2,000.00 

$2,000.00 

$489.57 

$489.57 

$800.00 

$4,053.68 

2. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to the Scotiabank Visa card 

a·ccount Identified in the above chart as numb 
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AND, 

CJI0006013 

a. Customer p~ofile information detailing the account holder's personal information (name, address; 

date of birth and employment details) and personal information of any other person who has/had 

signing authority on the identified account. 

b. Authorized signing authority electronic access and signature card. · 

c. Delegate electronic access and signature ca rel. 

d. Detailed Monthly account Statements from the 31st of August 2012 to the 31st day of December 

2012, inclusive. 

3. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents {if available) relating to Scotia bank account 

AND, 

number · (Abigail Stec): 

a. All supporting documentation/records {including cheque images -front and back} in relation to each 

transaction listed in the chart below: 

Date Description Amount 

September 4, 2012 WO $1,004.20 

January 4, 2013 SP $4,837.48 

January 4, 2013 BPY - BR-American Express Cards $3,022.64 

January 28, 2013 CTD- PC to 600.00 

4. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available} relating to the Scotia bank account 

identified in the above chart as number - : 

a. Customer profile information detailing the account holder's personal information (name, address, 

date of birth and employment details} ana personal information of any other person who has/had 

signing, authority on the Identified account 

b. Authorized signing authority electronic access and signature card. 

c. Delegate electronic access and signature card. 

• 3 
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d. Detailed Monthly account Statements from the Olst of January 2013 fo the 01st day of March 2013, 

inclusive. 

S. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to Scotiabank account 
num ber (Paul Bonwick): 

a. All supporting documentation/records in relation' to each transaction listed in the chart below: 

Description Amount 

September 14, 2012 WO $7,800.00 

November 20, 2012 CTD-PCto $33,750.00 

January 4, 2013 WD $3,800.00 

AND, 

6. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to Scotlabank account 
number (Paul Bonwick): 

a. All supporting documentation/records in relation to each transaction listed in the chart below: 

Date Description Amount 

' 
Decernber27,2012 CTD PC to $3,000.00 ! 

I 
January 10, 2013 CTD-PCto $2,000.00 ! 

I 

AND, 

7. Certified copies. of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to Scotiabank account 
number 32342/0367885 (Pa.ul Bonwick) and Scotiabank account number 32342/0752088 (Paul Bonwick}: 

a. All supporting documentation/records in relation to each transaction listed in the chart below: 

Date Account Debited Account Debited Account Credited Account Credited 

~12 x $500.00 . 
12 x $500.00 -

$500.00 12 x 
05-0ct-12 x $500.00 

4 
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x 

x 
x 
x 

x 

f 
x 

x 

x 

x 
x 

22-Mar·13 x 
2Hl'1ar-13 x 
27·Mar·l3 x $400.00 
01- 13 x 
03-Apr-13 x 
20-Apr-13 x $200.00 

x $200.00 
x $200.00 

x $1,000.00 
------~- '$600.00.!kbit from 

f 
$600.00 credited to 

x 
)( 

r x 

x _, .. _,., .... ,__,.,~-·-~· 
---~ x 

x 
08-Jun-13 x 
13-Jun-13 x 

r 19-Jun-13 x 
24-Jun-13 x 
02-Jul-13 x 

l 
03-Jul-13 x 
10-Jul-13 x 

x 
x 
x 
x 
x 
x 
x $300.00 
x $500.00 
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x $500.00 , ____ 
x $500.00 
x $300.00 

x $300.00 

x 
x 
x 
x 

AND, 

8. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available} relating to the Scotiabank account 

AND, 

9. 

identified in the above chart as number 

a. Customer profile Information detailing the account holder's personal information (name, address, 

date of birth and employment details) and personal information of any other person who has/had 

signing authority on the identlfied account. 

b. Authorized signing authority electronic access and signature card. 

c. Delegate electronic access and signature card. 

d. Detailed Monthly. account Statements from the Olst of July 2012 to the 31st day of December 2013, 

inclusive. 

Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to the Scotiabank account 

identified in the above chart as number 

6 
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a. Customer profile information detailing the account holder's personal information (name, address, 

date of birth and employment details} and personal information of any other person who has/had 

signing authority on the identified account. 

b. Authorized signing authority electronic access and signature card. 

c. Delegate electronic access and signature card. 

d. Detailed Monthly account Statements from the Olst of July 2012 to the 31st day of December 2013, 

inclusive. 

and that there are reasonable grounds for 
believing that the said documents and/or data 
or some part of them are in the possession or 
control of: 

et qu 1il a ses motifs raisonnables pour croire que les 
documents ou donnees sont en la possession de la 
personne OU a Sa 

disposition: 

Rohan Gonsalves of the Scotiabank situated at44 King Street West, 20th floor, Toronto, Ontario. 

AND THAT the Informant's grounds for 
belief are as follows: 

See Appendix "A" 

ET QUE les motifs du denonciateur pour croire sont 
les suivantes: 

As a result of the information and belief described in Appendix A, the Informant has reasonable grounds to 
believe and does believe that an offence against an Act of Parliament has been committed, and that 
documents or data will afford evidence of the commission of the said offence(s), and that 

Rohan Gonsalves of the Scotia bank situated at 44 King.Street West, 20th floor, Toronto, Ontario, 

have possession or control of the documents or data. 

The Informant believes that all the facts and matters set forth in this Information to Obtain are true, 
notwithstanding any omission on the Informant's part to specifically so state in any one or more of the 
grounds or elsewhere in the Information. 

To the best of the Informant'slmowledge, information and belief, Rohan Gonsalves of the Scotiabankis 
not under investigation for an offence described ins. 487.012(3)(a). 

This Information is sworn for the purpose of obtaining production orders pursuant to section 487.012 of the 
Criminal Code. 

7 
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THE 1NFORMANT PRAYS that said production 
order be granted for the documents and/or data. 

SWORi'f BEFORE ME ~ >lteJt the City of Barrie, 
County of Simcoe, this_E~- day of July 2014 

'-~-----or the Province of Ontario 

Katrina Marla Duhamel, a commissioner, 
etc., Provincial of Ontario. for tM 
Government of Ontario, Ministry of the 
Attorney General. 
Expires January 10, 2017. 

LE DENONCIATEUR DEMANDE que 
l 'ordonnance de communication soit emis. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

8 

7tde!~. 
(Informant signature) 
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CANADA 

ONTARIO COURT OF JUSTICE 

CENTRAL EAST REGION 

APPENDIX "A" 

In the matter of an Application for Production 

Order, pursuant to section 487.012 of the Criminal 

Code of Canada. 

Information to Obtajn a Production Order 

This is t he information of Detective Constable Marc Lapointe, a Peace Officer with the Ontario Provincial 

Police, sworn on July 23, 2014, in relation to an application for a Production Order directed to Rohan 

Gonsalves of the Scotiabank. 

I, Marc Lapointe, a member of the Ontario Provincial Police (OPP) make oath and say as follows: 

1. I am a peace officer in the OPP and have been employed as such since June 11, 1990. I have 

experience in major crime investigations and the preparation of applications for judicial 

authorizations. I presently hold the rank of Detective Constable and I currently work from t he 

OPP General Headquarters building in Orillia. I am assigned to the Investigation & Support 

Bureau, Anti Rackets Branch where my primary role is to investigate criminal mattei:s of fraud 

and corruption as they relate to municipal and provincial government, and also matters relating 

to the Ontario Municipal Elections Act. 

2. My role in this investlgation is that of an investigator and affiant. In relation to my role, I have 

reviewed all source documents and Prod1:1ction Orders previously issued. I have personal 

knowledge of the contents of this Information to Obtain Production Orders (hereinafter referred 

to as ITO), except where otherwise stated. I gained this knowledge through my own 

investigation and the efforts of my police officer colleagues also engaged in this investigation. I 

have made observations and analysis in my review of numerous witness interviews, document 

examinations, and by reading police reports and officer's notes. I believe all the information 

contained in herein to be true. 

l 
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3. I am part of an investigative team comprised of Detective Sergeants Shawn Evans and Rob Lake, 

and Detective Constables Tim Ticknor and Beverly Mackey. As such, I have relied upon 

information collected during the course of this investigation by these police officers. Where I 

have received information from these police officer~, I believe it to be credible, reliable and 

accurate. Throughout this ITO, where I state my belief, that belief is based on my experience as 

set out above and on the other information presented in this ITO. 

4. Throughout this ITO, I will ensure that the evidence presented is appropriately sourced in either 

each individual paragraph, or through the use of footnotes. This investigation has relied upon a 

significant amount of information provided to investigators through the following means: 

a. interviews of witnesses 

b. documents and email correspondences provided to police by witnesses 

c. open source internet searches 

d. police and government database searches 

e. Town of Collingwood Council minutes/video-taped sessions 

f. information contained on the official Town of Collingwood website 

g. Bank records and data obtained via previous Judicial Authorizations 

5. Through the course of this investigation, police investigators have received documents and 

email correspondences authored by numerous individuals involved in/or related to the matters 

under investigation. I, along with the other investigators on my team have reviewed and 

analyzed these documents and email correspondences. From this review I have identified 

documents and email correspondences that I deem are relevant in this investigation. The 

majority of these documents and email correspondences relied upon in this ITO have been 

provided to the investigative team from three separate sources. These sources are as follows: 

a. Steven Berman - a Town of Collingwood resident. He filed a Freedom of Information and 

Protection of Privacy Act (hereinafter referred to as FOi) application with the Clerk of the 

Town of Collingwood in September 2012.1 1 learned from my review of his witness interview 

that this FOi request specifically asked for any-and-all documentation relating to the Town 

of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project (the subject of this Information). I also 

learned from my review of this transcript that throughout the fall of 2011 Steve Berman 

received the resulting product of his FOi request from Town of Collingwood Clerk Sara 

Almas. I have learned from Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans, and I do believe, the 

documents/records Sara Almas provided Stephen Berman through his FOi request, are true 

copies of actual Town of Collingwood documents/records that included numerous 

1 
I know this by reviewing the witness interview transcripts of Steve Berman, provided to Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and 

Detective Constable Tim Ticknor on April 2, 2013. 
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documents and email correspondences ,relevant to this investigation. Steve Berman 
provided this package of FOi materials to investigators involved in this police investigation2

• 

b. Dave Barrow - Vice President of BLT Construction Services. Through legal counsel, Dave 

Barrow provided Detective Constable Tim Ticknor with a package of documents, email 

correspondences and attachments3
• I learned from Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans that 

the content of this package included correspondence sent to/and/or received from either 

Mark Watts (President of BLT) and/or David Barrow to/with individuals directly involved in 

the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures,pruject 

c. Sara Almas - Clerk for the Town of Collingwood. She has participated in two interviews with 

Detectlve Sergeant Shawn Evaris and Detective Constable Tim Ticknor. 4 I learned from 

Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans that investigators believe Sara Almas to be a reliable 

source of information. l have also learned from Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans that Sara 

Almas provided police with documents and emai.I correspondences directly related to the 

Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project and that one of her responsibilities 

at the Jown of Collingwood is the administration of FOi requests . 

6. For ease of reading, I have made every attempt to organize the information contained 

hereinafter in a chronological manner. Relevant information that investigators may have 

received at a later date may be included where applicable and where I have deemed it to be 

relevant to the facts or circumstances presented in the chronology. Where applicable I will 

provide this Information as an "Affiant's Noter' in an effort to explain why I believe a particular 

piece of information is of relevance or otherwise of note, These notes will appear in italics. 

7. I have personal knowledge that police have at their disposal, various databases to query 

information relevant to an investigation. One such database that this investigation has relied 

upon is the Ontario Companies and Personal Property Security Branch database administered by 

Service Ontario {Ontario Ministry of Government and Consumer Services). I have personal 

knowledge that business names are registered with the Companies and Personal Property 

Security Branch (CPPSB) of the Ministry of Government and Consumer Services (MGCS) and are 

placed on the Public Record maintained by CPPSB for public disclosure. I have personal 

knowledge that CPPSB is· responsible to register business names of sole proprietorships, 

partnerships and corporations; authorize the creation of llmite.d partnerships; incorporates 

business and not-for-profit entities and licenses. forelgn ext.ra provincial corporations. I have 

personal knowledge that the Ontario Business !Information System (ONBIS) maintains a · 

2 
I know this by reviewing the witness interview transcripts of Steve Berman, provided to Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and 

Detective Constable lirn Ticknor on April 2, 2013. 
~I know this by reviewing the witness intervie"'." transcripts of Dave Barrow, proyided to Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and 

Detective Tim Ticknor on July 30, 2013. . 
4 

I know this by reviewing the witness interview transcripts of Sara Almas, provided to Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and 
Detective Tim Ticknor on May 22, 2013 and November 14, 2013, 
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database that contains information which has been recorded by the CPPSB. I am aware that 

anyone may se~rch business narn·e information contained on the Public Record for a fee to find 

the owners or principals behind a bu_siness name. I have personal knowledge that certain 

members within the OPP are authorized to conduct searches within the ONB1s· database in 

relation to entities identified in thjs .investigation. I learned that Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans 

and Detective Constable Beverly Mackey have both caused title· searches to be completed for 

several corporations identified in this investigation. 

INDIVIDUALS and ENT1TIES CENTRAL to this INVESTIGATION 

Affian~s Notes: This section and the section titled "Overview" are designed to assist tHe reader in 

identifying the individuals involved in this investigation. I will properly source in footnotes at the bottom 

of each page or later in this /TO u_nder "Reasonable grounds to believe". 

Town of - Mayor Sandra COOPER 
Collingwood Council - Deputy Mayor Rick LLOYD 
October 25, 2010 - Councillor Mike EDWARDS 
Municipal - Councillor Kevin LLOYD 
ELECTION5 - Councillor Ian CHADWICK 

- Councillor Dale WEST 

- Councjllor Sandy CUNNINGHAM 
- Councillor Joe GARDHOUSE 

Councillor Kevin HULL 

Sandra Cooper Elected as Mayor of Town of Collingwood October 25, 2010. She was previously 
the Deputy Mayor for two terms and a continuous serving Councillor since 
1997.6 She is life-long resident of Collingwood and her brother is Paul Bonwick.7 

. She has not been interviewed by police in this matter under investigation. 

·• 

Rick Lloyd Deputy Mayor of Town of Collingwood. He is a 20 year Council veteran first 
elected to Collingwood Council in 19858 

.• I learned from the CBC News ar.ticle that 
Rick Lloyd is a close family friend to Paul Bonwick and that he previously worked 
for Paul Bonwick at Blue Mountain Aggregates in Collingwood.9 He has not been 
interviewed by police in this matter under investigation. 

5 I learned this by readi~g a webpage from: www.collingwood.ca/electionresults/ 
6 

I learned this by reading an news article: www.collingwoodliving.com/news_MayorCooperSpeaksOut.htrnl 
7 I learned this by reading a news article dated March 8, 2013. www.cbc.ca/news/canada/collingwood-rnayor-s-brother-paid-
by-casino-power-cornpanies-1.1375390 · . 
8 

I learned this by reading news article: www.sirncoenet.ca/detail/115/rick-lloyd-for-deputy-niayor.htrnl 
9 

I learned this by reviewing the witness interView transcripts of Councillor Joe Gardhouse, provided to-Detective Sergeant 
Shawn Evans and Detective Constable Tim Ticknor on May 16, 2013. 
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Sara Almas Town of Collingwood Clerk reporting directly to the Chief Administrative Officer 
(CAO). 
She. has been interviewed by police in this matter under investigation. 

Ed Houghton The subject of this investigation. Currently the President and CEO of 
COLLUS/Powerstream. On April 12, 2012 he was inserted into the position of 
Acting CAO for the Town of Collingwood. On April 15, 2013 this Acting position 
concluded and he returned to COLLUS/Powerstream in a full time capacity.10 Ed 
Houghton and Paul Bonwick are personal long-time friends. 11 

He has not been interviewed by police in this matter under investigation. 

Kim Wingrove Former CAO of the Town of Collingwood from Sept 2009 until April 2012. She 
was dismissed without cause on April 11, 2012. 
She has been interviewed by police in this matter under investigation. 

Marta Proctor Director of Leisure Services - Town of Collingwood 
She has been interviewed by police in this matter under investigation. 

Marjory Leonard Treasurer - Town of Collingwood 
She has not been interviewed by police in this matter under investigation. 

Dave McNalty Manager of Fleet, Facility and Purchasing - Town of Collingwood 
He has not been interviewed by police in this matter under investigation. 

Central Park "The Central Park Redevelopment Steering Committee was challenged by the 
Redevelopment Collingwood Town Council conduct a complex analysis and community 
Steering engagement process which explored the community's needs in terms of 
Committee12 recreational facilities and services. Throughout the process of conducting their 

work, the Steering Committee maintained as a primary principle the need to 
strive for sound and verifiable information from both broad and detailed sources 
as a way of informing its decisions and recommendations.". 

Co-Chairs Brian Saunderson and Claire Tucker-Reid 

Committee Terry Geddes (former Mayor ofTown of Collingwood), Dr. Geoff Moran, Larry 
Young and Penny Skelton. 

10 
I learned this by readi.ng news article: www.theenterprlseb_ulletin.com/2013/04/16/harbour-houghton-steps-down-Council­

notes 
11 

I learned by reviewing the witness interview transcripts of Steve Berman given to Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and 

Detective Constable Tim Ticknor on April 2, 2013. 
12

1 learned this by reading www.collingwood.ca/files/Central%20Park%20Redevelopment%20Project_FINAL%20REPORT 
%20March%205%202012:pdf 

5 

CJI0006013 



Green Leaf 
Distribution Inc. 

Compenso 
Communications 

Paul Bonwick 

Abigail Stec 

"Since our creation, our aim has been to have a positive impact on the people 
and places around us. From our research and development activities to our 
support for organizations that encourage sustainable living in our community, 
Green Leaf is committed to being at the forefront of local innovation."13 On their 
webpage, Abby Stec is listed as the President, C.E.O and the only employee of 
Green Leaf Distribution lnc.14 

ONBIS records for Green Leaf Distribution Incorporated (Ontario Corporation 
002295210) indicate the company's name was officially changed to Green Leaf 
Distribution Inc. on August 31, 2012. The ONBIS records identify that 'Paul 
Bonwick is the President, Director and Secretary of this company. There is no 
record of Abby Stec being associated to this company within the ONBIS 
records.15 " h 

"Is a full-service, non-partisan communications and government relations firm 
specializing in the design and execution of comprehensive strategies (from 
resource management-related, political, and issue-oriented initiatives). 
Compenso has a proven track record of securing government funding, affecting 
policy change, or eliminating policy that is at best case ineffective and at worst 
case detrimental to business growth. Compenso's services include government 
and public relations, strategic planning, management consulting, environmental 
resource management, conflict resolution, and communications training ... the 
current Compenso team includes Al Lodhi, Bart Maves, Paul Bonwick, and Ryan 
Manchee." 16 

ONBIS records identify Compenso Communications Inc. (Ontario Corporation 
002053891) was registered on September 7, 2004 as (Ontario Corporation 
002053891) Ontario Limited number 002053891 and listing a company name 
change to Compenso Communications Inc. as of May 4, 2005. Paul 6onwick is 
listed as the President, Director, Secretary and Treasurer.17 

President/CEO of Compenso Communications and Green Leaf Distribution Inc., 
former Liberal Member of Parliament (MP) ('97 to '04) for Simcoe/Grey and 
former Town of Collingwood Councillor.18 His sister is Town of Coliingwood 
current Mayor Sandra COOPER. As sourced in an earlier paragraph, he and Ed 
Houghton are personal long-time friends. 
He has not been interviewed by police in this matter under investigation. 

Employee of Green Leaf Distribution Inc. since June 2012 and listed as CEO and 
President of Green Leaf Distribution Inc. on website despite no record as such on 
the ONBIS corporate registration documents. 
She has not been interviewed by police in this matter under investigation. 

13 I learned this by reading "About Us" on website :www.greenleafdistribution.ca/about-us.html# 
14 I learned this by reading "Our Team" on website: www.greenleafdistribution.ca/team.html 
15 

I learned this by reading ONBIS record search conducted by Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans on March 21, 2014. 
16 

I learned this by reading website: www.compenso.ca/ 
17 I learned this by reading ONBIS record search conducted by Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans on March 21, 2014. 
18 

I learned this by reading website: www.compenso.ca/paul-bonwick.html 
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Sprung Instant 
Structures 

Pat Mills 

Dave Macneil 

Tom Lloyd 

BLT Construction 
Services 

Dave Barrow 

Manufacturer of a "Tension Fabric Membrane Structure" which allows for the 
rapid construction, total flexibility, complete reliability and cost effectiveness for 
any short or long-term building project ..... with more than 12,000 structures 
erected in over 90 countries.19 

ONBIS records reveal that Sprung Instant Structures (Eastern) Ltd. (Alberta 
Corporation 001052673) was incorporated on the 30th of April 1993- and the 
Director of the company is listed as Timothy Sprung. 20 

Manufacturer's Representative with Sprung Instant Structures. His role is to 
develop sales leads in Ontario. Became involved in Jown of Collingwood/ Sprung 
Instant Structure Project in April 2012. 
He has been.interviewed by police in this matter under investigation. 

Regional sales manager for Sprung Instant Structures in Ontario. Became 
involved in Town of Collingwood/ Sprung Instant Structure Project in June 2012. 
He has not been interviewed by police in this matter under investigation. 

He is the Regional Business Development Manager for Sprung Instant Structures 
responsible for all sales and service for the Eastern Canada Sprung Instant 
Structures territory. Tom Lloyd became involved with the Town of Collingwood/ 
Sprung Instant Structure Project in June of 2012. He is no relation to Deputy 
Mayor Rick Lloyd or Councillor Kevin Lloyd. . 
He has been interviewed by police in this matter under investigation. 

BLT Construction Services range from renovation to ground-up construction, 
including post construction services and have constructed between 75 and 100 
Sprung Instant Structures throughout Ontario and Quebec since 1999.21 

ONBIS records identify BLT Construction Services Inc. was incorporated on 
September 26, 2001, Mark Watts is currently listed as a Director, President, 
Secretary and Treasurer and Dave Barrow is listed as the Vice President.22 

Selected as a sole source vendor to construct an "Architectural Membrane 
Structure" for the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. 

Presently Vice President of BLT Construction Services Inc. Worked closely with 
Tom Lloyd, Abby Stec and P~ul Bonwick on the Town of Collingwood/Sprung 
Instant Structures project. 
He has been interviewed by police in this matter under investigation. 

19 
I learned this by reading website: www.sprung.com/ 

20 
I learned this by reading ONBIS record search conducted by Detective Constable Beverly Mackey on July 23, 2013 

21 
I learned this by reading website: www.bltconstructlon.com/default.htm 

22 
I learned this by reading ONBIS record search conducted by Detective Constable Beverly Mackey on December 16, 2013. 
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Ameresco Canada Established in 1973, Ameresco has been delivering long-term customer value and 
environmental sustainability through alternative energy solutions, energy 
efficiency and innovative facility renewal strategies. They have worked with 
various customers within the ·education system, social housing, federal and 
provincial governments, municipalities, healthcare, commercial and industrial 
sectors across Canada. Partnered with Greenland Group of Companies to work 
with To~n of Collingwood on the Central Park Project23

• 

Frank Miceli Director of Construction with Ameresco Canada. Made presentations and· 
deputations to the Central Park Steering Committee and Town of Collingwood 
Council through September 2011 and August 2012 .. 
He has been interviewed by police in this matter under investigation. 

Mark Palmer President of Greenland Group of Companies, a Collingwood based company. 
Partnered with Ameresco Canada to work with Town of Collingwood on the 
Central Park Project. 
He has not been interviewed by police in this matter under investigation. 

WGD Architects WGD Architects is an international design practice with head ·office in Toronto, 
Canada. They specialize in the design of hospitalitY and leisure buildings. The 
Principals of the firm have combined experience spanning over several decades 
in numerous hotels, tourism and recreation projects in Canada, Caribbean and 
China.24 The Town of Collingwood had originally engaged WGD Architects to 
work with the Central Park Steering Committee which later transitioned to their 
engagement in the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project - the 
subject under investigation and central issue in this ITO. 

Richard Debrus Principal at WGD Architects. 
He has been interviewed by police in this matter under investigation. 

Brian Gregerson Principal at WGD Architects. 
He has been interviewed by police in this matter under investigation. 

Miscellaneous 
Stephen Berman Resident of the Town of Collingwood for the past 15 years. He took an interest in 

the municipal affairs of Town of Collingwood Council and the decision 
surrounding the sole source contract issued to BLT Construction Services after 
Aug 27, 2012 Council meeting. Submitted FOi request to Town of Collingwood 
relating to this Council decision and provided this product tO police investigators. 
He has been interviewed by police in this matter under investigation. 

23 
I learned this by reading "about usH on their corporate website: www.ameresco.ca/en/about.html 

24 
I learned this by reading "our firm" on their corporate website: www.wgdarchitects.com/firm.html 
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Tom Coone Chair of the YMCA development project that made presentation to Town of 
Collingwood Council. March 28, 2011 with Marta Proctor. 
He has been interviewed by police in this matter under investigation. 

Don Gallinger Close personal friend to Abby Stec. 
He has been interviewed by police in this matter under investigation. 

8. In recent years, the Town of Collingwood and various recreational entities had explored several 

options to develop multi-use recreational facilities (MURF) and related infrastructure. In 2011, 

the Town of Collingwood Council created a Steering Committee to engage the community, 

conduct studies and make proposals to redevelop recreational facilities. 

9. Although the Steering Committee maintained a neutral approach to specific types of building 

construction - in early 2012, two companies began separate engagements with the Town of 

Collingwood administration advancing their own visions for the redevelopment of recreational 

facilities. These two companies were Ameresco Canada, a developer utilizing traditional building 

structures25 and Sprung Instant Structures, a manufacturer of a fabric-covered structure. 

10. While the Steering Committee was actively engaged in research and consultations focusing on 

an all-encompassing MURF project, unbeknownst to them the Sprung Instant Structures option 

was seemingly gaining traction with members of Council and Acting CAO Ed Houghton. 

11. In July of 2012, the Town of Collingwood Council directed town staff to research the prospeet of 

covering an open-·air park entity - the 45-year-old Centennial Poof - and construct a new ice 

hockey surface in Central Park - using a technology known as fabric-covered structures. Th.is new 

direction all but abandoned the concept of a MURF. 

12. On August 27, 2012, some 42 days after directing staff to produce a report outlining the 

recommended recreation options, develop a timeline and provide detailed esti'mates - Council 

voted in favor of spending almost 12.4 million dollars in what amounted to a sole source 

contract to construct two fabric-covered structures. 

13. Residents were shocked to learn of the speed at which this process proceeded and this eventual 

award of a sole source contract. The lack of due diligence and the absence ofpublic consultation 

were foremost on the list of citizen's concerns as Council ·seemingly dismissed the 

recommendations presented by the Steering Commi.ttee. 

25 
The term 'traditional build' ls most often used to describe a structure where the internal load bearing leaf of the walling is of 

masonry construction and tied with stainless steel ties to an outer leaf of either block or prick. Traditional brick and block 
methods still remain one of the most widely used build types . 
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14. While it is common practice to tender all capital works projects, the rationale utilized by the 

Town of Collingwood Council for this sole sourcing of two fabric-covered structures was 

seemingly unacceptable to some local residents. Council and staff maintained that they had 

conducted due diligence studies and stated that there was no other technology as good .as the 

Sprung Instant Structures technology. 

15. Citizen's action groups organized and took an interest in these matters. Local resident Steve 

Berman began his own inquiries into this procurement and made requests for information to 

the Town of Collingwood under the FOi iegisiation receiving a significant amount of documents 

and internal Town of Collingwood email correspondences. 

16. Steve Berman reviewed the product of his FOi requests ·and believed the Town of Collingwood 

Council and staff failed to conduct proper ·due diligence throughout this process and seemingly 

mislead the citizens of Collingwood with their assertions. Steve Berman was of the opinion that 

criminal offences had been committed relating to this significant procurement of infrastructure. 

17. Police were provided with the entire product of Steve Berman's FOi request and interviewed in 

excess of 30 individuals believed associated to this matter. From these interviews, investigators 

received more documents and email correspondence deemed relevant to the facts in issue. 

18. Central to this investigation is the involvement of Paul Bonwick - hired as a consultant by the 

construction firm contracted by the Town of Collingwood to erect the two fabric-covered 

structures. Investigators have confirmed that a 6.5 % commission fee amounting to $756,740.42 

CAD, was added to the total price of the contract and absorbed by the Town of Collingwood. 

Investigators have confirmed that this payment of $756,740.42 CAD, was made to Paul Bonwick 

for his work as a consultant on this project and that the Town of Collingwood was unaware of 

this payment to Paul Bonwick's, and/or his involvement in this project. 

19. This investigation has confirmed that the hiring of Paul Bonwick as a consultant in this project 

and the payment of $756, 740.42 CAD was kept a secret from "Council as a whole". Acting CAO 

Ed Houghton and Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd are believed to have possessed knowledge of Paul 

Bonwick's involvement as a consultant. Investigators assert that this significant compensation 

payment is shrouded in various layers of secrecy and is evidence of fraudulent activity - to which 

the Corporation of the Town of Collingwood is the victim. 

20. To date1 this investigation has received the results of three Production Orders issued to banking 

institutions in relation to the payment of/and receipt of the $756,740.42 CAD: Investigators 

have analyzed the resulting product of these judicial authorizations and continue in their efforts 

to track the $756,740.42 CAD, as it was dispersed by Paul Bonwick arid persons associated to 

Greenleaf Distribution lnc.'s Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce bank account. 
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21. The purpose of this application is to obtain a follow-up Production Order for detailed bank 

records and transaction records relating to four separate bank accounts - two held by Paul 

Bonwick, and two held by Abby Stec. I am of the belief that: 

a. Scotiabank of Canada account number is in the name of Paul Bonwick 

and the transaction records will afford evidence of how Paul Bonwick dispersed a 
portion of the funds received from BLT Construction Services Inc. 

b. Scotla~ank of Canada account number is in the name of Paul Bonwick 

and the transaction records will afford evidence of how Paul Bonwick dispersed a 

portion of the funds received from BLT Construction Services Inc. 

c. Scotiabank of Canada account number technically in the name of S-Tec 

Consulting, associated to Abigail Stec and, and the transaction records will afford 

evidence of how Abby Stec and S-Tec Consulting may have assisted Paul Bonwick and 

Compenso Communications Inc., in dispersing a portion of the funds received from BLT 

Construction Services Inc. 

d. Scotiabank of Canada account number ·js in the name of Abigail Stec 

and the transaction records will afford evidence of how Abby Stec may have assisted 

Paul Bonwick and Compenso Communications Inc., in dispersing a portion of the funds 

received from BLT Construction Services Inc. 

REASONABLE GROUNDS TO BELIEVE 

22. This is a multifaceted investigation into various complaints relating to the municipal political 

affairs of the Town of Collingwood. In March 2013, two complaina.ntS came forward to police 

with information identifying 15 issues that they believed required investigation by police. I have 

personal knowledge that the.re have also been a significant number of reports generated. In both 

the local and provincial media sources surrounding some of the allegations identified to police 

by the complainants. 

23. The OPP Anti-Rackets investigative team led by Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans has reviewed 

and analyzed all these issues ·presented by the complainants, conduci;ed several witness 
interviews and collected documentary evidence. Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans determined 

eight of the lS issues had some merit to justify the commencement of a criminal investig~tion. 

While all eight of these issues are part of the ongoing investigation, this specific application 

relates only to the named offences and the investigative focus relating to the significant 

procurement of infrastructure for the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures Project. 
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24. The decision to focus investigative efforts on the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures 

project is based on the belief that the criminal allegations are supported by reliable 

documentary evidence. I have not provided details in this ITO of all the other issues identified 

. by the complainants as those issues are not relevant to the allegations set out in this ITO. 

25. Based on the evidence gathered during the interviews and the review of documents, this ITO 

provides detailed evidence gathered by police investigators to date about the Town of 

Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. Once this investigation has concluded, the OPP 

case manager will make a determination as to what, if any, additional investigation(s) will be 

undertaken in relation to the other issues identified by the complainants. 

26. This ITO is lengthy and provides a significant amount of detailed information relating to the 

chronology of events surrounding the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. 

In this ITO, I have detailed my belief that reasonable grounds exist, certain persons have 

committed the offences of breach of trust and fraud over five thousand dollars, contrary to the 

Criminal Code. I believe that the level of detail articulated in this ITO is necessary to understand 

all of the issues that are relevant to the allegations set out. I believe I have sufficiently . 

articulated and detailed the relevance of the information at various places throughout this ITO. 

27. This storyline begins with the citizens of Collingwood and their resounding interest to have their 

municipal Council invest in and develop multi-use recreational facilities and infrastructure. As 

with most municipalities in Ontario experiencing an influx in population and economic growth, 

Collingwood found itself with outdated and insufficient infrastructure and recreational facilities 

to serve the needs of their citizens. 

28. The "2008 Leisure Services Master Plan" commissioned by the Town of Collingwood identified 

the need for indoor. ice pads with the possibility of a multi-use recreational facility. 26 The report 

stated, "The Town has been in need of additional indoor ice pads for many years. Currently, 

there is one indoor facility in the downtown area, the Eddie Bush Arena. The Central Park site 

has one outdoor ice pad." 

29. I learned that various groups and associations within Collingwood such as The Collingwood 

Young Men's Christian Association (YMCA) and the Collingwood Clippers Swim Club were 

engaged in research and discussions as far back as 2009 to upgrade or construct enhanced 

facilities for their needs. 27 I learned from reading this article in the local web media that YMCA's 

vision was not consistent with that of the Collingwood Clippers Swim Club and they each 

embarked on separate project discussions at that time. 

26 
I learned by reading 1.2 Background of a Request for Proposal issued by the Town of Collingwood on December 12, 2011, 

received by Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans on April 27, 2013, from witness Steve Berman .. 
27 

I located this article on internet page: www.theenterprisebulletin.com/2010/05/19/y-pool-doesnt-meet-communitys-needs 
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! . 30. J learned that the Town of Collingwood had posted a Notice for Request for Proposal.s (RFP) with 

a deadline of April 16, 2010, named RFP LS2010~17 for Engineering and Consulting Services for 

Outdoor Ice Surface Roof and Central Park Site Plan Analysis. 28 I reviewed !his RFP and learned 

that it specified (quote): 

See~ng consulting services to prepare conceptual and detailed plans for the proposed roof 
structure over the outdoor ice surface, including site works, architectural, mechanical and 

electrical and prepare the necessary contract drawings, specifications and tendering documents 
for the entire project including required improvements to Central Park 'Ibe consultant will 
undertake a complete analysis of the entire park in terms of site servicing, zoning requirements 
and site plan development. 

Iown of Collingwood Recreational Review established 

31. On March 28, 2011, Tom Coone from the Collingwood YMCA and Marta Proctor, Director of 

Leisure Services for the Town of Collingwood, provided a joint presentation to the Town of 

Collingwood Council.2£1 I learned from my review of the meeting minutes that this presentation 

advocated the development of Central Park in the Town of Collingwood through the concept of 

a joint venture between the Town of Collingwood and the YMCA to enhance the recreat.ional 

facilities. I learned that following the presentation, the Town of Collingwood Council carried a 
motion that supported the concept of a partnership between the Town of Collingwood and the 

YMCA. l learned that Council directed Town of Collingwood staff to facilitate a community 

consultation process and to have recommendations communicated back to Council 

approximately eight weeks fater. l learned that the Town of Collingwood Council directed 

municipal staff to work with key community leaders, organizations and age ncies to develop 

alternative sources of funding for an expanded Central Park. 

32. On June 27, 2011, the Town of Collingwood Council carried a motion to approve the Steering 

Committee recommendation to obtain the services of an architectural design firm - WGD 

Architects Inc., to assist with development of the main concept and cost preliminary design 

options for the Central Park expansion. 30 I learned from my review of these particular Town of 

Collingwood Council meeting minutes that Council released the following information on their 

website July 7, 2011, detailing the process moving forward~1 (quote): 

Central Park Concept Development Timeline Approved by Council 

Collingwood Council has approved the timeline for the Central Park Steering Committee to 
conduct a publie process to receive input on the. redevelopment of Cc.'11tra1 Park. The mandate 

18 
1' located this document at Town of Collingwood website: www.cclllngwood.ca/node/2979 

29 I learned this by reviewing the Town of Collingwood council minutes for March 28, 2011. 
30 

I learned this by reviewing the Town of Colllngwood CouncU meeting minutes for June 26, 2011. 
31 

Document located at Town of Collingwood website: www.coillngwood.ca/node/4632 
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of the Committee is to work with Town and YMCA staff to investigate matters of design, 
cost and funding for a multi-purpose recreational facility at Central Park. 

Brian Saunderson and Clare. Tucker-Reid, Co-Chairs of the committee, presented the 
timeline to Council. The committee also includes the following community representatives; 
Dr. Geoff Moran, Terry Geddes and Penny Skelton as the Chair of the Parks, Recreation.and 
Culture Advisory Committee. 

In the summer and fall, feedback will be gathered from key stakeholders, community groups 
and. the general public on design concepts for recreation facilities at the Central Park site. 
The design concepts will focus on adding ice rink and pool amenities while also addressing 
the other activities currently taking place in the park such as Slo-Pitch Diamonds, and lawn 
bowling. 

The Steering Committee will present a final report to Council in January 2012, which will 
include expected capital costs, operating budgets, and a summary of public input. 

33. I read an article that identified that the Town of Collingwood engaged their citizens seeking their 

input into what the community envisioned for future recreational fadlities32
• This article 

identified that the communities' two core desires or focuses were swimming pools and ice rinks. 

I have included the following excerpt from this article dated August 11, 2011 (quote). 

Collingwood Central Park Opinions Sought- Plans forming for Collingwood Park and 
Recreation needs. by Catherine Thompson - bayshorebroadcasting.ca 

The two main focuses are the swimming pool at the YMCA and ice rink needs. As far as the 
pool goes, by the number of dots it looks like more people favour a new six lane, 25 metre 
pool and a therapeutic pool at the Y. Interest for the rinks seems evenly split, although it looks 
like most want to keep Eddie Bush as an arena. The options are one new indoor rink at the 
park and fix up the aging Eddie Bush Arena or have 2 indoor rinks at Central Park and 
refurbish Eddie Bush for another purpose. 

Manager of Plamring and Infrastructure Projects for Collingwood, Robert Voigt (Voy-t) says 
he knew there was interest in the future of this park, but he says this is the only public meeting 
where people actually lined up outside to get in. 

As for funding the project, once a plan and its costs are decided on, then options include 
getting money from the taxpayer or the private sector. Those at the meeting s.eem to prefer the 
public sector option, but a surprising number are okay with their hard-earned money going to a 
new multi-use facility that could link the Y building to the Curling Club building. 

32 
I learned this by reading an article 011 www.bayshorebroadcasting.ca/news_ltem.php?NewslD=37664 
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Voigt says the next step in the process is to complete the Rl"P process on Monday to hire an 
engineering firm to work on a concept design so the public will have something more concrete 
to vote on at another meeting in October or November. Voigt says a preliminary report will go 
to Council in January. 

34. On August 29, 2011, Town of Collingwood Council carried a motion to award a consulting 

services contract to WGD Architects Inc. for the Central Park Feasibility Assessment and 

Preliminary Design.°3 I have learned that the Town of Collingwood' s intention to engage and hire 

the architectural flrm was to assist the Central Park Steering Committee with the development 

of the main concept and cost preliminary design options for the Central Park expansion. Below is 

the excerpt from the Council minutes approving the contract (quote): 

TIIAT Staff Rep01t PRC20ll-13, recommending that Council award the contract for 
consulting services for the Central Park feasibility assessment and preliminary design to 
WGD Architects Inc. for the total price of $26,490.00 + HST, be approved; AND FURTHER 
THAT Council authorize staff and the Mayor to sign all necessary documents to execute the 
contract. 

Afftant's Nf(lte: As per Town of Collingwood By-Law No. 2006-42, A By"Law to Provide for the 

Purchase of Goods and Services, under: Section 3.1 - For all purchases, when the amount is 

between $1,500 and $50,000, an fnquiry for written Quotation sha/J be issued on Prescribed 

Forms; Section 4.3 -Approver levels: over $25,000 - By Council as evidenced by the passing of a 

resolution or by-law. 

35. WGD Architects prepared a comprehensive development report for the Steering Committee 
Central Park project in Collingwood in the fall of 2011.34 r note that this report included two new 

ice pads, a community space that integrated the existing YMCA and Curling Rink with new 

community uses, a daycare centre and other community functions that required further 

research. 

36. On September 27, 2011, Frank Miceli, Director of Construction at Ameresco Canada had an 
initial meeting with Greenland Group of Companies and members of the Town of Collingwood 

Redevelopment Steering Committee (Central Park Steering Committee). I know this because l, 
along with Detective Constable Beverly Mackey, participated in an interview of Frank Miceli on 

June 6, 2013, at his North York, Ontario office where l learned the following relevant 
information: 

a. Ameresco Canada became aware of the Central Park Redevelopment Project to cover 

existing outdoor recreational facilities from Greenland Group of Companies owner Mark 

Palmer, 

33 
! learned this by reviewing the Town of C{Jll!ngwood Council minutes for August 29, 2011. 

;
4 

I learned this from my review of a document titled "Colllngwood Central Park Event Summary- WGD Architects", provided to 
pollce on November 19, 2013, by Richard Debrus of WGD A.rchitects, · 
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b. Ameresco Canada promotes traditional type pre-engineered building coverings and 

designs and decided to engage the Central Park Steering Committee with their proposed 

development plan. 

c. Ameresco Canada had a meeting with Greenland Group of Companies and the YMCA to 

.discuss the proposed multi-use recreational facility (MURF) for Town of Collingwood's 

Central Park. 

d. Ameresco Canada had numerous follow up meetings with Greenland Group of 

Companies, the YMCA and the I own of Collingwood. Representatives from the Town of 

Collingwood included Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd, Councillor David West and the Director 

of Leisure Services Marta Proctor. 

e. Ameresco Canada had completed and designed an ·entire and comprehensive site plan 

for the development of Central Park that integrated existing buildings and structures 

into their vision/plan. 

37. Frank Miceli provided Detective Constable Beverley Mackey with a document on June 14, 2013, 

setting out a chronology of dates, events and meetings related to their involvement with the 

Town of Collingwood Central Park Redevelopment Project. I will refer to this document titled, 

"Ameresco's Sequence of Dates" throughout this ITO. 

38. On October 12, 2011, Frank Miceli, of Ameresco Canada and Mark Palmer of the Greenland 

Group of Companies participated in a second meeting with individuals of the Town of 

Collingwood.35 I learned that also present at this meeting were past Mayor of Collingwood, Terry 

Geddes, Tom Coone of the YMCA and Robert Armstrong, also from the YMCA. · 

39. On November 9, 2011, Frank Miceli and Anthony DaSilva, Vice President of Ameresco Canada, 

along with Mark Palmer and several other individuals associated with the Greenland Group of 

Companies, met again with past Mayor of Collingwood, Terry Geddes, Robert Armstrong and 

David Grass from the YMCA.36 

40. On November 14, 2011, the Central Park Steering Committee delivered a detailed presentation 

to the Town of Collingwood Council concerning the progress and scenario recommendations for 

the proposed Central Park Redevelopment Project37
• I learned that this ·presentation was 

delivered by Ms. Claire Tucker and Mr. Brian Saunderson, co-chairs of the Central Park Steering· 

Committee. 

35 
/learned this from my review of a document titled" Ameresco's Sequence of Dates". 

36 
I learned this from my review of a document titled "Ameresco's Sequence of Dates". 

37 
I learned this by reading the Town of Collingwood Council minutes from November 14, 2011. 
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41. On November 25, 2011, Frank Miceli of Ameresco Canada, along with Mark Palmer of the 

Greenland Group of Companies, met again with past Mayor of Collingwood, Terry Geddes and 

the current Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd.38 

42. I reviewed a draft Request for Qualifications (hereinafter referred to as the RFQ) dated 

December 12, 2011.39 I learned that the Town of Collingwood issued a, "Request for 

Qualification for a Public-Private Partnership of a Central Park Multi-Use Recre.ational Facility 

(MURF) Development in the Town of Collingwood." Below is an excerpt from this RFQ (quote): 

RFQ ISSUED: Monday, December 12, 2011 
CLOSJNG DATE: Friday, December 30, 2011 
CLOSING TIME: 2:00 p.m. (Local Time) 
TOWN CONTACT Sara Almas, Clerk 
LOCATION: Town of Collingwood, 97 Hurontario Street, Collingwood 
REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS 
1.0 lNTRODUCTION 
1.1 Invitation to Proponents 
This Request for Qualification (RFQ) is an invitation to prospective Proponents to make 
Submissions for a publicly transparent partnership between Town of Collingwood (public) and 
the successful Proponent (private) sectors, and built on the expertise of each partner, that best 
meets clearly defined public needs and also private sector expectations through the appropriate 
allocation of resources, risks and rewards. 

The Town of Collingwood (Town) is seeking Design, Buih;!, Finance (DBF) services as part of 
a Public-Private-Partnership (P3) project with the Town for a new Multi-Use Recreational 
Facility (MURF) development within Central Park and located on the south side of Hume 
Street and east side of Paterson Street. See attached Figure '1' at the end of the RFQ for the 
project location and boundaries of Central Park 
Based on a review of the RFQ Submissions, the Town will select a firm (preferred Proponent) 
that will be invited to enter into exclusive negotiations for the delivery of a DBF Business Plan 
and related services. If successful, the culmination of this process will be the signing of a DBF 
agreement between the Town and the preferred Proponent for all aspects of the delivery of a 
Multi-Use Recreational Facility development project. See attached Figure '2' at the end of the 
RFQ for a schematic about the RFQ process and key teps between the Town of Collingwood 
and the preferred Proponent. 

1.2 Background 
The report by the Central Park Redevelopment Committee, "Central Park Scenario Options 
Analysis - July 4, 2011" evaluated three (3) designs for the Central Park site, namely: 

38 
I learned this from my review of a document titled "Ameresco's Sequence of Dates". 

39 
·Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans received this document on April.27, 2013, from witness Steve Berman. 
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Option One: A single facility with a new arena connected to the existing YMCA and pool 
expansion, and the existing curling rink. One baseball diamond is retained and the lawn 
bowling facility is relocated. 
Option Two: Combined Curling & Arena ~uilding with no connection to the existing YMCA 
building. Only the lawn bowling facilify would remfiln as a playing field. 
Option Three:. A separate 2 pad Arena Building with no connection to the existing buildings. 
Only the lawn bowling facility would remain as a playing field. 

A preferred concept was presented'by the Steering Committee, Town staff and consultant team 
to Town Council on November 14, 2011. The report was .received for information purposes 
only but the project information to date is to also be presented at a second (final) public 
meeting in December 2011. A final report is expected in January 2012 . 

. The current Steering Committee has established a total cost of $34M for the preferred MURF · 
concept from the ongoing public process. It was also suggested at the Town Council meeting 
on Nove,mber 14, 2011 that, given the estimated cost of the Committee's preferred concept 
and a sizeable contingency percentage that was built into the total cost estimate, an RFQ 
process should be undertaken immediately by the Town in order to identify private sector 
interest to partner with the Town on a proposed MURF development project at Central Park. 

The concept presented by the Steering Committee is not intended to be a final design, rather a 
concept to be further developed. That is, the Town now intends through the subject RFQ 
process that the preferred concept by the Steering Committee and presented to Town Council 
on November 14, 2011 can be further developed and include "value engineered and innovative 
construction practices" to provide the best overall project value for the Town of Collingwood. 

43. On December 15, 2011, Frank Miceli of Ameresco Canada and Mark Palmer of the Greenland 

Group of Companies, met with past Mayor of Collingwood, Terry Geddes, incoming Mayor 

Sandra Cooper, Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd, Councillor David West and Marta Proctor [Director of 

Leisure Services].40 

44. On February 21, 2012, a letter from Ameresco Canada Vice Presi~ent Anthony DaSilva was sent 

to Mayor Sandra Cooper requesting an opportunity to meet with Town of Collingwood Council 

regarding Ameresco Canada's proposal for the MU.RF.41 

45. On March 5, 2012, the Central Park Steering Committee released a report relating to the_ 

redevelopment of Collin~wood's Central Park.42 I have reviewed this report and learned that in 

the summary of recommendations, the committee proposed to redevelop Central Park including 

the development of a community Recreation Centre. Further, I learned the committee 

recommended that Town of Collingwood Council initiate a process to identify the most feasible 

40 I learned this from my review of a ·document titled "Ameresco's Sequence of Dates". 
41 I learned this from reviewing this letter given to Detective Constable Beverly Mackey by Frank Miceli on June 7, 2013. 
42 

I read this report located on the. official Town of Collingwood website at : 
www.collingwood.ca/files/Central%20Park%20Redevelopment%20Project_FINAL%20REPORT%20March%205%202012.pdf 
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and practical approach to financing the project. Finally, I learned the committee suggested that 

the Town of Collingwood and the local YMCA establish a partnership in order to advance the 

MURF. 

46. On March 7, 2012, Anthony Dasilva from Ameresc:o Canada contacted the Town of Collingwood 

Administrative office and spoke with CAO Kim Wingrove to request a meeting with Town of 

Collingwood Council to present its concept for the development of the MURF.43 

47. On April 10, 2012, Kim Wingrove, Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) for the Town of 

Collingwood, was "dismissed without cause". I learned this by reading the interview statement 

Kim Wingrove provided to Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans on April 25, 2013. During this 

interview. Kim Wingrove provided the officers with the following relevant details: 

a. She had been summoned to a meeting with the Town of Collingwood Mayor Sandra 

Cooper and Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd. 

b. In the Mayor's office she was read from a prepared termination letter in relation to her 

employment with the Town of Collingwood. Neither the Mayor nor the Deputy Mayor 

provided Kim Wingrove with an explanation for the employment termination. 

c. During the meeting, Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd suggested to Kim Wingrove that it would 

be in her best interests if she tendered her resignation. Kim Wingrove replied that she 

would not do that 

d. Klm Wingrove began her employment as the CAO with the Town of Collingwood in 

September of 2009 . .The CAO is the top administrative position with the municipality. 

Kim Wingrove believed her role was to liaise between elected members of the municipal 

Council and Town of Collingwood municipal employees. 

e. The CAO's role was to ensure that Council's strategic direction, activities and outcomes 

are undertaken. As the CAO for the Town of Collingwood, Kim Wingrove would attend 

every official Council meeting. 

f. Kim Wingrove advised that all municipal staff should have reported to her as the CAO, 

but she learned there were exceptions in Collingwood. Kim Wingrove reported that on 

the municipalities' organization chart the Executive Director of Public Works (Ed 

Houghton) reported to her, but in reality that did not occur. 

43
1 learned this from my review of a document titled "Ameresco's Sequence of Dates". 
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g. Ed Houghton performed the roles of Executive Director of Public Works for the Town of 

Collingwood and Chief Executive Officer for COLLUS44
, and he reported to the 

Collingwood Public Utilities Board. 

h. The day before Kim Wingrove was terminated, during a Town of Collingwood Council in­

camera meeting, Sara Almas [Clerk] received a request to surrender her statutory 

delegation to the Town of Collingwood municipal lawyer. The Municipal Act, 2001, for 

Ontario states that only the clerk can delegate his/her statutory authority to another 

person. The delegation of authority occurred and the lawyer received designation to 

keep minutes of the in-camera discussions. 

i. Kim Wingrove believed that this in-camera session would have involved all members of 

the Town of Collingwood Council. Kim Wingrove was not present for this meeting. She 

advised that Council required five of nine votes in order to pass a motion. Kim Wingrove 

believed that Council had enough votes for her dismissal (the minutes from the meeting 

are confidential). 

j. After her meeting with Town of Collingwood Mayor Sandra Cooper and Deputy Mayor 

Rick Lloyd, Kim Wingrove told Sara Almas [Clerk] that they fired her. 

k. Kim Wingrove believed that there are several Town of Collingwood Councillors who will 

"do as they are told". Specifically, Kim Wingrove stated, "Kevin Lloyd who does what 

he's told, Sandy Cunningham because he's the Mayor's cousin and does what he's told, 

Ian Chadwick's on the payroll and does what he's told". 

Affiant's Note: I believe that "on the payroll" refers to Councillor Ian Chadwick as working 
for Paul Bonwick and Compenso Communications, which I will detail later in this /TO. Paul 
Bonwick is Town of Collingwood Mayor Sandro Cooper's brother. 

48. Sara Almas [Clerk] confirmed the details surrounding the dismissal of CAO Kim Wingrove. I know 

this because I read the interview statement that Sara Almas provided to Detective Sergeant 

Shawn Evans on May 22, 2013. I learned the following relevant information from this interview: 

a. Sara Almas stated that the Clerk position has statutory responsibilities in accordance 

with the Municipal Act, 2001. These responsibilities include secretariat functions to 

Council, records management, coordination of elections, and the administration of 

requests through the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act. 

44 
COLLUS is a Collingwood community owned power utility. In August 2012, Powerstream acquired 50% of COLLUS shares 

becoming Collus/Powerstream'. 
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b. The Clerk is the only person required to attend Council meetings and Council in-camera 

meetings (pursuant to the Municipal Act, 2001) to record minutes. The Clerk reports 

directly to the Town of Collingwood CAO. 

c. Sara Almas' statement corroborated that of Kim Wingrove's statement that Mayor 

Sandra Cooper wanted to delegate the Clerk's responsibility to record minutes at the 

April 9, 2012, in-camera meeting of Council. 

d. The night that the decision was made by Council to dismiss Kim Wingrove, Mayor 

Sandra Cooper intended to delegate the Clerk's authority to the Town of Collingwood 

municipal lawyer. Sara Almas told the Mayor that her Worship could not delegate that 

authority, only the Clerk could do so. 

e. Despite Sara Almas not being pleased about the situation, she honored the Mayor's 

request and delegated her authority to the solicitor in writing but only for the in-camera 

meeting. 

f. According to Sara Almas, Kim Wingrove's employment with the Town of Collingwood 

was terminated because she (Kim Wingrove) challenged the Mayor and Council on some 

of their decisions. 

g. Sara Almas also stated that Kim Wingrove was terminated because she wanted to fire, 

or do something with, the Treasurer Marjory Leonard. Sara Almas was aware that this 

may have been related to performance issues held by Kim Wingrove concerning Marjory 

Leonard. 

49. The current Town of Collingwood CAO John Brown has met with Detective Sergeant Shawn 

Evans since this investigation commenced to discuss many matters, including those of 

administrative and municipal procedures within the Town of Collingwood. I know this because I 

have reviewed his officer notes and reports from December 12, 2013. I learned that current CAO 

John Brown confirmed several points for Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans, including: 

a. The administrative structure under which the Town of Collingwood was operating when 

Kim Wingrove was CAO was such that no one would have been able to do the job 

effectively. 

b. That there is merit to the concerns raised about the work performance of Treasurer 

Marjory Leonard. 
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50. On April 12, 2012, the Town of Collingwood Council made a motion relating to By-law 2012-051 

to, "Appoint an Acting CAO for the Corporation of the Town of Collingwood."45 I read that all 

members of Council voted in favor of this motion. By-law 2012-051, as passed by Council, 

appointed Ed Houghton to the position of Acting CAO for the Town of Collingwood following the 

dismissal of former CAO Kim Wingrove. 

51. Sara Almas [Clerk] provided detailed information to Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans relating to 

the appointment of Ed Houghton as Acting CAO for the Town of Collingwood. I reviewed the 

statement she provided to police on May 22, 2013, and learned the following relevant 

information relating to Ed Houghton's appointment as Acting CAO: 

a. There were conversations between members of Council and Ed Houghton concerning 

his acceptance of the CAO responsibility. 

b. Ed Houghton accepted the responsibility to be Acting CAO for the Town of Collingwood. 

c. Town of Collingwood Council directed Sara Almas [Clerk] to prepare a by-law appointing 

Ed Houghton as the Acting CAO. 

d. There was a special Council meeting to appoint Ed Houghton to the position of Acting 

CAO. This was an open public meeting. 

e. Ed Houghton maintained his position of CEO of COLLUS and Executive Director of Public 

Works for the Town of Collingwood while acting as the CAO for the Town of 

Collingwood. 

f. Ed Houghton did not receive any compensation from the Town of Collingwood for the 

role of Acting CAO. 

g. Shortly after Town of Collingwood Council appointed him to the position of Acting CAO, 

Ed Houghton created an Executive Management Team (hereinafter referred to as the 

EMT). The purpose of which W?S to assist him with carrying out the duties of the Acting 

CAO. 

h. There was no direction from Council to create the EMT. The EMT members provided 

input, but Ed Houghton made all final decisions. The EMT member~. included: Acting 

CAO Ed Houghton, Marjory Leonard [Treasurer], Sara Almas [Clerk] and· Director of 

Information Technology (IT) Services from COLLUS/Powerstream Larry Irwin. 

45 
I learned this from my review of the Town of Collingwood Council minutes for April 12, 2012. 
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i. Larry Irwin is not an eriployee of the Town of Collingwood; he is an employee of 

COLLUS/Powerstream. He is permitted to sit as the department head as a director of IT 

because of the Town of Collingwood's prior exclusive ownership of COLLUS. 

j. The EMT acted on a consensus basis however if the EMT could not reach a consensus on 

an issue, then Acting CAO Ed Houghton would make the decision. 

k. ·The EMT did not record minutes from any of its meetings. The EMT would meet on 

Mondays before scheduled Town of Collingwood Council meetings. 

Introduction of Sprung Instant Structures to the Town of Collingwood 

52. Pat Mills is a sales representative for Sprung Instant Structures who has worked for the 

company since 2009. I know this because he provided an interview statement to Detective 

Sergeant Shawn Evans on July 10, 2013, detailing his involvement with Sprung Instant Structures 

and the Town of Collingwood. I have reviewed this witness interview and learned the following 

relevant information: 

a. Tom Lloyd, regional manager of Sprung Instant Structures, recruited him to join Sprung 

Instant Structures as a Sales Representative. 

b. His role with Sprung Instant Structures was to search out potential clients and projects 

and establish contact with these prospective clients. Once Pat Mills introduced potential 

clients to the Sprung Instant Structures sales team and engineers, his role was 

completed. 

c. In situations where Pat Mills made contact with a potential client, he would register the 

client contact with Tom Lloyd. If the client contact developed into a contract between 

the client and Sprung Instant Structures, Pat Mills would receive a commission. 

d. Pat Mills initially viewed a website and learned about the work that the Central Park 

Steering Committee had done on behalf of the Town of Collingwood. Pat Mills stated 

that he viewed the document to ascertain if he knew anyone associated to this project. 

e. Pat Mills recognized the name of Brian Saunderson who was listed as the Co-Chair of the 

Central Park Steering Committee. Pat Mills knows Brian Saunderson as a former student 

of his. 

f. Pat Mills met with Brian Saunderson for lunch and had a discussion with him about the · 

Sprung Instant Structures product as an option for the Central Park improvement· 

project. Pat Mills provided Brian Saunderson with a photograph of a Sprung Instant 

Structure. 

23 

CJI0006013 



g. Brian Saunderson told Pat Mills that decisions relating to Central Park rested with the 

Town of Collingwood Council. Pat Mills learned from Brian Saunderson that Ed 

Houghton was the new CAO for the Town of Collingwood and he would be the contact 

person relating to Central Park improvement issues. 

· h. After this lunch meeting, Pat Mills attended Central Park and photographed the 

Collingwood site in an effort to register the Collingwood project with Sprung Instant 

Structures. 

i. Pat Mills attended at the Town of Collingwood municipal office but was unable to meet 

with Ed Houghton. Pat Mills sent Ed Houghton an email, congratulating him on his 

recent appointment to the position of CAO. In this email, Pat Mills further described his 

position with Sprung Instant Structures and requested a meeting. 

j. Pat Mills received a response from Ed Houghton's office and a meeting was set for April 

20, 2012, but later re-scheduled to April 25, 2012, due to a misunderstanding on the 

meeting location. 

k. On April 25, 2012, Ed Houghton and Pat Mills met at the Park Hyatt Toronto Hotel. Pat 

Mills provided Ed Houghton with a binder of promotional material relating to Sprung 

Instant Structures. Ed Houghton expressed some interest in the Sprung Instant 

Structures hockey arena. Ed Houghton told Pat Mills that his timing was good. 

I. Pat Mills got the impression from Ed Houghton that Collingwood was missing the 

funding for the larger vision for the Central Park project. Ed Houghton told Pat Mills that 

he was not sure how many of his "friends" would want a non-traditional building. 

Affiant's Note: I believe that what Ed Houghton was referencing was the Sprung Instant 

Structures building is a "non-traditional" type building - an 'Engineered Tensioned 

Membrane Structure' as opposed to the "traditional" type building such as steel, bricks 

and mortar construction. 

m. Ed Houghton told Pat Mills that he would be in touch if-and-when there was further 

interest in the Sprung Instant Structure. Pat Mills felt a sense of urgency from Ed 

Houghton in regards to this project. Ed Houghton mentioned that the Town of 

Collingwood could not get any government funding for this project. 

n. After ·his initial meeting with Acting CAO Ed Houghton, Pat Mills registered this 

Collingwood project as a 'potential project .and client' with Sprung Instant Structures 

Regional Manager Tom Lloyd. 
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o. Pat Mills advised that if one of his registered clients purchases a building from Sprung 

Instant Structures he was eligible to receive a 10% commission. 

p. Sprung Instant Structures employee David Macneil had previously registered the 

proposed Collingwood Pool ren·ovation involving the Collingwood Clipper Swim Team 

(which never. developed beyond the concept stage) in 2009. 

53. Pat Mills prepared and provided Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans with a document setting out a 
chronology of dates, events and meetings to assist with understanding his involvement with the 

Town o( Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. I will refer to this document titled, 

"Mills' Sequence of Dates" in this ITO. 

54. On April 5, 2012, the Town of Collingwood granted Ameresco Canada an opportunity to present 

their preliminary ideas and designs for the development of a MURF in a marketing sound 

document.46 I learned that this presentation occurred on April 17, 2012, and included 

representatives of Ameresco Canada, Greenland Group of Companies, and former Mayor of 

Collingwood, Terry Geddes of the Central Park Steering Committee. I noted the Town of 

Collingwood attendees were Mayor Sandra Cooper, Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd, Councillors' Dale 

West and Keith Hull, Acting CAO Ed Houghton, Marjory Leonard [Treasurer] Marta Proctor 

[Director of Leisure Services]. 

55. On May 7, 2012, the Steering Committee for the Central Park Community Recreation Centre was 

on the agenda to provide a funding strategy update. I learned this from my review of the Town 

of Collingwood Council minutes for that date. 

56. On May 18, 2012, Pat Mills, Sprung Instant Structures safes representative, received an email 

from Pam Hogg, the administrative assistant to Acting CAO Ed Houghton.47 I learned that the 

email stated: ''Ed had asked me to let you know that Council is having a planning session on 

June 11th. So it would be best to wait until after that session to schedule your follow-up 

meeting." 

57. Between June 1 and 4, 2012, the Federation of Canadian Municipalities Conference and Trade 

Show occurred at the TCU Place in Saskatoon, Saskatchewan.48 I learned Deputy Mayor Rick 

Lloyd attended this particular Federation of Canadian Municipalities Conference on behalf of the 

Town of Collingwood.49 

. 
46 

I learned this from my review of a document titled "Ameresco's Sequence of Dates". 
47 

I learned this from my review of a document titled "Mills' Sequence of Dates". 
48 

I conducted an open source internet search on Aprll 16, 2014: http://www.fcm.ca/home/events/past-conferences/2012~ 
annual-conference-and-trade-show.hfm 
49 

I learned this by reviewing the witness interview transcripts of Town of Collingwood Councillor Keith Hull provided to 
Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and Detective Constable Ticknor on May 8, 2013. 
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58. Sprung Instant Structures was a vendor at this particular Trade Show event between June 1 and 

4, 2012. I learned this from Detective Constable Tim Ticknor, who communicated with Caroline 

Vanas'se, Manager, Sponsorship and Sales, Corporate Events and Partnership-Operation for the 

Federation of Canadian Municipalities. I learned that she provided Detective Constable Tim 

Ticknor with a list of vendors who were present for this event. I reviewed an email 

correspondence exchanged between Detective Constable Tim Ticknor and Caroline Vanasse on 

October 15, 2013, and confirmed that Sprung Instant Structures appeared on this list of 

vendors. 

59. On June 11, 2012, the Town of Collingwood Council held a community planning session in 

relation to the Town of Collingwood's future recreational direction.50 The following is an excerpt 

from the actual Council minutes: 

CENTRAL PARK. STRATEGIC PLANNING SESSION 

Acting CAO Ed Houghton clarified the goals of the session. Director of Parks, Recreation 
and Culture provided an overview of the project completed to date, and what matters are 
outstanding. 

Treasurer Marjory Leonard reviewed the internal funding options that are available for 
whatever· direction that Council provides. Each member of Council provided comments on 
their visi<2P for this redevelopment Comments included: 
•Proceed with/without market sounding 
•Should the recommended scenario be "phased-in?" 
•Priorities are ice pad and aquatic infrastructure 
•Should the Eddie Bush be refurbished 
•Should we look at a Performing Arts Centre 
•Concept design has too much parking, need more civic space 
•$35M is too much I $35M is needed to provided needed service 
•Not considering use of COLLUS $$$at this point. 
•Keep ball diamonds at park or determine where they are going 
•Concern with limiting the location to Central Park/should another location be investigated 
•Real or perceive economic impact of the downtown 
•Convert Eddie Bush - need (or seasonal use?) 
•Need to be responsible with finances 
•Is there partnership opportunities with another municipality 
•The concept is supported 
•Cost of displaced infrastructure 
•Cover the outdoor ice surface 
•Should funds be given to the YMCA 

so I reviewed Town of Collingwood Council minutes for June 11, 2012. 
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Acting CAO Ed Houghton provided a brief summary and discussion on next steps. Staff will 
prepare options based on the discussion for con<>ideration at a future Council meeting. 

60. I learned from my review of a witness interview given to police by Town of Collingwood 

Councillor Keith Hull (previously sourced in paragraph 52) that this community planning session 

meeting was the idea of Acting CAO Ed Houghton. I learned that the intent was for each Council 

member to provide public comments regarding their vision, ideas and concepts for the Central 

Park project and future recreational needs. I learned that during this meeting a brochure for 

Sprung Instant Structures was circulated among the Councillors. 

61. I learned from my review of a witness interview given by Sara Almas [Clerk] (previously sourced 

ln paragraph 51) that confirmed Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd had circulated a promotional booklet 

about the Sprung Instant Structures at this June 11, 2012, community planning session meeting. 

Sara Almas als.o confirmed that Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd had been to the Federation of 

Canadian Municipalities Conference and Trade.Show in the spring of 2012. 

62. I learned from my review of a witness interview given by Sara Almas {Clerk} (previously sourced 

in paragraph 51) the following relevant information: 

a. Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd assigned her and Marta Proctor [Director of leisure Services] 

to prepare a 'Staff Report' detailing available recreation options, based on information 

that was presented at the June 11, 2012, community planning session. 

b. This 'Staff Report' ultimately became the Town of Collingwood Staff Report EMC 2012-

01. 

c. She stated that Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd wanted the report and the recommendations 

completed for a future Town of Collingwood Council meeting as she believed Deputy 

Mayor Rick Lloyd had a vision of being, 11seen as getting things done." 

Affiant's Note: 
I believe that Town of Collingwood Staff Report EMC 2012-01 is significant to the allegations set 
forth in this !TO and I will provide substantial detail relating to this Staff Report later in this !TO. 

63. On June 13, 2012, Pat Mills, Sprung Instant Structures Sales Representative, engaged in a series 

of email correspondences with Town of Collingwood Acting CAO Ed Houghton and his 

administrative assistant Pam Hogg.51 I learned that in the initial email, Pat Mills was seeking a 

meeting with Acting CAO Ed Houghton to discuss how Sprung could be helpful in providing, Ila 
fabulous facility" for the Town of Collingwood. 

>i I learned this from my review of a document titled "Mills' Sequence of Dates". 
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64. I reviewed the email correspondence response to the above correspondence from Acting CAO 

Ed Houghton to Pat Mills dated the June 13, 2012.52 In this email, Acting CAO Ed Houghton 

states that "I have been asked by a member of Council to get a 'rough' estimate for the 

installation oftwo fabric buildings". This email reads as follows: 

From: 
Sent: 
Toe 

. $~bjfJC~ 

Patrick: 

l bav~ ~n asked by a rnc.mber of coundl t~ g~t a. •rough" estimate for ~he mrtallation of t\vo fabrie bwldmg$.,can'We 
discuss 1hl£>? ··• 

Mr •.. EdHough~r;~1~. tt.(;EO*.ColllDgwpb.l. •• . l{lilil;.' ' )' ~¢~$ Cotp. 
A~gCbie.f.J\d~iYie Qffietr, Icwn.of Co~~'d 
\,...1:¥1.~~-~ .... ~"~~-"'-"'"'°"'"'-"'""-~~~-,.,,~~~""'-'"'""""'-"'"""~ 

Afjian~s Notes: I have noted that the auto signature attached to the bottom of this email 
identifies that Ed Houghton is the President and CEO, of Collingwood Utility Services Corp. 
(COLL US) and the Acting Chief Administrative Officer for the Town of Collingwood. 

65. I read Pat Mills' reply email correspondence to Acting CAO Ed Houghton this same date (June 

13, 2012) at 3:30 p.m., concerning the request for a "rough estimate for the installation of two 

fabric buildings1153
. I have provided a copy of this email in the next paragraph (please read from 

the bottom up). 

52 
This email correspondence provided to pollce by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 

53 
This email correspondence provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
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E'd! 

\y;'mtl ~<seu~,to ,gi\'ITmt~e 1'ut '~!IP,i;~ witl0e di:ci.%mif~,bytbe~~i.:$. V.~tvdJl tbey~• 
~fur? l ~$a ~ng, \>iill he pref~ Am~ v.il1 pmni:tu,11.'1 ~.1.S$iwlofftr~icm,wt .pti;or 
to tb:Jl you can !tdp me ,by ~'Cring,'thcfollo,.vmg qu"::iom. You ~n~. ·me#' 1$16 8 07 9972 ···· · • 

, ""~"'ilf h¢, be ~'dWr,?DovbkAmoo?S;-.~ug'F~1~?~ 
Size of . . .. . ot ooe ~ot)''l ' . 
wu:r ~ .Mtrfm:.e be·dCmed'? · 
··~~<)(~,~\~don?' 
O~ki~~ Dlniilg? ~ . . ... . .. . ... . 
Tbt:i d~yoo ~· giet m mi: n~oo the hctt·r:t tt wilt be'·(« ~lJ nrus. r1 

up~~~cn7.:~{~~Jng~<.h:~~~~· ..•.. .... ,.,, ..•. 
.. 'the·~~ ,,.ill ~n;:i ~ bt~ckt:k•'l\"tt,::t::ld.~. Yotl bOi.-.•H~b:ly·~ ~~od• tlil:m. 

·~~,~~l'l~~~pt. 
. a.est~"\'!.~ pai;:! • · ... 

a. l have read an email correspondence where Acting CAO Ed Houghton forwarded this 

very email correspondence he had received from Pat Mills at 3:30 pm (this same date 

and detailed/sourced in the previous paragraph) to Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd at 3:32 pm, 
moments after receiving it from Pat Mills. 

A/flanrs Note: I believe that this email correspondence chain provides evidence that the 
"member of Counciln which Acting CAO Ed Houghton was referring to in the email identified in 

paragraph 64 is in fact Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd. 

b. I have read another email that Pat Mills sent {same date and detailed/sourced in the 

previous paragraphs) to Acting CAO Ed Houghton with an attachment titled, "Sprung 

Performance Arenas International". The email included a link to videos depicting uses 

for the Sprung Instant Structures buildings including arenas, pools, and MURF's. 
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66. On June 14, 2012, at 5:41 p.m., Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd sent an email correspondence to 

members of the Town of Collingwood Council and members of the EMT including Marta Proctor 

[Director of Leisure Services], Acting CAO Ed Houghton, Sara Almas [Clerk], Marjory Leonard 

[Treasurer] and Larry Irwin [Director of IT COLLUS]. 54 The email reads as follows: 

~..._,.,,.,...... _________ ~---------------,--~-,--'cc:---7--. ·-,,,,,,, ' 
fro~f~'~::r , , , 

, sent:~; ju , ~12 05:41 PM 
ro;,a;I'~ ,' J;, ' ' > ' ', ,' • ' , .. '' ,, ,.,.. '• ,,, ' 
CC: ~ndfa· ~; :roVln :- ~~llOijs; r-~ Pr«t01; Marjory 1.00naro;, Sam AIJMs; I.arty Irwin 
•,SU~, ~tlt!(ln!<)I Pl:JdJ~rurik . . . 

Good;,ff~nid. . , . . , , .', . . ,. ',, . , , ,, , , .... , , '·', . ''·,.' •,',' ,,· 
'would like,~, reqliestif at all JXJ~slbleto haV& a price fora buil~in~.ttfatW()Uld et)tk>Su lhe corii!)~te Cent~lhl Pool.· 
A blilldlng SUlJCttlre th<lt'f would be tnterested lnis:thebulfdlngproduced by Sprunirtlulldlrlg Pr{jduaS. . . ' .. 
I tnowthat iliey have represematives 11," OntarlO nod they wouldcome aod price a.str1.1cture. , , 
"5 wel' I would, fCCQmmend to get a priro U well fOf JJtwOf.thelt $troc;tures to cowirthe Ou~r Rink. , , 
Sp~flS lJ\Jlkfiog s.,stems,am U4ed fOI' Ice RinkS, SlJ1Sle, double and ttlPJe kt rinks.a$ wetl S~g P\.)ojs., 
These $ulldl11&S,i'ire wd lrisul;ittd and flirve a Warrnruy I th1nk of sq year$ . , 
nfuntiils yOU 11' ;'ldVatlCC . ' .. 

ni~k !J#'Yd . . · 
, ()f:ppty MaYQf 
. T?\¥n,of. q,~npood, .· 

Affiant's Note: This email folfowed the day after Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd became aware 
through Acting CAO Ed Houghton, that Sprung Instant Structures would provide an estimate to 
the Town of Colfingwood on two fabric structures (paragraph 65). 

67. I have noted in the email chain, following the initial email correspondence described in the 

previous paragraph, that Marta Proctor [Director of Leisure Services] forwarded Deputy Mayor 

Rick Lloyd's emall to Dennis Seymour and Darin Potts (Town of Collingwood Recreation 

Department employees) on June 14, 2014.55 The email as follows: 

f'«>rfu:. 
Sent' 
To: 
sv~· .. 

Matta Prodor 
J!.f®·11~2012 6:1$ PM 

, ''•~l'lis ~m0ur. Oarin'f:Vlts 
FW: cenlt!l'lnlal Pool I OWdoor Rink 

, ~ t!IJs o!le tb~ing,.;,cao you please GMflrm some~pprox prlting and what spe"cltu;any it vrouldfGoukJ ioo~Je 
both~ . ' ' . . ' .. 

'Thank$ 
Marta· 
: f .J/1 .'. '!": < 

._....,...,, .. lo iii* ... ~.-~.~---··· !:-··--11 ... -·-~---

"
4 

This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 

:.s This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
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68. I have reviewed a number of email correspondences that were in response to the initial June 14, 

2012, email from Deputy Mayor Lloyd (paragraph 66) where he revealed his interest in the 

Sprung Instant Structure. I noted that a number of Town of Collingwood Councillors, including 

Kevin Lloyd, Sandy Cunningham and Keith Hull and Mayor Sandra Cooper were seemingly 

receptive to the idea of a Sprung Instant Structures building.56 

Town of Collingwood actively pursuing a Sprung Instant Structures option and introduction of 

. BLT Construction Services to this Project 

69. At this stage in the investigative time line - June 14, 2012 - it is evident that Deputy Mayor Rick 

Lloyd has made his desire known to pursue the Sprung Instant Structures option. This new 

direction adopted by Council, is in addition to and separate from the work that the Steering 

Committee has already been engaged to do and the design proposal that Ameresco Canada has 

prepared for the Town. It is at this point-in-time three new individuals are introduced to this 

investigation and one individual will see his role start to diminish. Below I will briefly identify 

each of them and their involvement as this time line moves forward: 

Pat Mills is the sales representative for Sprung Instant Structures who was responsible for 

initiating contact with the Town of Collingwood for this project. As I have detailed previously in 

this ITO, he registered the Town of Collingwood Project with Sprung Instant Structures and now 

will start the "hand-off' of this project to Tom Lloyd and Dave Macneil, also from Sprung Instant 

Structures. Patrick Mills will receive a 10% commission when this project develops into a 

contract for Sprung Instant Structures. 

Tom Lloyd is the Regional Director of Sprung lnst;rnt Structures in Ontario.57 I learned· the 

following relevant information from my review of his witness interview with my colleagues: 

a. He is not related to Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd. 

b. He became the main point of contact for Sprung Instant Structures on this Central Park 

project and he worked closely with Acting CAO Ed Houghton and the Town of 

Collingwood to develop this project into a signed contract. 

c. Sprung Instant Structures had previous involvement with the Town of Collingwood in 

relation to a proposed swimming pool project in 2010. At that time a local swim club, 

the Collingwood Clippers were looking to put a cover over the outdoor pool. 

Affiant's Note: This project never came to fruition. 

56 
This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his. FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 

57 
I learned this by reviewing the witness interview transcripts of Tom Lloyd given to Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and 

Detective Tim Ticknor on July 9, 2013 . 
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d. According to Tom Lloyd, the Town of Collingwood facilitated a study to determine what 

the community needed in the future in regards to a recreational facility. The initial study 

for a MURF had a price tag of 35 million dollars. 

e. He confirmed that Pat Mills, a Sprung Instant Structures sales representative, made the 

initial contact with the Towri of Collingwood and had a meeting with the Acting CAO 

following the release of a recreational study. 

f. According to Tom Lloyd, the Acting CAO was "blown" away with what Sprung could do 

for them, and he organized an initial meeting between Sprung Instant Structures 

representatives and the Town of Collingwood. He then organized an additional meeting 

with the Town of Collingwood Mayor, Deputy Mayor, the Acting CAO and a few other 

employees. 

g. He confirmed that the Town of Collingwood was initially focused on covering an outdoor 

arena, which then led to the idea of covering the outdoor swimming pool. Tom Lloyd 

believed that the Town of Collingwood were focused on a 25 meter enclosed pool and 

also a second arena. 

h. He confirmed that the Town of Collingwood asked Sprung Instant Structures to present 

their concepts to Council in an open forum. 

i. Tom Lloyd stated that Sprung Instant Structures is familiar with government 

procurement processes. 

j. According to Tom Lloyd, because the Town of Collingwood had lost government funding 

once before, the Town of Collingwood decided to sole source the project because sole 

sourcing was an option available to the Town of Collingwood. The Town knew that, 

"they were going to select Sprung regardless, so they decided to sole source directly 

through BLT, who purchases the Sprung structures." 

k. The majority of conversations between the Town of Collingwood and Sprung Instant 

Structures were "with Acting CAO Ed Houghton, as well as a couple of the Lloyds." 

Affiant's Note: I believe that the comment, "a couple of the Lloyds" refers to Town of 
Collingwood Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd and Town of Collingwood Councillor Kevin Lloyd. 

I. Tom Lloyd listed all the competitors that he believed the Town of Collingwood 

researched, including: Brightspan, Megadome and Norseman. Tom Lloyd confirmed 

that Sprung Instant Structures helped the Town of Collingwood do the comparison on 

Sprung Instant Structures' competitors. 
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m. Tom Lloyd believed the Town of Collingwood Parks and Recreation people did a lot of 

research on air bubble enclosures, full construction buildings and pre-engineered steel 

buildings. The Town of' Collingwood had already determined a cost and facility 

standpoint for the buil.ding type it wanted to proceed with. The Town .of Collingwood 

also wante·~ the facility to be LEED58 Silver certified. 

n. He confirmed that Acting CAO Ed Houghton was the lead and point-of-contact for the 

Town of Collingwood in this Sprung Instant Structures project. Tom Lloyd confirmed that 

he had direct conversations with Town of Collingwood Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd, 

Councillor Ian Chadwick, Councillor Kevin Uoy<;! and Acting CAO Ed Houghton. He stated 

that other individuals he spoke with in relation to ~his project were Town of Collingwood 

Marjory Leonard [Treasurer] and various staff from the Parks ·and Recreatio11 

department. He stated that Acting CAO Ed Houghton had a task force, including senior 

staff members and some Council members. 

o. According to Tom Lloyd, Sprung Instant Structures worked with the Town of 

Collingwood to provide a 'turnkey proposal' with Sprung Instant Structure's licensed 

partner, BLT Construction Services. 

p. He confirmed that Sprung Instant Structures and BLT Construction Services are two 

separate entities. Sprung Instant Structures is the manufacturer of the product and 

responsible to deliver the Sprung instant Structure material product to the work site. He 

stated BLT Construction Services actually constructs and builds the structure. 

q. He confirmed that BLT Construction Services is the preferred partner in Southern 

Ontario for building -the Sprung Instant Structures. He further stated, "That being said, 

there are options available to the customer as to what company builds the Sprung 

Instant Structures." BLT Construction Services has been building the structures for over 

15 years. 

r. Tom Lloyd confirmed that Dave Barrow and Mark Watts are the principals from BLT 

Construction Services. 

s. He confirmed that The Town of Collingwood project is the first project where Sprung 

lnsta nt Structures and BLT Construction Services have erected a structure over a pool 

and an arena. Sprun~ Instant Structures have had other contractors construct these 

structures over an arena and pool. 

58 
Leadership in Energy and· Environmental Design (LEED) i~ a set of rating systems for the design, construction, operation, and 

maintenance of green buildings, hornes and neighborhoods. · 
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t. Tom Lloyd stated that The Town of Collingwood decided on BLT Construction Services as 

the company to build the Sprung Instant Structures as they (the Town) wanted a 

company. with a lot of business experien_ce who was an official licensed partner of 

Sprung Instant Structures. He stated that The Town of Collingwood · thought BLT 

Construction Serv.ices gave them a terrific price. 

u. Tom Lloyd confirmed that Pat Mills, Sprung Instant Structures manufacturer 

representative received a commission ·payment for the sale of the Sprung Instant 

Structures product for the arena. He stated that no one else has received any 

commission payment from Sprung Instant Structures. 

v. He confirmed that BLT Construction Services got the work order from the Town of 

Collingwood. BLT Construction Services gave Sprung Instant Structures a purchase order 

for the raw building product. He stated that Sprung Instant Structures sold the structure 

to BLT Construction Services, so BLT Construction Services was the actual customer and 

the Town of Collingwood was the indirect customer to Sprung Instant Structures. 

w. Tom Lloyd thought that municipalities had to tender projects. He belleved that 90% of 

those tenders are, "slanted to the winner anyway, so the process is flawed to begin 

with.'' He stated that The Town of Collingwood said that they could buy directly from 

the supplier. 

x. Tom Lloyd communicated through, and with, Acting CAO Ed Houghton to the Town of 

Collingwood. Sprung Instant Structures communicated with the Town of Collingwood by 

way of email and phone correspondence. 

y. Tom Lloyd stated that BLT Construction Services did not provide commissions to any 

Sprung Instant Structures employee. 

Z; Tom Lloyd stated that there were no minutes kept from any meetings or conference 

calls that occurred between Sprung Instant Structures and the Town of Collingwood. 

Dave Macneil is a Territory Sales Executive with Sprung Instant Structures in Ontario.59 I learned 

that he is an assistant to Tom Lloyd during this project and as I will detail further in this ITO, 

actively engaged in several meetings and emails with various individuals relating to this project. 

Dave Barrow is the Vice President of BLT Construction Services, a Toronto based construction 

firm that is the exclusive builder for 'Sprung Instant Structures in Ontario.60 I learned the 

following relevant information from my review of his witness interview with my colleagues: 

59 
I know this from reviewing the witness interview transcripts of Tom Lloyd given to Detectlve Sergeant Shawn Evans and 

Detective Tim Ticknor on July 9, 2013 · 
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a. BLT Construction Services have built 75 to 100 Sprung Instant Structures over the past 

fifteen years in Ontario and Quebec. 

b. Dave Barrow was contacted by Tom Lloyd and Dave Macneil in July 2012 and advised of 

the potential Town of Collingwood project to cover an outdoor arena and outdoor pool. 

c. Sprung Instant Structures employee Dave Macneil also had contacted BLT Construction 

Services in 2010 concerniRg a pool project for the Town of Collingwood. At that time, 

Lisa Rennie from the Town of Collingwood Parks and Recreation Department wanted a 

budget to cover a pool. 

Affiant's Note: As detailed earlier, this project never came to fruition. 

d. BLT Construction Services and Sprung Instant Structures are separate entities. BLT 

Construction Services is the exclusive builder to Sprung Instant Structures in Ontario. 

BLT Construction Services is involved in projects from the ground up from providing 

quotes for building to inspection. 

e. BLT Construction Services and Sprung Instant Structures had several meetings, 

consultation and negotiation with the Town of Collingwood concerning what the Town 

required for this project. 

f. Sprung Instant Structures gave BLT Construction Services a price for the structure and 

components, and then BLT Construction Services did the rest. Sprung Instant Structures 

wanted the sale and to get the sale, they used BLT Construction Services. 

g. Dave Barrow and BLT Construction Services have been involved with government 

procurement processes in the past. 

h. Dave Barrow, with the assistance of legal counsel representing BLT Construction 

Services, provided a chronology and document package to Detective Constable Ticknor. 

I have reviewed the various documents that BLT Construction Services provided to 

Detective Constable Ticknor. I will make reference to the various documents and email 

correspondence at applicable areas in the body of this ITO. When I make reference to 

several documents from this package they will be named and sourced as "BLT Sequence 

of meeting for Collingwood Project1
'. 

60 
I know this from reviewing the witness interview transcripts of Dave Barrow given to Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and 

Detective Tim Ticknor on July 30, 2013 
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70. On June 19, 2012, David Macneil and Tom Lloyd of Sprung Instant Structures met with Dennis 

Seymour, a Town of Collingwood employee, at the Collingwood Memorial Arena to discuss the 

options for two buildings in this project.61 The options included the addition of a new covered 

ice pad or an option to cover the existing outdoor rink facility. 1 le.arned from my review of the 

witness interview Tom Lloyd provided to my colleagues (sourced in previous paragraph), that he 

did meet with Dennis Seymour from the Town of Collingwood on this date. 

71. On June 19, 2012, Ameresco Canada sent a letter to the Town of Collingwood Mayor Sandra 

Cooper and Council requesting a deputation opportunity at the upcoming Town of Collingwood 

Council meeting on June 25, 2012. 62 I learned that the author of this letter, Mr. DaSilva, noted 

that his team attended the June 11, 2012, Town of Collingwood meeting where the MURF 

project was discussed. I learned that Mr. DaSilva stated in the letter that Ameresco Canada 

could add significant input into the evaluation of the existing facility and the eventual 

implementation of a strategy to incorporate the Eddie Bush Memorial Arena in the Town's 

overall recreation plan. 

72. On June 20, 2012, two emails were sent to Dennis Seymour of the Town of Collingwood 

thanking him for his time the previous day.63 From my review of these emails I learned the 

following: 

a. Tom Lloyd of Sprung Instant Structures stated in the email that Sprung Instant 

Structures was looking forward to assisting with the Town of Collingwood with its plans. 

b. Dave Macneil of Sprung Instant Structures attached a website address with some 

Sprung Instant Structure drawings that Dennis Seymour could review. Dave Macneil 

stated in his email that cost estimates would follow. 

73. On June 21, 2012, a conference call occurred at 1:00 p.m. between Pat Mills, Tom Lloyd and 

Dave Macneil of Sprung Instant Structures, with members of the Town of Collingwood 

administration. 64
1 learned that Acting CAO Ed Houghton participated in this conference call.65 

74. On June 25, 2012, Dave McNalty [Manager of Fleet, Facility and Purchasing] sent an email to 

David Macneil of Sprung Instant Structures.66 I reviewed this email correspondence and I 

learned that it referenced the Centennial Pool and the Cent.rat Park arena, with attachments 

involving aerial photos of the park, grading and site servicing, architectural site plans and site 

61 
I learned this from my review of the "BLT sequence of meeting for Collingwoqd project". 

62 I learned this from my review of a document titled "Ameresco's Sequence of Dates". 
63 

This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
64 I learned this from my review of a docu~ent titled "Mills' Sequence of Dates", 
65 

I know this from by reviewing the witness interview transcripts of Tom Lloyd given to Detective S~rgeant Shawn Evans and 

Detective Tim Ticknor on July 9, 2013. 
66 

This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
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inventory of Heritage Park. I learned that contained within the body of the email, Dave McNalty 

stated that the information attached was specifically related to Centennial Pool and that the 

infrastructure was currently in the process of being upgraded. I also lear~ed that the, "concept 

for this site Would be the placement of a fabric structure over t~e entire pool and existing pool 

building with the intent of year round use". 

Affian~s Note: I noted here that the Town of Collingwood Council had not "officially" announced 
any decisions as to what type of option that the Town· would be pursuing for the Central Park 
redevelopment. The above statement attributed to Dave McNa/ty comes after C!n email dated 
June 14, 2012, (previously identified above in paragraph 66) sent from Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd 
requesting contact with Sprung Instant Structures for an estimate on a fabric building. 

75. On June 27, 2012, at 9:25 a.m., Dave McNalty [Manager of Fleet, Facilities and Purchasing] sent 

an email correspondence to Dave Macneil of.Sprung Instant Structures.67 I reviewed this e~ail 
correspondence and learned that it contained the site plan for Central Park and included 

measurements for the placement of a fabric building over the existing outdoo.r rink facility. 

76. On June 27, 2012, at 9:50 a.m., Acting CAO Ed Houghton sent an email correspondence to Pat 

Mills of Sprung Instant Structures and copied to Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd. 68 1 reviewed this email 

and learned that Acting CAO Ed Houghton indicated Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd asked to delay 

their meeting for a week or so. 

Afjiant's Note: There is no given reason for the delay of the meeting only that the delay is at the 
request of the Deputy Mayor. 

77_. The Town of Collingwood asked WGD Architects if they would be able to phase their approach 

to the master plan regarding the Central Park Project.69 I reviewed this document that identified 

Marta Proctor [Director of Leisure Services] and Dave Debus from WGD Architects had engaged 

in several telephone conversations in June 2012. I noted that these conversations where to give 

directions to WGD Architects, asking them to change their work focus to one of (quote): 

"comparing a Sprung structure with a more commonly used pre-engineered steel structure" • 

. · 
78. On June 29, 2012, Tom Lloyd of Sprung Instant Structures had a meeting with individuals from 

the Town of Collingwood.70 I learned from my review of To~ Lloyd's interview that the specifics. 

of this meeting are unknown, as Tom Lloyd could not recall any details relating to person(s) in 

attendance or the purpose of the meeting. I did learn from my review of Tom Lloyd's witness 

int.erview that on this date he also met with Abby Stec, a person whom he described as familiar 

67 
This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collln~ood. 

68 
I learned this from my review of a document titled "Mills' Sequence of Dates". • 

69 
I learned this from my review· of a document titled "Collingwood Central Park Event Summary- WGD Architects" 

70 
I know this from by reviewing the Witness Interview transcripts of Tom Lloyd given to Detective Serge.ant Shawn Evans and 

Detective Tim Ticknor on July 9, 2013. 
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to him. I learned the following relevant information from my review of his witness interview 

surrounding the events specific to this date: 

a. Tom Lloyd stated that he dropped in to say, "hi" and to speak with Abby Stec about the 

possibility of her becoming a Sprung Instant Structure Representative. 

b. Tom Lloyd first became aware of Abby Stec through the Pretty River Academy, a private 

school in Collingwood, where she had worked as the Development Officer. 

c. He stated that during her tenure with Pretty River Academy, Abby Stec researched 

options to cover the soccer field and she became acquainted with Sprung Instant 

Structures. 

d. Tom Lloyd stated that Abby Stec left the Pretty River Academy and began to work for 

Green Leaf Distribution Inc., which is owned by Paul Bonwick. He stated that Abby Stec 

left the Pretty River Academy at the request of Paul Bonwick, to work for Paul Bonwick. 

e. Tom Lloyd advised that he also met Paul Bonwick during this June 29, 2012 visit with 

Abby Stec. Tom Lloyd stated that Abby Stec wanted him to meet Paul Bonwick. 

f. Paul Bonwick gave Tom Lloyd his professional history in politics and he know,s that Paul 

Bonwick is a registered lobbyist. He is also aware that Paul Bonwick's sister is the Mayor 

of Collingwood. 

g. Tom Lloyd stated that Paul Bonwick was very connected with the Town of Collingwood 

Council and that Paul Bonwick was once a member of the Town of Collingwood Council. 

h. Tom Lloyd stated that Paul Bonwick is friends with most of the people on the Town of 

Collingwood Council and that he believed Paul Bonwick grew up and went to high school 

in Collingwood. 

i. Tom Lloyd stated that Paul Bonwick had researched the Sprung Instant Structures and 

could only say great things about the structures. Paul Bonwick was interested in learning 

more about the Sprung Instant Structures and Tom Lloyd was excited about Paul 

Bonwick's connections for future sales. 

j. Tom Lloyd stated that Paul Bonwick was look!ng at an opportunity for his consulting 

company, Compenso Communications Inc., to promote the Sprung Instant Structures to 

First Nations Communities, municipalities, casinos, etc. 

k. Tom Lloyd did not receive another phone call or email from Paul Bonwick in 2013'.. 
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I. Tom Lloyd stated that Abby Stec had taken the lead with Sprung Instant Structures 

project but Tom Lloyd believed that she reported to Paul Bonwick. 

79. I can confirm that Abby Stec was previously the Development Officer at the Pretty River 

Academy and that she left the Academy for a job at Green Leaf Distribution Inc., at the request 

of Paul Bonwick.71 From my review of this interview, I learned that Don Gallinger is a personal 

friend to Abby Stec and she had approached him seeking his opinion on a job offer that she had 

received to be Paul Bonwick's personal assistant. I learned that Don Gallinger encouraged Abby 

Stec to take the position. 

80. On July 4, 2012, Acting CAO Ed Houghton's administrative assistant, Pam Hogg and Pat Mills of 

Sprung Instant Structures exchanged several emails discussing the coordination of a meeting 

between Sprung Instant Structures and the Town of Collingwood.72 From my review of these 

emails, I learned that Pat Mills confirmed the meeting would be held on July 11, 2012 at 1:00 

p.m., with Sprung Instant Structures attendees being Tom Lloyd, David Macneil and himself. I 

also learned that Pam Hogg confirmed the meeting will take place at the Town of Collingwood 

municipal building in the CAO's office and there was no indication in the email of who would be 

present at the meeting from the Town of Collingwood. 

81. On July 6, 2012, Tom Lloyd of Sprung Instant Structures met with Abby Stec in Toronto.73 From 

my review of this witness interview, I learned that Tom Lloyd's calendar showed that the 

meeting was with Abby Stec and Paul Bonwick although at the time of this interview with police 

Tom Lloyd could not recall if Paul Bonwick was actually at the meeting. 

82. On July 9, 2012, at 10:58 a.m., Dave McNalty [Manager of Fleet, Facility and Purchasing] sent an 

email correspondence to David Macneil of Sprung Instant. Structures.74 From my review of this 

correspondence, I learned that Dave McNalty inquired if David Macneil had any information that 

could be shared with the Town of Collingwood on the covering of the outdoor ice surface and 

Centennial Pool. 

83. On July 10, 2012, David Macneil of Sprung Instant Structures sent a letter to the Town of 

Collingwood outlining the Sprung Instant Structures membrane, its applications, the features 

and benefits of a Sprung Structure.75 I noted that this letter also provided the Sprung Instant 

Structures website as www.sprung.com. 

71 
I know this from reviewing the witness interview transcripts of Don Gallinger given to Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and 

Detective Tim Ticknor on June 12, 2013 
72 

This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
73 

I kno;,..this from reviewing the witness interview transcripts of Tom Lloyd given to Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and 

Detective Tim Ticknor on July 9, 2013. 
74 

This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
75 

This correspondence was· provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 

39· 

CJI0006013 



84. On July 11, 2012, a meeting occurred between Sprung Instant Structures and the Town of 

Collingwood.76 From my review of this document, I learned that Pat Mills introduced Tom Lloyd 

and David Macneil, who then gave a presentation. I also learned that Pat Mills described the 

Planning Committee members as polite and receptive to the Sprung Instant Structures 

presentation. I learned that the individuals present were Mayor Sandra Cooper, Acting CAO Ed 

Houghton, a man by the name of Rick (Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd) and the man in charge of 

procurement. I learned from my review of Tom Lloyd's .interview (previously sourced in 

paragraph 69) that he was present for this July 11, 2012, meeting with the Town of Collingwood. 

Affiant's Note: I learned from my review of Pat Mills' interview f previously sourced in paragraph 

52) that following this July 11, 2012, meeting with the Town of Collingwood, his role in this 

project was complete and he had no further contact with anyone from the Town of Collingwood. 

Pat Mills advised that he did not participate in any further meetings, communications, or 

negotiations between Sprung Instant Structures and the Town of Collingwood. 

85. Pat Mills from Sprung Instant Structures was· approached by Tom Lloyd of Sprung Instant 

Structures a short time after this July 11, 2012, meeting with the Town of Collingwood (but 

before Collingwood signed the contract to purchase Sprung Instant Structures) and told the 

following77
: 

a. Tom Lloyd told him there could be· a lobbyist who was going to take part of Pat Mills' 

commission. 

b. Tom Lloyd told Pat Mills that there was someone who could, "massage" the deal. 

c. Pat Mills refused to give any part of his commission to anyone as he (Pat Mills) had 

completed his role as a Sprung Instant Structures representative. 

d. Tom Lloyd did not tell Pat Mills the name of the proposed lobbyist during the above 

described conversation. 

Affiant's Note: During his interview with Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and Detective 

Constable Tim Ticknor (previously sourced in paragraph 69} Tom Lloyd made no mention of this 

· conversation with Pat Mills or the involvement of someone who could, "massage" the deal 

between Sprung Instant Structures and the Town of Collingwood. 

76 I learned this from my review of a document titled "Mills' Sequence of Dates". 
77 I learned this from reviewing the witness interview transcripts of Pat Mills given to Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and 
Detective nm Ticknor on July 10, 2013. 
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86. On July 12, 2012, Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services was contacted by Dave .Macneil of 

Sprung Instant Structures requesting that they get together in order to prepare a budget to 

cover the pool and build a new arena for the Town of Collingwood.78 I learned from my review 

of this document that it was apparent the Town of Collingwood required the budget as soon as 

possible. 

87. On July 15, 2012, Town of Collingwood Councillor Ian Chadwick sent an email correspondence to 

Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd and Councillor Kevin Lloyd. 79 The email reads as follows: 

F l'O:Jl: Ian C.:hadwi ck 
Sent: SIJ.l'lday, Jr.:rty 15> 2012. J.0:49 AM 
llJ: )(eviri t..l¢yd 
Cc: Rlc:k t.loyd 

· Suoj.ect: J!e.: c.Mtral park presi:ntation 

CJI0006013 

I can't suppoM puttlng Gee-Gs~ par-kiflg ·spaces . on that ·site ·1n1d arM>utdoor drive*11f tlleatre. 
That'$ It: mall,, t1ot a pubHt <~ity s.pa<:e. Or-op <.tt least hal'f tile· pari:it'lg .an>d turn: the r-0st 
1nto atti'lity ~pa<'e befor-e l'>l.1 ~ven t::onsider ·~ dasi8n.· 

Sut that; s after w~ g.et the missing info about thl! funding" the Erldie Bush, thf! baseball 
dia1ttol'lds. the alti;trnat:tves 1:1.ka the roof over tll~ ~utdeor i-::ttik and Rick's bubbl~ ovet' thie 
currer.t pool •• , 

Read tM letter fr«:r the Y in the eot1scnt agenda, too. P44: no pool unl~$$ the town pays 'the 
eJl'r!ltl:: <:ost, plus pays the Y to run it: $ti€1~$1eeK a year. SC1rey.,. 

Ian Chlildm.Ck 
Er®iled via iPad 

Affiant's Note: The references "the roof over the outdoor rink and Rick's bubble over the current 

pool ... " 1 believe that Councillor Ian Chadwick is talking about the Sprung Instant Structure 

concept for the Town of Collingwood recreational needs and I believe that Councillor Ian 

Chadwick is referring to Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd when he uses the name "Rick''. I believe that 

the email provides some evidence as to why the joint venture with the YMCA ("the Y") may not 

have been well received by members of Council. 

88. On July 16, 2012, at 4:04 p.m., Dave Macneil of Sprung Instant Structures sent an email 

correspondence to Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd.8° From my review of this correspondence I learned 

that thi.s email was copied to Mayor Sandra Cooper, Dave McNalty [Manager of Fleet, Facilities 

and Purchasing], Acting CAO Ed Houghton and to Tom Lloyd and Pat Mills of Sprung Instant 

Structures. I learned that this email provided budgets for three turnkey structures, one for the 

existing outdoor Centennial pool, one to cover the existing outdoor arena and the last for a new 

stand-alone Sprung Insulated Performance Arena. 

78 
I learned this from my review of the "BLT sequence of meeting for Collingwood project". 

79 
This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 

80 
This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via hls FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
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Affiant's Note: This email was sent just a few hours before. the July 16, 2012, Town of 

Collingwood Council meeting. 

89. On July 16, 2012, the Town of Collingwood Council convened for a regularly scheduled me~ting. 

I know this because all Town of Collingwood Council meetings are recorded in an audio and 

video format by Rogers Cable Inc., and all agendas and minutes are available for download on 

the official Town of Collingwood website. I know that Sara Almas [Clerk] has provided several of 

these Rogers Cable recordings to Detective Constable Tim Ticknor, including the recording for 

the Council meeting on this date. I have reviewed the recording of, the agenda for, and the 

minutes of the Council meeting for July 16, 2012. 

90. I reviewed the Town of Collingwood Council 'Agenda' for July 16, 2012, from the Town of 

Collingwood's website. I noted that Ameresco Canada appeared on the deputation list at item 

AS, "Ame.resco Canada Inc. re: Town of Collingwood Multi Use Recreation Facility- Receive for 

lnformation."81 Ameresco Canada had requested a deputation during the Town of Collingwood 

Council meeting scheduled July 16, 2012, and were put on the agenda, but cancelled before the 

Council meeting.82 

91. I learned from reviewing the Rogers Cable video of July 16, 2012, Town of Collingwood Council 

meeting that Councillor Ian Chadwick asked why Ameresco Canada was not present to make a 

deputation to Council. I noted that Acting CAO Ed Houghton addressed Councillor Chadwick and 

stated; "we felt was that we didn't believe it would be appropriate for them to come and 

provide you with {with) an explanation of what they think they could do for us in the future 

we thought that that it was only appropriate to hear from Parks Recreation and Culture and 

the committee that was (was) uh involved with this and with Council so um that was a 

decision that uh her Worship and I made uh thinking that it ·probably wasn't appropriate um. 

to do it at this point in time." 

92. I reviewed the Town of Collingwood Council Minutes for July 16, 2012 and noted the following 

. presentations were made to Council83
: 

DEPUTATIONS 
Central Park Community Recreation Centre 

Penny Skelton, Chair of the Parks, Recreation and Culture Advisory Committee 
addressed Council on behalf of the Committee to outline the role the committee has and 
continues to play with the maintenance and development of recreational facilities in 
Collingwood. The committee is concerned with the alternates being discussed as there are 

81 
I located this document on the Town of Collingwood website: www.collingwood.ca/node/5683 

82 
I learned this from my review of a document titled "Ameresco's Sequence of Dates". 

83 I located this document on the Town of Collingwood website: http:/ /www.collingwood.ca/node/5783 
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no operational or budget allocations attached to the discussion at this time and believe 
that Council needs to set a clear direction for recreation in Collingwood. 

Brian Saunderson and Clair Tucker-Reid, Co-chairs of the former Phase 1 Steering 
Committee, addressed Council providing key messages, issues and next steps for Council 
to consider. Consideration of capital and operating costs was also a concern, requesting 
Council continue to pursue the recommendations of the Steering Committee. I learned 
from the video recording that Council supported the development of a committee to 
consider alternatives for the Central Park redevelopment. 

93. I learned from watching this July 16, 2012 Town of Collingwood Council Rogers Cable video that 

Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd provided information to Council that he had researched the fabric 

membrane structure. From my review of this recording I formed a belief that it appeared Deputy 

Mayor Rick Lloyd had received initial cost proposals for the structure when he stated, "But 

something that's viable uh there's been prices that come through in the neighborhood of five 

million dollars for a complete facility that's turnkey but I want staff to investigate it further." I 

noted that Councillor Sandy Cunningham spoke that he knew of the membrane structure that 

Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd was referencing and that he wanted this completed now. Councillo~ 

Sandy Cunningham provided information that ifthe Town of Collingwood decided to pursue the 

structure, it would give instant access to the re-development of the park and, "it is a done 

deal." 

A/fiant's Note: A turnkey budget cost proposal from Sprung Instant Structures was emailed to 

Town of Collingwood Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd by Dave Macneil of Sprung Instant Structures 

hours prior to this Council meeting (paragraph 88). 

94. I learned from watching this July 16, 2012 Town of Collingwood Council Rogers Cable video that 

all Councillors stressed the need for alternative costing and solutions. The Councillors also 

agreed that they needed to make decisions and go forward with the project. I also learned that 

Councillor Joe Gardhouse was the only Councillor in favor of devising an acceptable budget for 

the project - before discussing the type of building the Town of Collingwood Council wished to 

pursue. 

95. I learned from watching this July 16, 2012 Town of Collingwood Council Rogers Cable video that 

Acting CAO Ed Houghton spoke about the June 11, 2012 meeting where Council discussed the 

financial numbers for the redevelopment of Central Park. Acting CAO Ed Houghton stated that 

the Treasurer had mentioned during this meeting (on June 11, 2012) that, "internally there is 
> • :.-'lo. 

potentially 13.5 million dollars." 
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96. I learned from watching this July 16, 2012 Town of Collingwood Council Rogers Cable video that 

Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd put a motion before Council that was seconded by Councillor Kevin 

Lloyd: The motion reads as follows:84 

No. 330 Moved by Deputy Mayor Lloyd 
S~on.ded by Councillo~ Lloyd 

CJI0006013 

THAT Council direct staff to pursue the f-Ollowing recommended options and develop :a 
project timeline and detailed estimates and bring the report. back to Council not later than 
August 27, 2.0·12. 

S 1. Construct a Single Pad Arena, that courd oo phased into a double pad 

0 2. Conslruct a Double Pad Arena that could be phased 

O' 3. Construct a 25 metre 6 Lane Pool at the Central Pam YMCA 

0 4. Construct a New Therapeutic leisure Pool at the Central Park YMCA 
O 5. Addition of a lheatre/Performing Arts c~ntra to the Proposed Multi~Us~ Centr~ 

0 6. Enclose the Outdoor Rink with a 'F'abri¢ Building 
C 7. Cover the Outdoor Rink wilh a Roof Structure 

'~ 8. Enclose the Outdoor Pool wtth a Fabric Building 
€.J 9. Examine a New Site for a Phased Purpose~Built ~,;1u!ti~Use Facility 
8 rn. No New Recreation Facllmes 

CARRIED 

Afficint's Notes: The above motion was carried via a non-recorded vote. This motion forms the 

direction from the Town of Collingwood Council to Town of Collingwood municipal employees to 

complete the necessary research to create Staff Report EMC 2012-01. This Staff Report is to be 

completed in time for the August 27, 2012 Council meeting. I have provided significant detail and 

information about this Staff Report EMC 2012-01 later in this /TO . 
.' J 

97. I have noted from my review of the Rogers Cable video recording for the July 161 2012 Town of 

Collingwood Council meeting that there was no discussion, nor a motion presented to Council, 

concerning the hiring of a consultant or consulting firm to assist with the facilitation of a 

contract for the Town of Collingwood recreational project. I believe this to be an important 

piece to this investigation as the T~wn of Collingwood has written policy which provides 

direction in circumstances here consultants are hired by the Town. The policy specifies that 

where the cost exceeds $25,000.00, Council must grant the approval. 

Affiant's Note: The issue of the payment of a consultant/consulting firm becomes very relevant 

to the a/legations following the July 16, 2012 Town of Collingwood Council meeting. 

84 
I located this document at the Town of Collingwood website Council minutes: www.collingwood.ca/node/5783 
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Town of Collingwood Procurement Policy 

98. The Town of Collingwood procurement policy is mandated under By-Law 2006-42, titled, "A By­

law to Provide for the Purchase of Goods and Services".85 I have reviewed this By-Law and 

provided the following information which I learned directly related to the procurement 

procedures relevant to the issues detailed within this ITO: 

a. Section 6 refers to proc·urement guidelines and Section 7 refers to tendering options. 

b. Sole Source procurement is defined when there is only one known source of supply of a 

particular good or service. I noted that the Town of Collingwood By-Law 2006-42 does 

not include a definition for Single Source procurement. 

Affiant's Note: I have had the opportunity to review the Ministry of Finance of Ontario Broader 

Public Sector Procurement Directive for 2011.86 I noted in the glossary of terms concerning sole 

source and single source procurement. 

• Sole Source is defined as the use of a non-competitive procurement process to 

acquire goods or services where there is only one available supplier for the source of 

the goods or service. 

• Single Source is defined as a non-competitive method of procurement of goods or 

services from a supplier in situations where there is or may be another supplier or 

suppliers capable of delivering these goods or services. 

c. I read that section 6.0 of By-Law 2006-42 sets out the procedures for the purchase of 

any goods or services. I confirmed that the following information is contained within the 

policy: 

i. Section 6.2 of the policy defines the requirement to obtain three documented 

quotes for every purchase over $1,500.00 and a Purchase Order is required. 

ii. Section 6.4 of the policy allows a purchasing manager or buyer to order goods 

and services to an amount exceeding $25,000.00, with Council authorization by 

way of resolution or by-law. 

85 
I located this document on the Town of Collingwood website: www.collingwood.ca/files/06-42-

Purchase%20_ Goods _Services.pdf 
86

1 located this policy on webpage: www.doingbusiness.mgs.gov.on.ca/mbs/psb/psb.nsf/Attachments/BPSProcDir-Guidebook­
pdf-eng/$FILE/bps_procuremen(_guidebook-pdf-eng.pdf 
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iii. Section 6.5 of the Policy allows a department head, upon resolution or by by­

law, subject to imposed conditions, to award contracts in excess of $25,000.00 

when all of the following conditions are met: 

1. There is sufficient approved budget 

2. All procedures for the establishment of pricing for the By-Law have 

been followed 

3. The lowest tender is accepted, and 

4. Where possible, three tenders or more have been received 

·d. Section 6.7 of the Policy sets out the circumstances which may arise when competitive 

tendering is undesirable and a proposed procurement excluded from the requirement 

to obtain a competitive bid, or where direct negotiations are appropriate, provided that 

measures are not taken for the purpose of avoiding competition, discrimination against 

any supplier, or circumventing any requirement of the By-Law. This section further 

discusses the circumstances of negotiation for the acquisition of goods or services, 

identifying that provided the Clerk has received either verbal or written authorization. 

Negotiations may be authorized when there is only one known source for the goods and 

services (sole source), amongst other conditions. 

e. I read Section 8.0 of By-Law 2006-42, which relates to the procurement/appointment of 

professional services (including consultants) by the Town of Collingwood to engage in 

the supply of professional services. I note that the policy clearly states that any 

consulting fees in excess of $25,000.00 require Town of Collingwood Council approval. 

99. On July 16, 2012, Councillor Dale West exchanged a series of email correspondences following 

the Town of Collingwood Council Meeting with Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd, that began at 10:25 

p.m.87 From my review of these emails I noted the subject line of the email is, "Joe" and in the 

initial message, Councillor Dale West stated, "Joe did vote no". I also noted that there are 

several exchanges including one from Councillor Dale West at 10:32 pm, stating, "we are closer 

than we have ever been." 

Affian~s Notes: This email is consistent with the vote that occurred at the July 16, 2012 Town of 

Collingwood Council Meeting relating to the recommended optionsforthe new single pad arena 

as well as the fabric structure enclosure for the outdoor pool {Motion 330 in paragraph 96). I 

watched the Rogers Cable video recording for the Council meeting and confirmed that Councillor 

Joe Gardhouse was the only member of Town of Collingwood Council who voted against this 

motion. 

87 This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
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100. On July 16, 2012 at 10:32 p.m., Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd and Councillor Dale West continued to 

exchange email correspondences.88 I note in these correspondences that Deputy Mayor Rick 

Lloyd thanked Councillor Dale West for his support. The email reads as follows {read from the 

bottom): 

.. .., ___ Qt'.i,f5inal.Message -~-~q 
· f:rom~· o .. l{(l west 
sE'.rtb' .fio~day, 'Joly 1o, 2012 10:34 PM 

... J e; . R.it]c 't.loyd 
'subject: Re: · Joe 

lt' l~s right thing to do 
Da.le ·wert 
SQnt -fi'ot:11 Blac:kberry Mobile . D<n1ice 

. ~ ~·-::"' {'.)f.igln~t ~essage - ~ - - -
froai::.~t;k l.loYd 
senb·Monday1 July 16• .2012 1:0;31 PM 

... To•: ·· Dale West 
> Subje<;;ti:. Rei . :Joe 

Thank$ ... "for. ypatt", suppoJ;':t> ton~·ght . 
~~~~~.~.·,."' tW•ftw11 • ; •.. Mo/ "'"· .. w ,. ,,,. ,.,..,,,.,,.,"·No1M¥i,.. 

sent ~,.:om Bl~ckberfy Maoile oevice 

101. Tom Lloyd from Sprung Instant Structures was keenly aware of the events of the July 16, 2012 

Town of Collingwood Council meeting and he was aware municipal staff were directed to look 

into recreation building options and present a report back to Council at the end of August 

2012.w I noted from my review of his interview that Tom Lloyd told investigators that after this 

July 16, 2012 Council meeting he was not sure Sprung Instant Structures would get the contract 

as some of the individual Council members were opposed to the idea of a fabric membrane 

structure. 

102, On July 17, 2012, Deputy Mayor Lloyd and Councillor Dale West continue to exchange email 

correspondences at 10:20 a.m. 90 I note that Councillor Dale West suggests that both Ameresco 

Canada and Sprung Instant Structures need t o do depositions. The email is as follows {please 

read from the bottom): 

88 
This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 

89 
I know this from reviewing ttie witness interview transcripts ofTom Lloyd given to Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and 

Detective Tim Ticknor on Juiy 9, 2013 
90 

This emall correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
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From: 
Som: 
ro: . 
·s~ 

'"""''Ill~""• ~~i~ ..;.i•.;i,.....ilwl>'f$'WJ...,"l<1!1<~P~"'>1Et>W'4'J!o11J"""'<l!.'~~ 

~~nt · from · alackberr~ &>b.ile Dev.ice 

OriginalMessage ---~ 
Fram: Dale west· 
Se~t: Tuesday1 July 17, ·21112 10:20 AM 
Jof Rick Lloyd 
Subject: Re: Joa 

so now. do we have sprung :ind alneresco .both do. oeps and -thenJuµke sure ~taff is 
fol.lowfog up Dale WE:st sent from.· Blackberry Mob:lle Device · 

103. WGD Architects was contacted in mid-July 2012 and "asked to develop a program and budget 

for a single pad facility at Central Park". 91 I have reviewed this document and note that Dave 

Debrus [WGD Architects] believes that this change in focus was as a result of the Town of 

Collingwood Council meeting on July 16, 2012. 

104. On July 19, 2012, Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services Inc. completed a draft budget for 

this Town of Collingwood project and provided it to Dave Macneil from Sprung Instant 

Structures.92 I confirmed that the budget relates to covering the pool and the bl!ilding of the 

new arena for the Town of Collingwood. 

105. On July 20, 2012, Dave Barrow from BLT Construction Services reported having his first meeting 

with the Town of Collingwood and Sprung Instant Structures - although he was not able to 

provide any information as to where this meeting occurred and who from the Town of 

Collingwood was in attendance.gs 

Introduction of Green Leaf Distribution 1nc. to BLT Construction Services 

106. On July 20, 2012, Dave Barrow received a telephone call from Tom Lloyd of Sprung Instant 

Structures.94 I learned that it was during this conversation that Tom Lloyd requested BLT 

Construction Services meet with Green Leaf Distribution to discuss a possible turnkey contract 

with the Town of Collingwood for the pool enclosure and the new arena. l learned that a 

meeting was scheduled for July 26, 2012 at the BLT Construction offices. 

91 ! learned tMs from my review of a document titled "Collingwood Central Park Event Summary- WGD Architects" 
92 I learned this from my review of the "BLT-sequence of meeting for Collingwood project". 
sa I know this from reviewing the witness interview transcripts of Dave Barrow given to Detective Sergeant Shawn. Evans and 

Detective Tim Ticknor on July 30 .• 2013 
94 I learned this from my review of the "BLT sequence of meeting for Collingwood project". 
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Affiant's Notes: This introduction of BLT Construction Services to Green Leaf Distribution Inc. is 
important to the allegations set forth in this /TO. Green Leaf Distribution Inc. was ultimately paid 
a substantial sum of money for alleged consulting services to assist _BLT Construction Services in 
securing the Town of Collingwood Sprung Instant Structures project contract. This issue is central 
to the criminal a/legation detailed in this /TO and will provide additional information on this issue 
later in this /TO. 

I note that the request to have BLT Construction Services involve Green leaf Distribution Inc. 
originated from Tom Lloyd of Sprung Instant Structures. I believe this is important as there is 
some evidence that Tom Lloyd's motivation to engage with Green Leaf Distribution Inc. 
originated out of his concerns about Sprung Instant Structures may not get the contract with the 
Town of Collingwood (as detailed in paragraph 101). 

107. I reviewed the witness interview Dave Barrow from BLT Construction provided to Detective 

Sergeant Shawn Evans and Detective Constable Tim Ticknor on July 30, 2013. The focus of this 

paragraph will be BLT Construction's involvement with Green Leaf Distribution Inc. in this Town 

of Collingwood project. From my review I learned the following relevant information: 

a. 

b. 

c. 

d. 

e. 

BLT Construction dealt with a local Collingwood consulting company, Green Leaf 

Distribution Inc., in order to put together a deal for a sole source budget for the Town of 

Collingwood Sprung Instant Structures project. 

BLT Construction Services had not previously been through the sole source process. 

Green Leaf Distribution Inc. became involved with BLT Construction Services on July 20, 

2012. Dave Barrow was introduced to Green Leaf Distribution Inc. through Tom Lloyd of 

Sprung Instant Structures. 

Green Leaf Distribution Inc. proposed a sole source budget for the Town of Collingwood 

to build the new arena and cover the pool. Dave Barrow did not know what Green Leaf 

Distribution Inc. expertise was in sole source procurement. 

If BLT Construction Services signed a contract with the Town of Collingwood - BLT 

Construction Services would pay Green Leaf Distribution Inc. a percentage fee. If BLT 

Construction Services did not enter into a contract with the Town of Collingwood - BLT 

Construction Services would not pay Green Leaf Distribution Inc. a fee. The Gr<=en Leaf 

Distribution Inc. fee was based on the original contract amount, not the value of any 

change orders. 

f. Abby Stec told Dave Barrow that she had done a few jobs with the Town of Collingwood, 

such as schools. 
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g. Dave Barrow stated that the front person for Green Leaf Distribution Inc. was Abby Stec, 

but that Paul Bonwick was associated later on in this project. Dave Barrow had minimal 

conversation with Paul Bonwick. Dave Barrow advised that Paul Bonwick came to one 

meeting and said that, "they need to make it so the Town would see a whole package 

rather than going through a full tendering package." 

h. To substantiate the consulting fee, Green Leaf Distribution Inc. assisted BLT 

Construction Services with the sole source turnkey proposal. There were meetings 

concerning wh.at the Town of Collingwood required and what BLT Construction Services 

needed to do for the turnkey proposal. BLT Construction Services and Green Leaf 

Distribution Inc. had approximately six meetings. 

i. Dave Barrow did not know if the Town of Collingwood knew that BLT Construction 

Services was using a consultant. Dave Barrow advised that he never mentioned this fact 

to the Town of Collingwood. Dave Barrow did not recall any conversations with anyone 

from t~e Town of Collingwood concerning Green Leaf Distributions' involvement. Dave 

Barrow did believe that there was some email correspondence with members of the 

Town of Collingwood listed, such as Acting CAO Ed Houghton, and members of Green 

Leaf Distribution Inc. Dave Barrow was aware that Acting CAO Ed Houghton and Abby 

Stec know each other. Dave Barrow confirmed there were no joint meetings involving 

the Town .of Collingwood, Sprung Instant Structures, BLT Construction Services and 

Gr~en Leaf Distribution Inc. in July or August of 2012. 

j. Dave Barrow was not aware if Green Leaf Distribution Inc. had the ability to influence 

the Town of Collingwood in bypassing its procurement process and proceed with a sole 

source. 

k. Dave Barrow was told by Green Leaf Distribution Inc. that, "if they (BLT Construction 

Services) put a package.together for a full turnkey package for the Town that it would be 

sole source based on the fact that you could not purchase a Sprung from anywhere else 

in the world or any kind of building such as a Sprung." 

I. Green Leaf Distribution assisted BlT Construction Services in preparing the budgets for 

the Town of Collingwood Sprung Instant Structures project. Dave Barrow received 

direction on what to include for presentation to the Town of Collingwood. 

108. On July 23, 2012, Tom Lloyd of Sprung Instant Structures met with Brian Gregerson of WGD 

Architects.95 I learned the purpose of this meeting was that WGD Architects were seeking 

additional technical information related to the Sprung Instant Structure for their research. 

95 
I know this from reviewing the witness interview transcripts of Tom Lloyd given to Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and 

Detective Tim Ticknor on July 9, 2013 
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Affiant!s Note: WGD Architects had been tasked by the Town of Collingwood to assist with 

gathering technical information to complete a comparison study in relation to the Staff Report 

EMC 2012-01. In order to complete their research into this matter WGD Architects required the 

assistance of Sprung Instant Structures. I will reference this matter in greater detail later in this 

!TO. 

109. On July 24, 2012, Dave McNalty [Manager Fleet, Facility and Purchasing] sent an email 

correspondence to Marjory Leonard [Treasurer].% I reviewed this email and note that Dave 

McNalty addressed the two conceptual ideas for the Central Park Arena as provided to him by 

Brian Gregersen of WGD Architects. I also noted that Dave McNalty clarified in the email that he 

had told WGD Architects the previous day to delav having any discussion with Sprung pending 

further direction. 

110. On July 24, 2012, several email correspondences were exchanged between Town of Collingwood 

employees, Marjory Leonard [Treasurer], Acting CAO Ed Houghton, Larry Irwin [Director l.T. 

COLLUS], Sara Almas [ClerkJ and Dave McNalty [Manager Fleet, Facility and Purchasing] relating 

to the work of WGD Architects.91 The email reads as follows: 

r~m: JttadOIY•~ 
Se.nt Tuesday, .July 24, 2.012 OS:O:S PM 

: 'To~ Ed }k)iJg~; 1"'ri'y Ii'Wfrt; s.arn. AfM'llS 
cc:. oave MCNal'I · 
S~j~; ~I Park 

Follo.w up FYJ ... · 
.· ,. , 

Jjustta!ktid tO ~\le.and asked "im to C:ontirwewilhWG() Ofl.ltle followi(lgJ!ems:,. : .< •.. • 

CJI0006013 

, ~, ijedmwing the.,schematics: to s~ve th~. ball diamorn:fs in Ute n<lrih ea~ Rnd 15~ ~ IQ9~1iohs 
. . . g.~ .schematicS'to $ave the bafl diamond In the sooth west W;id the soutrt ~~t (W~ ~re price or 

·. . . . e &sts .~i:ibr1n9 'ttiis up to regUJatiop}. • . . ·· . . . ·.. . . , · . .. •• .· . . · · 
· ~ · r 'Pnciiig a tm~.anar~J:luilding th~wowd b0' a.phase 1 pf 'a tw<i'p~ oonfiguraliof1 p1u$'E!Sfimatlrlg the 

ppem:Un!J costs'. . ·•· . . . · . .. •·.. . .. • ... , . . . : . ·r ... , ;, .. · ... , ··• . • 
Pricing a p.re:fa6ricated steel strud.ure that weufd be phase tofa .two pad contigtsralton pJU~ e-stimabng 
the t)petauns CO$fs ·· . . .. . . . . .. · . / . . ···. . . · .. ·•·· 

. leave the Sprung building picin.g fqr {)OW unlJlthe f\if~e~n~ T~am afld Dave M~ally c.:m meet .with 
· the Sprung perople. Once \Ve have the pricing and operating 00$.ls for\~ l)uildS"9$fromWGO, somebody 
(Ed, pave, D.avEt and the MgmtTel'im) v.1\11 contact Sprung to get pricirg to ensure.tha~ \~.ar~ yomparing 
apples to•apples · · · · · 

- : WOO.will continue with therequest~ <M)rl( on the ESMA . .· .. . • .. . ··• ....... . .... ·. 
Davet JP1 Wendy ano ~ttmfially om;.e Woo(.f:will \York. on fieJ1'1age f'ark.and e~ing \heoutdo0rpool 

· v;te Will not ask 'for any further 'N()tk to be done in relalion 1o any pool amtmilies at' C<!nlr?! 'Park.. 

I thlnkihis COl/~rS it af; Oave !fl mlSS'ed anything please lel me l<l'W\Y;. 

MaQ 

95 
This email correspondence was provided to police by St1Ne Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 

~7 This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
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111. Sara Almas [Clerk] was aware that meetings were ongoing between BLT Construction Services, 

Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd and Acting CAO Ed Houghton during the months of July and August 

2012.98 I learned that Sara Almas was invited to one of those meetings but was not able to 

attend .. 

Affiant's Notes: I believe that this information and the information provided in the previous 
paragraph provides evidence that the Town of Collingwood employees and Deputy Mayor Rick 

Lloyd appeared to be having no difficulty communicating their recreational needs to Sprung 
Instant Structures and/or BLT Construction Services. 

112. On July 24, 2012, Acting CAO Ed Houghton replied to Marjory Leonard [Treasurer], Larry Irwin 

[Director l.T. COLLUS], Sara Almas [Clerk! and Dave McNalty [Manager Fleet, Facility and 

Purchasing] on the issue of a pre-fabricated steel structure.99 I reviewed this email and I believe 

that "DM" is an abbreviated form of "Deputy Mayor" and it is quite evident that meetings have 

taken place where clear direction has been given by Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd as to who will be 

involved in this project and how it will proceed. I have attached the email below: 

From:E'd·Ho~· 
sent: Ju!Y--24M12 8:17 ~ .. .. 
'tc,;i: Maim Leoilald; t.any11"\vlni•Sa1a A'lrtlas 
0; Dave Mcf.la!iY ' . • •... 
SUfdectJ Re: oerltial Park 

MarJOi:Y; 

t tf)lflk ~re ,lltav be two things,; 

CJI0006013 

~firstl$ we· need'tn haw~e ~peraflon~ll9formatlo~ (Qr tile britk~~ ~r b1Jilding anti~ $~rµ~ralst.ee~ 
bUHdln~ (actually rm not~re wfler:e.thfs bulldlng fiti Into .the equatjp~ b.Uti.~av~ve missed it); ~~ly rt11.1nitttiat 
th~ PM Wills pretty dear'tha.t hedldn't.w<1nl Oavld Wood Working on anvthing<Jt thJ$tbne> . . . . .. .. .• 

113. On July 24, 2012, David McNalty [Manager Fleet, Facility and Purchasing] responded to Acting 

CAO Ed Houghton's question in the email detailed in the previous paragraph concerning "where 

this building fits into the equation".100 I noted by David McNalty1 s response that he is of the 

belief he can carry on discussions with Sprung Instant Structures on covering Centennial Pool. I 

have attached the email below: 

98 
! know thls from reviewing the witness Interview transcripts of Sara Almas given to Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and 

Detectlve llm Ticknor on May 22, and November 14, 2013. 
99 

This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Colllngwood. 
100 

!his email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
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~b'p(~hi.lnteel type arena 1$ ln.1es~n$C to t~e requ(!Strn .. 'Our ten~1:1freluren~ fo; ~Qib~ra~oi-dqble ~!ruq~s" as 
• 1 :a.more or I~. direct ~rison to a Spnmg lltt~a. Thi$ is 111. contr.i~t~. ~Ke wil~.~.~ntl, mo~.~= approadt whltb I 
· ' 'would e$Sentlail~ call !'base 1 or the aver<ill Ccn~rnl Pa O: plan as pre$l!nled by t,M :steering c~mmitt!ltl. 

Thetl?<lretwo (.ompon~nts to tl1e opera1~on~I coots. e11ergy,etc.•Al'id'th~stalfil'ig 'c:~ •U1ese have•·tocoml:! fronl P·l'lt 

·. P~~irillbly,. l~m $Utfaby t'o ca"Y on the df$MS!on.Wlth ~~n&.t;in qiv(!fi;;g f,t.~t1mnil1I i>oql, and lvfm dlscUss tile rest 
oft1toHttltageParkt!tlng$. 10 identify an\' conwns, wtthSririn/Jl>; · · 

t should t>e able tO k~ep the proee$5 mcvina fbJVmrd wi!.hln tht?se hou11deries. if we are olHn ~rliement. 

ThiJnlts, 
.:D'ave 

114. On July 25, 2012, Acting CAO Ed Houghton replied to David McNalty [Manager Fleet, facility and 

Purchasing] in an email correspondence dearly setting out Acting CAO Ed Houghton is to be the 

only contact person with Sprung Instant Structures.101 I have included this email below: 

F'°rn~ ea.' HQll!ihtim 
.Se~ Wedr~, July 25, 2012 7:53 AM 

. Tc: E)a.V(t MtM3!fy 
SUbject: f(E: Central Park 

Oave: 

CJI0006013 

The l~it point l.sbo1.ifdmakt! Ii> tnat I villi~ !he ~cfotatt person with Spn1na. lfte Depyty~~ia~r.rnia~ tbaf pefreotfy 
\'?laar11.11m me.on.ttu~,vk:!:k:etir.t · 

Thard:s. ......... Ed 

J.>resi&.ilt &-; g!O.. Collngw~ Utilif.y S~c6:! 
ave~t~Town oiCOWngwo:xl 

-...~-,,,...,.~'~"""'"'~"~ ...... ~~_.....,..,.,..."*..,.,""~~ ....... , ... 

Affiant's Notes: I believe that it is Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd who hos given this clear direction 
that Acting CAO Ed Houghton will be the only communication conduit with Sprung Instant 

Structures. 

I also note in this email that Ed Houghton as 'dropped' the "Actingu designation from his CAO 
position in his electronic signature. For issues of clarity I will continue to make reference to Ed 
Houghton as the Acting 0\0 for the Town of Collingwood as per By-Law 2012-051. 

101 
This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Bi;:rman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
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115. On July 25, 2012, David McNalty [Manager Fleet, . Facility and Purchasing] exchanged email 

correspondences with Brian Gregersen and Richard Debrus from WGD Architects.102 I have 

attached the emaU below and I note from my review of this email 1 believe these following to be 

relevant issues: 

a. It is evident that David McNalty and Brian Gregersen had a telephone call relating to the 

issues identified in this email.. 

b. In point # 3 - WGD Architects had been contracted by the Town of Collingwood to 

complete a report comparing a pre-engineered building to a generic roof membrane 

system (the type of structure engineered by Sprung Instant Structures) but yet David 

McNalty was directing WG.D Architects not to have any contact with Sprung Instant 

Structures. In order for an in-depth comparison of the two building types, .1 believe it 

would be both reasonable and practical that WGD Architects would require technical 

data from Sprung Instant Structures to complete the assigned task on behalf of the 

Town of Collingwood. 

See c1:1mm<!nts below In RID. 
'·,--{ 

~. l'ha~ks for ttte Pllone ... call ilnd tlicwlon. lbnumm'VI' 13 as below: .. . . . .. . . . . . . . 
···,. 1'. Opdoo l ~ sttel'fa11:Arer}a to ~ .. i?ast qu~qrantorsit~ WltJ? the retenfion qf ~e 2 baseh~n fii?l(is on the. ~h 

portlon~fthe s!le,BaPdiamond$Wil1 ~~«! someu~&de'- Q>rret;t . • .· .. ' .. ···•• / > . . .•• . • •; 
l, ·oPt1on 2.,:.. Sil~Pl<in:At.ena to·tb~ ~ sOUTI'liAST Ol'\ the Sltetnd the. mtention ofl caseball. fields~ 

,,- __ •· .. ,, ' ""j • '.:" - .. ' ·- ,, • ,. ; • . . . ,' . ·. . . , ,. ' , ,_ ·. ' '._.· .. ' "'·' ·- •· ' :. '. - '. .• , . ,·• .,, . :• •"'• -.,,. ,,,,,, '• , : . ' . •:\ ,;· ·. ~- .~ . - . IL :, ··; , . :··:. ' ' . , ' ' '" \,, _·. ·,,; 

in the npr'th eilst .a~d soo~..t-skle SOurHWEST quadrants oftbe site; Tht dia~oods .are In two opP<>s~ 
{.OrMl'S in this ca:1e, l'IOt ~e-.i!act(other, .. .· . . . . . . . . ·. . . ..... ·· . • . •·· . · 

• J. T~ arena des.ftn ccmcep.t wm f~ on the p:re.eng. struciu~ and a aenetlc K:>of membr.lne system. Sprn.ng 11, 
. not ti:> bl! contacted at this time. Correet 

· · 4 ... •Que~oo re 2~Pad expansrtm gf'1lln the si.t~ °'P~IU. ff we can11t,l~in.waw~t.tiv. ~~d .• .. •. .•. . ... . . ....... : 
· s. Operational tq.$ rira ~ulred fat the stand ~Jone facllltV; A!So revte\>'11he ~rating cost~ f'odtit. a-ooria as: part. 

• • ~rtt.emaster'plailcbncept. v~ 
· G • ... The pool ~ AcUo be included .. r,:om;ct. 

~nb: ~~inoiw1::1•rni~ Wt?. wltl Nlve ,actdltlonalqwstlon$ a$ ~·p.r~. 
Brian · ·· ·· · · ····· · ·· 

'.,'ii 

102 
This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FO! request to the Town of Collingwood. 
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116. On July 25, 2012, Amanda Norris, the Administrat ive Assistant for the Town of Collingwood 

Engineering Department sent an email to Acting CAO Ed Houghton providing the contact 

information for Tom Lloyd of Sprung Instant Structures.103 

117. On July 26, 2012, BLT Construction S.ervices had their initial meeting with Gre~n Leaf 

Distribution Inc. at BLT Construction Services offices in Toronto.104 I learned that the meeting 

attendees were Paul Bonwick and Abby Stec from Green Leaf Distribution Inc., Dave Barrow and 

Mark Watts of BLT Construction Services, and Tom Lloyd and Dave Macneil of Sprung Instant 

Structures. From my review of this document I learned the following relevant information: 

a. The purpose of this meeting was to introduce Green Leaf Distribution Inc. to BLT 

Construction Services. 

b. Green Leaf Distribution Inc. would assist BLT Construction Services in providing a 

turnkey proposal to meet the Town of Collingwood's recreational requirements. 

c. Abby Stec marketed Green Leaf Distribution Inc. and she explained that with the 

company's assistance, BLT Construction Services could get a contract for a turnkey 

p(oposal with the Town of Collingwood. 

d. If Green Leaf Distribution Inc. worked in conjunction with BLT Construction Services, 

then BLT Construction Services would be awarded the contract. 

e. Abby Stec stated that Green Leaf Distribution Inc. completed a number of large turnkey 

proposals with the Town of Collingwood. 

f. Green Leaf Distribution Inc. proposed to have BLT Construction Services enter into an 

Intermediary Contract with Green Leaf Distribution Inc. 

118. On July 26, 2012 at 7:31 p.m., Abby Stec of Green Leaf Distribution Inc. sent an email 

correspondence to David Barrow of BLT Construction Services thanking him for participating in 

their meeting.105 I reviewed this email and noted Abby Stec stated that she looked forward to 

working with BLT Construction Services and she provided the location for the meeting between 

the Town of Collingwood, Sprung Instant Structures and BLT Construction Services the following 

day. I noted that this meeting was scheduled to occur at 10:00 a.m. at the Collingwood Utility 

Services (COLLUS building) at 43 Stewart Road in Collingwood. 

103 
This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 

104 
I learned this from my review of the "BLT sequence of meeting for Collingwood project". 

105 
This email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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Affiant's Notes: I believe that this email is evidence that someone from Green Leaf Distribution 

Inc. had a conversation with someone from the Town of Collingwood to set up this meeting as 

scheduled. Communications between Green Leaf Distribution Inc. and the Town of Co//ingwood 

is· a central issue in this investigation and I will detail the importance of this relationship later in 

this /TO. 

119. On July 27, 2012, a meeting took place at the Town of Collingwood Utilities Services boardroom 

between BLT Construction Services, Sprung Instant Structures and the Town of Collingwood.106 

From my review of this document I learned the following relevant information: 

a. The Town of Collingwood representatives were Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd, Acting CAO Ed 

Houghton, Marjory Leonard [Treasurer], Larry Irwin [Director of l.T. COLLUS] and Dave 

McNalty [Manager Fleet, Facility and Purchasing]. 

b. The BLT Construction representative was David Barrow. The Sprung Instant Structures 

representatives were Tom Lloyd and Dave Macneil. 

c. Issues discussed at the meeting were design proposals that would be invo.lved with each 

structure - the arena and outdoor pool - and interior options for both. An options "wish 

list" for the project was also discussed. 

Afjiant's Notes: I noted that neither Abby Stec nor Paul Bonwick of Green Leaf Distribution 

Inc. participated in this meeting. This observation is consistent with information Dave 

Barrow of BLT Construction Services provided in his witness interview that the 

representatives from the Town of Collingwood and Green Leaf Distribution Inc. never jointly 

participated in any meetings with BLT Construction Services or Sprung Instant Structures 

about the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. 

120. On July 27, 2012, David Macneil of Sprung l.nstant Structures sent an email correspondence to 

Acting CAO Ed Houghton with formal greetings of thanks.107 I reviewed this email and learned 

that David Macneil provided a link to sample drawings for the proposals by Sprung Instant 

Structures. I noted that Acting CAO Ed Houghton forwarded this email message to Town of 

Collingwood employees Dave McNalty [Manager Fleet, Facility and Purchasing], Larry Irwin 

[Director of LT. COLLUS], Marjory Leonard [Treasurer] and Sara Almas [Clerk]. 

121. On July 30, 2012, Abby Stec of Green Leaf Distribution Inc.· sent an emai.1 correspondence to 

Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services in regards to the meeting previously held on July 27, 

2012, at the Town of Collingwood Public Utility boardroom.108 I reviewed this email and noted 

106 
! learned this from my review of the "BLT sequence of meeting for Collingwood project". 

107 
This emall correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 

108 
This email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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that Abby Stec attached a standard non-disclosure agreement relating to the f uture relationship 

between BLT Construction Services and Green Leaf Distribution. I also noted that Abby Stec 

commented that Green Leaf Distribution Inc. would prepare an agreement with BLT 

Construction Services. 

122. On August 2, 2012, Abby Stec of Green Leaf Oistribution Inc. sent an email to Dave Barrow and 

carbon copied to Mark Watts, both of BLT Construction Services, with attachments detailing the 

scope of work for both the Town of Collingwood arena and pool projects.109 I noted that the 

email identified Abby Stec of Green Leaf Distribution with the email address, 

abbystec@- however Abby Stec's attached email signature information included 

her name as Abby Stec, 'LEED AP; Managing Partner, Board Chair, Environment Network', and 

her contact numbers and her email address of abbystec@ and 

www.greenleafdistribution.ca. 

Affiant's Notes: Compenso Communications and Green Leaf Distribution Inc. are companies 

owned by Paul Bonwick. I have knowledge that both Abby Stec and Acting CAO Ed Houghton 

have been board members for Environment Network.m 

123. On August 2, 2012, Abby Stec sent an email correspondence to Tom Lloyd and Dave Macneil of 

Sprung Instant Structures, Dave Barrow and Mark Watts of BLT Construction Services and Paul 

Bonwick. m I reviewed this email and noted that Abby Stec has asked each of them to confirm 

availability for a telephone call at 4 p.m. to discuss the scope of work for the Town of 

Collingwood arena and pool. 

124. On August 3, 2012, Larry Irwin [1.T. Director for COLLUS] forwarded an email to Dave Barrow of 

BLT Construction Services concerning the Centennial Pool E:nclosure and Central Park Arena 

design components. 112 I reviewed this email and noted that this correspondence had originally 

been sent by Dave McNalty [Manager Fleet, Facility and Purchasing] to Town of Collingwood 

staff members, Including Acting CAO Ed Houghton, Larry Irwin, Marjory Leonard [Treasurer], 

Sara Almas [Clerk] and Dennis Seymour (Town of Collingwood Arena Supervisor] the previous 

day. I also noted that Larry Irwin had forwarded this very same email to Dave Macneil of Sprung 

Instant Structures on this date. 

A{fiant's Notes: This email is another example that the Town of Coflingwood and Sprung Instant 

Structures and/or Bl T Construction Services were having no problems communicating about the 

recreationof needs of the Town of Collingwood. 

109 
This email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 

110 
ONBIS search conducted by Detective Constable Beverly Mackey on November 13, 2013. 

m This document was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013 
m This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of comngwood. 
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125. On August 3, 2012, Paul Bonwick sent an email correspondence to Dave Barrow and Mark Watts 

of BLT Construction Services, Abby Stec of Green Leaf Distribution Inc., and Tom Lloyd and Dave 

Macneil of Sprung Instant Structures.m As detailed in the footnote, 1 note that this email 

correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow of BLT Construction Services as part of 

a package of emails relating to the Town of Collingwood Sprung Instant Structures project. 

Based on this fact, l believe that this email directly relates to the Town of Collingwood/Sprung 

Instant Structures project - even though this is not mentioned at all in the body of the email. I 

have attached the email and I will make further observations to the content in in this paragraph 

after the· email. 

·------- --- -----· 
From: Paul ·Bonwlck (tn?JIJi!mlllll•••••l 
Sent: frfday, August 03, 2014 l.l:l:.> PM 
l'o~ 'Pave Barrow'; 'AbbV Stec· COrnpenso'; ••••••••••••••• -ltnpottance! High 

Good afternoon: 
We n.eed to OfB,3(\ite a can to once aeain dl$CUS'$ our collective s.trat~gy. Ed W~$ ve,,y confos~d regarding part or 
the dis(us.sionwith Tom thi~ morning. If there has been a ch<tnge In approach I think we all need to understand 
it and then determine how we p~ttlcipate going forwa<d. 
Regards, 
Paul • O®lrio Provfncfal PO!i<:o 

Hon. Paul Bonwlck P.C. 
Compe"so Commtmicadons 

AnU • ~e.b:tt Snmdt 

SEP 11 2013 
A.ECEtVSD 

by TI()(HOA 1et:J'1 

I believe this email correspondence to be important to the allegations set forth in this ITO and I 

will detail my belief as follows: 

a. Despite information from Tom Lloyd of Sprung Instant Structures and David Barrow of 

BLT Construction Services that Abby Stec was the front person for Green Leaf 

Distribution lnc., this email provides evidence that Paul Bonwick is significantly involved 

in the BLT Construction Services/Sprung lnstant Structures/Town of Collingwood 

project 

b. Of particular interest is the comment in the email, "Ed was very confused regarding part 

of the discussion with Tom this m.orning". 

Affiant's Notes: Paul Bonwick does not provide the fast names for Ed and Tom in the 

above email, however I believe based on the context of the email that the first names are 

consistent with Town of Collingwood Acting CAO Ed Houghton and Sprung fnstant 

Structures Regional Business Development Manager Tom Lloyd. 

ll.
3 

This email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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c. The email suggests there is some form of communication between Acting CAO Ed 

Houghton and Paul Bonwick about the Town of Collingwood Sprung Instant Structures 

project. 

Afjiant!s Notes: This issue of who at the Town of Collingwood, aside from Acting CAO Ed 
Houghton, knew that Paul Bonwick and Green leaf Distribution Inc. were involved in the 
Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project is.a key issue in this investigation 
and I will detail this later in this !TO. 

125. On August 7, 2012, Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services sent an email correspondence to 

Paul Bonwick in reply to the email referenced in the previous paragraph.114 I note that this email 

appears not to have been sent to or copied to Abby Stec. I believe thls email correspondence is 

evidence demonstrating that Paul Bonwick is significantly involved in the Town of Collingwood 

Sprung lnstan~ Structures project. 

CJI0006013 

I t:e!leve we are all sfill on the same path with both projecis. If Tom ls ${earing waves let me know I Will address 
this direct With hlm. We don't. need lhlS PJOjed being questiooed we need it to go fol'Wald making the oeclslon 
very simple and clean. let •me. know what me. ~els and a.gain l wiU haw the convensat!on with iom. · 

Thank$ 

David Barrow 
Vlce Presi~nt 
Bl.TC 
Celt 
OffJC 
F~; 

127. On August 7, 2012, several email correspondences are exchanged between Dave McNalty 

[Manager Fleet, Facility and Purchasing] and Acting CAO Ed Houghton.115 I have reviewed these 

emails and note'they relate to the completion of Central Park Staff Reports (for Council) and 

information required from WGD Architects and Sprung Instant Structures. I will summarize the 

content: 

a. The email correspondence starts with Acting CAO Ed Houghton stating to Dave McNalty 

that the Central Park Staff Report must be completed by August 21, 2012, so that it can 

go to the department heads. 

This em all correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
us This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
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b. Dave McNalty replied that the Town of Collingwood has asked WGD Architects to have 

all the information back to them by August 15, 2012. 

c. Dave McNalty also commented that the Town of Collingwood will have to make sure all 

Sprung Instant Structures information is back to them by then as well. 

d. Acting CAO Ed Houghton replied to Dave McNalty's email with the following phrase; 

"Remind me what WGD is doing again? It seems we may not nee'd them." 

Affiant's Notes: As previously stated in this /TO, the Town of Collingwood contracted WGD 

Architects to complete a report at the request of Town of Collingwood Council that would 

compare a more traditional building structure to a fabric covered structure such as the product 

offered by Sprung Instant Structures. This report from WGD Architects would assist Town of 

Collingwood municipal employees with completing a staff report for Council so that Council as a 

whole could make an informed decision as to the available options for the Town of Collingwood 

recreational structures. 

128. On August 8, 2012, Town of Collingwood Acting CAO Ed Houghton sent an email 

correspondence to Sara Almas [Clerk] Marjory Leonard [Treasurer], Marta Proctor [Director of 

Leisure Services] and Larry Irwin [l.T. Director COLLUS] about the topics for discussion at the 

EMT meeting.116 The proposed Sprung Instant Structures building over the ice pad and the 

Centennial pool were identified in the email as being on the meeting agenda. 

129. On August 9, 2012, Marta Proctor [Director of Leisure Services] forwarded an email from 

Matthew Chung of WGD Architects to Dave McNalty [Manager Fleet, Facility and Purchasing].117 

I noted that this email had several attachments with drawings for Central Park with various 

options including the Sprung Instant Structure. 

130. On August 12, 2012, WGD Architects submitted a document to the Town of Collingwood 

detailing three site plan design options for the Town of Collingwood project.118 I reviewed this 

report and noted it contains a comparison between a pre-engineered structure and the 

membrane structure including a cost estimate for both the pre-engineered building and the 

fabric structure. 

116 
This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 

117 
This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 

118 
This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 

60 

CJI0006013 



l 
f 

l 

f 

I 
f 

f 

I 
r 

131. On August 12, 2012, Acting CAO Ed Houghton and Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services 
exchanged several email correspondences relating to an upcoming Town of Collingwooq Golf 

Tournament.119 I reviewed these email correspondences and note that Acting CAO Ed Houghton 

references two potential competitors to the BLT Construction Services/Sprung Instant Structures 

bid to secure the Town of Collingwood project. I believe that this demonstrates poor ethical 
behavior on Acting CAO Ed Houghton's behalf. I also note Acting CAO Ed Houghton's specific 

reference to "potential competitors" to Sprung Instant Structures is dearly false, as the evidence 

l have articulated up to this point In the chronology clearly suggests discussions are only on­

going about a sole source agreement between the Town of Collingwood and BLT Construction 

Services. 

On Aug 1.2, 2012, :at. 8:41 PM, Ed Houghton~ wrote: 

Guys: 

I was ju$t reviewing tile details of Mayor Cooper's Golf Tour~ament that occurs this Thursday <ind 
noticed that you have two potential competitors involved fn some wav or another. One 1$ actually 
playing in the tournament and the other is donating prizes. l was thinking that It may be wise to 
have a presence by donating to the cause. It you Wfsh to do so let me know as soon as you can. 

Thanks so much .......... Sd 

Mr. Ed Hought<:>n, Pr~ident & CEO, Collingwood Utl.Uly Services 
Chief Administrative Officer, Town of Collinswood 

-~ ~--~~~·------~~----~--~~~~~--~~~~~ 
From: Dave Barrow [maJlto~) 
Sent: Sunday, Aug~ 12, 2~ 
To: Ed Houghton 
SU.bject: Re: Mayer's Golf Tournament 

Ed 

can you and me the details. ls there spot.$ stiU ~vailable. I will do a clon~dfon as well do you want priti:s? Let me 
know. 

Resards 
David Barrow 
Vi<:.e Prl!sklent 

1.i
9 

This email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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From: Sd Houghton [ma.Rto:eho~ 
Sent:-· . . 20124:45;p:-­
To: 'da • 
SUbjec:t: • · s ament 

Unfortunately there are no more spots available but a donatlor. iind prizes would be great. Tbe hole sponsotship 
is folf but I ha'«! a local guy that will be alvlng everyone a slice of pizza on one of the holes. You cculd spo.nsor 
him and would get great. exposurec. If you (;ould either provfde me with the details of your logo C&t.l/Sprung) or if 
you have a sign ,, wm have it on the tent. 

Prizes are always appreciated as well. 
l'm not sure how we <:an get the prizes etc. but I am In TO 011 Tuesday evening and Wednesday morning for 
Board Meeting$. 

132. On August 13, 2012, Abby Stec of Green Leaf Distribution Inc. forwarded a copy of the 

Intermediary Contract between Bl T Construction Services Inc. and Green Leaf Distribution Inc. 

to Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services.120 1 have reviewed this email and attachment. I 

note that the email was carbon copied to Paul Bonwick and that Abby Stec commented, "if you 

find the document contained is in order, please sign and return to our office by the end of the 

week". 

133. I have reviewed the contents of the Intermediary Contract between BLT Construction Services 

Inc. and 2295210 Ontario Inc. (Green Leaf Distribution Inc.) that is attached to the email 

identified in the previous paragraph. In the following sub~paragraphs I will detail relevant 

information contained in the Intermediary Contract between BLT Construction Services and 

Green Leaf Distribution. 

a. I have reviewed Page One of the Intermediary Contract and noted it contained the 

following information: 

120 This email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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AND \VHERl:AS Green l:..enf bas e~:perdsc in consulti11g~ stmtte'gic pb1nnir1g. prospect 
identilic.ition and macching !bird pllrtics. who have spoc!fic needs with compardes :such us BLT 
th11.t lt1wc the .ca~ci1 y of ful fm ing those: nccM; 

AND WHEREAS om::i: Green Leafh~ rn~tl.Zhx:d a prospecti\<e lhird par1Y ..,vith a company such 
as BLT which cari lmplcmem the needs of die third party, Green Leaf also assists in its role as 
inti:rme.diary in 11ssii§ting in 1he s1agin£, hackdmp, pricing and eonsttm::tioii details to the c,;1ent 
roquirt;i.J; 

AND WHEREAS the third purl)' !cuds thut Green Leofhas nre vidunble imd compcnsable to 
Gnecn Le~f for wbich Green Leans entitled tt1 be comp<l'nsatcd by BLT In uecordnm:c with tltc 
provisklns of thi~ :tgreement 

Affiant1s Notes: 
The above paragraphs provide information that Green leaf Distribution is a business 
that specializes in matching prospective clients who hove specific needs with the 
products and services ottered by BLT Construction SeNices. I would submit this role In 
relation to the Town of Collingwood had already been fulfilled by Pat Mills of Sprung 
Instant Structures. 

I noted in paragraph three in the above Inserted document, that the Intermediary 
Contract sets out information that once Green leaf Distribution Inc. has matched a third 
party with Bl T Construction Services, Green Leaf Distribution Inc assists with tasks like 
staging, backdrop, pricing and construction details. I noted that the evidence detailed to 
date in this /TO confirms that WGD Architects, Sprung Instant Structures and Bl T 
Construction Services were fully engaged in these types of tasks with the Town of 
Collingwood prior to any involvement from Green leaf Distribution Inc. 

b. I have reviewed Section Two of the Intermediary Contract tit led " Green Leaf agrees to 

provide the following service(s):" 
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2. Green Leaf agrees to provide the following servfoe(s): 

a) Providing to BLT the name and contact information (pbone) faX1 email addresses} of one 
or more third parties ~hat Green Leaf believes would benefit from th.e services and 
materials 1hat BLT has to offer 

b) The third party(ies) that Q(een 1eaf wiU furnish to BLT will be third parties which 10 
Green Leafs knowledge and belief have not had a prior business relationship or ongoing 
business relationship or ongoing business discussions with respect to the business deal 

.. that Green Leaf proposes . 
c) through Green Leafs Lhird party prospect research and inventory of leads, Green Leaf 

wm also provide to BLTn bdefdescription of the needs of the third party and how BLT 
should be able lo meet those needs with the materials and services BLT provides 

d) lf BLT is interested in doing work for the third party, Green Leaf will assist in puttingthe 
third party and BLT together to discuss the suitability of the matching , 

e) if the third party and BLT are interested in proceeding with a formal contract' whereby 
BLT will be provid.ing materials and or services to the third party' Green Leaf wm assist 
BLT in fonnulating the applicable contract(s) 

Afflant's Notes: 

I believe that Green Leaf Distribution Inc. was not involved with establishing the 

relationship between BLT Construction Services and the Town of Collingwood - as the 

Town of Collingwood already had an established relationship with BLT Construction 

Services. As I have detailed earlier in this !TO, in fate June 2012 and into July 2012, the 

Town of Collingwood had already engaged BLT Construction Services to prov.ide a draft 

budget to cover the pool and outdoor arena. Evidence detailed in paragraph 104 

demonstrates that Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services provided this draft budget 

to Dave Macneil of Sprung Instant Structures and met with Town of Collingwood staff to 

discuss the draft. 

c. I reviewed Section Six of the Intermediary Contract titled, "Compensation to Green Leaf 

by BLT": 

BLT h¢re:b;r agrees that fr ,._,m treat the folh::iwfag inR'lmlt1.tfon as strktly confl-Ocntitti, wh~th¢r or 
not ii c1-;11iracr ls 1.dtimat-:ly entered into h<.1w~cii Bl:r iifl<l a third party imrooucd b:r Green 
L{!..'lt: 

a) 'l11e ntunes, addresses, contact information ofany third party provided to 8Cf by Grc~n 
Leaf 

b) Di.1ails of ~ny compensation paid by Bl:f to Gret:n Leaf 
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Affiant's Notes: This section makes it clear that details of any compensation paid by BLT 
Construction. Services to Green Leaf Distribution shall be treated strictly confidential. 
This issue is relevant to the Town of Collingwood/BLT Construction Services project and J 

will make further reference to this matter later in this /TO. 

d. I reviewed t he Intermediary Contract and noted that Section Five was titled, 

"Compensation to Green Leaf by BLT". Section five contains the following information: 

<IJ shall compcnsario1) lo Gri;.-en Lear i1\ m1 amoom thm Grci.:11 L1.1af in i1s discret.ii:m 
detenninc:.s appropriate abi>\'C and beyond the agri..'i:ment Ib;ed lee from BtT 

b) Compensation is due 10 Green Leaf l'pon signing the of the con1r~c.! bclwecn rn;r and 

c) 

d) 
e} 

the tlliro pony. 

Affiant's Notes: I believe section five stipulates that BLT Construction Services shoJI pay 
its contractual fees to Green Leaf Distribution Inc. directly by bank. draft or bank transfer 
deposit. Sectjon five makes it clear that Green Leaf Distribution Inc. is not to be paid in 
anyway by the third party (Town of Collingwood). I wiff provide additional comment of 
this at a subsequent point in this ITO. 

134. On August 14, 2012, Town of Collingwood Councillor Dale West and Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd 
exchanged several emails in response to an earlier email correspondence sent by Deputy Mayor 

Rick Lloyd to members of Town of Collingwood Council and staff members.121 I reviewed these 

email correspondences and noted that they were all titled: "FRIENDS OF CENTRAL PARK 

COLLINGWOOD - DO IT ONCE .AND DO IT RIGHT!" I note that the original message was written 

by Brian Saunderson of the Steering Committee. I also noted that in the original message, Brian 

Saunderson updated the residents of Colllngwood about the plans for recreational facilities. I 

noted that in Councillor Dale West's reply email to Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd - he inquired what 

the latest news was from Sprung and he stressed that it was necessary to talk with Ameresco. In 

the email, Councillor West stated, "we should have all that info straightened out for the 27th". 

Afjiant's Note: I believe this to be a reference to the. upcoming Town of Collingwood Council 
meeting on August 27, 2012. 

121 
This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
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135. On August 15, 20121 Abby Stec sent an email correspondence to Paul Bonwick, carbon copied to 

Mark Watts and Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services.122 I reviewed this email and noted 

that Abby Stec provided information that she would be available later in the morning. I also 

noted that this email was in response to an original email correspondence sent from Paul 

Bonwick on August 15, 2012 requesting a conference can later in the morning. I note that there 

is no further information provided about the nature of the conference call. 

136. On August 15, 2012, Marta Proctor [Director of Leisure Services] sent an email correspondence 

to Brian Gregersen and Richard Dabrus of WGD Architects asking them to e·xpedite the work 

they were doing for the Town of Collingwood.123 I reviewed this email and learned that Marta 

Proctor stated that WGD Architect's inforrnation was required for the Town of Collingwood's 

internal report. I note that according to WGD Architects1 this report was to be "an options 

analysis for a Pre-engineered structure versus a membrane structure11
•
124 

137. On August 16, 2012, Richard Dabrus from WGD Architects responded to Marta Proctor's email 

(detailed in the previous paragraph) and agreed to prepare something for that morning.125 I 

reviewed this email and learned that Richard Dabrus cautioned that the operating costs were 

preliminary. 

138. As detailed earlier in this ITO, the Town of Collingwood staff were tasked with preparing Staff 

Report to address the Steering Committee Proposal. Sara Almas [Clerk] detailed in her witness 

interviews to investigators (sourced previously in this ITO) that there were several 'drafts' of this 

Staff Report. Sara Almas indicated that the initial draft report recommended that the Town of 

Collingwood issue a Request For Proposal (RFP) on the future building structure.126 I foamed 

from my review of the interviews with Sara Almas, the following information: 

a. She held the belief that there was some pressure from Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd and 

Acting CAO Ed Houghton to confirm that Sprung Instant Structures was the only supplier 

of a fabric membrane structure. 

b. She believed Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd and the Acting CAO Ed. Houghton had a big 'push 

on' to drive this thing through - as Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd wanted to be seen as 

getting things done in his term. 

c. There were three objectives for Town of Collingwood Council to meet in the current 

term. Recreational facilities being one of those objectives. 

122 
This email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 

123 
This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 

124 I learned this from my review of a document titled "Collingwood Central Park Event Summary - WGD Architects". 
125 This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
125 

I know this from reviewing the witnes.s interview transcripts of Sara Almas given to Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and 
Detective Tim Ticknor on May 22, and November 14, 2013. 
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d. She believed that there was some due diligence completed in regards to the different 

types of fabric membrane structures. Sara Almas did not believe that anything more 

than a Google Search127 was completed and that Marjory Leonard [Treasurer] was 

involved in this process. 

e. She believed that as a result of this due diligence computer search, the decision was 

made to sole source the contract to Sprung Instant Structures, and ultimately Bl T 

Construction Services, who is Sprung Instant Structures' builder of choice. 

f. She believed that a document was developed after the final decision to purchase the 

Sprung Instant Structures was made by Council at the August 27, 2012 Council Meeting, l to chart the information obtained through the due diligence process. 

[ 

! 

r 

Afftant's Notes: I have learned that while the Town of Collingwood appeared to be seriously 

pursuing Sprung Instant Structures and BLT Construction Services as the solution to the 

town's recreations needs, the Town of Collingwood Steering Committee continued to do 

work on what it had originally been tasked to do by the Town of Collingwood Council - which 

was prepare a transparent and comprehensive options proposal for consideration. 

139. On August 16, 2012, the Town of Collingwood Steering Committee released their proposal for 

new recreational facilities. In bold letters at the forefront of the report it states, "TO BE READ 

INTO .TH.E PUBLIC RECORD REGARDING RECREATIONAL FACILITIES IN COLLINGWOOD- COUNCIL 

MEETING MONDAY AUGUST 27TH 2012." I have reviewed this report and note the following 

relevant information contained within: 

a. This report discussed two options available to the Town of Collingwood. These options 

are quoted as follows: 

i. A multi-purpose Recreation Community Centre 

ii. Three separate buildings - one indoor pool at Heritage Park, to refurbish the 

Eddie Bush Arena and a separate ice pad at Central Park. 

b. The report detailed capital budget comparative factors, the operating budget 

comparison for a Multi-use facility as compared to operating three separate sites (the 

report indicated a MURF would save the Town of Collingwood approximately 

$625,000.00 annually), planning issues, research on the temporary structure, 

infrastructure funding, and general comments. 

127 
Google Search is a web search engine owned by Goog.le Inc., and ls the most-used search engine on the World Wide Web 

handling more than three billion searches each day. The main purpose of Google Search is to hunt for text ln publicly accessible 
documents offered by web servers. 

67 

CJI0006013 



c. At the end of the report, the Steering Committee presented the following proposed 

motion to Council for consideration, 

"That Council complete the development of a funding model tor the c~ntral Park 
Recreation Community centre through a Phase Two Steering Committee and 
consider other facility development o.pt'ions lncludlng phasl'ng If and only If a 
successful funding model cannot be developed~ 

That a complete comparative analysis be developed of priority options for 
consideration including capital and operating costs, Impact on the tax payer, 
int::luding public. consultati9n responses garnered in the. process and 
recommended next steps~ 

And further that the Phase Two Steering Commlttee report back to Council by 
December n~12012 on their findings." 

140. On August 17, 2012, Mark Watts from BLT Construction Services sent an email correspondence 

to Abby Stec responding to the Intermediary Contract email he received from Abby Stec as 

previously detailed in paragraph 132 and 133.128 I reviewed this email and learned Mark Watts 

sent the email reply to Abby Stec with a carbon copy to Paul Bonwick. I noted that in his 

response, Mark Watts made various language changes and additional provisions to the 

Intermediary Contract between Green Leaf Distribution Inc. and BLT Construction Services. I 

noted that the suggestions made by Mark Watts related to Section Five of the contract about 

compensation to Green Leaf Distribution Inc. by BLT Construction Services. I noted that Mark 

Watts suggested more detailed terms under which compensation would be administered. I also 

noted that Abby Stec replied to his email stating that she and Paul Bonwick would review the 

modifications. 

141. On August 17, 2012, Dave McNalty [Manager Fleet, Facility and Purchasing] sent an email 

correspondence with an electronic brochure detailing Sprung Instant Structures to WGD 

Architect representatives Richard Dabrus and Brian Gregersen.129 Richard Debus advised that 

this Sprung brochure allowed WGD Architects "to do a comparative analysis of building 

components between a pre-engineered structure and a fabric structure".130 I noted that this 

email correspondence was carbon copied to Marta Proctor [Director of Leisure Services] and at 

the conclusion of this email Dave McNalty reminded WGD Architects 'not to contact the 

manufacturer'. I believe that the 'manufacturer' who Dave McNalty is referencing to be 0 Sprung 

Instant Structures" as the attachment to this email correspondence is identified as 

'SprungPerformanceArenas[l].pdf'. I have inserted this email below: 

128 
This email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 201,3. 

129 
This email correspondence was pro~ided to police by Steve Berman via his FO! request to the Town of Collingwood. 

130 
I learned this from my review of a document titled "Collingwood Central Park Event Summary- WGD Architects". 
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Ricnar~. 

· Att'iii:ll'ed t~a b~hure. ofrlnsutat~d filinc Membrane ar~na$. Jn. {ef1tls 9f itier~a.tperf.o~~t1¥. th~frdaim · J$ k~iri: Th~ 
af u~1lnum extrusions. are placed in the'r.tnge ofid-12 fet:t apart a'nd 1)0tw~~ll ear;h is outside inemtirane-9'' ' .. · 
msuladon . .:.. ir~side memlmme. There is tto thermal break b1 the ah.itnlnutn CJCt~ions, but they are spaced quite far 
apart~ 

Rt!m~mbi?r; you ·~re not to ~ontact th~ manufacturer In c:onjum:tton with this profl?Ct at this time. 
,, ....... _,, ... ' 

.Thanks, 

~~e-.MCNaltV 
M~tiaa;ei- Fleet, Fadlitles. aiid Pur.cbasfr1g 

·Town· of Colliflgwood 

142. On August 17, 2012, Marjory Leonard [Treasurer] sent an email correspondence to Acting CAO 

Ed Houghton requested that he contact Sprung/BLT Construction as soon as possible to obtain 

pricing information.131 

143. On August 17, 2012, Marta Proctor [Director of Leisure Services] received projected 

construction and operating budgets from Richard Dabrus from WGD Architects.131 I reviewed 

these emails that started on August 15 and ended on August 17, 2012, and learned that WGD 

Architects provided construction costs to the Town of Collingwood detailing a comparison of 

pre-engineered structures versus membrane structures.133 

144. I have read this WGD Architects report that was provided to Marta Proctor [Director of Leisure 

Services] and Town of Collingwood. The report provides what I believe to be a comprehensive 
comparison between the two types of structures [pre-engineered structures versus a membrane 

structures), including cost estimates - as requested by Town of Collingwood staff. This WGD 

Architects report appears to be consistent with the Council motion from July 16, 2012 and 

detailed in paragraph 96, ln that it provided the.Town of Collingwood staff with a detailed 

comparison of building types to facilitate the completion of a Staff Report to Council. 

131 
This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOJ request to the Town of Collingwood. 

132 
This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 

133 
I learned this from my review of a document titled "Collingwood Centraf Park Event Summary-WGD ArchitectsH, 
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145. On August 17, 2012 at 5:02 p.m., Marta Proctor [Director of Leisure Services! sent an email 

correspondence with an attachment to Marjory Leonard [Treasurer], Sara Almas {Clerk] and 

Acting CAO Ed Houghton.i34 I learned that she was providing the complete WGD Architects 

report on the building structure comparison originally requested by Town of Collingwood staff 

to assist with the drafting of the Staff Report to Council. 

Ajfiant's Note: TMs email and attachment confirms that all of the members of the Town of 
Collingwood EMT received the report from WGD Architects. 

146. On August 17, 2012., several email correspondences are exchanged between Marjory Leonard 

[Treasurer}, Marta Proctor [Director of Leisure Services}, Acting CAO Ed Houghton and Sara 

Almas [Clerk].135 I reviewed these emails and noted that the original email had been sent from 

WGD Architects. In this email Acting CAO Ed Houghton is questioning why WGD Architects 

provided a report for both types of buildin~s. I noted that Marjory Leonard replied with the 

following information: 

From: 
Sof\t! 
lo:·· . 
Subjocr:· 

Matjory Leonard 
Auglj$! 17, '2012 5:'19 PM 
M!Mfa Pl'OOtOti Ed H()Ughloo: ~af<il.Altna~ 
Re: ReVised Co~i~ R~ & DraWings 

CJI0006013 

Ed, my tetonc:(ti~n was. tnat ill on~~r. to eomparetl1~ cost'> ·of a brkks & mortn~ truifdfng and the prefubricated steel 
struct1.1re ... 1111 s~n;:ng i.ve v;ere umg WGD for those estimates; ibey trad t.he odglnal c.Qsrmgs r()r the brick buUdltl$ and 
wi: needed \he prefab tosting~ B$Wlell: · · 

147, On August 18., 2012., Marjory Leonard [Treasurer) sent an email correspondence to Acting CAO 

Ed Houghton, Larry Irwin [Director of l.T. COLLUS], Sara Almas [Clerk], Marta Proctor [Director of 

Leisure Services] and Dave McNalty [Manager Fleet, Facility and PurchasingJ.136 I have reviewed 

this email and note the subject line reads, "Draft #1 of Centennial/Central Park staff report". I 

learned that in the email, Marta Proctor discusses the draft report and areas that she feels need 

more information. 

148. On August 18, 2012, Acting CAO Ed Houghton and Dave McNalty [Manager Fleet, Facility and 

Purchasing] exchanged email correspondence in response to the WGD Architect report detailed 

in the previous three paragraphs.137 I have reviewed these emails and I believe that the 

comments are related to the preparation of Staff Report 2012-01. Dave McNalty provided 

reasons to Acting CAO Ed Houghton for the induslon of WGD Architect's report, however what I 

find concerning are Dave McNalty's comments, "I think I do understand how the numbers 

might turn out, but have structured so that we can manipulate it as required." 

134 This emall correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
135 This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to.the Town of Collingwood. 
136 This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
137 

This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FO! request to the Town of Collingwood. 
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I have attached the emails below: 

Ed 

~th EclFfougbton. President.&: cep; Comti~·O()d.O'!:~t);' 5!el"Wces 

··~~~~~~-~~.9~::-2·~,::~~~.~~~~-ood 

Ffum: 
Sent:· 
To: 
Subject: 

oave McNatty 
August 113, 2012 7:02 PM 
Ed Hi;rugntrJn . 
Re: R1,wil>ed C<>Jli!l~ R~ & r>nr.-....1!!> 

Sorry, I v;a; cuttfnggr~ss this affomoon and Ml my phone on the bertdl •o tbe garage. 

CJI0006013 

0

1 ;.g~~,. H~t·.V~ •.houlrJ rll~~ 11' l'n1 nnuure how you w>1nt to prc~rtUh$1, and thetf! it·~k~ady adra~ oft~~ reoort. 
· fr(.)m Marjory. · 

No &ne .said that \~.stilldldn'tvmnt the cost of a. brl~~ .. mortar 4!n~.•~~-el uena -~t'~a$t fo mtt, s()rne oftM ot~er 
tomfl}l!ntaty that \\(GI;> .fll'OVlded was \'!">luntary~ Pro~blv ptof.\?~troa. th~lr. p~i~ron er litt~. ¥fe didrl't <Jsk for anvthlng to. 
·dqwitll sc:lu.>du1~,at le~n r dltln'tWe 1vere looking rori)uJktlngcost .. and o~ratlng cost prlmadly,.for ~mp~ri$1)n,:rney 
did ptov!de ~otne options With r.egard to eMrtri• efflc.ieru;V, ildoing to theeost. wJlldi l will 4nelud~ in th~ mod~I •. · 

' ' ' 

J\!lqraerl .vf1 the finaoqal roipparison remptate. this momJng an\E Wilti?~~'t 10 finish it l~inorrow rnormpgWhh pf~gs~ 
number~for thil! SPflJl)g O'\lll'On. I think I do unruerst»ind how lhe l'IUmbe~ might-turn out; bUt haV~.$lnlctured so thatv1e 
~n m!lnipumteJt :is: roqulr~d. OrJs a eompar~on notadvi.$.able? · · · 

Gi;.rc mt (l.• l'.1C n~&n~artovbnornmg lomctime: If yo1.1 l!kc; o.u,Cnvli:c, :scu~ci;e o. Ume ond 
1omon'Qw afternoon. 

1'hank$C1 
Dave 

149. On August 19, 2012, several email correspondences were exchanged between Acting CAO 'Ed 

Houghton and Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd relating to the Marjory Leonard's [Treasurer] first draft 

of the Staff Report EMC 2012-01.138 I have reviewed these emails and I do believe that at this 

juncture, from the comments made by the participants ln this email conversation, that this Staff 

Report is in fact a first or initial draft. J have provided detailed evidence previously in this lTO 

that the Staff Report EMC 2012-01 is in essence, a 'research report' being prepared by Town of 

136 
This email correspondence was certified as true and received from Sara Almas [Clerk] on November 14, 2013. 
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Collingwood staff for the benefit of Council members. 1 have provided evidence that thls Staff 

Report is intended to assist with informing Council members about the building options to-be­

presented at the August 27, 20121 Council meeting. Once completed and final, the Staff report 

will be made available to all members of Council for review in the days prior tb the August 27, 
2012 Council meeting. I have reviewed these emails and will detail my analysis on the content 

below. Please read from the bottom up: 

From: 
&:mt 
To: 
SubJoet: 

Good I also see some othtr ;;ma<tS that n<ted r~orded 
le ~no other pools in Ontario 0,f this construction" I wot.lid rather fr11f1Cat(! I.bat thel'Q arG many pool$ in north america 
,with this con.strucoon. 
l find U1ore 1$ a !lttte' neptW-4 spin on :IOm~ of het (CIPQrt. 
I don't think it ls fntenlienal!y donct that way but It: :nffds the td Houghton po~ltlv~ spin In a redraft. 
Shec writes ll~e an acet)Ulll~nt. ' 
A$ wetf we must be car<iful n;;,t to afve too much fnform.nfon 

ii ct ii 

Sent from Blackberry Mnblle Device 

from: Ed Housh~ 
S@t: Sunday, August 1~, '201211:19 AM 
To: Rtltloyd 
SUbject; Re: Otatt 11 of Centesmlal/Ceotrel ?Mt staff report 

f h.'.l'Ve s~tt'd to Matj to COPY. you but I have h:ad so~ minor res.IMnce. She will send by tc1morrow htWitt'lfflr. 

from: Rkk Lloyd 
Sent Sunday, A.ugust 191 2012. 11:17 AM 
TQ: Ed Ho\19bton 
SUbject! Rf! Draft #1 ~ Ofmtmmfal/Qf!ntral Park staff repoit 

I don't Uke- the phrase" IF COUNOl CHOOSES TO PROCEEO" Take that ou\ as lt le.we$ an Impression that maybe we 
~lmuldn't proceed 
Stil! :r~adlng lt toough k:ll 

From my review of these email correspondences I have formed the following opinions: 

a. I believe that Acting CAO Ed Houghton's reference to "Marj" is Town of 

Collingwood Treasurer Marjory Leonard. I base this on evidence I have detailed 

in paragraph 147 and 149. 
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b. Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd's direction to Acting CAO Ed Houghton to take that 

out of the report potentially prohibits meml:iers of Council from making an 

informed decision, as they may not have all the facts. 

c. Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd is providing direction to Acting CAO Ed Houghton in 

relation to the Staff Report that is to be delivered to Council, stating, "we must 

be careful not to give too much information". This statement by Deputy 

Mayor Rick Lloyd is completely contradictory to the wording of the Motion 330, 

previously detailed in paragraph 96, " ... develop a project timeline and detailed 

estimates and bring the report back to Council ... " 

A/fiant's Notes: I believe that the purpose of the Staff Report is to provide each member of 
Council with as much detail as possible·so that they are able to make an informed decision on 
the .matter that is before them. It is extremely concerning that Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd is givil:ig 
any type of direction, albeit through Acting CAO Ed Houghton, to the Town of Collingwood staff 
members preparing this Staff Report. This Staff Report is prepared independently from Council 
for good reason and is prepared for the benefit of Council. I believe that it would be common 
sense and good practice to prohibit individual Councll members from offering any input on what 
content should be included or how this Stoff Report should be prepared or read. 

150. On August 19, 2012, Abby Stec of Green Leaf Distribution Inc. sent an email correspondence to 

Dave Barrow and Mark Watts of BLT Construction Services.139 I note that the email was carbon 

copied to Paul Bonwick and shows an attached· Adobe .pdf file titled, "Contract PDF". Dave 

Barrow did not provide a copy of the attachment with the email. l will make comment on my 

analysis of this email and content after the body of the correspondence. The email reads as 

follows: 

. ...... 

139 . 
This .email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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From: l>bby Stec .. Compenso [ 

Sent: Sunday. August 19, 2012 10:35 flt./,, 

To: 'Dave Barrow'; 'Mark watts· 
Ce~ patil~ 
Attachments: Contract PDF.pd{ 

Oave,Mark, 

Please find the attached contract for the recreational facilities rn <:ollingwocd. We have made the changes you 
tJsted for pertaining to the holdover and compensation ~ctton (b). Paul has had pr~liminarv discussions with 
Ed reg3rding the first draw and It. will be substantial enough t.o ct:">Yer both the eompeniation and your ln!tlai 
operatJon costs. For this rea$0n, .S(b) was left as it was. 

Everything ls moving forward as planned In Collingwood. As expected there have been some efforts on behalf of 
the to-dlair of the Town's Pam, Recreation and Culture committet: who has attempted to spark up a lobbylng 
group to convince Council to go ahead with the 35 mlltlon dollar option In Central Park. He has detru:>nstraten 
this type of approai:h before. There is a .process in place for committees to report to Council. lt appears that 
when Coun<:il docs not follow his recommendations he goe.s to the media in an attempt to organize support in 
the comrrwnlty .,galntt Council. 

We are managing the situation in a straightforward mannet and it .i$ expected that the said gentteMan wm be 
asked to step down from his posldon on Mond;>y. 

Enjoy the rest of the weekend ancf ~ l()()k forward t<> rec:eMna the quotes for the two facllitks t1n. Mond.ay. 

Regard$, 
Abby 

From my review of this email correspondence I have formed the following opinions: 

a. Based on the content, l believe the email and the attached "Contract PDF" document relates 

to the Intermediary Contract between BLT Construction Services and Green Leaf Distribution 

as previously detailed in this ffO. 

b. Based on the content, it is clear that the above email relates to the Town of Collingwood 

and the recreational improvement project. 

c. I note that the last names of "Ed" and "Paul" are not identified in the above email. The 

email details a conversation between "Ed" and "Paul" and ties that conversation to section 

5(b) of the Intermediary Contract that has been previously identified in this ITO as the 

section of the contract relating to compensation to Green Leaf Distribution by BLT 

Construction Services. 
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d. The email describes a conversation between "Ed" and "Paul" about the first draw being 

enough to cover both the compensation for Green Leaf Distribution Inc. and BLT 

Construction Services initial operating costs. Given the content of the email, I believe that 

this references a conversation between Acting CAO Ed Houghton and Paul Bonwick about 

the Town of Collingwood's first payment to BLT Construction Services should a contract 

between the two be signed. 

e. The information described about this conversation is consistent with Abby Stec reporting to 

BLT Construction Services that: Acting CAO Ed Houghton has confirmed the first payment 

made by the Town of Collingwood will be sizable enough to cover the fee that BLT 

Construction Services will have to pay Green Leaf Distribution (pursuant to the Intermediary 

Contract), and BLT Construction Services' initial operation costs for the Town of Collingwood 

Sprung Instant Structures project. 

f. Of interest are the references Abby Stec makes about the Co-chair of the Town of 

Collingwood's Parks, Recreation and Culture Committee. The content of the email is 

consistent with Abby Stec and Paul Bonwick having inside information that the Co-Chair is 

going to-be-asked to resign on a future date (Monday). Abby Stec's use of the phrase, "we 

are managing the situation in a straightforward manner", and the wording in the rest of 

the email is consistent with Abby Stec and Paul Bonwick working with Acting CAO Ed 

Houghton on the "issues" described in the email. 

Affiant's Notes: The issues I hove described in the above email are centralto the allegations 
described herein and I will articulate these more in detail at the conclusion of this !TO. 

151. On August 20, 2012, Mark Palmer of Greenland Group of Companies exchanged several email 

correspondences with Sara Almas [Clerk] requesting an opportunity to make a formal 

presentation at the August 27, 2012, Town of Collingwood Council meeting.140 I note that 

information in the email details that Deputy Mayor Rick. Lloyd had earlier agreed to the 

deputation from the Ameresco-Greenland team. 

152. On August 20, 2012, Abby Stec sent an email correspondence to Dave Barrow of BLT 

Construction Services inquiring if he had obtained the pricing for the two facilities.141 I reviewed 

this email and note that Dave Barrow replied to Abby Stec that she would receive the 

information before the end of the day. 

140 
This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood .. 

141 
This email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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153. On August 20, 2012, Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services gave Green Leaf Distribution the 

budget for the Town of Collingwood arena and pool Sprung Instant Structures proposals.142 I 

reviewed this document and noted that Dave Barrow stated, "Green Leaf added their 

intermediary on top of BL T's bid price". 

Affiant's Notes: This statement is consistent with Green Leaf Distribution's fee for work done on 
the Town . of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project being added to the bid price 
proposed by Bl T Construction Services. 

154. On August 21, 2012, numerous relevant email correspondences were exchanged between a 

number of individuals involved in this investigation. There are email correspondences between 

Dave Barrow of BLT Construction .Services and Abby Stec and Paul Bonwick of Green Leaf 

Distribution lnc.143 There are also email correspondences between Paul Bonwick, Acting CAO Ed 

Houghton, Dave McNalty [Manager of Fleet, Facility and Purchasing], Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd, 

Sara Almas [Clerk], Marjory Leonard [Treasurer], Larry Irwin [Director of l.T. COLLUS] and David 

Macneil from Sprung Instant Structures.144 In the following sub-paragraphs, I have provided 

details of my review of these email correspondences, all occurring on this date: 

a. 8:10 a.m.: Abby Stec sent an email to Dave Barrow, which stated, "do you have the 

numbers for us? Please let me know ASAP". 

b. 8:55 a.m.: Dave Barrow replied to Abby Stec's email stating, "need one hour and half I 

need 1 item clarified with structural engineer. Sorry came up yesterday in review". 

c. 10:46 a.m.: Dave Barrow sent an email to Paul Bonwick and Abby Stec stating, "Here 

are the numbers for both locations arena and pool. Let me know what you wish to 

adjust too and I will re-submit to send to Ed". 

Affiant's Notes: I noted that attached to the email are construction budgets for both the 
proposed Town of Collingwood pool and arena recreational facilities. 

d. 11:17 a.m.: Paul Bonwick sent the following email to Dave Barrow and Mark Watts of 

BLT Construction Services: 

142 
I learned this from my review of the "BLT sequence of meetlng for Collingwood project". 

143 
This email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 

144 
This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Coll!ngwood. 
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Oave Barrow 

From: P~l 6orw1t\:k········ Si:u«: T~r. Al.19u;>l ~1. 20121t17 AM 
To: ~va BnttON; lt:Jby ~ 

Ce: 'M::i:k l/•r'fatu:· . 

Subfoet: Ra: for $pro~ 

Affiant's Notes: I believe that the reference to a favorable outcome on Monday refers to 
the August 27, 2012 Town of Collingwood Council meeting where Council will receive 
Staff Report (EMC 2012-01) on the Town of Collingwood recreational structures, as 
previously described in this /TO. The reference to the deferral and the architect is 

concerning as this relates to the Ameresco-Greenlond proposal and the work being done 
for the Town of Collingwood by WGD Architects. Based on the content of the email I 

believe that Paul Bonwick is clearly making reference to inside in[ormation that he has 
received from someone within the Town of Collingwood municipal office. 

e. 11:42 a.m.: Dave McNaJty [Manager of Fleet, Facility and Purchasing] forwarded an 

email from July 16, 2012, to Acting CAO Ed Houghton with comments about these 

documents no longer being available on the Sprung Instant Structures website. One 

minute later at 11:43 a.m., Acting CAO Ed Houghton forwarded this email from Dave 

McNalty to Paul Bonwick with no comments added. As a reminder to the reader, this 

original email provided budgets from Sprung Instant Structures for three proposed 

turnkey structures for the Town of Collingwood, The email string appears as follows 

(please read from the bottom up): 

77 

CJI0006013 



If l am m1.J<1c1. :bittk tbet .,.,,zed th;i: eill~irlal i:lewmi:nl:i' 1')1~ the $;:.Tiil'lJ;: lt,:i :;itl!c. The dot1tm<!n1:1 h"1\'C $1li<:e 
l>L"1e!I t'1meved, "°''lever I ti"d ;:;r.\nti:cd th-=m l:.) ;!!\t.~t:-d 11re i.:;;ru'!ed 1'¢f$l01'1$ 

L~!l11~ me link Jir>d P<l~'v.'l:ltdmle>W 'fO\I will~ <ible (\l <le!:¢$~ 3 1~1mkey bvdi:et$ imd s1t;111D'1lt1cf doQi~titlen 
put rqttther bv Sp1~ne and wr ;il!W¥<:e ~er~ 

Afflant's Notes: The above email string provides evidence that Acting CAO Ed Houghton 

has forwarded an internal Town of Collingwood email about the Town of Collingwood 

Sprung Instant Structures project to Paul Bonwick of Green Leaf Distribution Inc. I wfll 

articulate the relevance of this action to the allegations at the conclusion of this !TO. 

f. 1:10 p.m.: Paul Bonwick forwarded the email string he received from Acting CAO Ed 

Houghton (described in the previous paragraph) to Dave Barrow and Mark Watts of BLT 

Construction Services. The email reads as follows: 
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From: 
&.tnt: 

To: 
Cc: 

Pa11IBoowia········ Tu~y. August21, 20121:10 PM 
'Dave Barrow'; !Tl'M;)~ 
'Abby Stee· Compenoo' 

Subj6<:t: 

rmpom.n(W: 
FW: Spnmg Sttutiutes for Cotllngwood, Ontario 
High 

tn Daw: 
Please review the o~inal numbers that were sent to the Town. Unlt$s there Is some :significant eJtpl::ination 
(three milllon dolla~ higher than origin alt they will undoubtedl'I take the view that we .are trying tog~ as a 
reSl.llt potential sole sourclll'. This 1$ a deal breaker In the current f.:>rm;iO 
I look forward to C:-h<i.ttiog at apm, 
Regards, 
Patil 

Hon. Paut ilonwi(k ?.C. 
Compenso Communle:itlons 

Afflant's Notes: Based on the content of the above email, It Is clear that Paul Bonwick is 
referring to the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project as a potential 
sole source transaction involving Sprung Instant Structures. I have watched the video 
recording for the July 16, 2012 Town of Collingwood Council meeting and I note there 

was no mention of the recreational wolect being sole sourced. This email provides 

evidence that Paul Bonwick had knowledge that the Town of Collingwood was moving in 
the direction of a sole sourced procurement for the recreational structures. I believe this 
evidence is consistent with some form of on-going dialogue between Paul Bonwick and 
individual(s) from within the Town of Coll{ngwood administration or Council In relation 
to the intent to sole source the recreational project with Sprung Instant Structures. 

g. 2:53 p .. m.: Dave Barrow from BLT Construction Services sent a reply email to Paul 

Bonwick in relation to the email detailed in the previous paragraph. In the email, Dave 

Barrow provided a detailed explanation for the cost difference between the July 16, 

2012, budget proposal and the most current BLT Construction Services budget proposal. 

The explanution given by Dave Barrow for the approximate three million dollar 

discrepancy is the fact that the higher priced proposal adds a second floor to the arena 

and the pool structures. 
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h. 3:25 p.m.: Marjory Leonard [Treasurer] sent an email to Dave McNalty {Manager of 

Fleet, Facility and Purchasing] wherein she questioned Dave McNalty about the Sprung 

Instant Structures pricing. Dave McNalty's response to Marjory Leonard is, "Just before 

noon, Ed asked me for the Sprung estimates from July. Nothing since, but perhaps there 

are discussions." 

Afj1ant's Notes: The email corroborates the email detailed In sub-paragrapil (e) that 

Dave McNalty sent to Acting CAO Ed Houghton at 11:42 a.m. 

i. · 4;41 p.m.: Acting CAO Ed Houghton sent an email to Sara Almas [Clerk], Marjory 

Leonard [Treasurer] and Larry Irwin [Director l.T. COLLUSJ. Larry Irwin sent a reply to 

Acting CAO Ed Houghton'semail, 

Fl"om: ed "°ughtoo 
S.:nt: Aug\lst~21-12.4:41 P~I 
To: .Sar.a A~mas; .Marj~r<y l.eornard,; tarry Irwin 
Subj tact:·. Sprung temror Prices 

H.i 13.tl}'s: 

I.· just· g()t: off the line with Sprunu EtLT J.l.Rd W'1$ }.al.king to .t~e!tl .about the;l"\ ....• 
pr'idng~. The)' finally ~~~ ttll of.'tha prices aoa I Wanted to l~t you kn()11f what . 
f:aN. I have asJCed .t.hW= to prov ide to us. 

·I '1~ve asked for.a pri~ for.the {WO buU~ings which W<Juld inc~~ the ~zianin.a . 
in the arena t;i.ut an optiott prlce for OM fo tM pool. l hava. asked >for a price 
.for t.,e rio~H>Uildii'lg items that .,,.P. th~ s;:.~ ifir all applications ~uch. as. 
zambord:~ drop d()Wn score board,. big sc:M!i?n tv • ~ e:tc, · l have .then asked for a 
total 'turn k~!J price for both buildings al'ld the non"buildini: it~: 

I luiv~ .. no ot:lue, "bat tl1e' price .:is. bac~ttse I. d.idn •t w:aut th~ -t:.o ~~11 .• mie µntn it 
;t$• iii 'the 'f'om .e· want. 

Finally~ .. t•• have ask~ th@l•to .. i:ireJ>a.re ..• ~ •. p~sent:al:io,n ·for• 1'kl11day ·~t!ht.that will . 
take .place after the ~h'lr delegaUons 'at'e C.Oll\l)lC?t~. · .,· 

I.ft •ll:e.·· kilO\;< if this ~ets with your : approval • 

tnanks~, ........ Ed 
> "-"' - ~ 

!¥! ........ _'!!l"'fll~-~ • '_N ~,...~ll'il!'h _!!°:_~,~~-:"I"' "l'oj __ i<l- •. !1 

j. 4:47 p.m.: Acting CAO Ed Houghton forwarded an email sent to him by Marjory Leonard 

[Treasurer] to Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd. In the initial email at 4:36 p.m., Leonard stated 

that she believed, "the numbers Dave has given for. EBMA (Eddie Bush Memorial Arena} 

and the pre-engineered building are accurate. The Sprung numbers are made UQ." The 

email chain reads as follows: 
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.. ~dHous~to~:41,M~m 
· Presldent& CEO, Collus ?ewer 
c:Ab Town of CoUin&wood 

· Begi~ forwarded m.essage: 

Fro'mtMaf!ow Leoflai;ct<ru~·~1et§o~.flafil . .rlfd9d· ••••• 
D\lte; l1AU&!JSt~2o:fa. 4•3.G:29 PM EDT 
i"orlEd. Houghton <ebouci'lton > 

Subilict! 3rd dr.lft 

Ed, in1s is v~here we sltioi:l§l!f·. t believe the numbers. Oa~e has given for.ESMA and ui~ pl'e'" 
engineered Steel building ·i:ue accurate, ihe $prti!'.lg numbers are made up:. . . 

A/fiant~s Notes: I am not aware what Marjory Leonard meant by the comment, "the 
Sprung numbers are made up." The above email affords evidence that the only member 
of Town of Collingwood Council that Acting CAO Ed Houghton appears to have 

forwarded and shared this message to is Deputv Mayor Rick Uov.d. 

155. On August 21, 2012, at 4:58 p.m., Abby Stec sent an email to Dave Barrow of BLT Construction 

Services.145 I have reviewed this email correspondence and learned that the content of this 

email dearly shows that Abby Stec of Green Leaf Distribution is providing direction to Dave 

Barrow of BLT Construction Services to " .... please put 6 X percent across the board on all the 

number reflecting the Green Leaf compensation. At that point the numbers can be sent to 

Ed". The email reads as follows: 

i
45 

This email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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From: mv s~ Compenso 
Sent Tuesday, August 21, 2012 4:58 PM 

To: 'Dave BarrOYI 

Subf eet: b4Jdget 

HiOave, 
tha nb for taking the time to partklpate In both call$ today and getting tht nunlOCT:$ bac:k to us. Om;e you bave 
put the numbers in th11t format that Ed suegested, pll!!a$e put 6 >S percent <iclO~s the board en ~II the number 
refleetlng th~ Gre~n Leaf compensation. At that point the numbers can be sent to Ed. 

lfyov are OK with thi! BLT/Green leaf agrttmentpleaR sign lt and send it back to us at your earliest 
eonveniertce. Thank you so rnuc:.h. 
Abby 

Affiant's Notes: 

I believe that "Ed" is Acting CAO fd Houghton and I base this belief on several of the emails 
contained in this paragraph that ore clearly sent to or from Acting CAO Ed Houghton. 

I believe that this is a direct reference to the Town of Co!lingwood/Sprung Instant Structures 
project budget. I believe tha.t this 6.5% is compensation to Green Leaf Distribution as per their 
Intermediary Contract with BLT Construction Services. 

This issue becomes very significant because nowhere in the final budget, which was sent to the 
Town of Collingwood for this project, does it list Green Leaf Distribution Inc. as a paid consultant 
or the Green Leaf Distribution Inc. payment of 6.5% of the contract cost. 

I believe, based on email evidence relating to Abby Stec, that Green Leaf Distribution Inc. added 
6.5% of the contract cost, to the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project budget, 
before the final numbers were presented to the Town of Collingwood for approval, and that cost 
was intentionally hidden from the Town of Collingwood. 

I will provide additional Information about this issue later in this /TO. 

156. Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services told investigators that Green Leaf Distribution lnc. 

was hired to be a consultant for BLT Construction Services to put together a sole source deal 

with the Town of Collingwood.146 I learned that Dave Barrow was asked what Green Leaf 

Distribution Inc. role was in the Town of Collingwood project and whom he dealt with at Green 

Leaf Distribution Inc. The following is an excerpt from his t ranscript: 

145 
f know this from reviewing the witness interview transcripts of Dave Barrow given to Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and 

Detective Tim Ticknor on July 30, 2013. 
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Dave Barrow: Uh tlley ·w'¢re scttmlly a consultant for lJS to how to put a deal 

toget11er \\'ith the city for a sole sotttc:illg \\~hid1 \\~e dicb1"t e-vten 

ha.·vc a clue ''d1at sole sotttc-e \\'US 

Tim Tiekuor: 

Ti.u.1 Ticl:no1·~ 

Dave Bauow: 

(faughs) 

At tl~at point 

Okay tllll and \'*:ho did you deal \iritb at Grec11 Leaf 

Uh Abby Stec 

157. Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services told investigators that Green Leaf Distribution Inc. 

was paid a percentage fee of what he befieved to be 6.5%, as compensation for the Town of 

Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project147 I learned that investigators asked a number 

of questions regarding whether he (BLT Construction Services) had to adjust his proposal to the 

Town of Collingwood to compensate for the Green leaf Distribution consulting fee. I have 

reviewed thiS audio interview and the following ls an excerpt from his transcript: 

l
47 

l know this from reviewing the witness interview transcripts of Dave Barrow glven to Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and 
Detective Tim Ticknor on July 301 2013 
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521 Dave Barrow: 

522 

523 Shawn Ev"30.S: 

524 Dave Barrow: 

525 

526 Shawn Ev.ms: 

527 Dave Barrow: 

528 Shavm Evans: 

529 

530 Dave Barrow: 

531 Sha:wnEvans: 

532 

533 

534 Dave Barrow: 

535 Shawn Evaus: 

536 Dave Barrow: 

537 Sha>w11 Evans: 

538 Dave Barrow: 

539 Slla.v,,n Evans: 

540 Dave Barrow: 

541 

542 Sha""11 Evans: 

543 Dave Ba:rrow: 

544 Shawn Evans: 

545 Dave Barrow: 

546 Sbm.¥n fa'21'.lS: 

547 Dave Barrow: 

Affiant's Notes: 

Correct jtt a later date: they gave. rue the percentage .and I did 

adjust for that 

So y® you so hmv did you adjust for that then dollar for dotfur 

1 I added the si."t and half perc:e.nt to the uh the amount that I 

had to pur uh that was the bid I took it out of our profit margin 

Okay so i.a essence the tov."U paid for a consultant uh 

ll1l no we paid for the c0ll5Ultant 

But the town paid ;-ou an extra sfa.: huridred thousand dollars 

that tbey wouldn't nonnaily 

Uh no that was out of our profit margin 

Okay (11/i) I thought you just said you upped it so l guess what 

rm trying !O get at SO 'Whatever the C:OS:t \\'JS to build these t\'VO 

structures 

Ye.ah 

Presumably that the cost is the cost at that given date 

Correct 

You now t:llce ooa coosult..~t Uh that's gOfi.Oa 

Yeah so I wou1d up the project usually fifteen percent 

Yeah 

But then they fuid their .six and ha.tf so I took that out of om­

fiftee:n pertent 

So you took it out of yours 

Yes 

So it didn't r.tlse the, cost 

Correct 

Of tbe overall project ok:iy 

Correct 

I note at the beginning of Dave Barrow's response to the question of adjusting the proposal, 

Dave Barrow confirmed that he had to adjust for the Green Leaf Distribution compensation and 

started to say that he added the 6.5%, but then he paused and said that he took the 6.5% out of 

BLT Construction Services profit margin on the project. I believe that when Dave Barrow began 

his response to the question and said he adjusted and added in, that this evidence is consistent 

with the email detailed in paragraph 155 where Abby Stec directed Dave Barrow to add 6.5% to 

all numbers across the board and then the numbers can be sent to "Ed", (who I believe to be 

Acting CAO Ed Houghton). 
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158. On August 22, 2012 at 8:40 am, Abby Stec of Green Leaf Distributior1 Inc. sent an ernail 

correspondence to Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services.148 I have reviewed this email and 

note that although it does not make specific reference to the Town of Collingwood/Sprung 

Instant Structures project, I believe it to be directly related. My belief is based on the following: 

a. Dave Barrow provided this email correspondence to police included with a package of 

emails that he confirmed were all related to the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant 

Structures project 

b. This email is consistent with the requirement that Dave Barrow 'is in the process of 

getting the final budget numbers' for the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant 

Structures project to Acting CAO Ed Houghton. 

Affiant!s Notes: The wording of this email provides some additional evidence that there 

appears to be on-qginQ CQ!!Jm!:!Jli£ation between Acting CAO Ed Houghton and Abby Stec 

and/or Paul Bonwick in relation to the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures 

project. 

Abby Stec-. Compenso---­
VVednesday, Auguet~ 
Dave Barrow -· 

lli Dave, 
As per my voice mail p1~ase g~t the numbe~s to Ed ASAc. 
Regards, 
Abby 

CJI0006013 

On 2012-oe-21, ac 12:31 Pt-.!, "Dave Barrow" wrote: 

> <m.ime-at:tachment.lcs> 

159. On August 22, 2012 at 1:39 pm, Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services sent an email 

correspondence to Acting CAO Ed Houghton that provided the final BLT Construction bid 

numbers for the Town of Collingwood pool and arena. 149 1 have reviewed a documenttitled "BLT 

Budget Collingwood Pool and Budget Collingwood Arena" which I have learned was provided to 

Detective Constable Ticknor by Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services. I note the following 

relevant information from: my review of this document: 

a. Town of Collingwood Arena budget is dated August 21, 2012. The total budget to build 

the Sprung Instant Structure option for the arena as presented was $7,392,047.62 (less 

options). 

14
s This emall correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 

149 
This email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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b. The budget for the Collingwood Pool is dated August 22, 2012, with a total of 

$3,225,660.82 (less options) for the Sprung structure to be erected over the outdoor 

pool. 

160. From my review of the 'August 21, 2012 budget for the Arena' and the 'August 22, 2012 budget 

for the Pool' (as detailed in the previous paragraph) - I note there were no consulting fees listed 

for Green Leaf Distribution Inc., Compenso Communications, Abby Stec or Paul Bonwick. 

Affiant's Notes: The absence of disclosure that this fee was budgeted for or to be paid, in the 

budget that was presented to the Town of Collingwood, is evidence that the fee paid to Green 

Leaf Distribution Inc. was hidden from the Town of Collingwood. 

161. On August 22, 2012 at 1:49 pm, Acting CAO Ed Houghton sent an email correspondence to Dave 

Barrow of BLT Construction Services, that after receipt of the BLT Construction Services bid 

prices for th.e Collingwood arena and pool, he further requested budget totals for building extras 

such as the pool mezzanine, ice pad accessories, etc.150 

162. On August 22, 2012 at 2:07 p.m., Dave Barrow sent an email correspondence to Acting CAO Ed 

Houghton with the subject title of, "New ice rink and pool budgets."151 I reviewed a document 

titled, "BLT Budget Arena with Options", provided to police by Dave Barrow and learned that the 

budget for the Sprung Performance arena was $7,896,303.82, including $504,256.20 for 

identified options. I also noted that the budget for covering pool with a Sprung Instant Structure 

is listed as $3,734,113.12, with options costing $508,452.30. From my review of the budgets 

identified in this paragraph, I 11ote there were still no consulting fees listed for Green Leaf 

Distribution Inc., Compenso Communications, Abby Stec or Paul Bonwick. 

Affiant's Notes: I believe the fact that the consulting fees are not listed in the budget is 

significant to the allegations and I will provide additional information detailing this at the 

conclusion of this /TO. 

163. On August 22, 2012 at 9:29 p.m., Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd sent an email correspondence to Paul 

Bonwick that relates to Sprung Instant Structures having made a presentation to Wasaga Beach 

Mayor Cal Patterson.152 I reviewed this email and note the reference to Monday night appears 

consistent with the Town of Collingwood Council meeting scheduled for August 27, 2012, where 

the Sprung Instant Structures project was on the agenda. The email reads as follows: 

150 
This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 

151 
This email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 

1
s

2 
This email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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from; Ric~ Lloyd LmaHto:----] 
Sent;: W~dnc::lday, 1\u9u$t 2~ . 
TO% t 

Subject : SprUJ)9 

l 111.uat u.y that I was rather surprtaeq to bear !rem Y'0'1% ~a,ln Naaaga 
Mayc>:i; Cal Pat1:arson t.bac h• h$d a lll'HCing l.ut waek "it:h Sp~9-

. Cal told us tbis Wh•n he ov$rhnrd you sputing abOut. our plans tor 
Mon.day night: and: the. pi.-oposed Sprung wU.dint. 
I w:st say ebat t was. d.is.tppoint:ed tflo\: you. had not infGL'led me about 
thl:t pJ:esentat.ion because if Cal wasn't aupport.ivo he. could have 
caused us a 11reat deal of elllbarraasment e3J)ecially wbon he qnw up in 
Collin~ and H Co~nt7 Wolrden. 
!tit:k 

164. On August 22, 2012, numerous relevant email correspondences were exchanged between 9:46 

p.m. and concluding at 10:58 p.m. involving a number of individuals in this investigatlon.153 

.There are email correspondences between Dave Barrow and Mark Watts of BLT Construction 

Services and Abby Stec and Paul Bonwick of Green Leaf Distribution Inc. and Tom Lloyd and 

Dave Macneil from Sprung Instant Structures. I note that these email correspondences are in 

response to Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd's email correspondence detailed in the previous 

paragraph. The first part of the email correspondences relates to Paul Bonwick forwarding 

Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd's email message to the individuals listed in the previous sentence and 

adding his own comments as follows: 

CJI0006013 

wrote: 

> Hi Guys: 
> Can ~one nelp me r&spood tb this e-mail X recoi~d from tne Deputy 
> Mayo:: of Collillqwood? 
> I ~d suqqut, it it's tJ:'tle. that tbere are dbcussioM ci11.1cinq place 
> with Wasa9a Beach officials at this e.riti~l junct~ iri time we all. 
> look uncoordi:::lated at be.st .and incomp4;t•nt. at worst. The Ma1Qr of 
> Wasa.qa 9$ach (also County ward&n) is a cousin ot tbe Mayor .of 
> Colli.nCJWQOd a:ld best f.r.tends with Coum:illcr £awards. !Jaaqine it M&)'OZ 
> t>at1;er.son wa$:'\ 1 t ~e:~ oz fe.lt Colli~ should pv.t the brakes 
>on and look at e0Jllbifl9 ~heir ef.forts with Wa~a<Ja! MyMe o! these or 
>other scenarios could.have a detrimental effece at this seage ot the· 
p:'OCess. • 
> ·My understandin9 was we we::e att~tinq to aeau a :odel as one teo 
> that we could eiiiulate in other 'urisdietians, speeif.ieally Simco4a 
> county and other lt\'lnicipa.lltiu. 
> Paul 
:> 
> 

m This email correspondence was provided to poUce by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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At 10:43 p.rn. Dave Barrow responded to the group with the following email: 

b thb tbc :i~ incident. 'l+"e td:Ceci cbou~ the other d<l.y? I'm not :si.u::ti wtuir. we <:an do et 
this p<:>int othe: than whAt w ~1.199QOti:d. hst C::ol'IV"e:sation. Step all talks with any tec;ioM 
until deal is aed«d. 1'h<i'l: was what I <;ot t:rom our eonvtrsat.!.on. 'tom you n~ed to qet: YQU::' 
lx!ys and let. chem all knew no corwe.r:satior:.11 or deal$ urttil we d9n th.is de.al. !.et ':s ::evi.ew 
and r,e:!!olve toiru:>i::row oti cc:mfer~.nce. 

-
At 10:58 p.m. Abby Stec replied to Dave Barrow's email as follows: 

From: 
.mt: 

(0: 

Cc: 
Subject 

A9reed. 
't'ha1'ks Da:ve. 
'Nt::!by 

Ajfiant's Notes: The email from Dave Borrow in this series of correspondences provides some 

evidence that Dave Barrow is asking Sprung Instant Structures representatives to cease all 

communications with Wasaga Beach {and other jurisdictions) until the Sprung Instant Structures 

deal with the Town of Collingwood is siqned. I note that Council has yet to vote on this proposal 

and will not consider ft until August 27, 1012. 

165. On August 23, 2012 at 7:38 a.m. 1 Paul Bonwick sent an email correspondence to the other 

individuals included in the original email correspondences, as detailed in the previous 

paragraph.154 The email reads as follows: 

is
4 

This emafl correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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IU Gl.ly!I., •• I spoke 1:¢ tlbby and in eu::ns out I excu;:)ed =i:y$df tr~ the t;ti$QJNcion prior to 
thi~ topic bo.ing .il!Jdraas~d. 
Abl.iy i11foi;:ned i;:e that 1wuyone was Cilught oU: 91tard and diat: 1c appeus :o 'be 'u~t ll 
t't'!9'f.lh~ sal us call. 'l:'n~ J.roput.y !-".Etyo: tood!i to bl!f a ball i'1 a ChiM Sho;:> and cci:ld hl)ve 
over reacted. 
all thae $:lid, I hali0vc it would •Im baMficial for .1111 coneu:ood to stand dGiwn tco:; one 
wti:ek 1.mtU ·wo qet th~$<! two put to bod, 
I would reeos.:11und we meat shortly a~tli!r 1<Jond11y niq!;t CooneH and. <l1sooss furthar 
c~p::irti.:nid6$ ond appx:ooch. 
Kind Se;a.rds, 
Paul 
Ron. ~aul eonw~~k ~.c. 
Cett1Den:Jo CO.'!lm\Jrtic.;itiorrn 

166. On August 23, 2012, there was several email exchanges between Town of Collingwood members 

of Council that are relevant to the allegations set out within this IT0.155 I have reviewed these 

email correspondences in the following sub-paragraphs and included my analysis below: 

a. 9:03 a.m.: an unknown person (name redacted from the Town of Collingwood supplied 

email as per FOi legislation) sent an email correspondence to Town of Collingwood 

Councillor Kevin Lloyd. It reads as follows: 

.... _,. __ .._. ___ _._""""_"'-------·-·--~~--,,_ 
From:' .··•·. .·· .. .. . ~ ...................... ~ .. ~~~ 

. ,S!mt: ~t11'sday., Auglist 23, 2012 !1:0) AM 
To~ K1iYfn Lloyd • . . . 
~bJoc;t: ~ «:g<irtfing ·~Park 

C'A:lundllor L.Jovd, 

I j11Strklln~ mov~ Into ColltiJgwood 'r/411'1 myfnmily ~t v1o'*ing In. thlf c9~mtvkrov1:r~o~~~ Wilh ~ 
YQllJltl boys thri loo( fl~c;rnatlon fadllde$ :ire :ind will dlndnue to be. at ~ core -oftl!il.'it ,lril.l<.i for the neXt 21) ')'~IS, I 
h.We. Jeetlwd nun}ero~ ~ails tmm 'larlo\JS. groups rtg;irdir.g .central Pa1*, am.t~ followlng &~lenient ciipturllSnl'{ 
sentJmenui en this ls~. 1bankyouforyeurtlmin1rid efforts to fl'l.;lke this a .t>Ctttr e0r1u1u1ruty~ · · 

cheerl; ·---· 
'"coritmui= ul• !k:ll!~f!Msif/le, opcn nrtd 1ran~pa1t.ntr11 \'Ourd~tl~ratt~s~Ut: Qintlai ~ar~ g?~ltt~puv11r; alld.lct 

. >ll$b~<i .say,a~ tl'lf: Mure<11 recreation In OUf'. ~!JffiJntnnty •. $10 mill!ptl plus and tdp!e the .current operatlng costs Is 
too.m~df (m' te#oraryrodlities th.at arc ~tibpar. · 
!)() it cna? and do l right:"' . 

b. At 10:20 a.m.: Town of Collingwood Councillor Kevin Lloyd sent a reply email t o the 

author of the email identified in the previous sub-paragraph. Councillor Kevin Lloyd 

carbon copied his reply email to ail members of Town of Collingwood Council and 

members of the Town of Collingwood EMT. In the email Councillor Kevin Lloyd provided 

what he reported to be a number of facts as follows: 

155 
This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
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· ~~1;dgamentibat:prof!!d1Mll'fdeU~~\'l..~pHo~. 
as~ flt1ii!!)k3ctton·' . •• ••···· . . .• • . t~mttw~t~l)t! 3S mllt!on~ with.M alt~UVe to~. 

' ' . .. .. . . . . . .·..... pOtt ti\ " Ptlii(i~~-. . . . .. . . . . . . .. · . . ... . • • ... • .. ·. <· 
. 'rt!e.'fMCf' ir\1~• • eouildl: In Jurtei\M~ .. !he:'{wec~ m;it prot.et!dlnj ~ PUl'>p;u:~~fp It) lbe, :Z~)ntttt ~Cli.dlleto .· 

· ·~~-Vif~(Md in~ 15 millkm mrtht ~d; atoldr~tlfMt~n1• ~~they t'iave p~wltl\~ 1;2 milllen 
dell.a~~tioiu~gl\t'o'n1f)e ~ mflon fotU;epool~ . . . . .. ' ' .• . .. ··· •. .• ' 

· emfud1in a ~~Una. ti?en!Vdl~ alfom31ivcs to 100r~rtP~mi$d~tcl11mf.1RilJd11:r¥.tab!e: 
: l'MMi l~<i~ the vi$1ori. . ' . 
· Wo~i" Mth Start, '3itetnatWe$ vrertt f!M~. . .•. •. . • 
Am-i>Crtwlllb!!.br~MudG!!MoodJyiliat.ttro~lUtop~e!!dwlthdw'f~h,..eotlStnrctmS .• n~.rd~b14?.~ 
<;\Wlitf, m~ Of th-.: . .ut ( SI~ l..e~sl RP<ld .)t cemml Pi*rk. Thel'it Is ~thbiiSUbst;tl'!dllrd o.~ tmpomy al;J!:mt t.OO 

• p;,;ndlni . . . . . ,· · • · 
\¥~ MN retain 'he outdixirriri~ 1ul't1 .two bii!! padts 3~ rnar.y cit)ze-ns Mv~ madu:.'eilr. ~I mnt: · 
~I jl'1.1rk \\•ltl be' ori !it$ way fo being a " tornrru;niiy tt?ntur "'. lnvm Include n.YMCA ( wtth watt"!'), rorilnr.. .l.$~ PoJ~s, 
l<JVlffbQW!l"i and ooseb~I.. . . . .· . .. .·· . . .·· . · •.. • .• 
Cov~rfng Heritage {lQOl ~es se~. A ~reat®dl ohruiooy h.lsbeensp~t (ltl th~ !>00.1 J.n the last f ~ ~~ h ls !Hanes 
<l·nd :is met~r~ ~in, ~ ~tt oftflt i\rt <inclc'.ture, with sliy tlgh~ o~ndoon lo.outdoor <Jccklfi& new th0fiie !'®I'll~, · ·:: 

. dtdlb1g with$itad~ fQuwr<iximatctf}' W0to250~tol'$ ri .by na mnns·~«" .band a(ir. ·. . .. . .. ·. . . '! 
•,.~.Eddie. BuJh wilf ~ 11~ei:t. A cprn;r1?1~f100t w111.~ f11$Wlk'i.i, c~. r!)Otrls. ~)bUllf'.fmP~ tl)tt1>n$Nim\ it'' 
· from ice in lhewln.erw mum m11 In the ctrse~n. Not ooty p!ovldF"S ;, ~·nd 1~. 5iJtAic• bl.•t .helping 1o•rt"iita1ln'! 6ur 
~~ • .Eddie nu5h .c<lh.$e~tu:p Ml 1200 p<rop~, . . . 
, ·, ... ·;·'· :· .:' ' 

, ,: < ' '/ ' '' ·. ·. - ':: '' " ':' : ' ' : •' ' ' '' ' ' ·.- ' ' '-_/· ' ,,_,; ' ,. i '' ' l :' ,._,_\~',, .. ::-: ~'' ;_::· t 

T¥·• ~~ik, Spl\\'<J~IOll1<!jO~ tl'.C-0ll~r C<luM.iU~ ~("{ ~: f ll5tef1, tl'lty lbten. We.. ms~!! .~ det!e.~pomlb!Uty to. tne•. ·•··• •: 
.p~ \.lft!dtt'for~13tevetY,:.ertcu'Sly. 'f11•si~ue~~bf'.,n" hllmlng oo~fr?r~tJmnfyyeau';"inii lt'~~J<>ac.t• ; .~ 
·On ~oM>ry•night ~is pn!se11tlng llrepoothat Is a!l'Orda~, 'M~, and itUakh'.1~ ·ano I urge.yo1;1 t.o ~twici:r!Mi. . . . 
p008i:bas$po~nand 1ht·{w.m11ctww;)tet~ · " · 

'\NI/: ;r~ do10g this~ !light" .,w>flt .~ bttdg~ ()r.e thltdt.lul. si:re, i:tnd' it'!> lumkey; Mtenmt:Ne soun:e~.of ru~is ari,a00 
be, vip~wught afterin·oWeft1) oft'Set@m. ' 

c. At 5:09 p.m.: Town of Collingwood Councillor Joe Gard house replied to Councillor Kevin 

Lloyds' email identified in the previous sub-paragraph. All members of the Town of 

Collingwood Council and the EMT were carbon copied on the email. The content of the 

email reads as follows: 

Ff'Oi'nt loe Gafdfl()Use. 
. ~t; Tb~y, l\\)g.iist 23,·:W1~ 5:09 PM 
To: Kevin Uo';d T . .• . .• . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. .• . . •. < 

Ce sandra ~ fd.~n; .SafaAlmas;Marjo!y.Leonarcf; tanyfrw!n; .Towo~~rs 
. S.WJl:d: RE: C!lneem fe9amln9 centnil Park · · · ··· · · · · ·· ·· · 
~~~ I o 

d. At 5:42 p.m.: Town of Collingwood Councillor Kevin Lloyd replied to Councillor Joe 

Gardhouse's email detailed in the previous sub-paragraph as follows: 
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e. At 6:49 p.m.: Town of Collingwood Mayor Sandra Cooper sent Acting CAO Ed Houghton 

an email as follows: 

........ -: .. 0r:ig1nal. ~ssage ·. ~.--·­
"·•from: :S.~ndra@oper'·· 
; ·.s-~t:.'Jh~~~ay~.'~st 23> ~eu·~:.tt·Pit ·· · 

CJI0006013 

;,. T>0: · Ed: HOughton .- · -~ 
."S~bj~rt! sp~i.lng . " , ::.· l .. 

• ' • ,_; ... • :> • :f!>~ 

;: .~•~1 • • · '.' · ~- ', · . . · • ' · . ; · . "/c ., -,··~.:.·: .:,.;. ::·:•·"'.." ":.~;:\'.,;'.' ' 
/. · Jus1:·. <::Jlled :Jo~. f;!l$ conc~m· .. 1$:~ .. _...,.t'JOt"gOinf:·~-to-;teft1M~, ~. $$":-.itfl:}t:N.is_: 
"":~~-· preject?l , . .. · · · . . · _,. · ... ·: · .- ;: .. 
->r.t ~11.l folloi.11 the jiroc~.. . .. , . ; . . . . ·. ". ·· . ;:.~ .F: {: ..• ·:·,.··-:.:~:-~ 
···.He thought.Kev1n ~~._·,~l. was-~ ~~-\~tb":~·l"~~ISi~n -~~:~1~ ... ~:: ,· 

Sandra '· " . · · " · ' 
• ,\: • ' ' : ' ; ~ A ,_, ·." ' ~~- • " • l ~ 

' IJllW"adllli .!41•• W:f\I ~ __ ,... • ._.....,.,...~Pt '1111 ........... #1Mifl'1111P' ...... "-I119*'t -l'llR*J......,, 

· ·§en~· rr~ ".Bl~d<f>~rry<Hof>ue· 0ev1<e 

-·:~r.a·~<oOper 
··~r ... 

¥,,,. " ...... 1:_ • - ·'· ' 

~ Townrof'. COllingw¢od · 
·:Offlce.,af ~fie ,.,ayor 
1Ji Hurontario street 

. ~.~>('lSf . .' ., .. ' " 
·~.~ll~~gW(>od,, ~- ~" 
· .l9Y 3t.s ·. "•· : · 

, Email; 
Phone: 
Fax: · 
Mobil 

' " 
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f. At 6:51 p.m.: Acting CAO Ed Houghton replied to Mayor Sandra Cooper's email 

(detailed in the previous paragraph) as follows: 

Jtow.dqe$ he kllOW~~ a~e not 'fhllewing .. O!Jt' pr'()C:Ur',®tent p,.C!:e5$~ He makes 
qeffn±ti~e statements . iaore: than K~in. · · · · · · · · 

, . ·'. .. . ,'; ", ,.,.,,, .. ; ' .·' .. ·-.: ·,··. '. ~ 

Ed 

g. At 7:15 p.m.: Town of Collingwood Councillor Joe Gardhouse sent an email to Councillor 

Kevin Lloyd as follows: 

Ul UIHlll I' LI I Ill l r . 

~1,1bJ~Re!~tt.~~1 P&r% 

CJI0006013 

1 

l(evio/·: •... :... .· . . . . ·. . . 
:~.~iorJustt'a\¥.~·Woml .Irle. thete rs: no staff ~pm •' l was ~ the~ you were' qu~ the specs frQl1'l:. 
'the ·statf report we~ rot_ .. &. got~ early COff!· 
rn call !Ed ri flrid 'C:iiit vmatcirtak:>;Jues: l Should be reading ••.• es welt as wt.at a Sprung a.~ ts... 

·~k$Jt)e 
'> ,. '<1 

•lqe.~ 

. ~-······v•biNri·•·•••··.~.u~ltor 
';;.; ., ...... ··."' 

h. At 8:33 p.m.: Town of Collingwood Mayor Sandra Cooper sent the following email (in 

response to the email detailed in the previous sub-paragraph) to Councillor Joe 

Gard house: 
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: ·rcriivri·of~otnngwood · 
'Office tdth~ Mayor · 
, ~1. ,fi.JrOtrtario.sUC:Ct 
. 8~151 
ri;)iingwood, ON · 
L9Y3z.s· 
' . . 

i. At 9:15 p.m.: Town of Collingwood Councillor Joe Gardhouse replied to Mayor Sandra 

Cooper's email (detailed in the previous sub-paragraph) as follows: 

j. At 8:27 p.m.: Marjory Leonard [Treasurer] sent an email to Dave McNalty [Manager of 

Fleet, Facility and Purchasing] and carbon copied the other members of the Town of 

Collingwood EMT. The members of the Town of ~ollingwood Council do not appear to 

have been sent or carbon copied on this email. The email reads as follows: 
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:fifom: ·$one 
To:··: 
·s.ubl~.· 
,:·r>,", 

CJI0006013 

, ,·t' , ,. .: .. •>;'I .· . . · . ' 
1·t?ave.t :r ~h$~k we have done our due. diligen<;e f¢r ;procurement;.: purposes. alrealiy. 

'"' , " "' . 
·W~ supplied 91,1r W,i.sh list ~<> BLT/Sprung; and t:ne~ .wer-~;.a~are that they were 
c~et~ng. agairtst two othe.r forms of ~onstruetion. Nobodf poss~sses :~he T1edlar 
1:e<::hntJlogy; tlCibpp~f else Can. prOVfi! that tf';ey have., dol'le t~!S type of COf!S1:rtKtiOtt 
w'itfiout c:olltipse; nobody else C:l!ln prov.i(fe the LEED co;mponents< in their basic: 
con5truction. · ·· · · · 

k. At 8:35 p.m.: Town of Collingwood Mayor Sandra Cooper sent the following email to 

Councillors Joe Gardhouse and Kevin Lloyd: 

from:: 'Sandra cooper 
•tsmtt Thursday; ~"1SI; 23t29:t2 tk~S PM 
~O! Joe Gard~; Ke'ifn tJoYd .. ; . . . . .. . . .. . . . . . ·· cc: Ed Houghton; Sara Almas; Marjory la>Dard; tarry Irwin; r&irta Proctor; .T.awn • O:ru11dlkm> 
SUbj~d:: Re: <:on~ regardlng Centr.il f>ark . 
•:i1'<··J,': '.;, .• ', '. " . . ,., ':>,··· :'• 

'eouncJUof G~rdhoose: .· 
App~btJriilt~ process will he followt.\d in rnovingforwatd withthe lee and a(tur.tic .tieeds af topay. 

';i.,, -,,:,<"; _·. ,j '· ,, -';'' ' . ' ·:·:; · , • .•· . ' >' '· , , . ·, , ' 'c . ' . . '' ' ' •'"'',: :': 

.Sent from Bladr.f:ieril~Mobile Device. 

Sandra COoper 
M.avor 

..... · .. ,... 
: ToW#~fCQll111~WQOd• 
· .O~ce oftlle Maier 
. 97 Hufont:aric. street Bqxisi .. . 
c6mn&wood, ON 
LSY3ZS . 

L At 9:28 p.m.: Town of Collingwood Councillor Joe Gard house replied to Mayor Sandra 

Cooper's email (as detailed in the previous sub-paragraph) as follows: 
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157. On August 24, 2012 at 11:21 a.m., Sara Almas [Clerk] sent an emai.I correspondence titled 

"Recommendation ... " to Dave McNalty [Manager of Fleet, Facility and Purchasing], Marjory 

Leonard [Treasurer], Acting CAO Ed Houghton, Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd and Larry Irwin 

[Director l.T. COLLUS]. 156 I have reviewed this email and learned that the content of this email 

correspondence relates to what I believe to be a 'Recommendation to Council' which reads as 

follows: 

·Fromi·sca,:a·~ 

Sent: Ff1day).Augu$t24,.. :?Ol2 ll:21AM .. • . ... . . . 
l°O: · ~ve. McNaK.y; Marjory teOn~ror Ed Hougbfonj Rk'.k .Uoyd; I.any lr.'dn 
Subject: Re:omme®afion ... 

yovrcomments .•. 

THA TC9uncil receive staff report E'MC 2012~01. 

CJI0006013 

AND fURTHER ~rcouncil direct staff fo proeetd with tne'e;On.stn;cliol1,0ra'sprunri Insulated 
~rchi!ecitJral mellJbn:Jne facility for a ys;ar.,round s!l,gle .P~J'.1 Ice areoa at earitral park. maintaining 2 ball 
tjiamon(f$, the outdoor ice rink, lavmbowJing facililY. ~nd additional green space ~While maintalnlng the 
option to twin the arena at a future date; 

.. · ~Nb FURTHER THAT Council dire~t ataff to proceEKi .\vlth installing a Sprung iosufated arct\lfectural 
· membrane $tructure over the existing Centennial ~01, and. ~moving 1he existing built;fingto provide a 
yeai· ... round pool to meet the commlinlty's aquatic and competitive swimming needs.· · 

A/fiant's Notes: This Recommendation to Council contained the words, "Sprung insulated 

architectural membrane". I believe that this is the initial preparation of the 'Council 
Recommendation' that Sara Almas forwarded to the above noted individuals. 

168. On August 24, 2012 at 12:02 p.m.1 Dave McNalty [Manager of Fleet, Facility and Purchasing] sent 

an email correspondence to Sara Almas [Clerk}, Marjory Leonard [Treasurer], Acting CAO Ed 

Houghton, Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd and Larry Irwin [Director l.T. COLLUS] with a subject line of 

"Suggested modifications to the Recommendations for EMC 2012-01".157 I noted that Dave 

McNalty removed of the name "Sprung" out of the Recommendation, leaving the words 

"Insulated Architectural Membrane". The email reads as follows: 

156 
This emarl correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 

157 
This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
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'.f~:~t-~••w•~m·~··-••~•·~· ~· •••• 

senti t~i't\®~ 24, 20)2..12:02 f'M . . . .•. .· .. . . . . . 
•':su~ n)aS;~ .. ~·~~~~ .. ~gg612.01 
1r:'-,:,n:1>,.'.,:1': -:." - - - - - - - - • 

.'. L•" 'T.HAt.G:oundl oo~ive staff rep0rt EMC 2012 . ..01i 
;.-. -.·., .•--.<, -... ,- · ·1':' I 

' a:r ~NDfl.liftHER: .. fHAT .. C~oc;tt.~iroot,.$taff to ?rocef:dwilli the .Purotiaseapd C()tj~~bf~n IDS~~,.:, 
'· ... Ar.chit~W'al~mbl'aiui:f~1ityfor a year.;rocind $ioglepad.~~ :areila ~t 98ntra1 ~ m.Unfaini"9.2 balt .. 

'diamond$,. the.oiitqoor.lc$· rink, the.lawn. b~ing taciiity, and additional g~n·~Pate :..;while ke&pin9 the·••··· • 
' option t9 tN!n the new ahiriaata furur:e'date; ' ' ' ' ' . .··· . 

. ·.·•· ANIJ FURTHER THAT Cotincll direct sW1f tq pr~edwith.l'hepUtchase and constrt11:~i0n·oi an lns\Jtai~ 
~chltecfural t.,.tembrane, strueture ove~. the; ~ng Outdoor rfool inetw:iing U'ie. r.;im?vaE and teeonstruciiori 
9fthe e~stirlgbulldtn~ •. in order to provide a year~l'Qund'pool to moot the communfty's, aq~e a.rid · " · 
bompefillve 'swimming needs. 

A/fiant's Notes: I observed that this recommendation dropped the word, "Sprung" and 

contained the words, "tnsufated Architectural Membrane". J believe that the above emaif 

correspondences are consistent with evidence that Sara Almas provided to Detective Sergeant 

Shawn £vans in her interview where Sara Almas advised she had prepared a draft motion for the 

Town of Collingwood August 27, 2012 Council meeting that included the name "Sprung". Sara 

Almas advised that the motion was edited to delete the word 11Sprunq". I noted that the g.l]};L. 

member of Town of Collingwood Council who was sent the emails in this and the previous 

paragraph was f)~:ili[gypr .Rick Llo'f.d. 

169. On August 24, 2012, Abby Stec of Green Leaf Distribution Inc. sent an email correspondence to 

Tom Lloyd and Dave Macneil of Sprung Instant Structures and Dave Barrow of BLT Construction 

Services.158 The email reads as follows: 

From: /Ibby Stec· C.Ompenso [rne!iltg;__ 
sent: August·24-l2 S:lB AM 
To: }jjQYQ.@ ~t~J.d.11,. 1!1"" _____ roave Barrovt 
Subject: 

Hi guys, 
Ed Is going into several meetings today to share information regarding Sprung. t have armed him 
with the power pol.rtt on a usb key and hard copies of the power point. pool and arena projects. 
The only missing component is the cost comparison between traditional buildings, arenas and 
pool. tf you could source out any numbers from existing projects for me this morning, it. would be 
fabulous. When I did work for the school with both Yeadon and the Farley group, they has 
proformas for a c.ii\lersity of their ptojects, Does Sprung have a.nything like. that? 

Thard~s. 

Abby. 

158 This email correspondence was pro11ided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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Afjianr Notes: 

Although the email content does not specifically mention the Town of Collingwood or the Town 
of Collingwood Sprung/Instant Structures project, I believe the email does relate to Town .of 
Collingwood or the Town of Collingwood Sprung/Instant Stru~tures project, as Dave Barrow 
provided this email in a package of documents which relates to the Town of Collingwood/Sprung 
Instant Structures. 

There is no lost name in the email associated to "EdNJ however given the content of the email 
and the fact the email is In relation to the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures 
project, I believe Abby Stec is referring to Town of Coffingwood Acting CAO Ed Houghton in the 
email. 

This email provides evidence that Abby Stec of Green leaf Distribution Inc. Is supplying Acting 
CAO Ed Houghton with PowerPoint presentation information related to Sprung Instant 
Structures for Acting CAO Ed Houghton to take into meetings. 

170. On August 24, 2012, a number of relevant email correspondences were exchanged between 

Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services, Abby Stec and Paul Bonwick of Green Leaf 
Distribution lnc.159 I have reviewed these emails and have attached them below: 

a. At 11:57 a.m.: Paul Bonwick sent the email to Abby Stec 

From: "Paul Boowick• 
Date: 24 Augt1$1. 2012 l' 
Tor .. Abby Stec" · 
Subjeet: Terms 
Reply-To: 

Hi Abby: 1 believe we have been acting in good faith up to Ibis. poUt 9nd will 
oontinue to do so however iftlley are ~ing a 25 or 3fPA deposit we will 
require our payment at the snme time. Two days is not .relevant in bmldng 
terms. 
Chem. 

b. At 12:11 p.m.: Abby Stec forwarded the email frof'Tl Paul Bonwick detailed in the 

previous sub-paragraph to Dave Barrow. I learned that Abby Stec provided the following 

new information to Dave Barrow in the email: 

159 These email correspondences was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013 
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On Aug 24, 2-012, at 12:1 l PM~ Abby Stec .. Co-.npcnso - \\'J'Otc: 

~ .... 'lg~!l~Y~f£~~~~~\~~:~''.iJi~\!e.J;:¢.iii.~~~~~~~:~~~1~~~t$ 
\~~.~sign:~'1s... <:•:,::;}J' 
f"iP>·j •_, ,, " • , 

Affiatrrs Notes: I believe that this email correspondence is evidence that Paul Bonwick is 
actlvefy engaged fn this project and Is providing clear direction to Abby Stec. 

c. At 1:28 p.m.: Dave Barrow replies by email correspondence to Abby Stec email detailed 

in sub-paragraph (b), as follows: 

From: 1)&vt Barrow [mailto: 
Sent: August-2+12 l:?.S PM 
T.o: Mb{ Stec• COmpen!iO 
SUbJect! Re~ ierms 

Abby l am waiting reply trom Mnrk but we dont w;mt to be in the posidon Ut1t the city takes 3 weeks 
for the deposit and \\'tn! obligattd 10 pny you immediately. I bav~ worked for 1,he ciry and usuaify it's a 
process. 

Regards 
.David Barrow 
Vice President 
BLT Constnrerion Senice Inc 

d. At 1:51 p.m.: Abby Stec replied by email correspondence to Dave Barrow detailed In 

sub-paragraph (c). I have reviewed this email correspondence and note a reference to 
Abby Stec having conversation with "Ed". Based on the content and source of the email, 
I believe Abby Stec is referring to Acting CAO Ed Houghton. I have attached the email as 

follows: 

From: Abby SWC..Compwo I 
Sent; Friday, August24,20121:51 PM 
To: 'Oave Bamwt 

Subjec:t RE: Terms 

Hi Dave, 
Can you !et me know when you are back in th.e office. l tust want to ronfirm compensation totals with yau after 
breaking out the totals. When I was speaklna with Ed this moming ht asked me t() confirm that the garag~ type 
docm which open up the pool are include. We did not see them on the budget, or maybe were lookmg for the 
wrong headiq. Tbanb, 
Abby 
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Affiant's Notes: 

I note that the content of the emails detailed this paragraph directly relate to Green Leaf 
Distribution Inc. compensation from BLT Construction Services in relation to the Town of 

Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. I believe the language in these emails is 
consistent that [J.fLQQYj}JJ!X[sts that the Town of Collingwood will be signing a contract 
with BLT Construction Services for the Town of Collingwood Sprung Instant Structures 
project. I noted that the issue of o decision by the Town of Collingwood on the 
recreational structures has yet to be voted on but yet the conversation in the identified 
emails seems to provide some evidence that there ls no doubt Council will be voting in 
favor of entering into a ·contract with BLT Construction Services for Sprung Instant 
Structures. 

171. On August 24, 2012, a number of relevant email correspondences were exchanged between 

Town of Collingwood employees regarding the delivery of literature (referred to as Sprung 

packages) for review in advance of the Council meeting on August 27, 2012.160 l have reviewed 

these emails and attached them below: 

a. At 1:16 p.m.: Sara Almas [Clerk] sent an email correspondence to Act ing CAO Ed 

Houghton asking if he would like the Sprung packages to be hand delivered t oday. 

b. At 1:18 p.m.: Acting CAO Ed Houghton sent a response email to Sara Almas stating: 

"Please. AU but the DM. Thanks". 

c. At 1:21 p.m.: Sara Almas forwarded an email correspondence to her assistant Megan 

Schollenberger providing direction to have the Sprung packages delivered to the homes 

of each member of Council, except Deputy Mavor Rick Lloyd and Mayor Sandra 

Cooper's. Sara Almas writes in the email that Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd does not need 

one and that the Mayor's copy can go in her office. 

d. At 4:14 p.m.: Megan Schollenberger sent the following email correspondence to 

members of Council, Actlng CAO Ed Houghton and Sara Almas: 

160 
These email correspondence:> were provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the iown of Collingwood. 
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Vrom:'. 
Sent: 
To:.• 
_Cc! .. 
S1.1b1"t! 

ilood Afternoon, 

Megan &Milenterget 
Aug~t24, 2()124!J4 l?M 

· . Catmcillors; ed Houghton 

lri-e:a~anclTn'6rmalion P~~es 

J"t~;~~a~e that YoUr ln.Qimm pad;;:ige!i are. now avallab!e in yo11r maUboices. 

/Jso,· pl~as~ .ni;itt?'. Ura~ infonmitioo pacbges re: Sprung haVe mi~n dellvt?re?d tQ. your homes: for your r~.\•fo.w f.or the. 
.<:ouncil Meeting on Mociday, Augu!st27!11, 2012. · . 

Vtrur Wti~l'li~ -plea:ie note that the Sprung t>ad:age i:s In yo1sr offic:;e. 

172. On August 27, 2012, Dave Barrow and Mark Watts of BLT Construction Services, Tom Lloyd and 

Dave Macneil of Sprung Instant Structures met with Abby Stec at the Green Leaf Distribution Inc. 

office at 4 p.m.151 I reviewed this document and learned that this meeting was convened to 

discuss the process, and review their presentation to be delivered at the Town of Collingwood 

Council meeting later that evening. 

173, On August 27, 2012, the Intermediary Contract between BLT Construction Services and 2295210 

Ontario Inc. (otherwise known as Green Leaf Distribution lnc.)162 was "executed" at Green Leaf 

Distribution lnc.'s office. I have reviewed this executed copy that was provided to Detective 

Constable Tim Ticknor by Dave Barrow of Bl T Construction Services. In this chronology I have 

provided details of an unsigned (un-executed) version of this Intermediary Contract that had 

been exchanged via email between Abby Stec and Dave Barrow in paragraphs 133. have 

compared the "executed copy" document with the document listed in paragraph 133 and I 

confirmed that the wording in the contract sections detailed in paragraph 133 are the same in 

the "executed copy". 

Town of Collingwood Council meeting August 27, 2012 

174. I have reviewed a Rogers Cable video recording of the 1~ugust 27, 2012, Town of Collingwood 

Council meeting. 1 learned that Frank Miceli of Ameresco Canada and Mark Palmer of Greenland 

Group of Companies made a joint deputation providing the following details to Council: 

161 ! learned this from my review of the "BLT sequence of meeting for Collingwood project~. 
162 

ONBIS search conducted by Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans on March 21, 2014. 
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a. A comprehensive solution and plan to the recreational issues faced by the Town of 

Collingwood. 

b. A green geothermal building concept that could assist in providing the .facilitis own 

energy. 

c. During the financing component of the deputation, Frank Miceli stated that the 

preliminary estimate of the proposed Ameresco Canada concept was $27 million but 

with a design-build-finance model, Ameresco Canada had sourced financing of up to $20 

million, at a premium rate comparable to a private lender. 

175. I learned from reviewing the Rogers Cable video recording of the August 27, 2012, Town of 

Collingwood Council Meeting, that during the deputation Frank Miceli spoke of an open and 

transparent process. He emphasized the need for the Request for Qualification (RFQ) process 

and he told Council that Ameresco Canada was ready to provide a detailed RFQ draft to assist 

the Town of Collingwood with this procurement process. 

176. I have also viewed Rogers Cable video footage of the deputation given by "Friends of Central 

Park" to the Town of Collingwood Council. During his deputation, Paul Cadieux, a local citizen 

associated to this group made the following comments related to Council's decisions: 

a. H.e commented on the lack of process and transparency by the Town of Collingwood 

Council in this project. 

b. He questioned the Staff Report recommendation and the seemingly sudden change in 

direction from the original recommendations from the Steering Committee. 

c. He commented that this change in direction was done without any input from Town of 

Collingwood residents. 

d. He commented on the staff report (Staff Report EMC 2012-01) which in his belief was 

incomplete and fell short of public expectation. He detailed areas of the Staff Report, 

which were, in his view, lacking information and did not demonstrate the true costs of 

the project. 

e. He commented that the operating costs for three separate facilities would be at least 

double the operating costs of one site. 

f. He referenced that the Staff Report only spoke of one supplier and one vendor of the 

fabric structure. 

101 

CJI0006013 



g. He requested transparency, due diligence and a process that would identify what was 

best for the community. 

h. He asked for a tendering process that would identify the best vendor, not just one 

vendor for the project. 

L He highlighted the fact that no one saw the Staff Report before last Friday (August 24, 

2012) but yet Council was ready to vote on this Recommendation tonight (Monday 

August 27, 2012). 

j. He requested that the Town of Collingwood Council defer the decision from this 

meeting to later date to permit further consultations. 

177. I have reviewed the Town of Collingwood Council minutes for the August 27, 2012, and I learned 

that Staff Report EMC 2012-01 was presented to Council in relation to the Centennial Pool and 

Single Pad Arena Options. The Staff Report reflected that it was submitted by members of the 

EMT Committee, including Town of Collingwood Acting CAO Ed Houghton, Larry Irwin [Director 

l.T. COLLUS], Sara Almas [Clerk] and Marjory Leonard [Treasurer]. This investigation has received 

a certified copy of this Staff Report EMC 2012-01 and I have reviewed this document and made 

the following notes: 

a. I noted that the wording of this proposed motion for Council consideration is the very 

same as the draft wording that appeared in the email correspondence between Dave 

McNalty [Manager of Fleet, Facility and Purchasing] and Sara Almas [Clerk] on August 

24, 2012, in that the word "Sprung11 was deleted and only the words "Insulated 

Architectural Membrane" remained. 

THAT Council roeeiva staff rePQl't !MC 2012.01~ 

AND f!URTHER THATCounCJU.liroct~fa<f'.to.'.Pfl:>&!;!&q_*,!tLe":PUlfwmrand <::onstrociion of 
an Insulated Archlteeruml Mernlmtne facility for a year-ro1.1nd ~ngle pad ice arena at Centra1 
Park, ma1ntainiflg 2 ball diamonds, the outdw Ice rink, the fawn bowling focifily, and 
ad(!ltional Qtt!!OO spai;e- while kooplng 1Jm oplion to twin the new a:mna at a ioturo date; 

AND Fl.JRTHE~ THA PGOuno~"Olre.ct:st.atllo~procee:r3:\Vil.fi~tfi'e.ptllCfii!Se-:Sm:S constwe1km of 
an Insulated Archirecrutai Membrane structure ewer the ~xisling O'!)ldaor Pool indudfng the 
removal and reconstruction .of the ~:d$tlng building, in order to proitid~ a year~nd .poot to 
mer:t the comiru,mify'.s aqu.aue and competitive $Wlmming needs. 

b. The Staff Report clearly articulated the following information in relation to a potential 

supplier for the Insulated Architectural Membrane Structure, as follows: "we are only 

aware of one supplier of the Insulated Architectural Membrane structure that would 

allow for satisfactory year round swimming pool use.'' 
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c. The Staff Report provided information to Council on the issue of procurement, as 

follows: 

The procurement process recommended for the supply and construction of the Outdoor Pool 
enclosure and the Singfe Ice Psd .at Central Park is a direct purchase of the facilities from the 
suppfier. Staff have exercised due diligence in the research of potential forms of construction 
and feel that there wouJd be no addftional advantage to be galned from a·furthertendar process 
for !he following reasons: . . . 

r • - • "'-•-.:i: 

Affiant's Notes: I will address the issue of due diligence that the Town of Collingwood 
conducted during their research in potential forms of construction for this project later in 
this !TO. 

d. The Staff Report provided additional information to Councillo'rs in relation to the 

reasons there would be no additional advantage to-be-gained from a further tender 

process (as detailed in the above sub-paragraph). It reads as follows: 

CJI0006013 

Element ofcompelllion was included in the galheting ofestimales.: the manufacturers of.the 
ArchH.ectural Membrane structura knew that tbey were in competition with the more tradifional 
forms cf construction; WGO Arehitaets knew that they were in competition with the Architectural 
Membrane structure when produclng estimates. 

Cost offactivettess and benefit lo the Town: through the lnvestfgative process, it has been 
determfned ·that the Arcl1iteettJral Membrane structure would provide.the mest cost effective and 
all Inclusive solution for the Tows needs. 

Sola Source: through Staff research, it has been detennined that there is only one $uppliet that 
can meet the specifications Staff developed for the facllities. 

If one of the more traditional forms of construction had been determined to provide the most 
cost effective solution there would have been a further need to issue an RFP for construction 
slnee ther4'> are many companies capable of providing this senrice. Them Is only one 
manufacturer of Architectural Membrane structures that has a proven 1raek record ·Of success 
and that distributes thls techoofogy. 

178. I learned from my review of the Town of Collingwood Council minutes, as well as from viewing 

the Rogers Cable video recording of the Council meeting for August 27, 2012, the following 

relevant information: 
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a. Council was introduced to Sprung Instant Structures representative Tom Lloyd by Acting 

CAO Ed Houghton. 

b. Tom Lloyd gave a presentation about the Sprung Instant Structure to the Town of 

Collingwood Council and acknowledged that BLT Construction Services was Sprung 

Instant Structure's licensed partner in Southern Ontario. 

c. At the conclusion of Tom Lloyd's presentation, Acting CAO Ed Houghton reviewed the 

Central Park Re-development Project, identifying concerns and priorities. 

d. Acting CAO Ed Houghton provided a summary of the meetings/sessions undertook with 

the Town of Collingwood Council on June 11 and July 16, 2012 at Council meetings. 

e. Acting CAO Ed Houghton summarized the Resolution (Motion 330) that was reached on 

July 16, 2012, Town of Collingwood Council meeting. 

f. Acting CAO Ed Houghton stated to Council that Town staff researched all the different 

options, including a number of different types of fabric structures as well as brick and 

mortar and steel fabrication buildings, including costs associated with these types of 

building options. 

g. Acting CAO Ed Houghton stated that the EMT worked with their architectural 

consultants to get the information for an assessment of the options to balance the 

demonstrated need with the financial resources. 

Affiant's Notes: I believe that Acting CAO Ed Houghton's comments regarding the 

architectural consultants refers to the contractual work done by WGD Architects for the · 

· Town of Collingwood. I will provide additional information on this issue in the 

subsequent paragraphs. 

h. That Acting CAO Ed Houghton informed Council that the EMT had researched the pre­

engineered steel building as well as the architectural membrane. 

i. That Acting CAO Ed Houghton informed Council that the EMT proposal for enclosing the 

pool and the construction of a single ice pad was a departure from the original plan, but 

the EMT focused on the current financial restraints, in regards to procurement 

perspectives. 

179. I learned from my review of the Rogers Cable video recording of the Town of Collingwood 

Council meeting for August 27, 2012, that other members bf Council and Staff from the Town of 

Collingwood provided comments related to ·this procurement. The following is relevant 

information I noted from my review: 
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a. Marjory Leonard [Treasurer] . provided a presentation concerning the background, 

research and recommendations including operational costs and financing for this 

project. 

b. Marjory Leonard spoke in regards to the Town of Collingwood Procurement Policy. 

note that Marjory L~onard made the following statements in relation to procurement: 

"The project will be a supply and construction as a direct purchase from the supplier. 

The policy recognizes that there are times wheri a single or sole source purchasing 

may be the reci;>mmended method for procurement." 

"Due diligence was maintained throughout the process during the research of the 

varying forms of construction. Each of the competitors knew we were looking at cost 

for pre-engineered steel building and fabric or architectural membrane construction, 

since we already did have the cost for bricks and mortar estimated in the steering 

committee's report. So in that vein it did interject an element of competition into the 

process." 

c. Marjory Leonard further provided information that the Architectural Membrane 

Structure provided the most cost effective and beneficial solution and that there was 

only one supplier of thi~ leading edge technology. 

d. Acting CAO Ed Houghton again spoke, interjecting that he believed due diligence was 

maintained throughout the process in the decision to sole source this project. 

e. Councillor Keith Hull discussed the structure and the process of procurement. Councillor 

Hull provided information that when one actually Googles the word "structures", there 

are results for a number of companies and an association with hundreds of companies 

around the world that manufacture this type of product. · 

f. Councillor Keith Hull questioned Tom Lloyd from Sprung ln.stant Structures about 

covering a pool of the current age and in this type of climate. Tom Lloyd answered that 

Sprung Instant Structures had never covered a pool in this type of climate, or this far 

north. 

g. Councillor Keith Hull further questioned whether or not the Sprung Instant Structure 

could guarantee that the existing concrete pool would not crack due to the difference in 

temperatures when heating the enclosure during the winter season. 

h. Councillor Keith Hull specifically stated that this needed to be researched by staff and a 

report made to Council. Councillor Hull commented that due to the length of time this 

would take, he did not see how Council could vote in support of this tonight. 
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i. Councillor Keith Hull apologized to the Town of Collingwood residents in respect to the 

narrow focus of Town of Collingwood, expressing his concern that the Town of 

Collingwood Council was being rushed to reach a conclusion. 

j. Councillor Keith Hull also pointed out that the taxpayer was on the hook for funding the 

project, but the Town of Collingwood Council had not determined what the Town of 

Collingwood was comfortable in spending. 

k. Councillor Keith Hull further detailed the fact that this was the first time that he had 

reviewed the information that was presented at that evening's Council meeting and that 

a decision on this new information should not occur that evening. 

I. Councillor Keith Hull asked that a Staff Report be prepared addressing what due 

diligence was performed, the other comparable companies that provide a similar type of 

structure, and the reasons why the Town of Collingwood should pursue this particular 

company's (Sprung Instant Structures) product. 

m. Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd spoke of how the Sprung Instant Structure alternative was the 

best option for the Town of Collingwood and the timing was right to move forward with 

this project. 

n. Councillor Kevin Lloyd stated, "they have the opportunity to make the community's 

expressed needs a reality and do it in a viable and fiscally responsible way with the best 

interests of every citizen of this Town of Collingwood at heart." 

o. Councillor Kevin Lloyd expressed that staff have worked tirelessly and have done their 

due diligeoce. Councillor Kevin Lloyd stated, "The reality is that, at some point, we as 

Council, have to make a decision." 

Affiant's Note: I observed that Councillor Kevin Lloyd read from a prepared document 
while making the above statements before Council. 

180. I have reviewed several Motions presented and voted on at the Town of Collingwood Council 

meeting on August 27, 2012. I have read the minutes from the meeting and watched the 

Motions being read on the Rogers Cable video recording. Below are the Motions and my 

observations: 

a. Motion Number 374: I observed that Council voted on this Motion and it was carried with 

eight in favor and one against. I observed that the vote was recorded and that Councillor 

Keith Hull was the only member of Council to vote against the motion. I note that Motion 

374 related to the following: 
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THAT Council receive Staff Report EMC 2012-01; 

AND FURTHER THAT Council direct staff · to 
proceed. with the purchase and construction of an 
Insulated Architectural Membrane facility for a year .. 
round single . pad lee arena at Central Park, 
maintaining 2 ball diamonds, the outdoor ice rink1 
u-,,e lawn bowling facinty. and additional green 
space - while keeping the opfion to twin the new 
arena at a future date; 

b. Motion Number 375 (Part 1): I noted that this Motion was split into two votes. Below is 

the first part of the Motion and Council held a recorded vote on this first part. It was 

defeated, with only Councillor Joe Gardhouse voting in favor of the deferral. The Motion 

reads as follows: 

Moved by Councillor Gardhouse 
Seconded by Councillor Edwards 

THAT Council defer the motion to purchase and 
construction an Jnsulated Architectural Membrane 
structure over the existing Outdoor Pool for up to 
90 days until a professional reviews the plan and 
structural audit. 

c. Motion Number 375 (Part 2): I noted that this Motion was Part 2 of Motion 375 and 

observed Council hold a recorded vote. I note that the Motion was carried with only 

Councillors Joe Gard house and Keith Hull voting against it. Motion 375 (Part 2) reads as 

follows: 

AND FURTHER THAT CouncH direct staff to 
proceed with the purchase and construction of an,,_ 
insulated Architectural Membrane structure over 
the existing Outdoor Pool including the removal and 
reconstruction of the existing building1 in order to 
provide a year-round pool to meet the community's 
aquatic and competitive swim:ming needs. 
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WGD Architects and Staff Report EMC 2012-01 

181. I have provided significant detail in this ITO regarding WGD Architects and their role in this 

project. The following is a brief summary, all of which has been sourced and presented earlier in 

this ITO: 

a. WGD Architects were tasked by the Town of Collingwood Council in July 2012 with 

preparing a comparison report for the Town of Collingwood. 

b. The purpose of the WGD Architects comparison report was to provide the appropriate 

research materials to members of Council to educate them on the various issues related 

to the building project prior to discussions and votes held at Council meetings. 

c. The complete and comprehensive WGD Architects comparison report was provided to · 

members of the Town of Collingwood EMT on August 24, 2012. 

182. I have provided significant detail in this ITO regarding the significance of Staff Report EMC 2012-

01 and the basis of this report to guide Council in their decision making process. Below is an 

excerpt from this Staff Report, presented to Council, which details WGD Architects' involvement 

in this process: 

Element of ccmpelitidn was included in the gathering .of esllrMtes: the manufacturers of :the 
Arthftettural Membrane structure knew that they were· In competition with the more tradltional 
forms of eonSfnletion: WGO At¢htteets knew that they were in eompetition with the Archffeetural 
Membrane structure when produofng estimates. 

Affiant's Notes: WGD Architects were not in competition with anyone. They were tasked by the 

Town of Collingwood Council to conduct research into the various building types and prepare a 

comparison re12ort. 

183. I learned that the Town of Collingwood Council were provided with a 94 page 'Agenda Package1 

for the August 27, 2012 Council meeting.163 From my review of this Agenda Package and the 

WGD Architects comparison report, I can confirm the following: 

a. I can confirm that this is the very same the Agenda Package which was provided to 

members of Council a few days in advance of this August 27, 2012 Council meeting. 

163 
This document provided to police by Sara Almas [Clerk] on July 26, 2013. I also located this document on the website: 

www.collingwood.ca/fi les/ Aug%2027 _12Cou ncilAgenda Pkg. pdf 
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b. I can confirm that this WGD Architects comparison report was not part of this August 

27, 2012 Town of Collingwood Council Agenda Package. 

184. I have reviewed the Rogers Cable video recording for the Town of Collingwood Council meeting 

for August 27, 2012, and learned that the actual WGD Architects comparison report was not 

presented or made available to members of Council either verbally or in hard copy. 

185. On September 71 2012 Richard Dabrus of WGD Architects sent an email correspondence to 

Marta Proctor [Director of Lelsure Services) expressing his concern that the comparison report 

generated by WGD Architects and completed for the Town of Collingwood, for this project, was 

significantly misrepresented in Staff Report EMC 2012-01 .164 The email reads as follows: 

·-··Otlgl'nal Ml.!Ssagi:--

Ftomr Richard Qabrus [mailtot1••••••••I 
S1mt: ~ritlay, ScpH1mber07, 20.12 .8;51 PM 
To: Mana Pr(l(tor 
Subjl!:ct: Central Parl: 

CJI0006013 

rJl;;tia,.l've been Jti<tde <l'.'J<lre .of~ couple of •~sues Oil ho1.v our tecentwotk has b~en used 11'11he staff timoruo Council 
. on August 21th. on page 71. It ~tatc:ithat we knew 11.t!f were in competition. Thlssfiuemcnt 1$ 1t;f,jnS and puts ~~r wor.k 
. In il nesativrn:ontcxt, i>S, having il vested int.erest.. . . . . . 

I•_:. ·,. ..·.. -'. . ,, : '. ' .• ·.··.·· ;. ·:· ,: . -• ,,_, 

Wt! need to· talk about this, "s it is damaging to our fltm'.s reputation. 

Rkhatd 
Sent ftom my Blac.k:Berry devke on the Rogers Wireless Network 

186, On September 8, 2012, Acting CAO Ed Houghton sent an email correspondence to Richard 

Dabrus of WGD Architects in relation to these concerns raised by Richard Dabrus about the 

misrepresented use of the WGD Architects report in the Town of Collingwood Staff Report (Staff 

Report EMC 2012-01), The email reads as follows: 

164 
This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
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Subject: 

Ontario Frovmciat Pclbi 
AnU·!4't1ckels SulJ'ldi 

NCl 19 j 
HECEIVED 
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A.t'you c:an ~e Ms. Ptottor has forwarded YQUr emall fer me to respalld. I can r~assure: yau that In no wa.y Wl'!re ycu er 
your firm's rep"tat!on put into q~:ltlon, The ptte$Cntatkm that was made. by our rren$Jttlf' was very respectful of th!?' 
work that was done by vour firm on behalf of .the Steering Committee and !he work completed at. the reque::t of Mr. 
M(Nolty .. 1b<l1~. the·-,..efrd q)!J'lp~UUon meant !hat ¥je WCl"l?ffookloiat different t";~s of ~ructurC$'.>nd youriinnw~s 
awar1! ttlat we "·~getting prJt;~s on. o(her types of structures ~nd your lirn' pmli'id<td us thti e:otim~led numbers cntbi! 
:;t~~I r<1!1f1al~d h~ildk1t:. 11/;fid flot lt1etin lu:i~·c'll,?r t~t.vou ~ari:? i~ .. competlti~ .. · proi:os~ bec.:iust vie well llnow 
th~ryouwere pl'Ol.'idin.R blfdget numbers Of eit.imat~S U$tlUt C~ntra! f'al<k:ProleC.t ~t C\ and net Orm numbers ii$ we 
1'.11,\t'f 0;\lvt? goU~n ftom () t:'.01)1>11\JCtlOll t0fllri1t:.10C 

Affiant's Notes: 

I believe that the explanation provided by Acting CAO Ed Houghton to Richard Dabrus in the 

above email contradicts what was actually written in Town of Collingwood Staff Report EMC 

2012-01 that went to Council os detailed in paragraph 182. 

187. Richard Dabrus and Brian Gregersen of WGD Architects provided a witness interview to 

Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and Detective Constable Tim Ticknor on July 17, 2013, detailing 

their involvement with the Town of Collingwood in the preparation of their comparison report. I 

reviewed the content of this interview and I have lea med the following relevant information: 

a. WGD Architects' initial involvement with the Town of Collingwood was approximately 

eight years previous with a project at the library and town halt 

b. WGD Architects was also engaged by the Town of Collingwood Central Park Steering 

Committee to prepare a recreational feasibility study in 2011. 

c. In July 2012, Marta Proctor [Director of Leisure Services] contacted WGD Architects 

requesting some advice on a single ice pad location and some general costs. 

d. WGD Architects were subsequently engaged by the Town of Collingwood to do a 

comparison analysis of a single pad arena, which included comparison of different types 

of building construction methods. 
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e. WGD Architects was aware that Sprung Instant Structures was engaged with the Town 

of Collingwood, so the firm contacted Sprung Instant Structures to get information to 

develop a costing. WGD Architects contacted Sprung Instant Structures - specifically 

Tom Lloyd, in mid July 2012. 

f. WGD Architects learned from Sprung Instant Structures that they thought the Town of . 

Collingwood job was theirs already. 

g. Brian 'Gregersen sent an email to Marta Proctor about his contact with Sprung Instant 

Structures and received a phone call from Marta Proctor advising him to have not 

further contact with Sprung Instant Structures. 

h. WGD Architects completed their report without using the "Sprung" name, and they 

developed an options analysis including a costing that compared a conventional arena 

with a membrane type structure. This report was given to the Town of Collingwood. 

i. The WGD Architects report was not used in its entirety - only bits and pieces of 

information were used in the Town of.Collingwood Staff Report EMC 2012-01. 

j. In this Town of Collingwood Staff Report 2012-01, it was implied that WGD Architects 

was in competition with Sprung Instant Structures. This statement was entirely wrong 

and put WGD's work in a negative context. WGD Architects is not a cqmpetitor to 

Sprung Instant Structures. WGD Architects work for a client to provide the client with 

information to help the client decide which avenue to follow. 

k. Typically, the entire comparison report from WGD Architects should have been attached 

as an appendix to the Town of Coflingwood's Staff Report. 

I. Richard Dabrus feels like WGD Architects· were used by the Town of Collingwood as a 

bid, which is entirely inappropriate. The Town of Collingwood staff did not use WGD 

Architects' report and information correctly. 

m. The Sprung structure may be cheaper than a conventional structure because that is all 

that it is, and it only has a 17-y~ar warranty, whereas a conventional structure will last 

50 years. 

n. WGD Architects were not invited to present their report to Town pf Collingwood Council 

at the August 27, 2012, Council meeting. 
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188. Sara Almas [Clerk] provided a subsequent witness interview to Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans 

and Detective Constable Tim Ticknor on November 14, 2013. I learned that the intent of this 

interview was to ask specific questions about eve~ts that culminated in· the creation and 

dissemination of Town ·of Collingwood Staff Report EMC 2012-0~. I reviewed the content of this 

interview and I have learned the following relevant information: 

a. WGD Architects were contracted by the Town of Collingwood to do a comparison of 

buildings. WGD Architects were given a tight timeframe to complete this work. 

· b. WGD Architects compiled information for a report that evaluated a bricks and mortar 

building in comparison to an architectural membrane structure. The report would 

typically be presented to Council in order to educate each member on the facts. in issue. 

This report would assist Council with an informed decision. 

c.· As a member of the EMT, Sara Almas received updates from WGD via email 

correspondence. 

d. Acting CAO Ed Houghton had primary contact with individuals involved in the Town of 

Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. No one else was involved. 

e. Acting CAO Ed Houghton had direct phone communications with BLT Construction 

Services. 

f. From July to August of 2012, Acting CAO Ed Houghton and Marta Proctor [Director of 

Leisure Services] were largely involved in the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant 

Structures project. 

g. There was a package prepared before the August ~7, 2012, Town of Collingwood Council 

Meeting. The Council 'Agenda Package' with attachments was hand delivered to each 

member of Council. These 'Agenda Packages' were prepared and disseminated by the 

Clerk's office. 

h. Staff Report EMC 2012-01 was initially drafted by Marjory Leonard [Treasurer] and 

reviewed by Acting CAO Ed Houghton and Dave McNalty [Manager of Fleet, Facility and 

Purchasing]. Sara Almas reviewed the actual recommendation tha~ appeared on the 

face of Staff Report EMC 2012-01. 

i. From the first draft of Staff Report EMC 2012-01 to the final version, things had 

significantly changed in this Report. The draft Report initially included a Request for 

Proposal (RFP) recommendation. The RFP was not part of the final version of Staff 

Report EMC 2012-01 provided to Town of Collingwood Council. 
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j. Sara Almas recalled that Marjory Leonard had sent an email to Acting CAO Ed Houghton 

with the draft Report that had stated, "I'm finished with doing this report." The 

following day, the Report was completely changed. Sara Almas believed that it was 

Acting CAO Ed Houghton that had changed the report. 

Affiant's Note: I noted that this information is consistent with the email exchange 

between Acting CAO Ed Houghton and Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd about the content of the 

staff report and the statement from Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd about the changes needed 

in the report and the need to not give too much information (paragraph 149). 

k. The WGD Architect's report was not included in the "Agenda Package' for the August 27, 

2012, Town of Collingwood Council meeting. Sara Almas believed that it would have 

been beneficial to the Councillors to of had the· opportunity to review the WGD 

Architects report and it should have accompanied Staff Report EMC 2012-01. 

I. Sara Almas advised that in Staff Report EMC 2012-01 there was a comment, which 

stated, "We are only aware of one supplier of the type of insulated architectural 

membrane structure that would allow for satisfactory year round swimming pool use". 

Sara Almas was told by Acting CAO Ed Houghton that due diligence research had been 

completed on this issue. 

m. Sara Almas believed that WGD Architects were aware that it was to complete a 

comparison report between the architectural membrane structure and a structural steel 

building. Almas believed that WGD Architects were given terms of reference when they 

were hired. 

n. WGD Architects were retained because they had done previous work for the Town of 

Collingwood. Marjory Leonard [Treasurer] initiated discussions with them, and Dave 

McNalty [Manager of Fleet, Facility and Purchasing] was directed to continue with them. 

Affiant's Notes: 

1 believe, based on the information provided by Sara Almas [Clerk] that the WGD 

Architects report was not contained within the 94-page Town of Collingwood Council 

agenda package for the August 2 7, 2012 meeting and that members of Council were not 

provided with the WGD Architects report prior to or during the August 27, 2012 Council 

meeting. 

I further believe, based on the language used in the Staff Report and the email exchange 

between Acting CAO Ed Houghton and Richard Dabrus (about WGD Architects being in 

competition) that the language in the Staff Report misled members of Town of 

Collingwood Council as to the work WGD Architects had completed at the request of, 

and behalf of, the Town of Collingwood. 
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Sole Source and Due Diligence 

189.1 have provided detail in paragraph 182 that speaks to the due diligence undertaken by Town of 

Collingwood staff to justify the recommendation to Council to sole source the purchase from 

Sprung Instant Structures and the contract with BLT Construction Services. I have detailed 

comments attributed to Marjory Leonard [Treasurer] made to Council during the August 27, 

2012, Council meeting in relation to due diligence being maintained throughout the process 

during the research of the various forms of building construction. 

190. On November 1, 2012, Acting CAO Ed Houghton sent an email correspondence to Sara Almas 

[Clerk] titled, "Membrane Competitors", which appeared to detail the "Sprung Difference" .165 I 

have reviewed this document and attachea it below. 
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165 This email correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood, 
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191. The Town of Collingwood Staff produced a document titled, 'Membrane Competition Spread 

Sheet' which contained information on the various manufacturers of membrane structures that 

the Town of Collingwood reviewed during their due diligence exercise.166 I have reviewed this 

spreadsheet and confirmed that there are a number of companies listed as "competitors" 

including: 

• Spr:ung Instant Structures, Big Top Shelters, Calhoun Super Structures, Yeadon Air 

Supported Structures, Megadome, Norseman, Bright Span Structures, and Rubb. 

I also note that these companies were compared on the following categories: 

• history, arena and/or indoor pool experience/references, aluminum or steel or both, 

insulation, membrane type offered, guarantee period/substructure, maximum wind 

load, environmental program, independent engineer review, application, 

doors/windows/skylights, . verified independent engineer document, and other 

comments/ strengths/weaknesses. 

192. Sara Almas [Clerk] stated that Marjory Leonard [Treasurer] was involved in the preparation of 

the "Membrane Competition Spread Sheet" documeht.167 I reviewed this interview and learned 

that Sara Almas believed that only an internet Google Search was conducted on the various 

companies. I note that Sara Almas further believed that the spreadsheet was produced after the 

decision was made to purchase the Sprung Instant Structure at the August 27, 2012, Council 

meeting. 

Affiant:s Notes: I believe this is consistent with comments made by Councillor Keith Hull at the 

August 27, 2012, Town of Collingwood Council meeting where he requested a Staff Report be 

prepared addressing what due diligence had been done. 

_193. On September 20, 2012, James Keays of Norseman Structures, a Saskatchewan based 

manufacturing company of fabric structures comparable to Sprung Instant Structures, sent an 

email response to Steve Berman [Town of. Collingwood resident and requester of FOi 

documents].168 I reviewed this email correspondence and note that James Keays confirmed . 

Norseman Structures was never contacted in regards to the Town of Collingwood Project. I also 

note that . James Keays provided the following information on the Norseman Structures 

performance features and abilities: 

166
-This document and corresponden~e was provided to police by Steve B~rman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 

167 
I learned this and th~ information conta ined in this paragraph from my review of the interview transcripts of Sara Almas 

given to Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and Detective Tim Ticknor on May 22, 2013. 
168 

This correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman on Aprll 2, 2013. 
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a. A structure with liner and insulation to a R30 value. 

b. A complete turnkey service for a project. 

c. Their products and services can be applied to LEED points and certification. 

d. The cam·pany has worldwide references for projects such as hock~y arenas and more. 

i94. On November 13, 2012, Sara Almas sent email correspondence to Steve Berman [Town of 

Collingwood resident and requester of FOi documents} relating to Steve Berman's FOi request 

filed with the Town of Collingwood.169 I have reviewed this email correspondence and note Sara 

Almas makes a comment that she is aware Steve Berman will be meeting with Acting CAO Ed 

Houghton in the near future and states the following: 

"He (Acting CAO Ed Houghton) and Marjory (Leonard) [Treasurer] have confirmed that the only 

information obtained by any of the other structure suppliers was strictly obtained from their 

websites." 

Affiant's Notes: 
\ 

I believe the information detailed in the above paragraphs is evidence that Acting CAO Ed 
Houghton, on behalf of the Town of Collingwood, did not complete the appropriate level of due 
diligence, despite their assertion of such in.Staff Report EMC 2012-01. I believe .the information 
detailed above also affords evidence that Acting CAO Ed Houghton mislead members of Town of 
Collingwood Council in relation to the due diligence component of Staff Report EMC 2012-01. 

Evidence post-August 27, 2012 - Town of Collingwood Council Meeting 

195. On August 28, 2012, Abby Stec of Green Leaf Distribution Inc. sent an email correspondence to 

Mark Watts and Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services,· and Paul Bonwick.170 I have 
reviewed this correspondence and note it Is relation to the Canadian Construction Documents 

Committee [CCDC] - a standard construction contract. I note that given the content of the 

email, I believe that "Ed" as referred in the email, is Acting CAO Ed Houghton. This email reads 

as follows: 

169 Thi~ correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
170 

This email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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From; ~sto\':-tompein$Q •••••I 
. ~l:\t: T~,.AllG=t 2£$. 2012 •tQ2 PM 

To; ·~e.rmw-:t>am·~ 

St11ijoct ~n<l'!og !\em$ 

I lust 11>oke 'l>'llh fD . .oo be iHontl1nt with • m ndttd COX: contrild. and rCl?Uf.ir l'IOO!bHx prollil<ioru. In tc«nt 
at K'Jp@Of work,~(! Ind~ ~I e~r.UJd<:IUdl!lg ll pr~~ llml~I, He ll™1~d me to CiillQ.dlllll the clolla.r 
tot'1l for tile ·f!tst Qrew 11 25% 1(1 \1'1e c!le<iuc YffJl be rtodv rorvo:11 lllX)n ~~. 

Ai discan!ed, ctea~ wnd 11111 b!ltt:croont en Thul'Sriay ti> fttcllitatc any mnges lfiilt 'flttd to ;bl! made. We can 
tti.:11$Chtdule1 M®drls ltl Colllnll#Qf:ld to l'!nallle lhe dt;»wiftgs 111Q dl$<un dmclina. 

~ .agllln for all of yt>Ut etroru. 
Ae&a,ds, 
Abby 

A/fiant's Notes: I believe that this email provides additional evidence of the communication 

between Abby Stec and Paul Bonwick with Acting CAO Ed Houghton in relation to the Town of 

Collingwood/Sprung fnstont Structures project I note that Abby Stec lists herself on the email as 
the President and CEO of Green Leaf Distribution Inc. f believe that this is contrary to the ONBJS 

information J have previously detailed in this !TO that lists Paul Bonwick as the President of 

Green Leaf Distribution Inc. 

196. On August 29, 2012, a number of email correspondences were exchanged between Steve 

Berman [Town of Collingwood resident and requestor of FOi documents] and Town of 

Collingwood Councillors, Town of Collingwood employees, the Deputy Mayor and Mayor.171 I 

have reviewed these email correspondences and note that they in relate to a question initially 

posed by Steve Berman to Coundilor Ian Chadwick which read "what point/date during this 

process did you decide which way you were going to vote on the staff report EMC 2012-01? ." I 

learned that Councillor Ian Chadwick forwarded this question ln its' original emailed form, to the 

entire Council, Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd, Mayor Sandra Cooper, Acting CAO Ed Houghton and 

Marta Proctor [Director of Leisure Services]. I will outline the responses below: 

·
171 

These correspondences were provided to police by Steve Berman on April 21 2013. 
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a. Councillor Ian Chadwick responded to Steve Berman stated that the Agenda was 

released on the August 24, 2012 at 2:54 p.m. with a package provided to Council 

containing the Staff Report. Councillor Ian Chadwick stated that no Council member 

could have made a decision concerning the Report before then. Councillor Ian Chadwick 

also stat ed that Council had no information about the presentations from Sprung, 
Ameresco or Paul Cadieux [Frlends of Central Park]. Councillor Ian Chadwick further 

stated in the email that his own decision was made after he heard the presentation by 
Acting CAO Ed Houghton and the presentation by Sprung Instant Structures. 

b. Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd's response to the original email correspondence was sent to 

Steve Berman, the Town of Collingwood Councillors, as well as Acting CAO Ed Houghton 

and Marta Proctor. The content of this email is as follows: 

Than!( you Ian fot your rep!'( to Mr Berman 11$ i tot;illv agr~~ with your comments as they acruratmy repreSC!l'lt mv 
openness to ail 1he pre~ntal!onSc Monday n4lllt . 
11:11.!fteve that in 1h1t emf Coundl h.is rnaoo too bes1 ar.d afford.ibte dedsfon !or our c-0mrnunlty 
ltd 

c. A number of email replies to Steve Berman from other Town of Collingwood Councillors 

including Mayor Sandra Cooper all referenced similar sentiments to those of Councillor 

Ian Chadwick. 

197. On August 29, 2012, Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services and Abby Stec of Green Leaf 

Dist ribution lnc. engaged in several email correspondences relating to information BLT 

Construction required to complete required paperwork.172 I have reviewed these email 

correspondences and learned the following: 

a.. At 3:05 p.m., Dave Barrow asked Abby Stec for informat ion related to "City meeting 

paperwork" needed "before we send final #'s". I have attached the emails below: 

172 
These email correspondences were provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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OaveBarrow 

From: Oave Barrow •••••••• 
Sent: Wednesday. ,Ausltist 29. 201.2 3:51 PM 

To: 'Abby St!J'C- Cornpenso• 

Subject: RE: City ~9 paperwerk 

Abby can you get !his infOrmaoon? I need before we sond final lti> 

David Barrow 
Vice PreSldent. 
BLT Cc:losU'Udk>n Servkie Inc. 
Ct!'ll: 

From:~ Barrow[mailto-
Senh Wednesday, AUQUSt , · . , · • 
To; '/>J:Jt:Jy Stec- Compenso' 
Stlb~ cay meetillg paper wotk 

Hi Abby 

.. 

I need too PC>Wef point paper work lhat was given at the meeting by Ed SQ we can f'1mlat n: to make sure we have 
all i'lems !istlad which he lnduded at ttle meeting. 
We abo need the addre~es of the properties for ·bolh pool and arena. 

ll'lallks. 

Olilvid Barrow 
Vlce Pte.siderit 
BLT ConRIJciion Service .Inc, 

b. At 3:49 p.m., Abby Stec provided Dave Barrow with directions on where to find this 

information on the Town of Collingwood website under Agendas and Minutes for the 

Council meeting August 27, 2012. The email reads as follows: 
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Hi guys, 
If YQ\I go to the town oi o:iillngw0«1 wcb$1ttl antidlclt oo agendas and mirl11teS At.lg 27 YQU will lil'ld the 
Ct>Mplete ~ta.ff report/power point. Ofl pagl!$ 66· 76. ro eer to.the· pdf fotfnat dkk on lh~ bi>ie cm lhe tlebt: ha~ 
.~de, 

O\!Rteoolal Pool: 
4Sl Third .St. 
Colli~odON 
l9Y:tL9 

Site f()f Arena: 
Hume St. 
C01linswooo ON 
t.9'1'328 

I.et rM know lfVOlt need aoytl!ing eb-e. 
Abby 

<lmageOOl.Jpg:;. 
Abby Slee, LEED"" AP 
Pre~C.E.0, 
8tJtW Chait Enlliimmool. Nelvtuk 

i 

oftlee: 
fa~ 
mobile: 
email: 

Ontario Ptt'Nlndal ~ 
.Ami • lloeket!I Branch 

~§. .llJ SEP 11 2013 
AEOEMm 

.by TICKNOR 1«o 

c. At 4:18 p.m., Dave Barrow sent Abby Stec an email correspondence that is identified 

with the subject line #'s. I note that the conversation is directed towards a figure of "11 

million plus tax" however Dave Barrow is still in need of "meeting minutes" to finalize. 

Dave Barrow 

From~ Dave Barrow········· Sent: Wedtiesday, Aogoist29, 2012 4:f8 PM 
To~ 'Abby Stec. CQ'npenso' 

Subjoet: #rs 

Best I can 9ive 1ou right now is wa are joot vodcr 11 Million pl~ lax tlll I gel. Ille meqting minutes. 

David Barrow 
Vice Pte!$ident 
BLT Coo$WClloo &arvlee fnc. 
Call: 
0 
Fax;; 
d com 
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d. At 8:03 p.m., Dave Barrow sent the last email correspondence in this email chain to 

Abby Stec. I note that the email has four .pdf attachments that are evidently budget 

options for the Collingwood Arena and Collingwood Pool. I am not aware at this point in 

the investigation what the context is of these emails, other than Dave Barrow provided 

it to Detective Constable Ticknor with documents related to the Town of 

Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. 

On. 201.2-08-29, at 8:03 PM. Dave Barrow._ 'Wl'Ote: 

HiaU 

CJI0006013 

Please see the fQHowing pricing. l have all.ached bolh wllh line items and without. l think 
for certain people it should only be die toml number rather than the questions on why is this 
dun much and so on. It may be better if we just give toraJ to the contract with lined list 
'fhl.)ughts? 

Regards 
David Barrow 
Vice President 
BLT Construction Service Inc 

cell 

<Colti.ngwood Arena Budget A.pdt> 

<Collingwood Arena Budget B.pdt> 

<CoUingwood Pool Budget A.pdf!:> 

<CoJiingwood Pool Budget B.pdi> 

198. On August 30, 2012, Pau! Bonwick sent an email correspondence to Dave Barrow of BLT 

Construction Services, which clearly identifies the fact that Paul Bonwick has knowl~~-Jl:t~ 

Town of Collingwood is going to provide a chegue for the first installment payment of the Town 

of CollJngwood/BLT Construction Services contq'!ct/73 I also note that Paul Bonwick is clearly 

providing direction to Dave Barrow in relation to communicating with Acting CAO Ed Houghton 

about the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. I believe this email details 

how Paul Bonwick has preQared a letter of thanks to Acting CAO Ed Houghton and he would like 

Dave Barrow to adopt the contents and "send to Ed asap". The email reads as follows: 

173 This email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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From: 

Sent 
To: 
Cc: 

Subjoet: 

Paul. SotlWK::k 

'Thursday, AUgust30, 2012 B:Se·PM 
'Dwo Sacmw' 

mwa~ 
Meeting Reqvest 

Pleai;e edit, tut and paste the fQltQwfng, Send to Ed asap. 
t woufd also ask that " bill.ing .schedule be foduded with an invoke for the fim IMtallment. Th~ wlfl try to have 
a el'leque ready if they ~d it il'I th~ ~let IRtle while. 
Thanks for accommodatin!J these request$, 
Chter.i, 
Paul 

Oear Mr. Houghton: 

Once ogo/11, plttcu accept our th11Aks from tM Sprong/Bl. T team fer the cxcep:tkmal wotk. you and your team 
presented to CoJJi1tgwood Caundl Monday evening. You mov want to share this point with your team; know that 
rhe Sprung reprf!ftmtotl\l(t;$ hcve quite lfterally P<Jrtlclpcted In tho1mmds of proevrement procinies ocro" North 
America and not once bo'#t they tt:cperi~nce such a profe~ionol, detailed and cvrnpr~enslve CftJ.prooch rhot your 
staff and memben <>f Ccum:.il demomtrattd. 
You sholJfd olw know tlwt we ate rooking to create flagship recreotioncl byifdlngsfor Calllngwood that will $et a 
tr,end.by whkh atber communities ocross Cr:mado strive to med. As ldentl{i~ in our presentation, the fatest 
technologh:s will ht: i11corporct11:d 1rtto these f adllt/c's eMurillg octivc use for gencrt:rtlons to come. 
ltt keeping with Coontifs direction Mondo'/, we have propor¢d our (f)nstn.tt:tion ~mtmt olol1'} wlth the 
poy~nt.schedule for yo1Jr autftcrizarfcm, Pl~e fqt us kfl()W If rt ts canven1ent to mtet ot 12 pm todoy ta 
complete this pert of the process. Stibj"ect t<> authori1lng thew dccum.fmts out r«im wi!J f>egln work T<1e$doy. 

Sincerely, 
Orm 

Affiant's Notes: I believe this affords evidence of on-going communication between Paul 

Bonwick and Acting CAO Ed Houghton, which I will provide additional information later in this 

/TO. 

Compensation Fee Received by Green Leaf Distribution Inc. 

199. On August 30, 2012, Paul Bonwick .sent an email correspondence to Dave Barrow of BLT 

Construction Services in relation the payment from BLT Construction Services to Green Leaf 

Distribution Inc. for the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project.174 I reviewed 

this email correspondence and attached it below: 

174 
This email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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onuino PrcmdQI POflc':& 
And·· Ru~ t.tlMcb 

.Hf Dave; 

SEP 11 ZU13 
RECEIVED 

bV'TYO<NOR '16Q7 

Please mdcw Abby's invoicing for approval. I would suggest, subject to your approval that you have a cheque 

9/312013 

•nn r m I FT. U IT I • • nmr 

Page 2of2 

prepared and bring with you for payment. If COilingwood has your draw than you can provide Green leaf the 
paymenf. lfTown cheque is not ready, just keep Green leaf cheque until you re<'.eiv-e yours. 
Please let me know if this i.s ao reast.'.inab(e approach, 
Tbaf!ks, 
Paul 
Hoo. Paul Bonwlck f>.C 
Compenw Ccmmunte<itton:s 

705-
~w.comge n$O. Ca 

200. I have reviewed invoice numbered 100 from Green Leaf Distribution Inc. addressed to BLT 

Construction Services Inc., dated August 30, 2012.175 I have reviewed this document and note on 

the invoice the words 11Pool" and "Arena" however that there is no mention of the Town of 

Collingwood. I note the job number is listed as TC-001. I also note in hand writing, "TC-001" 

and "TC-002" for the two payments. l have provided additional information on the meaning of 

TC-001 and TC-002 in paragraph 208. Based on this invoice and various emails detailed in this 

ITO, I believe that Green Leaf Distribution Inc. was invoicing BLT Construction Services 

$756,740.42 for the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project as per the 

Intermediary Contract previously detailed earlier in this ITO. This invoice appears as follows: 

175 
This document was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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llWC>lal((I 
ffO)t(\•lOl 

L\l't Con1~S.rvkies lrK. 
'153 A £g1ltigtOll iW¢l'lut (i'J~ 
Tou.m~ •. ON. 

Att&~ 
M.lilk W.1U,Pn?:$1dcnt 
~~ ~i;>w. \/Im l"rC$ld1111t 

™s11Pd1erm~ 

"4 per tht il~mcnt bctWMn llf,:r ~Ull(tklrl~~ ~ ~nd~t~ u . .r OitttlbllUcn ·In<. d~t!'li 
AU&urt27, :2012. 

TOTAL 

,.t;-PP '2 

re. ... t?4"t 

201. On August 30, 2012, Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services sent an email reply 

correspondence to Paul Bonwick (to the email detailed in the previous paragraph), stating, "no 

problem, please allow a few banking days for ours to clear."176 I note that this chain of email 
correspondences provides evidence that Paul Bonwick is not only actively engaged in this 

compensation transaction between BLT Construction Services and Green Leaf Distribution Inc., 

but also taking a leadership role. 

176 
This emall correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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202. On August- 30, 2012, Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services sent an email correspondence 

with several attachments to Acting CAO Ed Houghton that contained a letter of thanks. 177 I 

reviewed this email correspondence and note it contained essentially the same wording Paul 

Bonwick had suggested to Dave Barrow in the email detailed in the paragraph 198. Attached to 

this email, I noted documents titled, "Payment Schedule" and "Deposit Collingwood Arena and 

Pool". In the email, Dave Barrow requested a meeting at 12:00 p.m. that day to complete the 

transaction. 

203. On August 30, 2012, a number of email correspondences were exchanged between Acting CAO 

Ed Houghton and the Town of Collingwood municipal lawyer, John Mascarin of Law Firm - Aird 

and Berlis.178 I have reviewed these email correspondences and note in one exchange Acting 

CAO Ed Houghton asked for legal counsel to review the contract between the Town of 

Collingwood and BLT Construction Services for the Sprung Instant Structures project. I note that 

within four hours legal counsel repl,ied to Acting CAO Ed Houghton with recommendations of 

only a minor wording change. 

204. On August 30, 2012, a 'Design and Build Stipulated Price Contract between the Town of 

Collingwood and BLT Construction Services' was signed by BLT Construction Services [Vice 

President] Dave Barrow, the Town of Collingwood Mayor Sandra Cooper and [Treasurer] 

Marjory Leonard.179 I have reviewed this contract and note following relevant information: 

a. The design-builder (BLT Cor:istruction Services) shall perform the work required by the 

contract documents fo_r construction of insulated architectural membrane enclosure for 

pool facility as per attached scope of work, construction of arena facility as per attached 

scope of work. 

b. The schedule of the work is to be commenced by November 26, 2012. 

c. The contract price of a total price of $12,398,900.97 for both the pool and arena 

enclosures, including taxes ($10,972,478.73 without taxes). Both budgets for the pool 

and arena are included. 

d. Payment procedures of 10% holdback, the progress payments are made to the Design­

Builder by the payment certifier; SZETO Architect. 

177 
This email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 

178 
This correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 

179 
This corresp~ndence was provided fo police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Colllngwood. 
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205. I have reviewed the BLT Construction Services Budget for the Town of Collingwood Arena and 

Pool and I confirm that there is no entry depicting consulting fees being paid to" Compenso 

Communications, Green Leaf Distribution lnc.,·Abby Stec or Paul Bonwick.180 
· 

206. On August 30, 2012, Frank Miceli of Ameresco Canada Inc. sent a lengthy correspondence by 

email to Town of Collingwood Mayor Sandra Cooper.181 I have reviewed this correspondence 

and learned that Frank Miceli first extended his gratitude to the Mayor for hearing his 

deputation at the August 27, 2012, Council Meeting. I note that Frank Miceli then discussed the 

change in the Town of Collingwood's focus from the Multi-Use Recreational Facility to erecting a 

fabric structure over the existing swimming pool and ice rink. Frank Miceli further stated that if 

these divergences were not enough, "a formal procurement process seemed to be entirely 

abandoned in favor of a rapid award to a single supplier of a fabric covered structure." Frank 

Miceli further questioned the following: 

a. Why a RFP was not completed when there was a change in focus from the Multi-Use 

Recreational Facility to the single pad arena and roof over the existing pool'? 

b. How it was justified that an, "element of competition was included in the gathering of 

estimates" when in fact what the Town of Collingwood received was a quote from a 

fabric covered structure company. 

c. ·Frank Miceli ha.snot seen anywhere in the Town of Collingwood's purchasing policy that 

this is a valid procedure. 

d. There was no further contact with Ameresco Canada Inc. when the new scope of the 

project was determined, in order for Ameresco Canada Inc. to introduce a design of a 

competitive nature. 

e. No other local contractors were invited to provide a bid, even on an informal basis. 

207. On August 30, 2012, Town of Collingwood Mayor Sandra Cooper sent what can best be 

described as a brief response by email correspondence to Frank Miceli.182 The email reads as 

follows: 

180 
This correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 

181 
This correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Colllngwood • 

. 
182 

This correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
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From: 
S~nt: 
To: 
Cc: . 

Hello, Mr. M!Ceu; 

11'1ank you tor y00r presenmtfoo. 

The ~ has t'ulfiiloo aft obligations. 

Regards, 

Silndra Cocper,. Mayor 

Tawrl of Collingwood 
P.O. BoX 157,. 97 Hurontarlo Street 
O:lllingwood, Ontario 
L9Y32S 

Phone: 
Fax: 
Email: 

208. On August 30, 2012, t he Town of Collingwood made its first payment (first draw on the contract) 
in the amount of $3,099,725.24.183 I have reviewed this document and noted this statement of 

payments reflects invoice and draw numbers for the various payments (draws) that were made 

and that the invoice numbers appear as, "TC-001" and "TC-002". 

Affiant's Note: J believe that the information contained on the above statement payment 
containing TC-001 and TC-002 confirms that the invoice detailed in paragraph 200 is for the 

Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. 

209. On August 31, 2012, BLT Construction Services made a Bank of Montreal Wire Requisition for 

Transfer transaction in the amount of $756, 740.42 CAD to Green Leaf Distribution lnc.1s4 I have 

reviewed this document and also the notes and reports of Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and 

Detective Constable Tim Ticknor and can confirm that Dave Barrow provided information that 

th is document relates to the compensation payment to Green Leaf Distribution Inc. I believe 

that this transaction was in relation to the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures 

project. J have reviewed t his Bank of Montreal Requisition for wire Transfer document and I 

noted the foliowing information on the document: 

mi This document was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 

lB
4 

This document was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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a. The ordering customer is "BLT Construction Services Inc." 

b. The source of the funds being withdrawn is Bank of Montreal Account-. 

c. The posting date is the 31st of August 2012 at 11:11:23 a.rn. 

d. The beneficiary is ttcompenso Communications - Paul Bonwick", of -n Collingwood, Ontario. 

e. The amount of the wire transfer is $756,740.42 CAD. 

f , The destination of the funds is a Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce {CIBC) account 

numbered 1 held at 1 Collingwood, Ontario. 

Ajfiant's Notes: 

I note that the above wire transfer of funds was payable to Comnenso Communications - Paul 

Bonwick. I noted that the Intermediary Contract (previously detailed in this ITO) was between 

BLT Construction Services and 2295210 Ontario Inc. (Green Leaf Distribution Inc.). I have also 

previously detailed in this !TO that the issued invoice that resulted in the above payment was 

issued on the letterhead of Green Leaf Distribution Inc. I am currently not aware of why the wire 

transfer was payable to Compenso Communications Paul Bonwick and not Green Leaf 

Distribution Inc. I have confirmed through ONBIS records relating to Green Leaf Distribution Inc. 

and information contained on the website for Compenso Communications, that both companies 

list a business address of 186 Hurontario Street, Collingwood, Ontario. 

210. On August 31, 2012 at 12:03 p,m., Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services sent an email 

correspondence to Paul Bonwick.185 l have reviewed this email correspondence and note that it 
was sent to Paul Bonwick shortly after the wire transfer of funds detailed in the previous 

paragraph. I note the subject line of the email reads, "Transfer" and the text of the email reads, 

"Please confirm once receipt" . I have also reviewed an email dated this same date, that Paul 

Bonwick sent to Dave Barrow in reply that reads, "Thanks Dave ... Abby will give you your cheque 

when you meet next week."186 

211. Legal Counsel representing BLT Construction Services provided a detailed explanation regarding 

the existence of both this 'cheque' made payable to Green Leaf Distribution Inc. and the 

existence of the Bank of Montreal Requisition for Wire Transfer. I have learned from Detective 

Sergeant Shaw.n Evans the following explanation was provided to him by Legal Counsel 

representing BLT Construction Services: 

185 This email correspondence was provided to pollce by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
165 This email correspondence was provided to pollce by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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a. The compensation cheque in the amount of $756,740.42 CAD that BLT Construction 

Services issued to Green leaf Distribution Inc., is pursuant to the Intermediary Contract 

relating to the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. 

b. After BLT Construction Services issued the cheque, there was a change and the 

compensation to Compenso Communications - Paul Bonwick was made by an electronic 

funds transfer, at the request of Green leaf Distribution Inc. 

c. The above reference in the email correspondence of paragraph 213, stating, "Abby will 

give you your cheque when you meet next week" - this refers to Bl T Construction 

Services' original cheque being returned to them by Abby Stec. 

A/fiant's Notes: 

At this point in the investigation, it is unknown to whom the original BLT Construction 
Services cheque was made payable to (Green Leaf Distribution Inc. or Compenso 
Communications - Paul Bonwick) and why Green Leaf Distribution Inc. did not deposit 
the cheque and instead requested an electronic transfer of funds from BLT Construction 
Services. 

212. On September 5, 2012, Abby Stec from Green leaf Distribution Inc. sent an email 

correspondence to Tom Lloyd and Dave Macneil of Sprung Instant Structures arid Dave Barrow 

of Bl T Construction Services.187 I note that the email correspondence provides some evidence 

that Abby Stec is attempting to gather information to justify the Town of Collingwood/Sprung 

Instant Structures purchase so that in her words, "we put this to bed ASAP". I also note that the 

entire content of this email affords evidence of on-gping communications between someone 

within the Town of Collingwood and Abby Stec and/or Paul Bonwick of Green Leaf Distribution 

Inc. I believe that the email also affords some evidence that is consistent with due diligence only 

having been done 'post' August 27, 2012, Town of Collingwood Council meeting where the 

decision was made by Council to enter into a contract. 

187 
This email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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On Sep 5, 2012. at 6:24 AM, Abby Stee wrote: 

Good morning Tom. Dave, Dave 
l know you we early n:>er$ $() 1 have a an early morning favor to ask •.•.. 
There are several interest groups that axe Slitting the pot about the sole sr;mroing 
method we fol1owcd. 
Can you please put some bullet points together !hat clearly indicate why Sprung 
is in a league ofits own W'!d that there is really no compt1ny to compare to it. It 
is vecy important d'mt we put this to bed ASAP. We me also going to set up 
some web ~ges for the Collingwood ~site to show bow spectacular 1be 
projects are going to be. 

Dave Barrow ... lf you have any testimonicls about working with Sprung. It 
would really help. I will call you this morning and fol.low up. 
Thanks, 
Abby 

Abby Stec 
Office; 
Mobile: 
Email: 

213. On September 5, 2012, Abby Stec of Green Leaf Distribution Inc. sent an email correspondence 

to Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services as .a follow-up to the above email mentioned in the 

previous paragraph.188 1 have reviewed this email and note it provides some evidence that Abby 
Stec wanted to infer the existence of a clear association between Sprung Instant Structures and 

BLT Construction Services documented on the BLT Construction Services webpage. I believe this 

to be relevant, as I have reviewed some evidence which suggested the citizens of Collingwood 

had voiced their concerns a bout sole sourcing the construction component of the Sprung Instant 

Structures Project rather than just the Sprung Instant Structures product Itself. I have detailed 

evidence earlier in this ITO that Tom Lloyd of Sprung Instant Structures confirmed that there 

were companies other than Bl T Construction Services that could have erected the Sprung 

Instant Structures for the Town of Collingwood. This email reads as follows: 

From: AbbyStec·········· Sent; Wnd~y. September 05, 2012 a:SOAM 

Toi Dave Barrow 

Subfect Re: Sprung Sin.am.ires ~ lEED 

Thanks so much Dave. It wou1d also be a huge help if something about Spnmg could be highlighted on 
the home page of your site. (the site is beautiful by the way!) 

186 
This emall correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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214. On September 16, 2012, Paul Bonwick sent an email correspondence to Dave Barrow of BLT 

Constr"uction Service-s, which was carbon copied to Abby Stec.189 I have reviewed this email and 

note by the Subject line that Paul Bonwick is attempting to coordinate a meeting between Dave 

Barrow and "ed". Given the content of the email with a reference to "an electricity conference 

ed will be attending", I believe that this references Acting CAO Ed Houghton, who was also the 

CEO and President of COUUS/Powerstream at this time. 

Em· 
nt: . 

·Ce! 
Subject: 

Iii oave: 
lo it PQQ.ibb to Jne<&t: MOoday o# Tu.sd.ay? 
1'!20.r:t! is .an. olect:.ricity coirfo.rer:ico ed will ~ at~en<litl9 o\\t .of TQW:l l.atec:- tllls weolt. 
He 1$ re'tUllinQ today tro:a a lon9 wee1tertd tholiday) • ! c:an pc:m2ibly '1)et· b.1111 to coc=t!.t 
iiUlr-liu .in tne ~k. 
Cbeei-s. 
Paul 
Ion. Pa\JJ. Son-.-i.<:1- t.c. 
Co:t1r; - at i ot1.s 
o• "· 
C!lll: 
v.rw. eomp<!"nso. e::1 

215. On September 16, 2012, Abby Stec sent what appears to be a follow-up email correspondence 

to Dave Barrow and copied to Mark Watts of BLT Construction Services, in relation to the email 

correspondence in paragraph above.190 I have reviewed this email correspondence and I believe 

it provides further evidence of an on-going relationship between Paul Bonwick/Abby Stec and 

Acting CAO Ed Houghton and.that the relationship relates to BLT Construction Services, the. 

company chosen by the Town of Collingwood Council to supply and erect the Sprung Instant 

Structures. 

189 This email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September U, 2013. 
1JlO .. 

This email correspo11dence was provided to police by David Barrow on September U, 2013. 
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From: Abb'/ Slee- Compenso [<'dibyl>l~ 
Sent: Sooday, September 16, 2012 10:1$ PM 

To: 'Oave l!larrwt 
Ce; 

HI 03ve, Marie, 
Ed will follow up with ~ fitr.t thing In the morning. Paul I .SUjJge'St $1l!Rdlng Mm .i Quick outline of what you 11e«J 
approved. He Is, an early rii;er ;11nd wlll tnak1t iui:e It is done. Souy for the delay. 
Regards, 
Abby 

q ~~~~!!..~~£lf 
AbcyStee, lEEO-AP 
President, c.e.o. 
Board Chair. 
office! 705 
fax: 70 
mobile; 1 
Gmail: abbys 

~ VAw."green~afdislrihutiOn.ca 

216. On October 8, 2012, Acting CAO Ed Houghton sent an email correspondence to Mayor Sandra 

Cooper, Town of Collingwood Council Members, Town of Collingwood EMT members, and 

project coordinator Ron Martin.191 I have reviewed this email correspondence and note Acting 

CAO Ed Houghton acknowledged that the Town of Collingwood engaged WGD Architects to 

produce a comparison report for a steel fabricated building and an insulated architectural 

building. I believe the email provides evidence that Acting CAO Ed Houghton was aware WGD 

Architects was hired by the Town of Collingwood to do a comgarison study and that WGD 

Architects were not a competitor to Sprung lnstant Structures, as Acting CAO Ed Houghton 

detailed in the Town of Collingwood EMC 2012-01 Staff Report to Council. I have attached the 

email as follows: 

191 
This correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via his FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
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From; 
Settt: 

Ed HceJJghlon 

CJI0006013 

To; 
Monday, OGtober OS, .2012 10:39 AM 
Sartdl'.a Ci::.:~. ~lck·· Uoyd~ Mike E'dwards;·Kevin Uoyd; Ian Chadwid<; ·Keith Hwi;. Dare It/est; 
S:an.d¥ Cl.ln~llam; Joe .Gardhot;se; Sa~. A!mas=. l..arr1 11\'tio: M~. L~n;:lrd~. M~rt;a 
P~04.Rori f.Ariin ... ,, · · · 

Ce:: 
Subjm;t 
Atta<:hm~nts: 

Dave McNa!ty; Dennis Seymour 
Fw: ~ CompariSO!'ls 
Odobru 5 2012 M;am,¢ • 'NGO At&na Com~CtlS.d¢¢: EMC 20-12--01 fr.e Sng: Arena F~je<:t 
Deve!cpment rinal..!Xif; Ni Tlgntness Testpdf; Sprung ComPl:Jn150n Repcn Rev t_ 1 
·2012-04·25.pdf 

On Frida·1 a/temQO~l Couridilo.t Wotst l:~nt me l:rformatkm that w:.u. befng dra.iiated ;:r.1end.\i of Centr:1.& :>ark. TM 
information w<1sa r~ivrt predueed at cur reqt;est by \<I/GD Architect$ ii' :>tee! fabtle<1ted buildirtg to ti'e 
i~~wtated .ard~it~uta1 menmra11e uu.""""'" 

sm:at1r~ Md w;rs 

an exceli~~t rei:::crt from 
~nd hew !t .$~ou!d bia 1.mdi:irstocd. 

217. On November 18, 2013, Dave McNalty (Manager of Fleet, Facility and Purchasing] sent an email 

correspondence to Sara Almas (Clerk] relating to clarifications in the WGD Architects report 

between the first and second draft.192 I have reviewed this email and note (in the last 

paragraph) that WGD Architects were hired by the Town of Collingwood to do a comparison 

study and that WGD Architects were not a competitor to Sprung Instant Structures, as Acting 

CAO Ed Houghton detailed ln the Town of Collingwood EMC 2012-01 Staff Report to Council. I 

also note in this email and the email in paragraph 215, it is suggested by Dave McNalty and 

Acting CAO Ed Houghton that WGD Architects were mistaken on the facts related to their initial 

report on Sprung Instant Structures. I have previously detailed in this ITO that the Town of 
Collingwood prohibited WGD Architects from contacting Sprung Instant Structures in August of 

2012 when WGD Architects were attempting to gather the necessary technical data for their 

comparison report: The email reads as follows: 

192 
This correspondence was provided to police by Steve Berman via hls FOi request to the Town of Collingwood. 
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lhe first attachment dated 2012-0S-16 illu~ted the leek of undermmdlng of t.M Sprung membt'ane system. U>ok 
about pase 10. This was their draft ~port. 

l rean that we had a te~phone con'llersattan expfairting that theit ilfUStration may have been relative to some 
memb.rane endo.sures, but th.at the Sprung system was different. I forwarded the Sprung Pt:rfonnance Arena 
brochure-{attBched) along with the following comment.: 

CJI0006013 

Att«hed ls a br«hurs on lllSVlcteed Fabric Membraae orencs.. Jn renns of thetmal peljotmance. rheir claim i& 
R-30.. The atuminum urrusfons are placed Jn the range of 10- J2 /eet apart and between each /$ OPJtside 
.membrcme-r insularlM - iMfde membrone. Tber~ is oo thermo/ break ire the aluminum extl'IJsJOll$, but 
they are $p(JQ!d quite fer opalt. 

The ~ond report dat~ 2012--08--17 was the 0>rrected version after they .realized that tf\eywere comparing to a 
different system (Page 9}. The idea that WGO put fOtWard ttiat R·30 would be adtievabfe in a eonvtntionaf building 
with additional in~ufatlon woutd be ~. but they nevtr included It m their pridnc If I remiem~r right. 

218. On November 7, 2012, Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services sent an email correspondence 

to Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd relating to an excavation package for work to be done on the Bl T 

Construction Services/Sprung Instant Structures work site.193 I have reviewed this email and 

note it provides some evidence of the relationship between Dave Barrow and Deputy Mayor 

Rick Lloyd. I have gained knowledge through this investigation that Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd's 
brother is Steve Lloyd and he owns an excavating company in the Collingwood area. · 

__ ,,__,,__ __ .., __ ,...._..,_.._ __________ _, _ _.,,.,_. ___ _ 
Sent from Blackborry Hob!la Device 

·--·- Qriqinal. KeSSiJge --.. -

!:; :-~=~; ~~:;.;~~~J•J•.•@@llt•§•@•@•Jll4•il, ••• 
l'O; aiek Lloyd 
~ject: £eoaYation 

11.i lliek 

We hav~ fo:rwai-ded the t:aoavat:J.on pack6qe ~t MYe ba<I no .r•sporuse i! your brothet ia 
q~in<;. ea~ yoQ e."teck ~o see i~ be will be ~t~in9 a pri~•? 

thx 

Rf!9$cd$ 
Db•id Barrow 
Vice- i'~t1d40nt 

" "" · ·"' '"" •ti.e n Sc.rvice lnc 
C ·l'U -·-

193 This email correspondence was provided to police by David Barrow on September 11, 2013. 
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Investigative Strategies, Relationships and Related Issues 

219. Investigators recognize that the most significant issue impeding this investigation is the 

relationships between the various involved individuals. I have provided detailed evidence in this 

ITO about the relationships between these individuals including: 

a. Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd and Paul Bonwick are friends and Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd 

previously worked for Paul Bonwick at an aggregate company that Paul Bonwick once 

owned. 

b. Town of Collingwood Councillor Kevin Lloyd 11does what he is told" in relation to his role 

on the Town of Collingwood Council. 

c. Town of Collingwood Councillor Ian Chadwick has worked for Paul Bonwick at 

Compenso Communications in the past. 

d. Paul Bonwick and Town of Collingwood Mayor Sandra Cooper are brother and sister. 

e. Town of Collingwood Councillor Sandy Cunningham and Mayor Sandra Cooper (and Paul 

Bon wick) a re cousins. 

f. According to witness Don Gallinger, Acting CAO Ed Houghton and Deputy Mayor Rick 

Lloyd have been seen on a regular basis in the offices of Abby Stec and Paul Bonwick, in 

a professional building associated to Green Leaf Distribution Inc. and Compenso. 

Communications. 

g. Paul Bonwick is reported to be friends with most of the members of the Town of 

Collingwood Council. 

h. Paul Bonwick and Acting CAO Ed Houghton have a reported business association 

through Green Leaf Distribution Inc. 

i. The Mayor of Wasaga Beach is a cousin to Paul Bonwick and Town of Collingwood 

Mayor Sandra Cooper. 

220. I believe the relationship between Paul Bonwick and Acting CAO Ed Houghton is central to this 

investigation and a very important component of the allegations set out in this ITO. In relation 

to the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project, I have provided significant detail 

that confirms Acting CAO Ed Houghton is the common denominator between the Town of 

Collingwood, Sprung Instant Structures, Green Leaf Distribution Inc. and BLT Construction 
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Services. I will further detail my beliefs regarding evidence that verifies a strong link between 

Paul Bonwick and Acting CAO Ed Houghton in paragraphs 249-252. 

221. I have provided detail in this ITO that witness Don Gallinger provided information to 

investigators through a witness interview. I have reviewed this interview and learned that Abby 

Stec told him Paul Bonwick and Acting CAO Ed Houghton had a partnership with roof top vents. 

Don Gallinger stated that he received this information from Abby Stec the first day that he 

visited her in her office at Green Leaf Distribution Inc. Don Gallinger also informed investigators 

that he had knowledge Acting CAO Ed Houghton and Paul Bonwick are personal long-time 

friends and that they have a place together in Florida. 

222. Tim Fryer, the retired Chief Financial Officer (CFO) for COLLUS provided investigators with details 

related to the business relationship between Green leaf Distribution Inc. and COLLUS. I know 

this because I have reviewed a transcript of a witness interview that Tim Fryer provided to 

Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and Detective Constable Tim Ticknor on April 8, 2013. From my 

review I learned the following relevant information: 

a. Tim Fryer worked for COLLUS for 33 years. Tim Fryer was the CFO during the partial 

sale of COLLUS to PowerStream. 

b. Ed Houghton and nm Fryer were co-managers of the Collingwood Utility Company. 

c. When COLLUS changed their structure, Acting CAO Ed Houghton became the CEO of 

COLLUS and Tim Fryer became the CFO. Tim Fryer reported to Acting CAO Ed Houghton 

from that time forward. 

d. Tim Fryer is aware of Green Leaf Distribution Inc. He is aware that Green Leaf 

Distribution Inc. was involved with COLLUS. 

e. In late 2010, Acting CAO Ed Houghton brought the concept of Green Leaf Distribution 

Inc. and the solar roof powered vents to the Board of Directors at COLLUS. Acting CAO 

Ed Houghton actually brought the vent units into the initial board meeting and 

explained how the vents operated. 

f. The COLLUS Board of Directors voted to partner with Green Leaf Distribution Inc. on 

the promotion of the solar powered roof vents through COLLUS and the Green leaf 

Distribution Inc. project began in early 2011. 

g. COLLUS was interested in the environmental impact of the vents and Green Leaf 

Distribution was in the process of gathering environmental statistics together with 

COLLUS. 
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h. Green Leaf Distribution Inc. advertised their product in the COLLUS billing envelopes. 

i. Acting CAO Ed Houghton got the idea of promoting the solar vents with COLLUS and 

continued it when the company became COLLUS/PowerStream. Acting CAO Ed 

Houghton promoted the solar vents to other communities. 

j. Tim Fryer believed the owner pf Green Leaf Distribution Inc. is Paul Bonwick however 

but does not have documentation'to support that. 
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224. I am aware that there is much work to be done on this investigation before a final determination 

can be made as to the extent that various individuals are involved in the allegations. I am aware 

there currently is a lengthy list of individuals who will need to be interviewed, and in some cases 

re-interviewed by investigators on the facts detailed in this ITO. The investigators on my team 

are concerned about conducting these interviews prematurely as there is a risk of damaging the 

ability to gather certain types of evidence - given the close relationships I have detailed with 

many of the individuals involved. 

225. Investigators on my team have routinely monitored media reports and social media biogs about 

the allegations in Collingwood since the inception of the O.P.P investigation detailed in this ITO. 

While this is not evidence of the allegations detailed within this ITO, the following has become 

clear to me from my review of the various sources of publicly available information: 

a. Most of the issues the O.P.P. have been asked to investigate in Collingwood have been 

subject to intense public comment in the print media and social media domains. In 

these various forums - rumors and innuendos have been rampant. 

b. There has been much written about the fact that Paul Bonwick is the brother of Town of 

Collingwood Mayor Sandra Cooper. 

c. There has been much written about Paul Bonwick having alleged involvement in other 

issues that the O.P.P. has been asked to investigate in Collingwood not directly related 

to the subject of this ITO - the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. 

d. There has been much written in both print and social media about the Town of 

Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. 

226. Despite all of the interest and discussion in the various media outlets and internet social media 

posts about the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project, there has been no 

mention of the involvement of Paul Bonwick, Green Leaf Distribution Inc., Abby Stec or the 

allegation that these parties were paid as consultants on the Town of Collingwood/Sprung 

Instant Structures project. The investigative team is currently treating this particular piece of 

evidence as a form of hold-back evidence. The investigative team is concerned that by 

conducting additional interviews at this point-in-time, the fact that police know about this hold­

back evidence may hinder our ability to gather additional evidence. 

194
1 learned this from my review of media website: www.theenterprisebulletin.com/2013/07/23/dunbar-back-at-prc-post 
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227. The current investigative strategy has been determined by members of my team to include: 

a. Gather evidence surrounding the $756,740.42 CAD payment BLT Construction Seryi~es 

made to Paul Bonwick of Compenso Communications pursuant to the Intermediary 

Contract, which has been detailed at length in this ITO. 

b. Gather evidence surrounding how this $756,740.42 CAD payment was disseminated 

after it was made to PaurBonwick of Compenso Communications. Investigators believe 

additional evidence will be obtained of other individuals sharing in the $756,740.42 CAD 

payment that Paul Bonwick received from BLT Construction Services. 

c. I believe that facts gathered about this payment will afford evidence of the identifie'd 

criminal offences, which I will detail in subsequent sections of this ITO. 

228. Our investigative strategy has taken into consideration the belief that there were 

communications of a criminal nature between Abby Stec, Paul Bonwick, Dave Barrow, Acting 

CAO Ed Houghton and possibly members of Town of Collingwood Council. These 

communications occurred during the months of July and August 2012, leading up to the decision 

by the Town of Collingwood Council to vote in favor of a contract with BLT Construction Services 

for the Sprung Instant Structures project. 

229. Investigators must first determine how the $756,740.42 CAD· that Compenso Communications 

received from BLT Construction S!i!rvices was disseminated. Once determined, the investigative 

plan is to approach , . . _ requesting they consider becoming a 

police agent and engage in a one-party consent agreement. This investigative technique would 

give investigators the option of having the prospective agent(s) participate in targeted 

conversations with Acting CAO Ed Houghton; Paul Bonwick and possibly certain members of 

Town of Collingwood Council with the intent of gathering further evidence of the alleged 

offences. 11· 
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230. The challenge to police in investigating the allegations set out in this ITO is that there are limited 
individuals who were party to the offences and there are limited ways to gather this evidence in 

a corroborated fashion. I believe that the recording of a conversation, subject to judicial 

authorization and a one party consent between a police agent and a suspect - is one of the 
limited options available to investigators to effectively gather corroborating evidence in this 
matter. I have personal knowledge that investigators on my team have successfully employed 

this investigative technique in the past in two unrelated fraud investigations undertook by the 
O.P.P. Anti-Rackets Branch. 

TO BELJEVE OFFENCES AGAINST THIS ACT HAVE BEEN COMMITIED 

231. I believe that the alleged criminal offences detailed in the following paragraphs relate to all of 

the actions surrounding the payment of $756,740.42 CAD to Paul Bonwick of Compenso 

Communications by BLT Construction Services in relation to the Town of Collingwood/Sprung 
J 

Instant Structures project. In this section I will detail the reasons for my belief. 

232. I have read Section 122 of the Criminal Code of Canada, Breach of Trust by a Public Officer, 
which states: 

Every official who, in connection with the duties of his office, commits fraud or a breach 
of trust is guilty of an indictable offence and Hable to imprisonment not exceeding five 
years, whether or not the fraud or breach of trust would be an offence if it were 
committed in relation to a private person. 

Section 118 of the Criminal Code defines an "official" as person who: 
a) either holds an office, or 
b) is appointed or elected to discharge a public duty. 

Section 118 of the Criminal Code also defines "office,, as including: 
a)· an office or appointment under the government, or 
b) a civil or military commission, and 
c) a position or an employment in a public department. 

233. I believe the term of 11offida.I" to mean a person who holds a position of duty, trust or authority 
in the public service. I believe the term "office" to include a position to which certain duties are 
attached, such as place of trust, authority, or service under constituted authority. 
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234. I believe that Town of Collingwood is a municipality in the Province of Ontario operating under 

the Municipal Act, 2001. I am of the belief that the CAO is an appointed position within the 

municipal administrative structure of the Town of Collingwood and thus constitutes 

employment in a public department within the Town of Collingwood. 

235. I believe that it the primary responsibility of the Town of Collingwood CAO is to ensure that 

Council is provided with the appropriate ievel of analysis and advice on policy and programs 

issues and that the decisions of Council are carried out.195 I believe the position of CAO is one 

entrusted with a significant level of authority and duty to serve the greater public good. 

236. I have read an extensive overview of the job description for the CAO of the City of Windsor, 

Ontario.196 From my review I learned the following relevant information- related to the role of 

the CAO: 

a. To provide consistent corporate direction and leadership for the planning and delivery 

of municipal services and the achievement of corporate goals, while encouraging the 

establishment of processes and procedures that promote accountability to established 

standards and policies. 

b. The CAO works closely with the Mayor and City Council, as well as City Administration 

through its senior leaders to ensure Council's goals and objectives are achieved. 

c. This is realized by providing strategic leadership to the Corporation, managing the daily 

operations of service delivery, and leading ongoing improvements with a goal of greater 

efficiency. 

d. The CAO also oversees major City projects and initiatives, contract negotiations and 

labour relations, and the development, recommendation and implementation of 

corporate policy. 

e. The CAO recommends annual operating and capital budgets as part of the municipality's 

financial requirements in conjunction with the City Treasurer. 

f. As delegated by City Council, the Chief Administrative Officer approves a number of 

administrative reports, contracts and expenditures on behalf of Council through the 

Delegation of Authority By-law. 

g. The CAO oversees the appointment and employment of all City employees. 

195 
I learned this from a document located on the Town of Collingwood webpage titled CAO's Office: 

http://www.collingwood.ca/cao 
196 

I located this document at: www.citywindsor.ca/cityhall/Administratlon/Chief-Administrative-Officer/Pages/Chief~ 
Adminlstrative-Officer.aspx 
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237. 1 have read Section 380(1)(a) of the Criminal Code of Canada, Fraud, which states: 

Everyone who by deceit, falsehood or other fraudulent means, whether or not it is a false pretense 
within the meaning of this Act, defrauds the public -0r any person, whether ascertained or not, of 
any property, money or valuable security or any service, is guilty of an indictable offence and 
liable to a term of imprisonment not exceeding fourteen years, where the subject-matter of the 
offence is a testamentary instrument or the value of the subject-matter of the offence exceeds five 
thousand dollars. 

238. I do not believe that Dave Barrow was being honest with Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and 

Detective Constable Ticknor during a specific matter in his witness interview. This relates to 

certain questions directe.d to the compensation fee paid to Green Leaf Distribution Inc. from BLT 

Construction Services in relation to the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. 

My reasons for this belief are as follows: 

a. In paragraph 157 of this !TO, I have detailed that during his audio interview, Dave 

Barrow started his reply to the question posed that he "added Green Leaf Distribution's 

6.5 % fee to the total cost of the project'', then stopped mid-sentence, and said that he 

"took it out of BLT. Construction Services' profit margin". 

b. In paragraph 153 of this ITO, I have detailed contradictory evidence to Dave Barrow's 

assertion (above in (a)) which identifies a document provided to police by Dave Barrow, 

stating: (/Green Leaf added their intermediary on top of BLT's bid price". 

c. I have also detailed in paragraph 155 of this ITO, an email correspondence Abby Stec 

sent to Dave Barrow on August 21, 2012, ten days before BLT Construction Services paid 

Paul Bonwick the $756, 740.42 CAD. In this email correspondence Abby Stec directed 

Dave Barrow to add 6.5% to all of the numbers in the Town of Collingwood/Sprung 

Instant Structures budget. I believe this to reflect Green Leaf Distribution's 

compensation fee. In this same email correspondence, Abby Stec then directed Dave 

Barrow to send the final budget numbers to Ed (Acting CAO Ed Houghton). 

Affiant's Notes: J have learned from Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans that he did not 

wish to press or extensively challenge Dave Barrow on his assertion during the interview 

out of concern that the police interest in the issue may be communicated back to Paul 

Bon wick and/or Abby Stec. As previously detailed, this is a form of hold-back information 

that 1f revealed, may damage the ability of investigators to gather additional evidence. 

d. This issue becomes very significant because nowhere in the final budget which was sent 

to the Town of Collingwood for this project does it list Green Leaf Distribution Inc. as a 

paid consultant or the Green Leaf Distribution Inc. payment of 6.5% of the contract cost. 
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I believe, based on email evidence relating to Abby Stec, that Green Leaf Distribution 

Inc. added 6.5% of the contract cost, to the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant 

Structures project budget, before the final numbers were presented to the Town of 

Collingwood for approval, and that cost was intentionally hidden from the Town of 

Collingwood. 

239. Sara Almas [Clerk] was the only member of the Town of Collingwood administration personnel 

and also the only member of the Town of Collingwood EMT interviewed by polke investigators. 

At a later and appropriate time, attempts will be made to interview the remaining EMT 

members. Investigators believe Sara Almas to be a creditable and reliable source of information. 

As such, Sara Almas was asked to provide detailed information relating to procurement and the 

use of consultants in the Town of Collingwood/ Sprung Instant Structures project. Investigators 

wished to learn more information in relation to any direction she received, or was privy to, as a 

member of the Town of Collingwood EMT. As I have previously detailed in this ITO, the 

members of the Town of Collingwood EMT were Sara Almas, Acting CAO Ed Houghton, Marjory 

Leonard [Treasurer] and Larry Irwin [Director of 1.T. COLLUS]. I have reviewed Sara Almas' 

witness interview provided to Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and Detective Constable Tim 

Ticknor on November 14, 2013. The following is information relevant to the investigation: 

a. By-Law 2006-042, is the Corporation of the Town of Collingwood by-law to provide for 

the purchase of Goods and Services and would have been in effect during the time of 

the Sprung Instant Structures t~ansaction. Section 6.7 (b) discusses the exceptions to 

the tendering process. The policy states the Clerk must receive either verbal or written 

authorization prior to the start of negotiations with any supplier where there is only one 

known source of the goods or services, known as a sole source. The by-I.aw does not 

specify who is to give the Clerk authorization. Once a decision is made to sole source, 

Town of Collingwood Staff can communicate directly with the supplier. Sara Almas 

stated that the Town of Collingwood rarely sole source, and that the practice of 

providing the Clerk with verbal authorization was not followed. 

b. Sara Almas stated, "If verbal authorization is the Treasurer and Ed Houghton saying that 

due diligence was done and this is a sole supplier, if that's authorization, I guess that 

would qualify for this." 

c. In Staff Report EMC 2012-01, the justification to sole source is in Section 3, which details 

that the element of competition was included in gathering estimate.s of the 

manufacturers of architectural membrane structures with the more traditional forms of 

construction. 
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d. · Sara Almas talked about an email correspondence that discussed a pre-fab steel type 

arena and terms of reference for other affordable structures as a di~ect comparison to a 

Sprung Instant Structure arena. This was in contrast to the bricks and mortar structure 

discussed in phase 1 of the Central Park pr_oject. 

e. Sara Almas was not aware of any discussion within the EMT or to her as the Clerk to sole 

source the transaction for the Town of Collingwood Sprung Instant Structures project at 

the pool and arena. 

f. Sara Almas believed that if th'ere was another company, other than BLT Construction 

Services, who could have construct.ed the Sprung Instant Structure, the co.ntract with 

the Town of Collingwood could have been divided up or kept together. I believe that she 

was referencing the Sprung Instant Structure itself being sole sourced but the 

construction component being subject to a competitive bid process. 

g. Sara Almas was not aware that any consultants were engaged to facilitate the contract 

between the Town of Collingwood and Sprung Instant Structures/BLT Construction 

Services. This was never brought to .Sara Almas' attention as an EMT member or as the 

Clerk. Sara Almas was never aware that a lobbyist was involved in the Town of 

Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. Sara Almas was never aware of any 

information being provided to a consultant or lobbyist to facilitate the contract between 

the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures/BLT Construction Services. 

h. Sara Almas advised that if a consultant was involved, and the cost for the consultant 

exceeded $25,000.00, the Town of Collingwood Council would have to approve the 

hiring of the consultant in a vote through Council. If the Town of Collingwood paid a 

consultant for the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project, Sara Almas 

stated that she would expect to see an entry in the budget specifying such, that included 

details of the name of the consulting company. Sara Almas confirmed that if a 

consultant was used and the cost exceeded $25,000.00 in a turnkey budget, the Town of 

Collingwood Council is still obligated to approve the expenditure for the consultant. 

i. If Sprung Instant Stru.ctures or BLT Construction Services utilized a consultant or lobbyist 

to get the Town of Collingwood 'on board' to buy their product, then BLT Construction 

Services or Sprung Instant Structures should be responsible for the cost. If the cost was 

passed to the Town of Collingwood, there should be a line item in the budget detailing 

the expense. 

j. Sara Almas feels that there was no need to involve a consultant or lobbyist in regards to 

the contract between the Town of Collingwood, and Sprung Instant Structures/BLT 

Construction Services as she felt the purchase of the Sprung Instant_ Structures was the 

way certain members of Council wanted to proceed. 
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240. I have provided detail in pa.ragraph 160 that there was no entry in the budget reflecting the 

compensation {$756,740.42 CAD) paid to Paul Bonwick of Compenso Communications and/or 

Green Leaf Distribution Inc. by BLT Construction Services for the alleged consulting work done 

on the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. This budget document was 

provided to Detective Constable Ticknor by Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services. 

Furthermore, I have detailed in paragraph 204 that witness Stephen Berman [Town of 

Collingwood resident and requester of FOi documents] received a copy of the Town of 

Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project budget as a result of his FOi request and 

provided the same to police investigators. I have reviewed this document can confirm there is 

no entry in the budget reflecting the compensation ($756,740.42 CAD) paid to Paul Bonwick of 

Compenso Communications by BLT Construction Services for the alleged work done on the 

Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. 

241. I have detailed in this ITO the chain of events relating to the Town of Collingwood Council's 

ultimate decision to enter into a contract with BLT Construction Services for the Town of 

CollingwoodjSprung Instant Structures project. I have pieced this chain of events together 

utilizing witness interview accounts and document evidence that investigators have obtained to 

date. I believe there are some facts contained within this ITO that form part of the Town of 

Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project history that may fall into the categories of poor 

ethical behavior or administrative violations of procurement rules and/or policy. While these 

categories on their own do not afford evidence of a criminal offence, they are an important 

piece of the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures history. It is for this reason, I have 

included this information in this ITO. It has been my experience, and that of my team, to find 

fraud and corruption related offences of this nature often.times convoluted with evidence of 

instances of poor ethical behavior and/or administrative violations of policy. I have detailed 

below, several pieces of evidence in this ITO in which I am able formulate my belief that 

reasonable grounds exist for the criminal offences identified in paragraphs 231 and 237. These 

pieces of evidence are detailed in the following paragraphs. 

242. In Paragraph 88, Sprung Instant Structures Sales Representative Pat Mills provided evidence of a 

telephone conversation that he had with his employer, Tom Lloyd, in July of 2012. In the 

conversation, Tom Lloyd communicated to Patrick Mills there was a lobbyist who could assist 

with completing the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. Tom Lloyd made a 

request to Patrick Mills to share his commission from the sale with the lobbyist. ·This is the first 

instance in the chronology between the Town of Collingwood and Sprung Instant Structures/BLT 

Construction Services that I have seen evidence of, or mention of a lobbyist. I am cognizant that 

the name of the lobbyist was not mentioned in the conversation between Pat Mills and Tom 

Lloyd, however I believe, based on all of .the evidence I have detailed in this ITO that the lobbyist 

Tom Lloyd was speaking of was in fact Paul Bonwick. 
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243. I have detailed evidence in this ITO that prior to July 20, 2012, (the date Green Leaf Distribution 

Inc. was introduced to BLT Construction Services) there was significant on-going dialogue 

between Sprung Instant Structures, the Town of Collingwood and BLT Construction Services 

about the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. I have not seen any evidence 

to suggest that the Town of Collingwood was having any difficulty conveying its recreational 
L 

needs and/or plans to either Sprung Instant Structures or BLT Construction Services. 

244. I have detailed evidence in this ITO which identifies Sprung Instant Structures Regional Sales 

Manager Tom Lloyd requested Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services meet with Green Leaf 

Distribution to discuss a possible turnkey contract with the Town of Collingwood for the pool 

enclosure and the new arena. This request was made on July 20, 2012, four days after the July 

16, 2012, Town of Collingwood Council meeting which dearly identified the direction (fabric 

membrane structure) which Council wished to explore for the development of recreational 

facilities. 

245. I believe that the motion passed by Council on July 16, 2012, is significant as it afforded the 

Town of Collingwood Staff a very short time period to complete what should have been a 

comprehensive comparison report to assist Council in its decision on the recreational building 

options. The Staff Report was to be completed in advance of the August 27, 2012, Council 

meeting. 

246. I have detailed in this ITO that the first meeting between Sprung Instant Structures, BLT 

Construction Services and Green Leaf Distribution Inc. occurred on July 26, 2012. I believe this 

to be the key element to the alleged criminal offences set out in paragraphs 231- 237. It is this 

involvement of Abby Stec and Paul Bonwick of Green Leaf Distribution Inc:, acting in concert 

with Acting CAO Ed Houghton and Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services, to receive the 

compensation payment of $756,740.42 CAD from BLT Construction Services - central to the 

allegations. 

247. I have read the preamble for the Town of Collingwood Code of Conduct for Members of 

Council. 197 I noted that the preamble states that members of Council are, "held to a high 

standard as leaders of the community and they are expected to become well informed on all 

aspects of municipal governance, administration, planning and operations. They are also 

expected to carry out their duties in a fair, impartial, transparent and professional manner." 

248. I have provided detail in this ITO of a number of concerning instances relating to the Town of 

Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project, and the direct involvement of Deputy Mayor 

Rick Lloyd. I will detail these instances below: 

197 
This document was received from Sara Almas [Clerk] on November 14, 2013 and also located on the Town of Collingwood 

webpage: www.colllngwood.ca/files/Town%20of%20Colllngwood%20Code%20of%20Conduct_Apr%208_13.pdf 
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a. In paragraph 112 and 114, I have identified email correspondences that identify Deputy 

Mayor Rick Lloyd has provided direction to Acting CAO Ed Houghton that he was to be the 

only person from the Town of Collingwood to have contact with Sprung Instant Structures. 

I believe this to be particularly concerning evidence as Acting CAO Ed Houghton was 

communicating this information in email form to Dave McNalty - the executive lead in 

charge of purchasing and procurement for the Town of Collingwood. He is by all accounts, 

the one who should have been the person overseeing the procurement procedure and 

controlling who was having contact with Sprung Instant Structures. I have detailed in this 

ITO that up to this point in the chronology that Dave McNalty, Marta Proctor [Director of 

Leisure Services] and some recreational facility (arena) staff from the Town of Collingwood, 

all, at various points, engaged in contact and information sharing with Sprung Instant 

Structures representatives. 

b. I have detailed in paragraph 115, that several hours after receiving the email direction from 

Acting CAO Ed Houghton that he was to be the only contact with Sprung Instant Structures, 

Dave McNalty emailed Brian Gregerson of WGD Architects and conveyed that WGD - ' 

Architects were not to have any contact with Sprung Instant Structures. I bel ieve this 

direction is contrary to the work WGD Architects was initially contracted to do for the Town 

of Collingwood - which was to provide comparison information on the Sprung Instant 

Structures with more traditional building types. I believe this communication restriction put 

on WGD Architects reasonably impeded their ability to complete a comprehensive 

comparison of the build ing types. 

c. In paragraph 163, I have detaili:!d evidence of an email correspondence that Deputy Mayor 

Rick Lloyd sent to Paul Bonwick on August 22, 2012, five days before the Town of 

Collingwood Council Meeting where Council voted to enter into a contract with BLT 

Construction Services. I believe this email is evidence in support that the alleged criminal 

offences were committed. In this email, Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd clearly articulates a level 

of knowledge that Paul Bonwick is involved with the Sprung Instant Structures project, "he 

overheard you speaking about our plans for Monday night and the proposed Sprung . 

building". I have already ·art iculated in my Affiant Notes my belief that the reference to 

"Monday'' is the August 27, 2012, Town of Collingwood Council meeting where Council 

passed a motion to enter into a contract with BLT Construction Services. I believe one of the 

primary facts in issue related to the alleged criminal offences is - that the Corporation of the 

Town of Collingwood and Council, as a governing body (as opposed to individual Council 

members) were completely unaware Paul Bonwick and/or his companies (Compenso 

Communications and/or Green Leaf Distribution Inc.) were involved (and paid $756,740.42 . 

CAD ) as consultants and/or lobbyists with the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant 

Structures project. I believe this email provides evidence that Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd was 

not only aware that Paul Bonwick was involved, but was also engaged in some form of on­

going communication with him, as he expressed in the email his disappointment that Paul 

Bonwick did not inform him of a presentation that involved Sprung Instant Structures and 
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the Mayor of Wasaga Beach. I believe this email also affords evidence of the relationship 

between Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd and Paul Bonwick, when the Deputy Mayor articulates in 

the email of the cousin relationship between Wasaga Beach Mayor Cal Patterson and Paul 

Bon wick. 

d. I have detailed in paragraph 149 an email exchange between Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd and 

Acting CAO Ed Houghton. The email relates to a draft version of Staff Report EMC 2012-01, 

a report ultimately provided to members of Town of Collingwood Council prior to the 

August 27, 2012, Council meeting. I believe that the Staff Report EMC 2012-01 is a key 

element to the alleged criminal offences. I believe the email from Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd 

to Acting CAO Ed Houghton is relevant evidence as the Deputy Mayor states that the Staff 

Report "needs the Ed Houghton positive spin in a redraft1
' and further, where the Deputy 

Mayor writes, "As well we must be careful not to give too much information1
'. I have 

provided detail in paragraph 96 the specific direction from Council at the July 16, 2012, 

Town of Collingwood Council meeting, was to have staff prepare a report for Council that 

develops a project timeline and detailed estimates to construct a single pad arena that could 

be phased into a double pad. I believe Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd's direction, as evidenced in 

the email to Acting CAO Ed Houghton, speaking about the re-draft of the Staff Report, 

directing that the report must be careful not to give too much information, is a direct 

contradictiqn (and evidence of the alleged criminal offences) to the very motion he put 

before Council, and that the Town of Collingwood Council passed. 

e. I believe evidence of the alleged criminal offence of breach ~f trust exists in relation to the 

content and dissemination of the Town of Collingwood Staff Report EMC 2012-01. I have 

detailed evidence from Sara Almas [Clerk] in paragraph 188 and WGD Architects Brian 

Gregersen in paragraph 187 - that it is normal practice to attach a consultants1 report to 

muniCipal Staff Reports when disseminated to members of Council. I believe this assertion 

is plainly common sense. Council members must be fully informed and vote in the best 

interests of the community on a particular issue addressed in a Staff Report. It is reasonable 

to think that members of Council should have access to any-and-all available professional 

consulting reports that were used to create the Staff Report. I have detailed in paragraph 

184 evidence that the WGD Architects report prepared at the request of the Town of 

Collingwood was not provided to members of Council prior to the August 27, 2012, Council 

meeting. I have provided detailed evidence in paragraph 185 regarding concerns forwarded 

by WGD Architects that the content of their August 2012 report to the Town of Collingwood 

was used completely out of context in Staff Report EMC 2012-01. Based on the evidence I 

have articulated in this ITO on this issue, I believe that WGD Architects were intentionally 

described by and held out as competitors to Sprung Instant Structures in the Staff Report· 

EMC 2012-01. I believe this was done in an effort to put Sprung Instant Structures in a 

favorable position as it is agreed as a matter-of-fact that a fabric membrane structure is 

much less expensive than a traditional building to construct. Based on evidence from Sara 

Almas and the email described above from Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd to Acting CAO Ed 
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Houghton, I believe that Acting CAO Ed Houghton was responsible for the content of the 

final version of Staff Report EMC 2012-01, that was provided to members of Council, as 

detailed in this ITO; Therefore, I believe that Acting CAO Ed Houghton was responsible for 

the misrepresentation of WGD Architects in the Staff Report. 

f. , In paragraph 145, I have detailed evidence that all members of the Town of Collingwood 

EMT received a copy of the entire WGD Architects report on August 17, 20121 some 10 days 

prior to the Council meeting. l have detailed evidence this ITO, corroborated by Sara Almas 

[Clerk], and my own review of the Rogers Cable video recording for this Council ·meeting, 

that confirms members of Council were never provided this very same WGD Architects 

report during or prior to the vote to approve the Sprung Instant Structures project. In 

paragraph 216, I have detailed evidence that identified Acting CAO Ed Houghton's assertion 

that WGD Architects provided a report which was a competitive option to the Sprung 

Instant Structures option. As detailed in that paragraph, I believe that the email explanation 

provided by Acting CAO Ed Houghton to WGD Architects about the use of the word 

"competition" is not accurate. With the above evidence in mind, I believe the following to 

be true: 

i. that the actions of not providing members of Council with the WGO Architects 

report and, 

ii. additionally, significantly misrepresenting the content of the WGD Architects report 

findings used to prepare in Staff Report EMC 2012-01, 

Is consistent with the direction from Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd to Acting CAO Ed Houghton 

that "we must be careful not to give too much information". Based on the information I 

have detailed above, I believe that the deceptive actions of Acting CAO Ed Houghton and 

Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd, relating to the WGD Architects report and Staff Report EMC 2012-

01, were motivated by a desire to deprive members of Council (and interested .members of 

the community) of information. I believe the deprivation related to 'what options other 

than' the Sprung Instant Structures option were availabl~ and I believe that thefr actions 

may have altered the course of the vote on the motion put to Council at the August 27, 

2012 meeting. 

249. I have provided significant detail in this ITO identifying evidence of communications between 

Abby Stec and/or Paul Bonwick of Green Leaf Distribution Inc. with someone from the Town of 

Collingwood during the months of July and August of 2012. I believe that these communications 

were in relation to the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. I believe the 

information communicated relating to Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project 

either came from, or was being provided to, "Ed". I believe that based on the totality of the 

evidence detailed in this ITO, the communications relating to "Ed" were between Town of 

Collingwood Acting CAO Ed Houghton and Abby Stec and/or .Paul Bonwick of Green Leaf 
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Distribution Inc. I have detailed in paragraph 154(e), an email communication that l believe is 

clear evidence identifying Acting CAO Ed Houghton forwarding an internal Town of Collingwood 

email to Paul Bonwick in relation to the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. 

250. I believe there are reasonable grounds to support my belief that Acting CAO Ed Houghton 

committed the offence of breach of trust in relation to his actions described in this ITO relating 

to his contact with Abby Stec and/or Paul Bonwick. I believe that these actions directly relate to 

the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. For the remainder of this sub­

paragraph I will detail additional grounds for this belief. 

a. I have provided detail previously in this ITO and I do believe that Ed Houghton was 

appointed into the position of Acting CAO for the Town of Collingwood on an interim 

basis starting on April 12, 2012. I believe that Ed Houghton held this interim position 

until the Town of Collingwood replaced him with a permanent CAO on April 15, 2013. 

b. Based on the definitions provided in paragraph 231, I do believe that during the period 

of time that Ed Houghton held the position of Acting Chief Administrative Officer for the 

Town of Collingwood, pursuant to By-law 2012-051, "Appoint an Acting CAO for the 

Corporation of the Town of Collingwood", passed by the Town of Collingwood Council, 

that: 

o Ed Houghton was an official, and 

o Ed Houghton held a position of office. 

c. I believe that during the months of July and August of 2012, when Abby Stec and Paul 

Bonwick of Green Leaf Distribution !nc. were involved with the Town of Collingwood 

Sprung Instant Structures project, that Acting CAO Ed Houghton held the top 

administrative position for the Town of Collingwood. 

d. I believe I have provided evidence in this !TO that one of Acting CAO Ed Houghton's 

primary roles as CAO was to ensure that municipal staff follows through on the 

directions of Council as a whole, not only those of individual members of Council. 

e. I have detailed my review of the minutes for the Town of Collingwood Council meetings 

of July 16 and August 27, 2012, and I believe there was no direction from Council to hire 

a consultant to assist the Town of Collingwood with its discussions and/or contract 

negotiations with a sole source process involving Sprung Instant Structures or BLT 

Construction Services. 
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f. I further believe, based on my review of these same minutes thatat no time during the 

July 16 or Au_gust 27, 2012 Town of Collingwood Council meetings, did Acting CAO Ed 

Houghton provide information to Council that he was aware Abby Stec and Paul 

Bonwick of Green Leaf Distribution Inc. were involved as consultants in the Town of 

Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. 

g. I further believe, based on my review of these same minutes and evidence from Sara 

Almas [Clerk], that at no time did Acting CAO Ed Houghton disclose to Town of 

Collingwood Council or members of the EMT, that be was providing information to, and 

receiving information. from, Abby Stec and/or Paul Bonwick of Green Leaf Distribution 

Inc. in relation to the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. 

h. I believe, based on my review of the numerous email correspondences obtained by 

police during this investigation, including those from Steve Berman's FOi request with 

the Town of Collingwood, that Acting CAO Ed Houghton did not disclose through email, 

to any member of Town of Collingwood staff or Council, that he was in communication 

with Abby Stec and/or Paul Bonwick of Green Leaf Distribution Inc. in relation to the 

Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. I believe that Ed Houghton had 

a very specific obligation in his position as CAO for the Town of Collingwood to 

communicate the above information both to Council and to his EMT. 

i. I believe based on information from Don Gallinger [resident of Collingwood who made 

the FOi request] and Tom Fryer [retired CFO of COLLUS] that there is some evidence 

that Acting CAO Ed Houghton had a business relationship with Paul Bonwick and Green 

Leaf Distributi<?n Inc. in relation to the solar powered roof vents that he advocated to 

the Board of Directors of COLLUS. 

j. I have also provided evidence information from Stephen Thomson of Creative 

Developers that Acting CAO Ed Houghton appears to have made attempts to include 

Paul Bonwick in conversations regarding the sale of the Town of Collingwood owned 

grain terminals. 

k. I believe that the information of the solar powered roof vents and that of the terminal 

sale meeting, in conjunction with evidence from Don Gallinger of Acting CAO Ed 

Houghton frequently being in the offices of Paul Bonwick and Abby Stec, provides some 

evidence of a business association between Acting CAO Ed Houghton and Paul Bonwick. 

I. I do believe that this aspect of the investigation requires additional work to determine 

the nature and scope of this relationship between Acting CAO Ed Houghton and Paul 

Bonwick. I do believe that this work will be done at an appropriate time in the 

evidence-gathering phase of this investigation. 
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251. I have already articulated my belief that Acting CAO Ed Houghton's role in the deception related 

to the Town of Collingwood Staff Report EMC 2012-01 and the WGD Architects report is 

evidence of a breach of trust. I believe, pursuant to the elements of the offence set out for 

breach of trust by the Supreme Court of Canada in R v. Boulanger, the following: 

i. That Acting CAO Ed Houghton was an official; 

ii. That Acting CAO Ed Houghton was acting in connection with the duties of his office in 

relation to his actions with Paul Bonwick and Abby Stec of Green Leaf Distribution Inc. 

/Compenso Communications1 as detailed above and in this ITO; 

iii. That by failing to disclose his level of involvement with Paul Bonwick and Abby Stec of 

Green Leaf Distribution Inc. /Compenso Communications, in relation to the Town of 

Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project, to the Town of Collingwood Council or to 

his EMT, I believe that Acting CAO Ed Houghton breached the standard of responsibility and 

conduct demanded of him by the nature of the office; 

iv. That by failing to disclose to Town of Collingwood Council or his EMT, his level of 

involvement with Paul Bonwick and Abby Stec of Green Leaf Distribution Inc. /Compenso 

Communications, in relation to the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project, 

the conduct of Acting CAO Ed Houghton represented a serious and marked departure from 

the standards expected of an individual in the CAO's position of public trust; and, 

v. That Acting CAO Ed Houghton's actions as detailed in this !TO, in advancing the business of 

Paul Bonwick and Green Leaf Distribution lnc./Compenso Communications in relat.ion to the 

Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project, while failing to make proper 

disclosure of his involvement with assisting Paul Bonwick and Green Leaf Distribution 

lnc./Compenso Communications with this matter, to Council or his EMT, acted with the 

intention to use his public office for a purpose other than the public good. 

252. I believe there are reasonable grounds to believe that Abby Stec and Paul Bonwick of Green Leaf 

Distribution Inc. and Dave Barrow of BLT Construction Services committed the offence fraud 

over five thousand dollars in relation to the payment of $756,740.42 CAD to Paul Bonwick of 

Compenso Communications for the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. I 

have provided my reasoning for my belief in this paragraph. I also believe that Acting CAO Ed 

Houghton and Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd are suspects in relation to this fraud and that further 

investigation is required to ascertain how much, if any, of the $756, 740.42 CAD may have been 

paid to either Acting CAO Ed Houghton or Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd. At this point in the 

investigation I do not have evidence that confirms whether or not Acting CAO Ed Houghton 

and/or Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd knew that Paul Bonwick and Abby Stec of Green Leaf 

Distribution Inc. were paid $756,740.42 CAD for the consulting work they did on the Town of 

Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. One component of our future investigative 
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strategy is to gather evidence that will assist me and my colleagues in making a determination as 

to what Acting CAO Ed Houghton and Deputy Mayor Rick Lloyd knew of this issue. I have 

detailed below the areas of evidence that I believe suppo~ my belief that the alleged criminal 

offence of fraud has occurred: 

a. I have detailed in paragraph 238 my belief that Abby Stec, Paul Bonwick and Dave 

Barrow added 6.5% of the total BLT Construction Services turnkey construction cost to 

the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project budget before it was sent to 

the Town of Collingwood for approval and payment. 

b. I have detailed in paragraph 239 my belief that the Municipality of the Town of 

Collingwood and Municipal Council as a whole, was not made aware that they were 

paying $756,740.42 CAD to Paul Bonwick of Compenso Communications/Green Leaf 

Distribution Inc., as a consultant or lobbyist, assisting BLT Construction Services and 

Sprung Instant Structures, on the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures 

project. 

c. I have detailed in paragraph 239 my belief that Acting CAO Ed Houghton failed to notify 

the Town of Collingwood Council or his EMT that Paul Bonwick and Abby Stec of Green 

Leaf Distribution lnc./Compenso Communication were being paid as 

consultants/lobbyist, assisting BLT Construction Services and Sprung Instant Structures 

with the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project. 

d. I have detailed Dave Barrow's statement with investigators advising that he did not 

know if the Town of Collingwood knew of Green Leaf Distribution lnc.'s involvement in 

the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project and the fact that Dave 

Barrow told investigators that he did not mention this fact to anyone at the Town of 

Collingwood. 

e. My belief that that there were never any joint meetings held between the Town of 

Collingwood/BLT Construction Services/Sprung Instant Structures that included Green 

Leaf Distribution Inc., Paul Bonwick or Abby Stec. I believe that this additional piece of 

evidence demonstrates that the Town of Collingwood was not aware of Green Leaf 

Distribution lnc.'s involvement in the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures 

project in the two months leading up to the August 27, 2012 Town of Collingwood 

Council meeting. 

f. I have detailed in paragraph 239(h) that the Town of Collingwood Council did not 

authorize the hiring of a consultant and/or lobbyist, or the payment of $756,740.42 

CAD, to assist BLT Construction Services/Sprung Instant Structures with the Town of 

Collingwood Sprung Instant Structures project. 
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g. I have detailed in paragraph 204 and 239 that the Town of Collingwood was never 

provided with a detailed budget from BLT Construction Services for the Town of 

Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project that included the details of a payment of 

· $756,740.42 CAD to Paul Bonwick of Compenso Communications/Green Leaf 

Distribution Inc. for alleged consulting/lobbyist services. 

h. I have detailed in paragraph 239 that the Town of Collingwood at no time required the 

services of a consultant and/or lobbyist to assist with the negotiations/communications 

between the Town of· Collingwood and Sprung Instant Structures and/or BLT 

Construction Services for the Town of Collingwood Sprung Instant Structures project. 

i. My belief that Sprung Instant Structures/BLT Construction Services' motivation for 

entering into an ·Intermediary Contract with Paul Bonwick and Green Leaf Distribution 

lnc./Compenso Communications was calculated. I believe that Sprung Instant 

Structures/BLT Construction Services wanted to take advantage of the dose 

relationships Paul Bonwick had with members of Town of Collingwood Council, including 

his sister Mayor Sandra Cooper, and with Acting CAO Ed Houghton. 

j. I have detailed in paragraph 101, the comments of Tom Lloyd of Sprung Instant 

Structures that some individual Town of Collingwood Councillors were opposed to the 

Sprung Instant Structures concept and therefore this project risked delays or 

cancellation if not for the assistance of someone influential. 

k. Based on the evidence I have presented to date in this ITO about the communications 

between Abby Stec and/or Paul Bonwick and Acting CAO Ed Houghton, I believe that 

Paul Bonwick, because of his close relationships with the above identified persons, was 

in a position to work behind the scenes to broker the deal between the Town of 

Collingwood and Sprung Instant Structures/BLT Construction Services. I believe that the 

extent, if any, to which various individual members of the Town of Collingwood Council 

and Acting CAO Ed Houghton are complicit in the criminal offence of fraud is the subject 

of the continuing 0. P.P. investigation. 

I. My belief that the work Green Leaf Distribution Inc. did for BLT Construction Services on 

the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project was intentionally hidden 

from the Town of Collingwood. I believe that the Intermediary Contract between BLT 

Construction Services and Green Leaf Distribution Inc., and the payment of $756,740.42 

CAD that BLT Construction Services made to Paul Bonwick and Compenso 

Communications/Green Leaf Distribution Inc., is shrouded in various layers of secrecy. I 

believe this secrecy is evidence of fraudulent activity for the following reasons: 
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i. I have detailed evidence that the Intermediary Contract, the invoice to BLT 

Construction Services from Green Leaf Distribution Inc. and all of the 

correspondence identified in this ITO from the various emails ls evidence of 

business dealings between BLT Construction Services and Green Leaf 

Distribution Inc. 

ii. I have detailed evidence in paragraph 133 identifying the Intermediary Contract 

section that sets out the confidentiality of the names, addresses and contact 

information of any third party involved with BLT Construction Services/Green 

Leaf Distribution Inc. 

iii. I have detailed in paragraph 133, 209-211, that despite the fact all the 

documents support a business transaction between BLT Construction Services 

and Green Leaf Distribution Inc. - BLT Construction Services made a payment of 

$756,740.42 CAD to Compenso Communications - Paul Bonwick, not Green Leaf 

Distribution lnc. 

iv. I have detailed evidence in paragraph 133 identifying the Intermediary Contract 

section that the payment from BLT Construction Services to Green Leaf 

Distribution Inc, "is not to be paid to Green Leaf by way of direct or re­

directed deposit or advance by the third party, it is to be paid by BLT from 

BLT." 

v. I have noted that despite this very clear payment direction in the Intermediary 

Contract - payment was actually made to Cornpenso Communications Paul 

Bonwick, not to Green Leaf Distribution Inc. 

vi. While each issue identified in these sub-paragraphs may, if considered 

individually, have a reasonable explanation, I do believe the information 

detailed in this paragraph, along with all of the other evidence I have detailed 

above in this ITO, is evidence of the layers of secrecy. Furthermore, I do believe 

that the identified offence of fraud ls complete, to which I believe the 

Corporation of the Town of Collingwood is the victim. 

GROUNDS TO BELIEVE THE THINGS TO BE SEIZED WILL AFFORD EVIDENCE OF THE OFFENCE 

253.1 have detailed evidence in paragraph 209 about the wire transfer of $756,740.42 CAD that 

occurred on August 31, 2012. I have detailed evidence that the BLT Construction Services' 

source account for the $756,740.42 CAD was Bank of Montreal (BMO) . I have 

also detailed evidence that the destination account for the $756,740.42 CAD was Canadian 
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Imperial Bank of Commerce (CIBC) account numbered 

Compenso Communications - Paul Bonwick. 

associated to 

254. I have learned from my review of Detective Sergeant Shawn Evan's notebook entries and reports 

that on March 24, 2014, he had a telephone conversation with Bruna Durigon of the Canadian 

Imperial Bank of Commerce. I learned that this conversation \NBS in relation to the bank account 

associated to the payment made by BLT Construction Services to Compenso Communications -

Paul Bonwick on August 31, 2012 (as detailed in this ITO). I learned that Bruna Durigon provided 

Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans with information that the Canadian Jmperial Bank of 

Commerce account numbered is associated to Green Leaf Distribution 

lnc./Paul Bonwick/Abigail Stec and Christine Harper. I learned from my review of his officer 

reports and notes that he is not aware of who Christine Harper is at this point in the 

investigation. I learned that Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans advised Bruna Durigon that he 

would be seeking a Production Order in relation to records held by the Canadian Imperial Bank 

of Commerce. I am aware from serving previous unrelated Production Orders on Bruna Durigon 

that her position with the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce involves producing certified 

bank records for police officers pursuant to Production Orders. I have knowledge that once 

Bruna Durigon receives a Production Order, it is her responsibility to ensure that the Canadian 

Imperial Bank of Commerce complies with the order within the specified time. I have read the 

notes and reports of Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans and note that he confirmed with Bruna 

Durigon that her business office is situated at 33 Yonge Street, 4th floor, Toronto, Ontario. 

255.1 have learned from my review of Detective Sergeant Shawn Evan's notebook entries and reports 

that on March 25, 2014, he attended the Barrie Court House and met with Justice of the Peace 

D.D. White. I learned that on that date Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans swore to an 

Information to Obtain Production Orders, one of which was in relation to Qmadian Imperial 

Bank of Commerce {CIBC) account numbered , associated to Compenso 

Communications - Paul Bonwick. f learned that on March 28, 2014, Detective Sergeant Shawn 

Evans again attended the Barrie Court House and met with Justice of the Peace D.D. White. I 

learned that on that date Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans received from Justice of the Peace 

D.D. White, a Production Order directing Bruna Durigon of the canadian Imperial Bank of 

Commerce to produce the following: 

Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to 

Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce (CIBC) account 

a. Customer profile information detailing the account holder's personal information 

{name, address, date of birth and employment details) and the personal information of 

any other person who had/has signing authority on the account. 

b. Authorized Signing Authority Electronic Access and Signature Card. 
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c. Delegate Electronic Access and Signature Card. 

d. All incorporated business documents (including small business documents) and forms 

relating to Green Leaf Distribution Inc. on file with the account. 

e. Certified copies of all monthly account statements from the 28th day of August 1012 to 

the 21st day of March 2014, inclusive. 

256. I have learned from my review of Detective Sergeant Shawn Evan's notebook entries and reports 

that on March 31, 2014, he provided a scanned copy of the issued Production Order to Bruna 

Durigon. 

257.1 have learned from my review of Detective Sergeant Shawn Evan's notebook entries and reports 

that on April 7, 2014, he received by courier, a sealed package from the Canadian Imperial Bank 

of Commerce. I learned from my review of his notebook entries and reports that he opened the 

package and identified that the contents related to the Production Order issued by Justice of 

Peace D.D. White, as detailed in the previous two paragraphs. I learned from my review of his 

notebook entries and reports that the documents contained in the package were all certified 

copies. I have read all of the documents contained in the package and I have read the contents 

of the affidavits completed by the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce employee named 

Antonette Arulanandam. Based on my review of the certified documents and the affidavits, I 

believe the informat ion received from Bruna Durigon of the Canadian Imperial Bank of 

Commerce, in relation to the Production Order Issued by Justice of the Peace D.D. White, is 

reliable certified copies of banking records associated to Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce 

account . I learned that (0100) is the transit number for the Canadian 

Imperial Bank of commerce and that the actual account number is 

Affiant's Notes: From this point forward in this /TO I will just be referring to the account number 

without the transit numbe~ 

258. I have reviewed the "Customer Details" documents for Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce 

account and confirmed the following information: 

a. The account ls in the name of Green Leaf Distribution Inc., situated at 86 Hurontario 

Street, Unit 203, Collingwood, Ontario. 

b. The records list the account being established on June 1, 2012. ! confirmed that Edward 

P. Bonwkk is listed on the account as the President and Secretary of Green Leaf 

Distribution lnc. 

c. The signature specimen provided on the account appears to be the words, "Paul 

Bonwkk11
• I observed that the banking records contain personal information for Edward 
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P. Bonwick including his home address, date of birth, home telephone number and 

Ontario Drivers license number. 

d. I have reviewed all of this informat ion and confirmed that person identified as Edward 

P. Bonwick in the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce banking records is the same 

person identified as Paul Bonwick throughout this ITO. 

259. I have reviewed the "Customer Details" documents for Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce 

account numbered aMd also confirmed the following information: 

a. 

b. 

c. 

Abigail Stec is listed as a 10% shareholder for Green Leaf Distribution Inc. 

The records contain personal information for Abigail Stec including he r home address, 

date of birth, home te!ephc:ne number and Ontario Drivers license number. 

I have reviewed all of this informat ion and confirmed that person identified as Abigail 

Stec in the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce banking records is t he same person 

identified as Abby Stec throughout this ITO. 

260. l have reviewed the "Customer Details" documents for Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce 

account numbered and also confirmed the name of listed as a 

10% shareholder for Green Leaf Distribution Inc. 

Affiant's Notes: At this point in the investigation I have not received any information identifying 
i being involved in the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant Structures project 

and I am not aware of what role, if any, she had at Green Leaf Distribution Inc. This matter will 
be subject to further investigation. 

261. The Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce provided Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans with 

certified copies of business records (the Certificate of Incorporation} relating to Ontario 

Corporation Number 2295210, identified in the records as Green Leaf Distribution Inc. I have 

reviewed these records and note that these records provide information that is consistent with 

the ONBIS record information I have detailed earlier in this no. 

262. Based on my review of the certified copies of the Canadia n Imperial Bank of Commerce 

documents that r have detailed in the above paragraphs, I believe that Canadian Imperial Bank 

of Commerce account is associat ed to Green Leaf Distribution Inc., Paul Bonwick 

and Abby Stec. Based on the evidence I have reviewed in the canadian Imperial Bank of 
Commerce records, I believe that account is the same account associated to the 

payment from BLT Construction Services to Green Leaf Distribution lnc./Compenso 

Communications - Paul Bonwick in relation to the Town of Collingwood Sprung Instant 

Structures project that I have detailed in this ITO. 
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263. I have reviewed all of the certified copies of the monthly account statements related to 

Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce account . I note that the monthly account 

statements contain evidence that on August 31, 2012, a total of $756,740.42 (including $21.00 

that the canadian Imperial Bank of commerce deducted for a service charge) was credited to 

this account (by wire transfer) from BLT Construction Services. I observed that this evidence is 

consistent with the evidence I detailed in paragraph 212 about the wire transfer from BLT 

Construction Services to Compenso Communications - Paul Bonwick. Based on evidence from 

the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce account statements, in combination with the other 

information detailed in this ITO, I believe that the $7561740.42 that Green Leaf Distribution Inc. 

received for assisting BLT Construction Services with the Town of Collingwood/Sprung Instant 

Structures project, was deposited to the identified Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce 

account numbered 

2.64. I have reviewed all of the certified monthly account statements to determine how the 

$756,740.42 was dispersed following the deposit on August 31, 2012, into the Green Leaf 

Distribution Inc. Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce account numbered - - I 
believe that transactions between August 31, 2012 and )anuary 31, 2012 in account Imm 
- have relevance to the allegations detailed in this !TO and .1 have made the following 
observations about this money following the deposit: 

a. The balance in account prior to the August 31, 2012 credit of 

$756,740.42 from BLT Construction Services was $5,636.21. 

b. Between August 31, 2012 and January 31, 2012, the only money credited to the accpunt 

- aside from the $756,740.42 BLT Construction Services credit-was $3,843.07. 

c. Between August 31, 2012, after the $756, 7 40.42 BLT Construction Services credit and 

January 31, 2013, the balance in the account was depleted to $20,793.78 through a 
series of debit transactions .. 

d. I have Identified one credit and multiple debits from account between 

August 31, 2012 and January 31, 2013 that I believe are relevant to this police 

investigation. I have created the following chart containing relevant transactions that I 

observed in the certified canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce monthly banking 

statements for account 

Date Description Debit Credit 

Wire transfer BLT Construction Services 
>--~--=-----------~ 

756,725.42 

04-Sep-12 Cheque 132 30,000.00 
i---~--"'-----if-------------'-~ --------------f----'-------+-------~--1 

04-Sep-1 Cheque 131 483.08 
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133 

128 
130 
142 

678.00 

25,425.00 

----·~···-

126 
145 
140 

f 
149 
148 
135 

t 
143 500.00 

·-~·-····-~·-··-

146 474.60 

147 773.55 

r 
144 
156 
155 

r 03-0ct-12 152 6,102.00 

04-0ct-12 151 
154 

166 
170 

f 155 

I 169 

171 

168 

174 
177 
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172 

179 
180 
173 
181 

12-Dec-12 176 135.60 

14-Dec-12 184 250.00 

17-Dec-12 185 .~l51Q2P~Q9-. _ __,.,_._,.·-···-·-

24-Dec-12 187 10,000.00 

182 250.00 

129 

190 

189 
04-Jan-13 192 

193 
Debit memo 

··----~·····~··~·-~····~------= 

Cheque 196 
~-------'---- ~-------

19 5 
199 
198 

Total Debits 

265. I believe that the data contained within the chart in the previous paragraph is accurate as I 

extracted this information from the certified Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce records, 

provided to me pursuant to the Production Order issued by Justice of the Peace D.D. White. I 

believe that the data in the chart affords evidence that following the August 31, 2012 credit to 

the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce account of $756,740.42 from BLT Construction 

Services - the money in the account was debited through a series of issued cheques and a debit 

memo (January 16, 2013) in the amount of $250,000.00. 

266. I have learned from Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans that on April 9, 2014, he attended the 

Barrie Court House and met with Justice of the Peace A. Forfar. I learned t hat on that date 

Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans swore to an Information to Obtain Production Order in relation 
to Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce {ClBC) account numbered 

associated to Compenso Communications - Paul Bonwick. I also learned that on April 10, 2.014, 

Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans again attended the Barrie Court House and met with Justice of 

the Peace A. Forfar. I learned that on that date Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans received from 
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Justice of the Peace A. Forfar, a Production Order directing Bruna Durigon of the Canadian 

Imperial Bank of Commerce to produce the following: 

Certified copies of the following bank records and/or documents (if available) relating to 

Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce account 

1. All supporting documentation/records in relation to each transaction listed in 

the below chart, including but not limited to: 

a. Wire transfer information 

b. Debit memo information 

c. Images of all cheques {front and back) 

Description 

Wire transfer BLT Construction Services 

Cheque 

133 
04-Sep-12 128 

04-Sep-12 130 

142 742.72 

136 678.00 
-~·-·----·--·-····-·--4··-· 

06-Sep-12 137 25,425.00 

OS.Sep-12 

07-Sep-12 

07-Sep-12 
--r-~--~~-~~---~-
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10-0ct-12 Cheque 41463533 153 400.00 

18-0ct-12 Cheque 41409189 160 474.60 

· 18-0ct-12 Cheque 41415774 157 8,175.55 

18-0ct-12 · Cheque 43384114 159 429.40 

24-0ct-12 Cheque 40119302 164 322.05 

31-0ct-12 Cheque 43126577 163 220.35 

31-0ct-12 Cheque 43126578 162 395.50 

02-Nov-12 Cheque 40404123 167 7,626.38 

06-Nov-12 Cheque 41057238 166 6,102.00 

19-Nov-12 Cheque 42365908 170 90.40 

19-Nov-12 Cheque 43171313 165 1,152.60 

20-Nov-12 Cheque 40171361 169 406.80 

20-Nov-12 Cheque 41510446 171 339.00 

23-Nov-12 Cheque 41226358 168 250.00 

30-Nov-12 Cheque 40364328 174 8,956.80 

30-Nov-12 Cheque 40364329 177 1,611.80 

30-Nov-12 Cheque 43423101 172 2,673.27 

05-Dec-12 Cheque 40556133 179 7,797.00 

07-Dec-12 Cheque 43615488 180 1,723.25 

11-Dec-12 Cheque 40122175 173 73.45 

12-Dec-12 Cheque 40291145 181 250.00 

12-Dec-12 Cheque 43599476 176 135.60 

14-Dec-12 Cheque 40172078 184 250.00 .. ·-
17-Dec-12 Cheque 41235698 185 25,000.00 

24-Dec-12 Cheque 40103078 187 10,000.00 

27-Dec-12 Cheque 41121444 182 250.00 

317Dec-12 Cheque 43642807 129 506.92 

04-Jan-13 Cheque 41380745 190 457.65 

04-Jan-13 Cheque 43557622 189 7,062.50 

04-Jan-13 Cheque 43557623 192 2,239.87 

04-Jan-13 Cheque 43557624 186 10,000.00 

09-Jan-13 Cheque 43476832 188 6,102.00 

09-Jan-13 Cheque 43641458 193 553.70 

16-Jan-13 Debit memo 250,000.00 

25-Jan-13 Cheque 43556137 196 2,916.66 

28-Jan-13 Cheque 43158162 195 2,500.00 

31-Jan-13 Cheque 40448648 199 7,062.50 

31-Jan-13 Cheque 41505423 198 3,390.00 
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267. I have learned from Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans that on April 11, 2014, he provided a 

scanned copy ofthe issued Production Order to Bruna Durlgon. I have learned from Detective 

Sergeant Shawn Evans that on April 30, 2014, he received by courie r, a sealed package from the 

Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce. I learned that he opened the package and identified that 

the contents related to the Production Order issued by Justice of Peace A. Forfar, as detailed in 
the previous two paragraphs. I learned that the documents contained in the package were all 

certified copies. l have read all of the documents contained in the package and I have read the 

contents of the affidavits completed by the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce employee 

named Antonette Arulanandam. Based on my review of the certified documents and the 

affidavits, I believe the information received by Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans from Bruna 

Durigon of the Canadian lmperial Bank of Commerce, in relation to the Production Order Issued 

by Justice of the Peace A Forfar, is reliable certified copies of banking records associated to 

Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce account 

268. r have reviewed a certified copy of an Activity Report that confirmed $7561740.42 was 

electronically transferred on August 31, 2012, from BLT Construction Services to Paul Bonwick's 

Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce account numbered . I believe this 

information is consistent with the evidence I previously detailed in paragraph 212. 

269. I viewed certified copies of 11 cheques issued on this Green Leaf Distribution Inc. canadian 

Imperial Bank of Commerce account that were payable to either Compenso Communications or 

Compenso Consulting. I have created the chart below and entered into the chart information 

that I learned from viewing the front and back of each of the 11 certified cheque copies: 

,,,..,,_,,_,,,~ 

Date Pa~able to Chegue # L Remarks Amount 

August 31, 2012 Compenso 0132 $30,000.00 

Communications 

September 1, 2012 Corn pen so 0136 815 $678.00 

Communications 
e-. ,_,~,,w-~~~~-

September 5, 2012 Cornpenso 0137 816 $25,425.00 

Communications 
,, __ ,,_ 

September 5, 2012 Compenso 0134 Loan $10,000.00 

Communications Repayment 
'-• 

September 11, 2012 Comp en so 0145 #817 $82,382.30 

Communications 

·· Octo5erz;2012~~~ ·c0ini:)ensa-·····-·- '0155 ~81 $113Jloo]o ___ · 
Communications 

October 1, 2012 Compenso 0152 824 $6, 102.00 

Communications 
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November 1, 2012 Compenso 0166 831 $6, 102.00 

Communications 

December 1, 2012 Compenso 0179 835 $7,797.00 

Communications 

January 1, 2013 Compenso 0188 840 $6,102.00 

Communications 
~-·--~,"-~'--·----~~~-~-~--~ 

,....__~,,--
~="""~"''-'~"'""'~""" 

January 22, 2013 Compenso 0196 Florida trip $2,916.66 

Consulting (draw) 

Total $290,504:96~. ~ .. -

270. l offer the following insight regarding the chart above: 

a. The Date column reflects information about the issue date that was written on each of 

the cheques. 

b. The Payable to column reflects information about what person or entity each cheque 

was payable to. 

c. The Cheque Number column reflects information about the sequential cheque number 

on each cheque. 

d. The Remarks column reflects i()formation about handwritten information contained on 

the face of each cheque following the reference "re:". 

e. The Amount column reflects information about the dollar value amount of each issued 

cheque. 

On the back of each of the 11 certified cheque copies I looked for evidence of what was done 

with each of the cheques. Based on my prior knowledge and involvement in the investigation of 

financial crime allegations, :1 am aware that teller stamps on the back of cheques, affords 

evidence of where the cheque was deposited. I noted that each of the 11 cheques had a teller 

stamp on the back afforded evidence that all 11 cheques were deposited at the Collingwood, 

Ontario, branch of the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce. Based on my prior knowledge and 

involvement in the investigation of financial crime a.llegations, I am aware that sometimes 

recipients of cheques will write the account number on the back of a cheque relating to the 

bank account that the cheque ls deposited into. I note that on two of the 11 cheques identified 

in the chart above - had what appeared to be a handwritten account number written on the 

back. Their hand written account number only appeared on cheque numbers 0196 and 0166. I 

observed that the handwritten account number was the same on the backs of both cheques and 

was written as,-· I viewed the signature line for each of the 11 cheques and I noted 
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there appeared to be three different signatures on the issued cheques. I observed that the 

signature line on cheque 0132 contained the handwritten name of "Paul Bonwick". I observed 

that the signature lines on cheques 0136, 0137, 0134, 0145, 0166, and 0196 contain the initials 

of 11AS". I note that these initials are consistent with the name Abby Stec, a person who is 
associated to the account from which the cheques were issued {paragraph 284). ! observed that 

the signature lines on cheques 0155, 0152, 0179, and 0188 contain the handwritten name of 

271. I learned from Detective Sergeant Evans that he had a telephone conversation with Bruna 

Durigon from the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce on April 30, 2014. I learned that 

Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans asked Bruna Durigon if she could conduct a search and provide 

only the account number information for any Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce banking 

accounts associated to Compenso Communications, situated at 186 Hurontario Street, Suite 

203, Collingwood, Ontario. I learned that Bruna Durigor:i told Detective Sergeant Evans that 

Compenso Communications did have an account with the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce 

and that the account number was . I noted that the digits 6442 appear on the 

backs of each of the 11 cheques and forms part of the information on the Canadian Imperial 

Bank of Commerce teller stamps (as detailed In the previous paragraph). I completed a search 

on the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce website and confirmed that transit number -

was associated to the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce branch situated at 86 Hurontario 

Street, Collingwood Ontario. I noted that the account number that Bruna Durigon provided to 

Detective Sergeant Evans was the same as the handwritten account number that appears on the 

back of cheques 0196 and 0166, as detailed in the previous paragraph. Based on the 

information l have detailed in the previous paragraphs and the chart above, I believe that the 

account numbers, the teller stamps and the details written on each of the 11 cheques affords 

evidence that the 11 cheques were deposited into the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, 

Compenso Communications account numbered 

272. I viewed certified copies of 10 cheques issued on the Green leaf Distribution Inc., Canadian 

Imperial Bank of Commerce account that were payable to either Abby Stec or S-Tec Consulting. 

I have created the chart below and entered into the chart information that I learned from 

viewing the front and back of each of the 10 certified cheque copies: 

Payable to Remarks Amount 

September 4, 2012 Abby Stec, S-tec Consu.lting #113 $4,989.10 
~···-------·-+-····~····~,,-,,,_,,. ____ ,,,_,,,_,,,_,,,+,,,,, __ ,, __ ,, __ , ___ +---"-"'------+----

September 5, 2012 Abby Stec Aug Reimbursements $742.72 

October 21 2012 S-tec Consulting 

November 2, 2012 S-tec Consulting 

November 30, 2012 5-tec Consulting 

0167 

0174 

167 

114 $5,93250 

October Invoice #ll5 $7,626.3S~ 

$8,956.86~ 
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November 29, 2012 S-tec Consulting 0177 $1,611.80 
~~-----·-' 

,_ 
f--> ., 

December31,2012 5-tec Consulting 0189 Invoice #116 $7,062,50 

January 3, 2013 Stec 0192 3851.67 - 1611.80 $ ~,239 87 

January 1, 2013 Abby Stec 0186 Dividend $10,000.00 
,., ... 
January 31, 2013 s~tec Consulting 0199 Invoice# 117 Jan 2013 $7,062.50 

Total $56,224.17 
'"_,,,_,,,_,,, 

273.1 offer the following insight regarding the chart above; 

a. The Date column reflects information about the issue date that was written on each of 

the cheques. 

b. The Payable to column reflects information about what person or entity that each cheque 

was payable to. 

c. The Cheque Number column reflects information about the sequential cheque number on 

each cheque. 

d. The Remarks column reflects information about handwritten information contained on 

the face of each cheque following the reference "re:". 

e. The Amount column reflects information about the dollar value amount of each issued 

cheque. 

On the back of each of the 10 certified cheque copies, I looked for evidence of what was done 

with each of the cheques. Based on my prior knowledge and involvement in the investigation of 

financial crime allegations, I am aware that teller stamps on the back of cheques affords 

evidence of where the cheque was deposited. I noted that seven of the 10 cheques had a teller 

stamp on the back that affords evidence the cheques were deposited at the Collingwood, 

Ontario, Scotiabank branch. Based on my prior knowledge and involvement in the investigation 

of financial crime allegations, I am aware that sometimes recipients of cheques will write the 

account number on the back of a cheque relating to the bank account that the cheque is being 

deposited into. I am also aware t hat some companies have stamps they apply to the backs of 

cheques detailing the account number to which the cheque is to be deposited. I noted that all 

10 cheques identified in the chart above had on the back, what appeared to be evidence of an 

account number either in handwriting or a stamp. I observed the hand written account 

number of on the back of cheque nu.mbers 0186, 0192, and 0142. I observed 

the hand written account number of on the back of cheque numbered 

0177. I observed a stamp containing the words, "Deposit to the credit of S~Tec Nutrition 

Division'' and account number on the back of cheques 0199, 0189, 0174, 0167, 
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0156, and 0133. I viewed the signature line for each of the 10 cheques and I noted there 

appeared to be two different signatures on the issued cheques. I observed that the signature 

lines on cheques 0133, 0167, 0189, 0199, and 0142 contain the initials of "AS". I noted that 

these initials are consistent with the name Abby Stec, a person who is associated to the account 

from which the cheques were issued (paragraph 284). I observed that the signature lines on 

cheques 0177, 0156, 0174, 0186, and 0192, contain the handwritten name .of "Christine 

Harper". 

274. I learned from Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans that he had a telephone conversation with 

Rohan Gonsalves from Scotiabank on May 71 2014. I learned that Rohan Gonsalves told 

Detef:tive Sergeant Evans he was the Assistant Manager for Cash Loss Control for Scotia bank and 

that he was a primary contact for law enforcement in relation to Production Orders issued to 

Scotiabank. I learned that Detective Sergeant Evans asked Rohan Gonsalves if he could conduct 

a search and confirm if two Scotiabank account numbers were correct. I learned from Detective 

Sergeant Evans that Rohan Gonsalves confirmed that Scotiabank aceount i was 

associated to $-Tee Consulting and that Scotiabank account - was associated to 

Abigail Stec. I note that the digits - appear on the backs of each of the 10 cheques, which 

forms part of the information on the Scotiabank teller stamps (as detailed in the previous 

paragraph) or the account number associated to Abby Stec or S.tec Consulting. I completed a 

search on the Scotiabank website and confirmed that transit number - was associated to 

the Scotiabank branch situated at 247 Hurontario Street, Collingwood Ontario. Based on the 

information I have detailed in the previous two paragraphs and the chart above, I believe that 

the account numbers, the teller stamps and the details written on each of cheques 0133, 0156, 

0167, · 0174, 0189, and 0199 affords evidence that the 6 cheques were deposited into a 

Scotiabank account associated to 5-Tec Consulting numbere . Based on the 

information I have detailed in the previou~ two paragraphs and the chart above, I believe that 

the account numbers, the teller stamps and the details written on each of cheques 0142, 0186, 

and 0192 affords evidence that the three cheques were deposited into a Scotiabank account 

associated to Abigail Stec numbered 

275. Based on my experience with other financial investigations, ·1 am aware that financial banking 

institutions maintain records and documents, which will afford information confirming the name 

and details of the numbered company and.officers associated with a business. I have detailed 

evidence in this ITO of the stamp (In the name of S-Tec Nutrition Division) on the back of 

cheques that were deposited to Scotiabank account . I have viewed an ONBIS 

report relating to S..Tec Consulting and I noted the records reflect the company being involved 

with Nutritional Consulting.198
' I note that the ONBIS retards identify that the registration date 

for the business was March 29, 2005, and this company is registered as a sole proprietorship in 

the name of Abigail Stec of in Collingwood. I know this address to be that of 

Abigail Stec, because I have reviewed a Driver's License abstract document that detailed a 

198 . • 
ONB!S query conducted by Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans on .November 18, 2013. 
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PARIS199 query was conducted on July 13, 2013 by Detective Constable Beverly Mackey. I 

believe that the small business records I am seeking in this ITO will afford evidence confirming 

that S-Tec Consulting is associated to Abigail Stec and the offence related money that was 

credited to Scotiabank account 

Distribution Inc. cheques. 

by the issuance of the identified Green Leaf 

276. I viewed certified copies of two cheques issued on the Green Leaf Distribution Inc. Canadian 

Imperial Bank of Commerce account that were payable to Paul Bonwick. I have created the 

chart below and entered into the chart information that I learned from viewing the front and 

back of each of the two certified cheque copies: 

Date Pa~able to Chegue Remarks unt 
_.N!!m.Pe! 

September 14, 2012 Paul Bonwick 0149 Expenses Reimbursement 12 

December 14, 2012 Pa uJ Bonwick 0185 Dividend $25,000.00 

277. I offer the following insight regarding the chart above: 

a. The Date column reflects information about the issue date that was written on each of 

the cheques. 

b. The Payable to column reflects information about what person or entity that each 

cheque was payable to. 

c. The Cheque Number column reflects information about the sequential cheque number 

on each cheque. 

d. The Remarks column refl.ects information about handwritten information contained on 

the face of each cheque following the reference "re:" 

e. The Amount column reflects information about the dollar value amount of each issued 

cheque. 

On the back of each of the two certified cheque copies, I. looked for evidence of what was done 

with each of the cheques. Based on my prior knowledge and involvement in the investigation of 

financial crime allegations, I am aware that teller stamps on the back of cheques often affords 

evidence of where the cheque was deposited. I note that one of the cheques had a teller stamp 

on the back affording evidence that the cheque was deposited at the Collingwood, Ontario, 

Scotiabank branch. Based on my prior knowledge and involvement in the investigation of 

199 The Police Automated Registration information System (PARIS) contains information on driver's Ucense status and history as 

well as vehicle registration \nformation for the province of Ontario. This data is obtained from the public at the time of driver 
and vehicle registration and from the police services of Ontario based on offence notices and suspensions Issued. I have used 
this system and relied on the Information provided during my policing career and find it to be an accurate source of 
information. 
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financial crime allegations, I am aware that sometimes recipients of cheques will write the 

account number an the back of a cheque relating to the bank account the cheque Is being 

deposited into. I noted that both Cheques identified in the chart above had on the back what 

appeared to be evidence of an account number. I observed the hand written account number 

of ; on the back of cheque·numbe: 0149 and I observed the hand written account 

on the back of cheque 0185. I viewed the signature line for each of 

the cheques and I noted there appeared to be two differ.ent signatures on the issued cheques. I 

observed that the signature line on cheque 0149 contained the Initials of "AS". I noted that 

these initials are consistent with the name Abby Stec, a person who was associated to the 

account from which the cheques were issued (paragraph 284). I observed that the signature 

line on cheque 0185, contain the handwritten name of. 

278. I learned from Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans that on May.7, 2012, he asked Rohan Gonsalves 

if he could conduct a search and confirm two Scotiabank account numbers were correct: I 

learned from Detective ·Sergeant Shawn Evans that Rohan Gonsalves confirmed Scotiabank 

was associated to Paul Bonwick, and that Scotiabank account 

was also associated to Paul Bonwick. I noted the digits 32342 appear on the 

back of each of the two cheques and forms part of the information on the SCotiabank teller 

stamp (as detailed in the previous paragraph). I completed a search on the Scotiabank website 

and confirmed that transit number - was associated to the Scotiabank branch situated at 

247 Hurontario Street, Collingwood Ontario. Based on the information I have detailed in the 

previous two paragraphs and the chart above, I believe that the account number, the teller 

stamp and the details written on cheque 0149 affords evidence that the cheque was deposited 

into a Scotiabank account associated to Paul Bonwick numbered . Based on the 

information I have detailed in the previous two paragraphs and the chart above, I· believe that 

the account number, the transit number and the details written on cheque 0185, affords 

evidence that the cheque was deposited into a Scotiabank account associated to. Paul Bonwick 

numbered 

279. On May 20, 2014, I attended the Barrie Provincial Court and met with Justice of the Peace G. 

Solursh. I swore to an Information to Obtain Production Orders in relation to the CIBC and 

Scotia bank. The Scotiabank Production Order was in relation to four separate account numbers: 

a. j associated to Paul Bonwick. 

b. , associated to Paul Bonwick._ 

c. - , associated to Abigail Stec. 

d. , associated to S-Tee Consulting. 

280. On May 22; 2014, I attended the Barrie Provincial Offences Court and received a Production 

Order issued by Justice of the Peace G. Solursh. This Production Order directed Rohan Gonsalves 

of the Scotiabank to produce the following: 
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Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to Scotiabank 

account I {S-Tec Co1_1Sulting): 

AND, 

a) Customer profile information detailing the account holder's personal Information 

(name, address, date of birth and employment details) an.d the personal 

information of any Other person who had/has signing authority on the account. 

b) Authorized Signing Authority Electronic Access and Signature card. 

c) Delegate Electronic Access and Signature Card. 

d) All incorporated business documents (including small business documents) and 

forms relating to S-Tee Consulting on file with the account. 

e) Certified copies of all monthly account statements from the 28th day of August 

2012 to the 7th day of May 2014, inclusive. 

Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to 

Scotlabank account {Abigail Stec): 

a) Customer profile information detailing the account holder's personal 

information (name, address, date of birth and employment details) and the 

personal information of any other person who had/has signing authority on the 

account. 

b) Authorized Signing Authority Electronic Access and Signature Card. 

c) Delegate Electronic Access and Signature Card. 

d) Certified copies of all monthly account statements from the 28th day of August 

2012 to the 7th day of May 2014, inclusive. 

Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to Scotiabank 

account (Paul Bonwick): 

i. Customer profile information detailing the account holder's personal 

information (name, address, date of birth and employment details) and the 
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AND, 

personal information of any other person who had/has signing authority on 

the account. 

iL Authorized Signing Authority Electronic Access and Signature card. 

Iii. Delegate Electronic Access and Signature Card. 

iv. Certified copies of all monthly account statements from th~e )8th day of 

August 2012 to the 7th day of May 2014, inclusive. 

Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to Scotia bank 

account 

a) 

b) 

aul Bonwick: 

Customer profile information detailing the account holder's personal 

information (name, address, date of birth and employment details) and the 

personal information of any other person who had/has signing authority on the 

account. 

Authorized Signing Authority Electronic Access and Signature Card. 

c) Delegate Electronic Access and Signature Card. 

d) Certified copies of all monthly account statements from the 1st day of 

December 2012 to the 7th day of May 2014, inclusive. 

281. On May 26, 2014, I provided a scanned copy of the issued Production Order to Rohan Gonsalves 

of the Scotiaban k. 

282. On June 25, 2014, I received by courier a sealed package from Scot ia bank. I opened the package 

and noted that the contents related to the Production Order issued by Justice of Peace G. 

Solursh, as detailed in the previous two paragraphs. I noted that the documents contained in 

the package were an certified copies. I have read all of the documents contained in the package 

and I have read the contents of the affidavit completed by Scotiabank employee named Mardo 

Gomes. Based on my review of the certified documents and the affidavit, I believe the 

information I received from Marcia Gomes of the Scotia bank, in relation to the Production Order 

Issued by Justice of the Peace G. Sofursh, a.re reliable certified copies of banklng records 

associated to the Scotiabank accounts identified in paragraph 279. During my review of this 

Scotiabank package, I noted it contalned an affidavit and accompanying letter of explanation. I 

noted that this accompanying letter of explanation identified an individual's name and company 

not associated to this investigation. I noted that remainder of this package, including all of the 
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certified banking records, were correct, complete and related to the Scotiabank accounts 

requested ln paragraph 279. On June 26, 2014, I contacted Marcia Gomes and requested that he 

clarify the issue related to the name and company identified in this letter 1 believed were not 

associated with this investigation. I learned from Marcio Gomes t hat this issue was an error and 

only related to the subject line identifying the document and that all certified banking records 

provided were correct, complete and accurate. Marcio Gomes advised me that he would 

prepare a correct affidavit and letter of explanation, have them certified and forwarded to me. 

283. On June 27, 2014., I received by courier a sealed package from Scotiabank. I opened the package 

and noted that the contents were an affidavit and letter of explanation related to the 

Production Order issued by Justice of Peace G. Solursh, as detailed ln the previous above 

pa ragraphs. I noted that the document affidavit contained in the package was a sworn 

document. Having read all of the documents contained in the original package and the contents 

of the new affidavit completed by Scotlabank employee named Marcia Gomes, I believe the 

information I received from Marcia Gomes of the Scot iabank, in relation to the Production Order 

Issued by Justice of the Peace G. Solursh, are reliable certified copies of banking records 

associated to the Scotiabank accounts identified in paragraph 279. Within the next 30 

paragraphs, I have detailed evidence I observed in these certif ied Scotiabank banking records. 

Account number 

284. From my review of this Scotia bank package provided to me, I observed certified copies of 

business records relating to S-Tec Consulting, Collingwood, 

Ontario, L9Y3Z2. I observed a certified copy of the Small Business Account Application and 

Agreement dated July 26, 2007. I note that the business account records identify the Business 

Legal Name as Abigail M. Stec, trad ing as 5-Tec Consulting. I observed a certified document that 

lists the owner of S-Tec Consulting and this Scotiabank account as Abigail Stec. I have reviewed 

these records and note that these records provide information that is consistent with the ONBIS 

record information I have detailed earlier in this ITO. These certified business account 

documents confirm that the Scotia bank account number is associated t o Abigail 

Stec. Based on my comparison of personal information I have viewed in the Small Business 

Account Application and Agreement, and other evidence gathered during the investigation 

detailed in this ITO, I believe that the Abigail Stec listed on this Scotiabank account, is the same 

Abigail Stec that I have detailed at length throughout this ITO. 

285.1 observed a certified copy of the Authorized Signature Card for t he account and confirmed that 

Abigail Stec is listed as the only person having signing authority to this account 

286. I received from Scotiabank, a total of 61-pages of certified account history bank statements 

relating to account number I reviewed these documents and noted that the 

date range captured in these certified bank statements was July 31, 2012 through to April 30, 

2014. 
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287. I observed a number of credits into number ·that were consistent with cheque 

Images (that were payable to S-Tec Consulting) previously detailed in paragraph 272, from the 

Green Leaf Distribution Inc. ClBC account numbered 1. I have created the 

chart below. and entered into the chart information about the deposit of the Green Leaf 

Distribution Inc. cheques, learned from reviewing information contained in the monthly account 

statements of S-Tec Consulting, Scotiabank account number 

Date Descrietion Amount 

August 31, 2012 Deposit $4,989.10 

October 2, 2012 Deposit $5,932.50. 
----- ···-~-- -·-------

November 2, 2012 Deposit $7,626.38 

November 30, 2012 Deposit $8,956.80 

November 30, 2012 Deposit $1,167.73 

January 4, 2013 Deposit $7,062.50. 

January 31, 2013 Deposit $7,062.50 

288. Based on the Information I teamed from the account history banking statements (reflected In 

the abo"'.e chart}, in combination with the information from the cheques issued to S-Tec 

Consulting from the Green Leaf Distribution Inc. CIBC account numbered , I 

believe that the money detailed ln the above chart originates from the BLT Construction Services 

payment of $756,740.42 on August 31, 2012, to Paul Banwick. I noted that the money detailed 

in the above chart was credited to the S-Tec Consulti.ng account between August 31, 2012, the 

same date that BLT Construction Services paid Paul Bonwick, and Janl.Jary 31, 2013. 

289. As part of my investigation relating to the destination of the offence related money (the 

payment of .$756,740.42 to Green Leaf Distribution Inc. by BLT Construction Services), I 

examined the S-Tec Consultin~ Scotiabank account numbered , banking 

statements for the date ranges the money was credited to the account, and for the months 

following the last deposit. My .examination related to debits from the account following the 

various credits identified in the chart In the previous two paragraphs. 

290. ·1 noted in the S-Tec Consulting account statements for Scotiabank account number 

, ·evlde.nce of cheques, transfers, debit memos or withdrawals, drawn on this 

Scotlabank account, from August 31, 2012 to February 4, 2013. I have created the chart below 

and entered into the chart information deemed relevant that I learned from viewing the various 

· debit transactions listed on the account statements: 
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Date Description Amount 
---·--~-- -----

August 31, 2012 Cred. Card/LOC Payment $1,226.04 

September 4, 2012 $1,441.03 

October 1, 2012 $500.00 

October 1, 2012 memo/Visa/Transfer to $3,000.00 

October 1, 2012 Debit memo/Personal acct/transfer to $1,000.00 

October 2, 2012 Chq 123- $489.95 

October 22, 2012 Chq 122- $489.95 

October 22, 2012 Debt memo - XFR Other $800.00 

November 11 20U Chq 205- $1,000.00 

November 1, 2012 Credit Card/LOC Payment $2,524.97 

November 6, 2012 Chq 206- $1,000.00 

November 14, 2012 Chq 207- $489,.75 

November 30, 2012 Debit memo to pay Visa other $1,167.73 

December 3, 2012 Chq 210- $3,500.00 

December 24, 2012 Debit memo taking out cash $2,000.00 

January 4, 2013 $2,000.00 

0, 2013 89.57 

January 23, 2013 $489.57 

January 31, 2013 $800.00 

February 4, 2013 $4,053.68 

291. From my review of this Scotiabank package provided to me, I observed c~rtified copies of bank 

records relating to Abigail Stec, Collingwood, Ontario, L9Y3Z2. I observed a 

· certified copy of the Application For Deposit Services for a Powerchequing service dated July 8, 

2008. I have reviewed these records and note that these records provide information that is 

consistent with information I have detailed earlier in this ITO. These certified bank account 

documents confirm that the Scotlabank account number is associated to Abigail 

Stec. Based on my comparison of personal information I have viewed in this Application for 

Deposi~ Services, and other evidence gathered during the Investigation detailed In this ITO, I 

belfeve that the Abigail Stec listed on this Scotiabank account, is the same Abigail Stec that I have 

detailed at length throughout this ITO. 
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292. I observed ::! certified copy of the Authorized Signature card for the account and confirmed that 

Abigail S~ec is listed as the only person having signing authority to this account. 

293. I received from Scotiabank, a total of 24-pages of certified account history bank statements 

relating to account number . I reviewed these documents and noted that the 

date range captured In these certified bank statements was August 1, 2012 through to April 23, 

2014. 

294. I observed a number of credits into the account number that were consistent 

with cheque images (that were payable to Abigail Stec) previously detailed In paragraph 272, from 

the Green Leaf Distribution Inc. asc account numbered . l have created the 

chart below and entered into the chart Information about the deposit of the Green Leaf 

Distribution Inc. cheques, learned from reviewing information contained in the monthly account 

statements of 5-Tec Consulting, Scotiabank account number 

Date DescriRtion Amount 

September 6, 2012 Deposit $742.72 . 
January 4, 2013 Deposit $2,239.87 (co~mingled total of $14,239.87) 

January 4, 2013 Deposit I $10,000.00 (co-mingled total of $14,239.87) 

295. Based on the information 1 leamed from the account history banking statements (reflected in the 

above chart), in combination with the information from the cheques issued to Abigail Stec from 

the Green Leaf Distribution Inc. asc account numbered , I believe that the 

money detailed in the above chart originates from the BLT Construction Services payment of 

$756,740.42 on August 31, 2012, to Paul Bonwick. I noted that the money detailed in the above 

chart was credited to Abigail Stec's account between September 6, 2012, six-days after BLT 

Construction Services paid Paul Bonwick, and January 4, 2013. 

296. As part of my investigation relating to the destination of the offence related money (the payment 

of $756,740.42 to Green· Leaf Distribution Inc. by BLT Construction Services), I examined Abigail 

Stecs Scotiabank account numbered , banking statements for the date ranges the 

money was credited to the account, and for the months following the last deposit. My 

examination related to debits from the account following the various credits identified in the 

chart in the previous two paragraphs. 

297. I noted in Abigail Stec's account statements for Scotiabank account number 

evidel"!ce of cheques, transfers, debit memos or wlthdrawals, drawn on this Scotiabank account, 

from September 4, 2012 to January 4, 2013. I have created the chart below and entered into the 

chart information deemed to be relevant that I learned from viewing the various debit 

transactions listed on the account statements: 
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Date DescrlJ!tlO!] Amount 

September 4, 2012 WD $1,004.2.0 

January 4, 2013 SP $4,837.48 

anuary 4, 2013 BPY - BR -American Express Cards $3,022.64 

anuary 28, 2013 CTD-PCto $600.00 

298. From my review of this Scotiabank package provided to me, I observed certified copies of bank 

records relating to an account in the name of Paul Bonwick. I noted that Scotiabank provided an 

accompanying letter of explanation that identified Scotia bank was unable to locate detailed client 

documentation associated to this bank account. I did confirm that this package related to 

Scotiabank account number and it did not contain detailed account application . . . 
information or a signature specimen card. I did confirm from the information provided, that this 

Scotiabank package did identify this bank 'account as a joint "Scotia Value" account, opened on 

May 25, 1992 and in the name of Paul Bonwick of I 
note from these Scotiabank certified records that Paul Bonwick has recorded he is a fuil·tlme 

employee of Compenso Consulting Inc. I have reviewed these documents and note that these 

records provide information that is consistent with information I have detailed earlier .in this ITO. I 
believe that these certified bank account documents confirm that the Scotiabank account number 

is associated to Paul Bonwick. Based on my comparison of personal information I 

have viewed in this package and other evidence gathered during the investigation, and detailed in 

this ITC, I believe that the Paul Bonwick listed on this Scotiabank account, is the same Paul 

Bonwick that I have detailed at length throughout this 110. 

299. I received from Scotiabank, a total of 39-pages of certified account history bank statements 

relating to account nurnbe{ . I reviewed these documents and noted that the date 

range captured in these certified bank statements was August 1, 2012 through to May 6, 2014. 

300. I observed a credit to this account consistent with a cheque image (payable to Paul Bonwick) 

previously detailed in paragraph 276, from the Green Leaf Distribution Inc. CIBC account 

numbered I have created the chart below and entered into the chart 

information about the deposit of the Green Leaf Distribution Inc. cheQue, learned from reviewing 

information contained in the monthly account statements of Paul Bonwick, Scotiabank account 

~umber-: 

Date Description Amount 

September 14, 2012 · Deposit $16,679.12 
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account documents confirm that the Scotiabank account number - , is associated to 

Paul Bonwick. Based on mv. comparison of personal information I have viewed in this Application 

for Deposit Services, and other evidence gathered during the investigation detailed in this ITO, I 
believe that the Paul Bonwick listed on this Scotiabank account, Is the same Paul Bonwkk that I 

have detailed at length throughout this ITO. 

306. I observed a certified copy of the Authorized Signature Card for the account and connrmed that 

Sandra Bonwick and Paul Bonwick are listed as persons having signing authority to this account. 

307. I received from Scotia bank, a total of 22-pages of certified account history bank statements 

relating to account number I reviewed these documents and noted that the 

date range captured in these certified bank statements was August 10, 2012 through to Aprll 14, 
2014. 

308. I observed a credit to this account number 

(payable .to Paul Bonwick) previously detailed in 

Distribution Inc. CIBC account numbered 

consistent with a cheque image 

paragraph 275, from the Green Leaf 

·. I have created the chart below 

and entered into the chart information about the deposit of the Green Leaf Distribution Inc. 

cheque, learned from reviewing information contained in the monthly account statements of 

Paul Bonwick, Scotiabank account number-: 

200 
Niche/RMS- Records Management System (RMS) Is a computer database system used by the OPP. The data Input Into the 

RMS system originates from the OPP and other pol!ce services, and lndudes but Is not limited to persons, vehicles, residences 
and Incidents that the OPP and other pollce services have been involved ln. Created in 2001, I have used RMS since that time 
and I consider It to be a valuable and creditable and accurate Investigative tool. 

2Dl The Ponce Automated Registration information System (PARIS) contains Information on driver's ncense status and history as 
well as vehicle registration Information for the pro1.<lnce of Ontario. Thts data Is obtained from the public at the time of driver 
and vehicle registration and from the polke services of Ontario based on offence notices and suspensions Issued. I have used 
this system and relled on the information provided during my policing career and l consider It to be a valuable and aedltable 
and accurate investigative tool. 
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301. Based on the information I learned from the account history banking statements (reflected in the 

above chart), in combination with the information from the cheque issued to Paul Bonwick from 

the Green Leaf Distribution Inc. CIBC account numbered , I believe that the 

money detailed in the above chart originates from the BLT Construction Services payment of 

$756,740.42 on August 31, 2012, to Paul Bonwick. I noted that the money detailed in the above 

chart was credited to Paul Bonwick's account number- on September 14, 2012, 

some two-weeks afterthe date that BLT Construction Services paid Paul Bonwick. 

302. As part of my investigation relating to the destination of the offence related money (the payment 

of $756,740.42 to Green Leaf Distribution Inc. by BLT Construction Services), examined Paul 

Bonwick's Scotiabank account numbered , banking statements from the date the 

money was credited to the account, and for the months following this deposit. My examination 

related to debits from the account following this credit identified in the chart in the previous two 

paragraphs. 

303. I noted in Paul Bonwlck's account statements for Scotiabank account number 

evidence of transfers or withdrawals, drawn on this Scotiabank account, from September 14, 2012 

to January 4, 2013. I have created the chart below and entered into the chart information deemed 

relevant I learned from viewing the various debit transactions listed on the account statements: 

tiQ!l 

2 WD 

November 20, 2012 

January 4, 2013 WD 

Account number 

304. From my review of this Scotiabank package provided to me, I obseived certified copies of bank 

records relating to a joint bank account in the names of Sandra Bonwick and Paul Bonwick. I 

observed a certified copy of the Application for Deposit Services for a Power Savings Account 

dated August 10, 2012. I can confirm that this certified Scotiabank package identifies this bank 

account as a joint account, opened on August 10, 2012, and in the name of Sandra Bonwick and 

Paul Bonwick of . I note that Sandra Bonwick's 

name and signature appear listed as the "first customer", and Paul Bonwick's name and signature 

appear listed as the "joint customer". I note that the address listed for both Sandra Bonwick and 

Paul Bonwick is I note that Sandra Bonwick has 

recorded her employment as "managerial" at "Goodall Rubber" and Paul Bonwick has recorded 

his employment as "self-employed" at "consulting firm self'. I note that Sandra Bonwick has 

recorded her date of birth as and Paul Bonwick has recorded his date of birth as -

- I have reviewed these records and note that these records provide information that is 

consistent with information 1 have detailed earlier in this ITO. I believe that these certified bank 
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Date Descrl(!tion Amount 

·-December 17, 2012 Deposit $25,000.00 

309. Based on the information I learned from the accoun~ history banking statements (reflected in the 

above chart), in combination with the information from the cheque issued to Paul Bonwick from 

the Green leaf Distribution Inc. CIBC account numbered 1 I believe that the 

money detailed in the above chart originates from the BLT Construction Services payment of 

$756,740.42 on August 31, 2012, to Paul Bonwick. rnoted that the money detailed in the above 

chart was credited to Paul Bonwick's .account on December 17, 2012, some 108 days after the 

date that BLT Construction Services paid Paul Bonwick .. 

310. As part of my investigation r~latlng to the destination of the offence related mo~ey (the payment 

of $756,740.42 to Green leaf Distribution Inc. by BLT Construction Services), I examined Paul 

Bonwlck's Scotiabank account numbered , banking statements from the date the 

money was credited to the account1 and for the months following this deposit. My examination 

related to debits from the account following this credit identified in the chart in the previous two 

paragraphs. 

311. I noted in Paul Bonwick's account statements for Scotia bank account number · 

evidence of transfers or withdrawals, drawn on this Scotlabank account, from December 27, 2012 

to January 10, 2013. I have created the chart below and entered into the chart information 

deemed relevant, I learned from viewing the various debit transactions listed on the account 

statements: 

Date Description 

December 27, 2012 CTO-PCto $3,000.00 

January 10, 2013 CTD-PCto $2,000.00 

312. I continued to review the certified bank statements relating to account numbers 

(Paul Bonwick) and (Paul Bonwick) for additional evidence relating to the 

destination of the offence related money. I examined the account statements for the period of 

time both before August 31, 2012 (the date the payment of $756,740.42 to Green Leaf 

Distribution Inc. by BLT Construction Services was made)· and for the months following the last 

deposit {January 31, 2013), a date after the offence related money was credited to the accounts. 

Aside from debts which· I have detailed in the previous paragraphs, my examination also identified 
------

multiple internet transfer debits from Paul Bonwick's two bank accounts and 

), credited to two separate destination bank accounts. These two destination bank 

accounts that received these credits were identified as · and · '. I 

note that these two bank account numbers both start their number sequences with -

identical to the number sequences Paul Bonwick's bank accounts start with. I previously provided 

181 

CJI0006013 



detail in paragraphs 274 and 277 that identified ~he number sequence - related to the bank 

transit location. As I previously detailed, and as In t~is case, the number sequence - · 
Identifies that this transit number is associated to the Scotia bank branch at 247 Hurontario Street, 

Collingwood, Ontario. I note that this is the very same bank location which Paul Bonwick has 

located his bank accounts and 1 have created the chart below 
and entered Into the columns and rows information that I learned from reviewing the debits from 

the account listed on the account statements. 

Date Account Debited Account Debited Account Credited Account Credited 

12-Sep-12 x $500.00 
12-Sep.12 x $500.00 
05-0ct-12 x $500.00 
OS-Oct-12 x $jk)O.OO 
27-0ct-12 x 

~ 13-NOY..12 x 
23-No11-12 x 0 
Ol-Dec-12 x $500.00 
20-Dec-12 x $300.00 
31-Dec-12 x $200.00 
lO:Jan-13 x $700.00 
17-Jan-13 x = $300.00 
18-Jan-13 x $500.00 
24-Jan-13 x 

= 
$300.00 

31-Jan-13 x $300.00 
07-FelJ..13 x $300.00 
15-Feb-13 x $200.00 
15-Feb-13 x $200.00 
22-Feb-13 x $200.00 
05-Mar-13 x $300.00 
OS-Mar-13 x $200.00 
15-Mar-13 x $200.00 
22-Mar-13 x $200.00 
22-Mar-13 x 

· 27-Mar-13 x $400,u 

01-Apr-13 x $200.00 
03-Apr-13 x $1,000.00 
20-Apr-13 x $200.00 
29-Apr-13 x $200.00 
03-May-13 x $200.00 
06-Mav-13 x $1,000.00 ·-
06-May-13 $600.00 credited to $600.00 debit from 

10-May..13 x $200.00 
11-Mav-13 x $200.00 
16-Mav-13 x $200.00 
21-Mav-13 x $500.00 

~ 24-May-13 x $200.00 
Ol-Jun~13 x $300.00 
06-Jun-13 x $160.00 
08-Jun-13 x $300.00 
B-Jun-13 x $300.00 
19-Jun-13 x $300.00 
24-Jun-13 x $300.00 
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02-Jul-13 x . $300.00 
03-Jul-13 x $300.00 
10-Jul-13 x $300.00 
15-Jul-13 x $300.00 
20-Jul-13 x $300.00 
29-Jul-13 x $200.00 -· 

03-Aug·l3 x $200.00 
08-Aug-13 x $300.00 
16-Aug-13 x $300.00 
24-AU!t·13 x $300.00 
27-Aug-14 x $500.00 
09-Sep-13 x $500.00 
23-Sep-13 x $500.00 
30-Sep-13 x $300.00 
OS-Oct-13 x $300.00 
10-0ct-13 x $300.00 
18-0ct-13 x $300.00 
22-0ct-13 x $300.00 
28-0ct~3 x 

~ 04-Nov-13 x 
04-Nov-13 x $300.00 
12-Nov-13 x C:.:tnn nn 

16-Nov-13 x I $300.00 
16-Nov-13 x $1,000.00 
22-Nov-13 x $346.42 ··-·--·--22-Nov-13 x $500.00 
26-Nov-13 x $700.00 
02-0ec-13 x $300.00 
02-0ei:-13 x $1,000.00 
12-Dec-13 x $300.00 
19-Dec-13 x $300.00 
19-Dec-13 x $2,000.00 

313. With reference to the above chart, I make the following observations: 

· a) I note that, in total, 75 internet transfer transactions occurred from September 121 2012 

to December 19, 20131 covering a period of time that commences 12-days after the 

August 31, 2012 payment of $756,740.42 to Green Leaf Distribution Inc. by BLT 

Construction Services. 

bl I note that of the 75 internet transfer transactions, all but one transfer transaction are 

debits from one of two bank accounts associated to Paul Bonwick. A lone Internet 

transfer transa~ion for $600.00 was received on May 6, 2013 from bank account 
---- ----

to Paul Bonwick's bank account number 

c) I note a total amount of $28,506.42 was debited from Paul Bonwick's Scotiabank bank 
account numbers · , and credited to two Scotiabank 

account numbers - via 74 internet transfer 

transactions fr!'m September 12, 2012 to December 19, 2013. 
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d) I note that these 74 internet transfer transactions occur on a regular and frequent basis 

- every two to three weeks, over this 16-month time period, without missing a single 

month during this time-period. 

e) From my review of the certified bank records for both bank account numbers 

. and ) held by Paul Bonwick, I note that for the month 

prior to the August 31, 2012 payment of $756, 740.42 to Green Leaf Distribution Inc. by 
BLT Construction Services, there was not one internet transfer transaction credited to 

bank account numbers nd 

Production Order for the Scotiabank 

314. On the face of this ITO, I have detailed information that I am requesting the issuance of a 

Production Order - directing Rohan Gonsalves of the Scotiabank to provide the following 

documents/records: 

1. Certified ·copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to 

Scotiabank account number-(S-Tec Consulting): 

a. All supporting documentation/records (Including cheque images-front and back) in 

relation to each transaction listed in the chart below: 

Date Description Amount 

August31,2012 Cred. Card/LOC Payment $1,226.04 

September 4, 2012 Chq 202- $1,441.03 

October 1, 2012 Debit memo/cash/other $500.00 

October l, 2012 Debt memoNlsa/Transfer to $3,000.00 

October 1, 2012 Debit memo/Personal acct/transfer to $1,000.00 

October 2, 2012 Chq 123- $489.95 

October 22, 2012 Chq 122- $489.95 

October 22, 2012 Debt memo - XFR Other $800.00 

. November 1, 2012 Chq 205- $1,000.00 

ovember 1, 2012 Credit Card/LOC Payment $2,524.97 

ovember 6, 2012 Chq 206 $1,000.00 

November 14, 2012 Chq 207 $489.75 

November 30, 2012 Debit memo to pay Visa other $1,167.73 
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December 3, 2012 Chq 210- $3,500.00 

December 24, 2012 Debit memo taking out cash . $2,000.00 

January 4, 2013 Chq 211- $2,000.00 

January 10, 2013 Chq 212 $489.57 

January 23, 2013 Chq 213- $489.57 

January 31, 2013 $800.00 

February 4, 2013 Transfer to Cr. Card $4,053.68 

AND, 

2. Certified copies ofthe following records and/or documents (if available) relating to the 

Scotiabank Visa card account identified in the above chart as m~m bi} r . 

AND, 

a. Customer profile information detailing the account holder's personal information 

(name, address, date of birth and employment details) and personal information of 

any other person who has/had signing authority on the identified account. 

b. Authorized signing authority electronic access and signature card. 

c. Delegate electronic access and signature card. 

d. Detailed Monthly account Statements from the 31st of August 2012 to the 31st day 

of December 2012, inclusive. 

3. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to 

Scotia bank account number {Abigail Stec): 

a. All supporting documentation/records (Including cheque images-front and back) In 

relation to each transaction listed in the chart below: 

Date Description ~m!:U!nt 

September 4, 2012 WO $1,004.20 

January 4, 2013 SP $4,837.48 

January 4, 2013 BPY - BR -American Express Cards $3,022.64 

January 28, 2013 CTD-PCto $600.00 
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AND, 

4. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to the 

Scotiaban~ account identified in the above chart as number 

a. Customer profile information detailing the account holder's personal Information 

(name, address, date of birth and employment details) and personal information of any 

other person who has/had signing authority on the identified account. 

b. Authorized signing authority electronic access and signature card. 

c. Delegate electronic a.ccess and signature card. 

d. Detaile'd Monthly account Statements from the Olst of January 2013 to the Olst day of 

March 2013, inclusive. 

AND, 

5. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (If available) relating to 

Scotiabank account nun1ber (Paul Bonwick): 

a.· All supporting dacumentation/records in relation to each transaction listed in the 

chart below: 

. Date Description Amoun~ 

September 14, 2012 WO $7,800.00 

November20,2012 CTD-PCto $33,750.00 

January4, 2013 WO $3,800.00 

AND, 

6. Certified copies of the foll~wing records and/or documents (if available) relating to 

Scotiabank account number-(Paul Bonwlck): 

a. All supporting documentation/records in relation to each transaction listed in the 

chart below: 

Description Amount 

December 27, 2012 CTD-PCto $3,000.00 

January 10, 2013 CTD-PCto ,000.00 
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AND, 

7. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to 
Scotiabank account number · (Paul Bonwick) and Scotia bank account number 

{Paul Bonwick): 

a. All supporting documentation/records in relation to each transaction listed In the chart 
below: 

Date Account Debited Account Debited AcCO!Jnt Credited Account Credited 

12-Seo-12 x $500.00 . ., x I $500.00 
05-0ct-12 x 
os-0ct~12 ){ $500.00 
27-0ct-12 x $500.00 ~ 13-Nov-12. x $500.00 
23-Nov-12 x $500.00 
Ol-Dec-12 · x $500.00 
20-Dec-12 x $300.00 
31·0ec-12 x $200.00 
10-Jan-13 x $700.00 
17-Jan-13 x $300.00 
18-Jan-13 x $500.00 
24-Jan-13 x $300.00 
31-Jan-13 x $300.00 
OHeb-13 x $300.00 
15-Feb-13 x 
15-Feb-13 x 
22-Feb--13 x $200.00 
05-Mar-13 x $300.00 

09-Mar-13 x $200.00 
15-Mar-13 x $200.00 
22-Mar-13 x $200.00 
22-Mar-13 x $2.00~P.Q_-
27-Mar-13 x $400.:..•_ 
01-Apr-13 x . $200.00 
03-Apr-13 x $1,000.00 
20-Apr-13 x $200.00 
29-Apr-13 )( $200.00 
03-May..13 x $200.00 
06-May-13 x $1,000.00 
06-May-13 $600.00 credited to $600.00 debit from 

10-May..13 )( 5200.00 

11-Mav-13 )( $200.00 
15-Mav-13 x $200.00 
21-May-13 x $500.00 

24-Mav-13 x $200.00 
01-Jun-13 x $300.00 
06-Jun-13 x F $160.00 

08-Jun-13 x $300,0Q 
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19-Jun-13 x 
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24-Jun-13 x 
02-Jul-13 x 
03-Jul-13 x 
10-Jul-13 x 
15-Jul-13 x 
20-Jul-13 x 
29-Jul-13 x 

x 
x 
)( 

23-Sep-13 x 
30.Se ·13 x 
05-0cH3 x 

19-Dec-13 
19-Dec-13 

AND, 

8. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to the 

Scotia bank account identified in the above chart as number 

a. Customer profile information detailing the account holder's personal information 

{name, address, date of birth and employment details) and personal information of 

any other person who has/had signing authority on the identified account. 

b. Authorized signing authority electronic access and signature card. 

c. Delegate electronic access and signature card. 
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d. Detailed Monthly account Statements from the 01st of July 2012 to the 31st day of 

December 2013, inclusive. 

9. Certified copies of the following records and/or documents (if available) relating to the 

Scotiabank account identified in the above chart as number 

a. Customer profile information detailing the account holder's personal information 

(name, address, date of birth and employment details) and personal information of 

any other person who has/had signing authority on the identified account. 

b. Authorized signing authority electronic access and signature card. 

c. Delegate electronic access and signature card. 

d. Detailed Monthly account Statements from the Olst of July 2012 to the 31st day of 

December 2013, inclusive. 
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315. I have provided detail in paragraphs 274 and 277 of this ITO, evidence I have learned of previous 

conversations Detective Sergeant Shawn Evans has had with Rohan Gonsalves of the Scotiabank. 

I have personal knowledge that Rohan Gonsalves is the Assistant Manager for Cash Loss Control 

for Scotiabank and he is the primary contact for law enforcement in relation to Production Orders 

issued to Scotia bank. 

316. In paragraphs 274, 278 and 280 I detailed information related to a previous Production Order 

issued to Rohan Gonsalves for this investigation. In that paragraph I detailed that his position with 

the Scotiaba nk involves producing certified bank records for police officers pursuant to 

Production Orders. On July 17, 2014, I contacted Rohan Gonsalves by telephone to confirm with 

him information related to this Production Order. The following is a summary of my conversation 

with Rohan Gonsalves. 

a. Rohan Gonsalves advised me that once he receives a Production Order, it is his 

responsibility to ensure that Scotia bank t:ornplies with the Order within the specified time. 

b. Rohan Gonsalves confirmed that Visa card account card be~inning with the number 

sequence- is a Scotiabank Visa card. 
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c. Rohan Gonsalves is aware of the types of information and records I am seeking in this 

Production Order and he advised me that these records are available through his office. 

d. Rohan Gonsalves advised that should the requested Production Order be issued, 60 days 

would be ample time for Scotiabank to produce the requested material. 

e. Rohan Gonsalves confirmed that his business office is situated at 44 King Street West, 20th 

floor, Toronto, Ontario. 

f. Based on this information, I believe that the documents I am seeking in this ITO are in the 

possession or control of Rohan Gonsalves of Scotiabank Cash Loss Control situated at 44 

King Street West, 20th floor, Toronto, Ontario. 

317. have personal knowledge from previously issued Production Orders that the Scotiabank 

maintains the type of customer profile informatlon that I am seeking. I believe based on my 

knowledge gained from previous Production Orders that the customer profile information, and 

authorized and delegate account access information will afford evidence of the account number, 

name, address, date of birth and the employment details of the account holder(s) and anyone 

else who has legal access to the account. l believe that this information will afford evidence 

confirming who are the holders of the respective Scotlabank Visa account and bank accounts 

previously identified in this ITO. 

318. I believe that the authorized signing and delegate access documents will afford evidence of who 

has/had access to the identified Visa accounts and bank accounts, and will assist investigators in 

determining who else may have access to/or accessed funds within the identified accounts, 

assisting investigators in following the dissemination of the offence related money. 

319. I am aware from my experience with other financial crimes investigations that the Scotiabank 

maintains information enabling them to produce bank account and Visa account history 

statements. I am aware that these account statements contain detailed account history 

information including the dates and details of all debits from, and credits to, the account. I am 

seeking the issuance of the requested Production Order to obtain certified copies of the monthly 

account statements for the following date ranges, from the identified accounts: 

Scotiabank Visa card account number --to the-

320. I have detailed evidence in paragraph 209 that the BLT Construction Services payment to 

Compenso Communications- Paul Bonwick {Green Leaf Distribution Inc.) was made on August 31, 

2012. I have detailed evidence in this ITO of cheques that were issued from the Green Leaf 

Distribution lnc.'s CIBC account numbered , following the August 31, 2012, 

account credit, to five different accounts identified previously in this ITO. Four of these accounts 

are held with the Scotiabank and one of these accounts is held with the CIBC. I am seeking the 

issuance of the requested Production Order to obtain certified copies of all supporting 
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documentation/records, including front and backs of cheque images, in relation to each 

transaction listed in the charts detailed in this ITO relating to: 

a. Scotiabank accourT (associated to Paul Bonwick) -14DEC12 to 13JAN13 

b. Scotiabank account {associated to Paul Bonwick)-11SEP12 to 07JAN13 

c. Scoti<lbank account . (associated to Abigail Stec) - 03SEP12 to 29JAN13 

d. Scotiabank account (associated to S-Tec Consulting) - 28AUG12 to 07FEB13 

I have detailed evidence in the charts within this ITO relating to the Green Leaf Distribution Inc. 

cheques first credited to Compenso Communications, Paul Bonwlck, Abigail Stec and S-Tec 

Consulting. In that regard, I state and do believe the following: 

a. I believe that the requested bank statements and records relating to the Scotia bank accounts 

listed in this ITO will afford evidence that portions of the $756,740.42 CAD payment that BLT 

Construction Services made to Cornpenso Communications - Paul Bonwick was then 

transferred and credited to these various accounts through the issued Compenso 

Communications cheques, internet transfers, credit memos, transfers and withdrawals. 

b. I have identified the beginning date and the end date in a series of Greenleaf Distribution Inc. 

cheques, drawn ori CIBC account numbered , which were credited to 

Paul Bonwick, Abigail Stec and 5-Tec Consulting bank accounts. I am requesting bank account 

;Jnd Visa account statements and records for the above listed accounts based on evidence I 

have articulated in this ITO of when the first Green Leaf Distribution Inc. cheque was credited 

to the account. 

c. I have articulated in this ITO my belief that the payment of $756,740.42 CAD by BLT 

Construction Services to Compenso Comml!nications - Paul Bonwick is evidence of a fraud 

committed upon the Town of Collingwood. 

d. It is my belief that the $756,740.42 CAD credited to the CIBC account of Green Leaf 

Distribution ll'lc., is proceeds of crime, or offence related money. 

e. I believe that Paul Bonwick, Abigail Stec and S-Tec Consulting bank account and Visa account 

statements for the period of time following the deposits of the identified ·Green Leaf 

Distribution Inc. cheques; will afford evidence of how the proceeds of crime money '.Has 

disseminated from the Green Leaf Distribution Inc. account1 Into the identified accounts. 
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f. I believe that the Scotiabank Vlsa card account number account 

statements for the period of time, both immediately before and following t he deposits of the 

identified Green Leaf Distribution Inc. cheques, will afford evidence of how a portion of the 

proceeds of crime money was disseminated from the Green Leaf Distribution Inc., t hrough S­

Tec Consulting's bank account. 

g. Because I reviewed the certified bank account information provided to me by Scotiabank in 

the previous Production Order and note that Visa account numb!i!r is 

not listed or recorded as being associated to Compenso Communications, Paul Bonwick, 

Sandra Bonwick, Abigail Stec or £-Tee Consulting, I believe the requested records and 

documents will afford evidence and identify who or what other person or entity, received a 

portion of this offence related money. I also believe that these requested records and 

documents will identify other persons involved in these offences named in the ITO. 

h. I believe that in order to trace the offence related money and make a determination as to 

where the money was disseminated to, I need to examine the identified Scotiabank Visa and 

bank statements and records. I believe this examination will afford evidence of where the 

offence related money was disseminated, once it was credited to these Scotiabank accounts. 

i. I believe that I will require the account statements from the point of the deposit, to the 

identified date post deposit, as it is unknown when and how the offence related money was 

disseminated and the only way to gather this evidence is to review the entire account history 

- post deposit. 

j . Should this requested Production Order be issued, I believe the requested account 

st atements will afford evidence of the dissemination of proceeds of crime money, which will 

assist me in preparing a subsequent application for a Production Order for specific 

dissemination transaction evidence. 

322. Section 487.01 of the Criminal Code of Canada sets out the legal requirements in relation to 

Production Orders. Subsection (3) details t hat: 

Before making an order, the justice or judge must be satisfied, on the basis of an ex-parte 

application containing information on oath in writing, that there are reasonable grounds to 

believe that: 

a. an offence against this act or any other act of Pa rliament has been or is suspected to 

have been committed; 

b. the documents or data will afford evidence respecting the commission of the offence; 

and 

c. the person who is the subject to the order has possession or control of the documents 

or data. 
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i. I believe, and· respectfully submit that this Information to Obtain a Production 
' . . 

Order meets the requirements set out in section 487.012 of the Criminal Code 

of Canada. 

ii. I have provided evidence in paragraphs 219-230 under the heading 

"Investigative Strategies, Relationships and Related Issues" detailing the 

significant issues impeding this investigation, including the close relationships 

of those who are the subject of this investigation. As an investigative· team, we 

have developed strategies to protect hold-back evidence we possess and wish 

to use to further this investigation at a later ,date. With t~is sole reason in mind 

- the protection of our investigative strategies - I have made the decision not 

to include the full charge wordings on the face page(s) of each Production 

Order, and instead, included the full charge wordings in the actual ITO. I 

believe that the full charge wordings setting out the nature of the offences 

would easily and clearly expose to any person reviewing this ITO, our 

investigative focus. What I have included on the faces of the Production Orders 

is the short-form wording to identify the criminal offences we are alleging have 

been committed against the Criminal Code. 

323. Section 487.3 of the Criminal Code of Canada sets out the following information: 

A judge or Justice may, on application at the time of issuing a warrant under this or any 

other act of Parliament or a production order under section 487.012 or 487.013, ... , make an 

order prohibiting access to and the disclosure of any information relating to the warrant, 

production order or authorization on the ground that: 

a. the ends of justice would be subverted by the disclosure for one of the reasons 

referred to in subsection (2) or the information might be used for an improper 

purpose; and 

b. the ground referred to in paragraph (a) outweighs in importance the access to the 

information. 

324. I have reviewed the reasons listed in subsection (2) and I believe the following reason is relevant 

to my request to have an order issued prohibiting access to this Information to Obtain a 

Production Order: 

ii) compromise the nature and extent of an ongoing investigation 

325. This paragraph sets out my reasoning and request for the need to have an order issued 

prohibiting access to this Information to Obtain a Production Order. I have provided significant 

detail in paragraphs 219-230 regarding the investigative strategy that has been developed for ~his 

investigation. I anti~ipate investigators will be making efforts to utilize a number of investigative 

techniques to conclude this investigation including: physical surveillance, additional Production 
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Order applications and the use of a police agent(s) including the recording of conversations 

{subject to judicial authorization and a one part consent) between a police agent and one or more 

suspects. I recognize the importance of the openness associated with our judicial system, 

however I believe that by allowing open access to this ITO during the investigation stage, will 

impede our ability to investigate the many unanswered aspects of the allegations detailed within 

this ITO. I believe we will lose opportunities to illicit the truth from several individuals if details 

enclosed in this ITO are made public. I have provided detail in this ITO the importance of the hold 

back evidence relating to the BLT Construction Services payment to Compenso Communications 

Paul Bonwick. The investigative team has guarded and maintained this detail a secret from 

witnesses. I believe that open access to this ITO would reveal to any reader the nature and scope 

of this investigation and would certainly compromise the proposed investigative strategy. I am 

cognizant that any order prohibiting access, and one that I am seeking, is a temporary shield 

during the investigation phase and that once the investigation has concluded, permanent 

protection of this ITO, on this ground, would not be required. For these reasons, I believe it is 

necessary to prohibit access to this ITO so as not to compromise the ongoing investigation into 

the above matters. 

326. Pursuant to subsection 487.3(b) as identified in paragraph 323, I believe that the grounds set out 

in the above paragraph outweighs in importance the access to the information for reasons stated 

in the paragraph. It is for these reasons that I request an order be issued prohibiting access to this 

Information to Obtain Production Orders pursuant to section 487.3 of the Criminal Code of 

Canada and that the Information to Obtain Production Orders be sealed and held by the Clerk of 

the court at 75 Mulcaster Street, Barrie, Ontario. 
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